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We are much beholden to Machiavelli and others,
that write what men do and not what they ought to
do. FRANCIS BACON

An event has happened upon which it is difficult to
speak and impossible to be silent.
EDMUND BURKE

It is not possible to prove the value of every act at
the time it is done. It can happen that the price
precedes the achievement by a short or a long
period, just as the ploughing and sowing precedes
the harvest and ingathering.

DAVID BEN GURION






Preface

During the fall of 1982 I was asked by Karl Cerny, then chairman of the government
department at Georgetown University, in which I was a visiting professor, to present a
paper to the department’s biweekly seminar. This was shortly after the Sabra and Shatilla
massacres, when the future of the Israeli presence in Lebanon was still very uncertain and
U.S.-Israeli relations were exceedingly strained. My instinct was that perhaps it would be
appropriate for me, an Israeli political scientist specializing in national security problems,
to talk about the logic of the Israeli decision to invade Lebanon. As it turned out the
seminar was quite lively and the reactions of my colleagues spirited and, on the whole,
encouraging.

The most perceptive response and the most demanding queries came from Robert J.
Lieber. Having been to Israel, and being inclined to view international politics in a way
that was—and still is—very similar to my own, Lieber engaged me in a lively discussion
which forced me to go deeper into some of the questions I had raised in the formal
presentation. Several weeks later I was invited by the office of the Secretary of State of
the United States to give a talk to the department’s Open Forum, where some 200 Foreign
Service officers reacted in much the same way as my Georgetown colleagues. This
experience, as well as similar presentations in seminars at Stanford and at the University
of Maryland during the following weeks, convinced me that I was on to an exciting and
challenging project. I therefore pursued it further with Lieber. The result was an article we
coauthored which was published in the fall 1983 issue of International Security, one of the
few professional journals that still shares, broadly speaking, the harsh Realpolitik
assumptions of scholars such as Lieber and myself.

Our main hypothesis was that Israel was impelled to invade Lebanon not merely by
the ambition of Ariel Sharon but by a discernible strategic logic. We sensed that a certain
game of deception was involved; but, rather than assuming that Sharon personally
deceived his colleagues, we thought that the Israeli government had maneuvered vis-a-vis
the United States and the Israeli public for coherent and explainable reasons, as other
Israeli governments had done, for example, under Ben Gurion in the 1950s and Eshkol in
the 1960s. We also argued that the convergence of domestic uproar in Israel and pressures
from the United States was the main reason the Israeli Defense Force (IDF) besieged
Beirut instead of breaking straight into it in pursuit of the PLO.!

By the time this article was published a great deal of additional information had
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become available, and the central role of Sharon had been clarified. Moreover, by then the
conclusion and then abrogation of the May 17, 1983, accords between Israel and Lebanon
had become established facts, and the first phase of the Israeli withdrawal to the Awali
line had been completed. Although Lieber and I had meanwhile authored another article
on some of these later developments,? it was clear that a far more thorough reappraisal of
the entire issue was needed.

Pursuing this alone I became convinced that the Lebanese experience of the Jewish
state raised far deeper questions than just Sharon’s ambition and Begin’s ideological
simplemindedness. The latest phase in the Arab-Israeli conflict raised fundamental issues
about the assumptions on which Israel’s national security policy had been predicated and,
in a sense, about the general nature of international conflict. Assuming this I searched the
general international relations literature for an inspiring concept powerful enough to
illuminate this Israeli predicament. This reflective phase ultimately led me to the work of
Robert Jervis and in particular to his insightful and refreshing attempt to refocus attention
on Jean-Jacques Rousseau’s explanation of the sources of international anarchy. Though
not excited by Jervis’s somewhat ponderous search for cooperation under the security
dilemma, I found the main thrust of Jervis’s rediscovery of Rousseau profound. Its
attraction lay, I felt, in its emphasis on the assumption that people do not have to be as
bestial as Hobbes’s gloomy writings portray them to act in a manner that perpetuates
anarchy on planet Earth. Even if they were all rational, enlightened, and well meaning—
which I believe many people are—they are still prone to act in a way that in the long run
exacerbates their own predicament. This notion appealed to my instincts, seemed to
explain a great deal about the particular historical setting I set out to explore and as such
was ideally suited as both an organizing concept and a main title.> Accordingly I found
it appropriate to start out with a detailed explanation of the notion of ‘‘security dilemma,”’
with some illustrative applications to the case of Israel. Such, in brief, was the genesis of
chapter 1.

Having chosen an explicit philosophical framework, I turned to the substance. Here
I drew upon my formal academic training at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, the
London School of Economics and Political Science, and Oxford University. I also relied
upon my decade-long service in one of the IDF’s most prominent combat units and a stint
as a civilian consultant with the planning division of its general staff. This practical
experience convinced me that the Israeli decision to go to war in June 1982 was not made
only by Begin and Sharon, but was the outcome of a long and painful attempt by Sharon’s
predecessors to find a solution to the problem through less drastic means. Guided by such
a working hypothesis I spent a great deal of time and effort reviewing the background of
this onerous decision. The results of this investigation became chapter 2, which takes the
story from the latter part of the First World War to July 1981.

The next step was to review the war itself as it unfolded in the summer of 1982. It
did not require much insight to conclude that the course of the war was greatly affected
by how the decisions to launch and then expand it had been made. In researching these
issues I drew some inspiration from a short monograph by Shai Feldman and Heda
Rechnitz-Kijner of the Jaffee Center for Strategic Studies at Tel Aviv University, which
was published when I was halfway through chapter 3. To be sure, I did not entirely accept
the authors’ implicit assumptions about the origins of this fiasco; but I found their method
of investigation sound and coherent.* The result was the specific structure of chapter 3.

By the time I had completed chapter 3 Israel had decided to disengage from Lebanon
altogether. This decision and, in particular, the way it was influenced by the complex
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political processes of the Jewish state, was obviously one of consequence. It not only
explained many of Israel’s actions in Lebanon but also seemed to underline some basic
universal traits of beleaguered democracies which had intrigued scholars from Thucydides
through Tocqueville to many of their contemporary heirs. And, assuming that, I
proceeded to deal with it in great detail in chapters 4 and 5.

During the last phase of writing, my own work advanced in tandem with the history
it sought to explain. Facing this challenge I felt that the open nature of the Israeli political
system and the detailed coverage by the international media of virtually everything that
happened in Israel made such a task feasible. Obviously I could not hope to have the full
advantage of perspective, but I was reinforced by the benefit of a powerful philosophical
frame of reference and, above all, saved from the allure of hindsight. Assuming that
because of the lack of historical perspective my work could not be definitive, and taking
for granted that it would be one phase of a long scholarly process that would last decades,
I sought to protect the piece from a quick decay into oblivion by providing as detailed an
account of almost day-by-day developments as space and the available material would
permit. In carrying this out I was greatly assisted by talks and interviews with a number
of Israeli, American, and Lebanese officials, scholars, and members of the press who had
been involved in one capacity or another. This part of the research was both exciting and
rewarding. A regrettable but unavoidable result was that in many instances the only way
to obtain the maximum amount of help was to promise not to divulge names.

Apart from thanking warmly all these unnamed officials, I wish to thank many
colleagues and friends from whose wise advice I benefited greatly in preparing this
manuscript. These people include the members of the government department at
Georgetown University, in particular Marver Bernstein, Robert J. Lieber, and William V.
O’Brien, who offered all along the most generous encouragement, comments, and
criticism. Chairman George C. Quester of the department of government and politics at
the University of Maryland, College Park, where I was a visiting professor during the
preparation of chapters 4, 5, and 6, in the winter and spring of 1985, was equally helpful,
as were many members of this large department, including in particular Edward A. Azar,
Davis Bobrow, Ahmed Moussalli, Jonathan Wilkenfeld, Bartek Kaminski, James M.
Glass, Catherine M. Kelleher, Joe A. Oppenheimer, and, above all, the department’s
administrative staff, whom I enslaved unashamedly in my struggle to meet a deadline.
Back in Israel I received generous financial support in the form of a paid sabbatical leave
from the University of Haifa. I benefited greatly from a number of talks with Major
General (ret.) Abraham Tamir, currently Director General of the Prime Minister’s office,
and I gained invaluable inspiration, encouragement, and advice from David Vital of the
department of political science at Tel Aviv University and from Alan Dowty, on leave
from the University of Notre Dame, at the department of political science at Haifa
University. My toughest critic and most inspiring source of support in the entire enterprise
was, without any question, my wife, Michal.

AY.
Mount Carmel, Israel
May 1986
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The Sources of Israeli Conduct

The Problem

Shortly before noon on June 6, 1982, Israel invaded Lebanon. A mechanized division
landed by sea north of Sidon and started toward Beirut. Another division headed north on
the coastal road connecting Rosh HaNikra (in Israel) and Tyre (in Lebanon). A third
division crossed the border near the Israeli town of Metulah and headed toward the Druze
towns of Rashaya and Hasbayah. Additional forces crossed the Lebanese border on a wide
front stretching between Rosh HaNikra in the west and Metulah in the east. During the
following six days these forces would occupy every part of Lebanon south of the
Beirut-Damascus road. They would then lay siege to the western part of the Lebanese
capital and eventually enter it and stay there for several weeks.!

For the eighteen-year-old Israeli conscripts who spearheaded the operation, this was
the first war. Their own twenty-four-year-old company commanders might have partic-
ipated in Operation Litani, a limited Israeli incursion into southern Lebanon that took
place in March 1978. For scores of thirty-year-old battalion commanders and thousands
of reservists of roughly the same age who also took part in Operation Peace for the Galilee
(as the 1982 invasion was officially called), this was quite possibly their third war. In
October 1973 when the Yom Kippur War was fought, these men were either still doing
their national service as conscripts or had just been assigned to the reserve units in which
they would serve for the next decade. Participants in the 1982 invasion who were at that
time roughly thirty-five years old might have seen battle also in the 1969-70 war of
attrition Israel fought against Egypt, Syria, Jordan, and the PLO. For these men the 1982
war might well have been their fourth. Older reservists and colonels, even brigadier
generals, in the 1982 war had almost certainly participated in the 1967 war. Within a
period of fifteen years, therefore, their war experience would have included no less than
five wars. Their superiors, brigadier generals and major generals, would add to their
account a sixth war, the 1956 Sinai operation. Finally, the chief of the general staff during
the 1982 invasion, Lieutenant General Rafael Eitan (Raful) and his own superior, Minister
of Defense Ariel Sharon (Arik), would be perfectly entitled to count the latest war as their
seventh, since both had participated in the 1948 war. Both had begun to rise in the ranks
during that war and, indeed, had participated in paramilitary operations during the
eventful years preceding Israel’s inception as an independent state.

3
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Behind the Israeli-Lebanese armistice lines the 1982 war was watched with
increasingly mixed feelings by a war-weary Israeli population. For the real old timers this
was not the seventh war but possibly the eighth, the ninth, or even the tenth. Israelis of
sixty to eighty years old had lived through World War II, through the insecurity and
violence of the Arab Rebellion of 1936-39, and possibly even through the bloody riots of
1929. The younger population for the most part had either seen action in one of the
previous wars, or at the very least had a son, brother, or grandson in the raging battle up
north. Most of them expected a reprisal operation in retaliation for the attempt on the life
of the Israeli ambassador to London two days before the outbreak of the 1982 war. Very
few expected this act of terrorism to lead to a full-scale war. Very few had any empathy,
let alone sympathy, for the PLO; and most would have been greatly relieved to see the
PLO disciplined once and for all. But these same people had also lost their patience with
war, even with a successful one.

The fact that the 1982 war was not even perceived as a victory made its casualties
seem oppressive. The daily announcements of military burial ceremonies; the large
number of black-framed names of the fallen in the back pages of the daily press; the
horrors of the siege of Beirut; the outrage at the world’s reaction to the siege; the
introduction of the (familiar) emergency economic measures; the glaring gaps between
official declarations and what people knew was happening in the field; the shame and
humiliation following the gruesome Sabra and Shatilla massacres—all these things taxed
the endurance of most Israelis, irrespective of what they felt about Begin’s government or
about ‘‘Arik’’ and ‘‘Raful.”’

The immediate result was a domestic division of a scale without precedent in Israel’s
history. Mothers of soldiers in the battlefield set up an organization called ‘‘Parents
against Silence’’ to protest the war and force the government to bring the boys home.
Other protesters set up a rival organization under the name ‘‘Yesh Gvul’’ (‘*‘There’s a
Limit” or ‘“There’s a Border’’). The Peace Now movement succeeded in organizing a
demonstration in which some 400,000 people, that is, some 12 percent of the Israeli
population, called on the government to resign or at least to set up an independent
commission of inquiry.>

Begin’s government at first dismissed this outcry as politically motivated propa-
ganda—even implying outright disloyalty—inspired by the Labor opposition.> But
sustained and massive pressure from the protestors forced the government to yield. The
Kahan Commission, a judicial commission of inquiry, was set up with full authority to
investigate how the Sabra and Shatilla massacres could have taken place in an area
controlled by Israeli forces. Its report appeared several months later and implicated the
minister of defense, the chief of staff, and several other high-ranking officers with indirect
responsibility. Sharon was forced to resign a post he had sought all his life. Other officers
stepped down as well. Prime Minister Begin lapsed into a melancholic apathy and
ultimately resigned, too, without any clear explanation and retired from political life
altogether. Itzhak Shamir, hitherto the foreign minister, succeeded Begin as premier, and
Moshe Arens, an aeronautical engineer with no military experience, became the new
minister of defense.

Viewed superficially these events should have brought Israelis peace of mind. To a
certain extent this was the case. But, in a deeper sense, the war in Lebanon, the prolonged
and painful occupation of parts of Lebanon thereafter, and finally the retreat amid chaos
and bloodshed, touched off a crisis that could not be contained by undoing some of the
least palatable consequences of the war. In a moment of exhilaration during the war Prime
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Minister Begin claimed that Operation Peace for the Galilee healed Israel from what he
termed the trauma of 1973.* What the invasion of Lebanon did to his people, however,
may be quite the opposite. A respite in the struggle with the PLO has been bought. Yet,
in a more profound sense the war in Lebanon has been a moment of truth for the Israeli
nation. It led to tormenting soul searching, deep doubts, and, for many Israelis, even
guilt.

Was this war a mere aberration? Was it only a case of an absentminded government
allowing itself to be led up the garden path by a shrewd and ruthless minister of defense?
Or did the war reflect a far more complex posture, a state of mind, an ingrained
disposition of many Israelis? Did Ariel Sharon (Arik) and Rafael Eitan (Raful) represent
in an uncommonly blunt fashion the world view, if not the typical modus operandi, of a
whole generation? And if that were the case, could it be that not only the 1982 war but,
indeed, most previous wars were misguided and even unnecessary? Can it be that Israel’s
self-image has become too self-righteous? Are all the old truths of the Zionist Movement
and its successors in the leadership of Israel still valid? Is it entirely plausible to assume
that Israel, by her own actions, has made an Arab-Israeli peace less likely? And, among
Israel’s political leaders, were Moshe Sharett, Arieh (Lova) Eliav, General Mati Peled,
Uri Avneri, Abba Eban, and Yossi Sarid, to name but a few famous ‘‘doves,’’ always
wrong and ‘‘hawks’’ such as David Ben Gurion, Golda Meir, Moshe Dayan, Yigal Allon,
Itzhak Rabin, and Menachem Begin always right?

Questions such as these are subsumed under a wider unifying query: What makes
Israel tick? What, in a language recalling the voluminous literature on that enigmatic
giant, the Soviet Union, are the sources of Israeli conduct? Is the Jewish state a tightly
programmed instrument of the Zionist ideology that originally begot it? Is it merely
reacting to a relentless, organized, and rather centralized Arab drive intended to erase it
from the map of the Middle East? Or, is Israeli behavior shaped by a small group of
decision makers who themselves are totally conditioned by their sense of past Jewish
traumas? Would it be more accurate to ascribe Israel’s external conduct to the response of
decision makers to a turbulent domestic environment? Finally, was Israel under Begin—
as under all previous governments—not reacting to a fundamental strategic dilemma that
had haunted it since its inception?

In a sense, each of these propositions captures the gist of a general interpretation of
Israel’s conduct. The argument that Israel is the product of an aggressive ideology and
therefore cannot but act aggressively toward its neighbors is the main theme in the vast
anti-Zionist literature.’ The obverse argument, namely, that Israel is the innocent victim
of a fanatical pan-Arab drive for hegemony in the Middle East, is the core thesis of a
second interpretation which can be loosely described as Zionist Fundamentalism.® A third
interpretation of the sources of Israeli conduct shifts attention from the overpowering
impact of ideology to the personality traits and the historical-psychological ‘‘baggage’’ of
Israeli decision makers. The latter, it is argued, are prone to act harshly because they
cannot help observing their Arab environment through the distorting lens of their Jewish
legacy of suffering and persecution.” By contrast, the fourth proposition shifts the focus
from the psychology of decision makers to the impact of domestic politics. Israel’s
conduct toward its environment, according to this domestic-political perspective, is
chiefly determined by the pulling of political forces to which Israeli decision makers have
to respond at home.?

These four perspectives on the sources of Israeli conduct are, to be sure. neither
exhaustive nor mutually exclusive. Nonetheless each has a certain distinctiveness. All
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four perspectives, deal with the ‘‘sailing attributes’” of the Israeli ship of state. They are
at one in assuming that the vessel sails, in the words of a leading Israeli scholar, in ‘‘a
boiling hot sea which is known to be strewn with reefs and pirates. . . . It has not yet been
mapped and occasionally it becomes tempestuous.’’® Beyond consensus on this point,
however, differences among the four perspectives abound. The anti-Zionists imply that
the Israeli ship of state has neither a navigator nor a captain, but is kept on course by an
automatic pilot which, lacking judgment of its own, inexorably directs the vessel toward
a predetermined destination. The Zionist Fundamentalist perspective presents the Israeli
ship of state as a victim of a fearsome tempest. The vessel has a pilot as well as a clear
destination, but must struggle to stay on course in a stormy sea.

The Psychological-Cultural perspective perceives the pilot of the Israeli ship of state
as a kind of Captain Queeg. He has at his disposal both navigational aids and a crew, but
he is overpowered by a mental state that puts both the course and the destination at the
mercy of his personality and disturbed imagination. Finally, the Domestic-Political
perspective portrays the Israeli ship of state as being in a state of near mutiny. The captain
has only the semblance of control. In fact, the course and the destination are determined
by an unruly crew. The captain has a compass and is at the helm, but, weak and lacking
real judgment, he responds erratically to the cacophony of contrasting and often
irresponsible suggestions made by the entire crew.

Each of these contending images provides valid insights. The anti-Zionist perspec-
tive is probably correct in contending that the Zionist enterprise was bound to lead to an
Arab-Israeli conflict and that a persisting commitment to Zionism has had an important
bearing on Israel’s conduct. Zionist Fundamentalism is probably correct in arguing that
the acceleration and expansion of the Arab-Israeli conflict was propelled not only by Israel
but also, and quite considerably, by the Arabs. Moreover, the contention of this school
that the vision of pan-Arabism has had a critical impact on Arab conduct and has
introduced an element of pervasive ambiguity into Arab thought and action alike is not
without merit. Equally, the Psychological-Cultural perspective is on firm ground in
arguing that the personal traits of decision makers and the weight of Jewish history have
a bearing on Israeli policy. In the international arena Israel is, as the proponents of this
perspective suggest, largely what its key decision makers do. In trying to account for
Israeli conduct, it is wise to focus on the psychological and cultural world of Israeli
decision makers. Finally, the Domestic-Political perspective is clearly correct in arguing
that Israeli policy is not made in a political vacuum. The Israeli political scene is turbulent
and, by its own ground rules, it impels the political elite to be sensitive and responsive to
domestic demands.

The main shortcoming of the proponents of each of these approaches is not that they
are misguided but that, anxious to make their point, they tend to mistake secondary
(intervening) variables for the primary (independent) variable and thus end up overem-
phasizing the unique features of Israeli conduct while underemphasizing that part that is
common and universal. All four approaches, to different degrees, tend to underestimate
the pervasively pragmatic—and, as such, often shortsighted and narrowly focused—
strategic logic on which, arguably, most Israeli decisions. big and small, critical or
routine, have been predicated. Either Israel has no legitimate anxieties (as in the
anti-Zionist perspective) or is totally dominated in every move by existential fears (as in
the Psychological-Cultural perspective). Either Israel proceeds mechanically in accor-
dance with a divine, or at least a historical blueprint (as in the Zionist Fundamentalist
perspective) or its policy is shaped by a wild domestic political game (as in the
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Domestic-Political perspective). Sharing in a universal, systemic, existential predica-
ment, and acting incrementally in response to the specific challenges such a predicament
entails seem to be the (dubious) privileges of other states in the world. Israel, on the other
hand, is a sui generis state whose conduct should be measured by yardsticks that stress
uniqueness and idiosyncrasy. Or should it?

Israel’s Conduct as a Response to the Security Dilemma

A sizeable and ever-growing body of literature predicated on the axioms and theorems of
strategic theory and employing its stock-in-trade terminology implicitly challenges these
views of Israel’s conduct. It consists of histories of the Israeli military,' military-strategic
histories of the Arab-Israeli conflict with an emphasis on Israel,'! broad attempts to spell
out the hidden assumptions of Israel’s strategic-military doctrine,'? and a number of
prescriptive studies.'® Without actually saying so, proponents of this alternative interpre-
tation begin from the assumption that even though Israel is the unique product of a
quasi-messianic idea of redemption, it ended up playing the game of the world.
Differently stated, no matter how or why Israel has come into existence, and quite
irrespective of the psychological makeup of its leaders and its domestic politics, Israel’s
conduct has been more critically affected by the rules of the international system of which
it constitutes a part than by any idiosyncratic feature of its own.

The precise nature of these systemic rules remains, of course, a subject of major
controversy. But for proponents of strategic theory the answer rests upon one critical
assumption: in the absence of a supreme world arbiter, nations are impelled to take care
of their security unilaterally. As a typical proponent of this approach recently put it, there
are obviously many idiosyncratic

reasons why nations go to war: greed for resources, dynastic or ideological ambitions,
the sheer lust for domination. But an irreducible reason is built into the very structure
of the state system whose members must ultimately rely on themselves to protect their
security and independence. In an anarchic, self help system, the very search for
security turns into the root cause of insecurity as each nation’s quest poses a threat to
the other. Because there is no uitimate guardian, nations must assume the worst.
Because they act in terms of their worst assumptions, they excite the worst suspicions
of their neighbors and rivals whose counterveiling responses merely seem to buttress
the former’s initial anxiety.!'#

Philosophically, the godfather of this view of the world was neither Machiavelli nor
Hobbes but the supposedly less cynical Rousseau. ‘It is quite true,”” wrote Rousseau,

that it would be much better for all men to remain always at peace. But so long as there
is no security for this, everyone, having no guarantee that he can avoid war, is anxious
to bring it at the moment which suits his own interests and so forestall a neighbour,
who would not fail to forestall the attack in his turn at any moment favorable to
himself, so that many wars, even offensive wars, are rather in the nature of precautions
for the protection of the assailant’s own possessions than a device for seizing those of
others. However salutory it may be in theory to obey the dictates of public spirit, it is
certain that, politically and even morally, those dictates are liable to prove fatal to the
man who persists in observing them with all the world when no one thinks of observing
them toward him. '3
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-

To make the point clearer Rousseau resorted to a colorful analogy. The quest for
security of the society of states, he argued, is reminiscent of a stag hunt:

Assume that five men who have acquired a rudimentary ability to speak and to
understand each other happen to come together at a time when all_of them suffer from
hunger. The hunger of each will be satisfied by the fifth part of a stag, so they ‘‘agree’’
to cooperate in a project to trap one. But also the hunger of any one of them will be
satisfied by a hare, so, as a hare comes within reach, one of them grabs it. The defector
obtains the means of satisfying his hunger but in doing so permits the stag to escape.
His immediate interest prevails over consideration for his fellows.'®

The same logic also explains the behavior of an individual consumer, in an
inflation-ridden economy, to offer a contemporary analogy. The surest way to contain an
inflationary spiral is to stop buying and thus force prices down. Every consumer knows
this but is afraid that if he alone stops buying, others will cut their losses in the short run
and he will be the only sucker. This impels all consumers to spend every cent they have
as soon as they can. In turn, inflation is accelerated and the predicament of the average
consumer becomes worse.

Game theorists have described this order of preferences in terms of a ‘‘prisoner’s
dilemma.’’!” In simple terms it sums up the order of preferences of hunters, consumers,
or states as follows:

1. Work together and trap the stag or slow down inflation (the international
analogue being accommodation and disarmament).

2. Desert the party and chase a hare while other hunters stay with the party, or, in
an inflationary economy, buy as much as you can when others stop buying. (In
international political terms, act assertively, follow the instincts of amour propre,
while others adhere to policies of accomodation and joint action.)

3. All chase hares or rush to buy (that is, all states abandon accommodation and joint
action and rely on a policy of assertion).

4. Stay with the party of hunters even if others desert and proceed to chase hares or,
as a consumer, avoid spending even when others do not. (Steadfastly adhere to a
policy of unilateral accommodation even if other states act assertively).!8

In the long run the optimal policy for all states is obviously accomodation and joint
action. Such a policy will create an international atmosphere in which security is enhanced
equally for all. But pursuing this course regardless of what other states do involves, at
least in the short run, mortal risks. A state offering only cooperation could encourage its
neighbors to believe it is acting out of weakness and hence lead them to exploit its
behavior to their advantage. States acting upon such an assumption would be impelled,
irrespective of regime or declared ideology, to act assertively in the hope that their own
one-upmanship will benefit from other states’ accommodation. But since this logic affects
the behavior of most states, the ultimate result is that most states act assertively. The
system of which they are the constituent parts thus turns into a scene of more or less
perpetual anarchy. This is the essence of what Herbert Butterfield aptly described as ‘‘the
tragic element in modern intérnational conflict,”” a **condition of absolute predicament or
irreducible dilemma’’ which *‘lies in the very geometry of human conflicts. It is the basis
of the structure of any given episode in that conflict. It is at the basis of all tensions of the
present day, representing even now the residual problem that the world has not solved, the
hard nut that we still have to crack.”!'”
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Butterfield, like Rousseau two centuries before him, basically expanded an inter-
pretation of human nature into a macro theory of state behavior, a point which Kenneth
Waltz was to make very forcefully six years later.?° What they were saying was that most
individuals are neither particularly malevolent nor unintelligent and that states—
composed of and run by individuals as they are—should be also for the most part
disinclined to be aggressive. Yet states are inherently prone to act aggressively more out
of fear than ambition, greed, lust, or any other vice. They are faced, in other words, by
a fundamental security dilemma.

This view does not preclude the possibility of poor judgment, mischief, ambition,
ideological drives, responses to domestic pressures, or, indeed, sheer lunacy. Such
aberrations are probably common enough and certainly have an important impact on the
way both individuals and states conduct themselves. Nevertheless, in the final analysis,
even if all such traits were utterly absent from state action, even if all leaders were
perfectly rational and all states utterly peace-loving, the international system would still
remain an anarchic environment—all the more so when, at any given time, some states are
ruled by individuals who are either fools, or knaves, or both.

To be sure, the world today is not equally anarchic everywhere and may in fact never
have been. Western Europe provides an excellent example of institutionalization and
regulation of interstate relations; so do the North Atlantic area and, in a hierarchical and
far less equitable way, the Soviet bloc. But even in these islands of institutionalized
cooperation and stability, even in formal alliance politics, one can trace nonviolent
manifestations of assertive behavior as each member of the alliance attempts to maximize
its benefits from the alliance and minimize its costs.?! It is thus not surprising that in the
Middle East, arguably the world’s most anarchic region, the tragic existential predicament
leading to and resulting from a response of all actors to the security dilemma is so readily
apparent. Bewilderment, ignorance, and cultural ethnocentrism may have led many
Western observers to assume, somewhat patronizingly, that politics in the Middle East is
so violent mainly because it is embedded in a cultural and religious heritage that condones
violence and fanaticism. Yet, if one recalls the violence in Europe during the Middle Ages
when weapons and communication systems were incomparably less advanced than they
are in the Middle East today, it appears that the cultural background is, at best, an
intervening variable—a secondary factor. Conversely, what does seem to explain the
violent nature of Middle East politics is the deep sense of insecurity which pervades it. It
starts from objective material deprivation. It is reinforced by an accumulation of pent up
frustrations. And it ultimately takes the form of a ceaseless and unrestrained scramble for
resources, for status, for affection. Together these are the typical elements of personal and
collective insecurity. And if this is the case, the Middle East is plagued by more violence
than, say, Europe, not because of its different languages and religions, but because the
sense of responding to the security dilemma is stronger among all local actors. In turn the
more violent nature of politics in the region acts as a self-fulfilling prophecy. The
inclination of all to act assertively is enhanced, the propensity of all to take the risks
involved in assuming an accomodative posture is reduced, and the region turns into a
scene of ever escalating violence.

If such a perception of politics in the Middle East region is strong among Arabs,
Turks, Iranians, Somalies, Ethiopians, Kurds, Berbers and Maronites, it makes an even
harsher impression on the Jewish population of Israel. This is to a certain extent the result
of an intense sense of a tragic Jewish predicament, the legacy of the two thousand years
of persecution and dispersal culminating in the Holocaust. It also steins from the simple
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fact that Israel is a small and isolated country facing a large Arab coalition. But such
discrete factors do not create the security dilemma. They merely make it more agonizing.
The root cause of it all for Israel, as for other states in the Middle East, is the anarchic
nature of the regional environment.

David Vital explained the nature of the Israeli predicament in this regard with
remarkable cogency. The Arab posture, he observed, contains a basic duality resulting
from a split commitment to the greater Arab family on the one hand and to self-interest
on the other.

The duality of Arab interests encourages Israel to seek to deter pressure and disrupt the
coalition by maximizing the actual or potential costs of conflict to individual Arab
states and organizations. Like the Arabs, Israel must therefore seek to build up as large
and efficacious a military establishment as possible. But, in fact, Israel’s ability to
deter the Arab coalition is very uncertain . . . [objectively] the Israeli military potential
cannot but seem small when set against the vast human and financial resources and
great military buildup available to the Arabs. And the more powerful the members of
the Arab coalition grew—and the more effectively the coalition may be expected to
operate—the greater must the imbalance appear. Israel therefore attempts to deter not
only by amassing and parading its military capabilities, but by repeatedly demonstrat-
ing their effectiveness in the field. And when the level of arms on the . . . Arab side
appears to be rising too far relative to that of Israel’s, the balance of advantage for
Israel will always lie in a preemptive war. But here, again, each one of Israel’s military
successes, each attempt to deter or disrupt or incapacitate the coalition, serves equally
to confirm and intensify the Arab tendency, however unsteady, to act in unison and to
see in Israel a threat to the Pan-Arab cause as a whole, and in its very presence in the
Levant a painful and open wound in the Arab body politic. Finally, that military
encounters should occur against a background of repeated insistence by Israel that it
wishes for no more than peace and security, it is generally held on the Arab side to
constitute so much additional evidence of Israel’s essential perfidy and malevolence.
For their part, the Arabs can argue that they, at any rate, never have and do not now,
proclaim their aims to be peace and coexistence. To which the ever more conscious
and explicit response of the Israelis is to discount the expectation of an eventual
resolution of the conflict in terms of peace and security for all, and to accept a prospect
of interminable warfare punctuated from time to time by major clashes.

““Each side,”’ concludes Vital somberly, “‘is thus either committed or constrained to
see in the other an opponent to be confronted by nothing less than unremitting hostility.
The goals are on each side such that the closer they are to attainment, the more strongly
the parties are impelled to pursue them. In these circumstances it is not surprising that the
chronology of the Arab-Israeli conflict should be one of spiraling violence.’’

Robert J. Lieber made much the same general point—that is, that Israel’s conduct is
primarily a response to a systemic predicament—by applying Rousseau’s ideas to the
Jewish state’s preference order before launching the 1967 war.

At this point [May 1967] the Israeli predicament reflected the reality of Rousseau’s
vision that no authoritative international arbiter exists with the means of imposing
order. Existing international guarantees had been vitiated, Egyptian armor had poured
into the Sinai, and speeches of Arab leaders promised to drive the Israelis into the sea.
Israeli decision-makers were then faced with two possible choices: to do nothing in the
hope that the Arabs would not in fact attack (or that if they did attack the international
community would not acquiesce in the destruction of Israel), or to seek to preserve
Israel’s own security by a preemptive strike. In a sense, the nature of the international
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system compelled what in game theory would be termed a mini-max strategy: the
choice of the second alternative. For if the worst possible outcome were to take place
after Israel had elected the first option, a sudden Arab onslaught might well have
succeeded in decimating the Israelis, who had little room for tactical retreat and
maneuver on dry land. But if the Israelis chose to preempt, they would in effect play
it safe. At worst they would fight a (possibly unnecessary) war from an initially
favorable position and possibly stand to occupy additional territory as a buffer. Given
the facts that the Israelis had no room for retreat or mistake, that to wait for an absolute
certainty that the Arabs would actually attack might conceivably have meant the
slaughter of their entire population, and that the international system provided
absolutely no means of security upon which Israel could rely, the Israelis thus had a
strong inducement to launch the preemptive attack that began the Six Day War.?

Both Vital and Lieber focus on what is assumed in this study to be the heart of the
problem. To account for Israel’s conduct, there is no need to invoke any of the factors that
the four perspectives discussed earlier emphasize. Whatever its guiding ideology,
whatever its domestic political makeup, and no matter what historical legacy hangs over
the minds of its policy makers, the Jewish state’s conduct, like that of her own
adversaries, remains motivated chiefly by the patently anarchic nature of the regional and
the wider international environment in which it has existed since its inception. Zionist
ideology may have enhanced the determination of some Israelis to protect their interests.
Two thousand years of Jewish suffering and the more recent holocaust experience have
had a similar effect on the world view of some Israeli decision makers. And the latter’s
personalities, attitudes, and whims may have often played an important role. Nor can the
exigencies of Israel’s domestic scene be entirely ignored. But in the final analysis the most
important factor has been the Jewish state’s response to an existential, systemic, and
persistent predicament which in the Middle East, with its civil wars, endless interstate
conflicts, terrorism, coups d’état, arms races, assassinations, and mass massacres, must
have a greater impact on the conduct of all, not just on Israel.

In practical terms, the response to a security dilemma suggests not just rationality
but, indeed, a high degree of hard-nosed pragmatism, an emphasis on the short term,
incrementalism, and an unemotional attitude to any proposition that force might have to
be employed. Such are also the typical traits of strategic theory. To say that Israel’'s
conduct is mainly a response to the security dilemma is thus only one step from
contending that Israel’s conduct is overwhelmingly strategic. As a leading Israeli thinker
puts it, “‘Israeli foreign policy approximates the strategic studies model of national
security more than [the policies of] states enjoying a wider security margin [which are
therefore] less impelled to emphasize considerations of national security over economics,
prestige or ideology.’’%*

But such a view of the predominant trait of Israeli conduct is not entirely
incompatible with the arguments of some other explanations. An emphasis on strategy and
the assertion that it all boils down to a response to the security dilemma do not imply an
automatic, deterministic chessboardlike style of interaction in which decision makers are
not at all influenced by factors such as ideology, personality traits, or domestic political
pressure. Every policy choice, every decisional juncture, especially when it entails the use
of force, tends to generate differences of opinion, even controversies. And it is within
such a context that the strategic response to the security dilemma should be evaluated.

Broadly speaking, to say that Israel’s conduct is a typical response to the security
dilemma is to make a probabilistic statement. It implies that given a choice between
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assertive and accommodative response to a specific situation, most decision makers would
opt for assertion. But it does not mean that all decision makers would do so in the face
of any kind of threat. For some, a preference for assertive behavior would be almost
instinctive. For others the opposite choice would be a natural reflex. But for the
overwhelming majority of decision makers at most conceivable decision junctures, the
choice is a hard one. Ultimately they will make a decision that in most, but not all, cases
will be assertive, or so the notion of a security dilemma would predict.

The main factors that will presumably affect the final decision are ideology,
personality traits, and domestic political pressures. For Begin, to cite an obvious example,
ideology would always be a beacon pointing out specific policy objectives. For his
predecessor, Rabin, on the other hand, Zionist ideology would not be anything more than
a source of general inspiration and legitimization. Most other Israeli prime ministers fell
somewhere between Begin and Rabin on this issue, but closer, it seems, to the pragmatic
Rabin than to the dogmatic Begin. They would tend to articulate their positions in public
in the ringing rhetoric of Zionism but not necessarily to analyze specific situations in these
same terms.>>

As for personality traits, determined, decisive, and pugnacious types such as Ben
Gurion, Dayan (in the 1950s), Meir, Begin at certain times, and Sharon would be more
inclined to react forcefully and take risks; less assertive leaders such as Sharett, Eshkol,
and Peres would react more timidly—but the distinction is not at all an absolute one. Ben
Gurion and Begin had their moments of doubt, whereas Eshkol and even Sharett had
moments of resolve.

One factor which weighed heavily in all major decisions by all these leading policy
makers was their perception of what their domestic constituency would wish them to do,
of whether they should make an assertive decision that the public would not support.
Moreover, some leaders dared to challenge perceived public preferences more than did
others. The former, especially Ben Gurion, Meir, and Begin, took greater risks in this
regard on the assumption that the public could be won back later. Other decision makers
avoided such risks to the best of their ability.

The same, moreover, could be said about the public itself. Citizens, like their
leaders, are not made of one mind. Some are more inclined than others, to support
assertive action just as some are more prone than others, to take risks. Thus, whenever a
critical decision has to be faced, the public can be expected to be divided no less but no
more than the decision makers who act on their behalf. A decision juncture is thus
inevitably an occasion for public controversies which are at once influenced by the public
mood and the main factor that shapes this mood. '

Such factors as ideology, personality, and domestic response can be isolated only
analytically. In practice they operate simultaneously and interconnectedly. Broadly
speaking, the pattern in Israel has been as follows. Every critical decision juncture led to
a variety of responses by key decision makers. Those who adopted a rigidly maximalist
interpretation of Zionist ideology would also tend to have a conspicuously harsh view of
the world. They would also be responsive (quite congruously) to a more or less
likeminded domestic constituency. Such decision makers would normally tend to
advocate a hyperassertive response to the situation at hand. In the language of the
post-Vietnam era they would be the ‘‘hawks.’’ In Israel they would also be described as
“‘activists.”’

Side by side with the hawks, every critical issue would also generate more ‘‘dovish’’
responses. To be sure, few doves in Isracl’s history ever denied the existence of a genuine



THE SOURCES OF ISRAELI CONDUCT 13

threat, and those few who did never had any real political following. But, minimalists in
their view of Zionist objectives and more inclined to be cautious, Israeli doves showed a
preference for accommodation by default, namely, a cautious and piecemeal application
of an essentially assertive policy. In most situations, though, the dovish advocacy would
ultimately lose ground and, as in fact predicted by the notion of security dilemma, the
hawks would win and an assertive policy would follow.

Israel’s Conduct: A Retrospect

A brief overview of the Israeli experience since the pre-statehood period illustrates how
persistent the hawkish pattern has been. An autonomous Jewish polity existed in Palestine
as early as the 1930s. By then the international system was rapidly moving toward the
cataclysm of World War II. Simultaneously, and partly as a result, the Middle East was
set ablaze by a series of nationalist upheavals. Increasingly this upsurge focused itself
against the fledgling Jewish entity, and the leadership of the Yishuv (the pre-statehood
Jewish political community in Palestine) had to make its first important decision in
matters of national security. The choices were clear: the Yishuv could adopt a posture of
accommodation or choose to act assertively. The revisionists on the right and a small part
of the activist Ahdut HaAvoda on the left advocated assertion. The rest of the Yishuv at
first preferred accommodation, and the World Zionist Organization supported this
response. Brit Shalom (alliance for peace), a small group of intellectuals centered at
Hebrew University, even went as far as to advocate a fundamental reorientation of the
Zionist program. Instead of continuing the struggle for ultimate independence, they
advocated a binational (Arab-Jewish) solution which would lead to the creation of a
unitary state in Palestine. As the pressure increased owing to the rise of Nazi Germany,
the influx of Jewish refugees from Europe, and the Arab rebellion, the configuration of
contending Zionist advocacies concerning the response to the security dilemma rapidly
polarized. The revisionists held on to their positions. Ben Gurion and the Zionist left were
increasingly inclined to endorse a moderate version of the same view, namely, an
assertive response. It ultimately prevailed. Renewing its failing alliance with the British,
the Yishuv leadership engaged for the first time in a sequence of decisions leading to an
offensive use of force vis-a-vis the Arabs.

World War II and its aftermath made the Yishuv’s security dilemma far more acute.
The war precipitated Britain’s departure and created an urgent need to absorb hundreds of
thousands of European refugees. Alarmed by the influx of refugees but encouraged by the
prospect of British departure and by the support of the Arab states, the Arabs of Palestine,
adopting a clearly assertive posture, stepped up their diplomatic and military preparations
for the imminent showdown. The accommodative option before the Yishuv was thus
reduced sharply to one alternative which was equally unacceptable to most strands of
opinion: giving up altogether the idea of Jewish independence. The revisionists and the
militant Stern Group called for an all-out war against both the British and the Arabs.
Weizman, the aging leader of the world Zionist organization, and a segment of the Yishuv
advocated a defensive military posture and utmost restraint toward the British. Ben
Gurion and the Labor movement advocated a mixed strategy consisting of a selective
military effort against the British, a defensive military posture vis-a-vis the Arabs, an
attempt to prevent an Arab invasion through a bilateral agreement with the Hashemite
ruler of Jordan, and a parallel attempt to obtain U.S. support for independence.
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The United Nations decision of November 29, 1947, to partition Palestine was
followed by an explicit threat of Arab invasion. Strictly speaking this assured Arab attack
should have led the Yishuv to a decision to act in a similar fashion, namely, to preempt.
But military weakness, a certain hope that the Arab invasion might not take place after all,
and fear of British and American reactions in the event of a preemption by the Yishuv led
to the choice of an accommodative rather than an assertive posture. The Yishuv accepted
the partition idea, resigned itself to the truncated boundaries offered under this scheme,
prepared frantically for an all-out war, but meanwhile restricted itself to defensive action
in the face of the Palestinian Arab attack and to secret diplomatic negotiations with the
Hashemite Kingdom of Transjordan.

The final moment of truth came in May 1948. If the Yishuv were to avoid a declaration
of independence, the departure of the British could still be followed by an Arab invasion.
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Moreover, such an accommodative gesture, argued Ben Gurion, could mean that there
would never be a Jewish state. A declaration of independence, on the other hand, was
certain to lead to a war the outcome of which would be uncertain. But if the Jewish state
succeeded in holding its own, the Arabs might realize that there was no alternative but to
accept it in their midst. Assertion—namely, a unilateral declaration of independence
backed by a manifest determination to defend itself—therefore appeared to be the most
rational course of action. It was followed by an Arab invasion with the declared purpose
of undoing the young state. Hence, at least as long as the fighting continued, Israel had
only one option: to fight back and thwart the Arabs’ declared intention.

In the latter stages of the 1948 war Israel once again faced the security dilemma.
Militarily, it had become sufficiently strong to conquer every part of Palestine as well as
small parts of Lebanon and of the Sinai. Menachem Begin’s Herut party, as well as
segments of MAPAM (Hebrew acronym for United Workers Party) on the left, advocated
such a policy. Ben Gurion and the mainstream of Israeli political opinion, however,
advocated restraint and accommodation. Ben Gurion, in particular, wished to avoid
friction with Britain and the United States, recoiled from incorporating into Israel a large
Arab population, and hoped to obtain a peace agreement with Jordan based on the
annexation of parts of western Palestine by the Hashemite monarchy. Ultimately, once
again, Ben Gurion’s opinion prevailed. The area that from then on became known as the
West Bank was not occupied by Israel despite the fact that the IDF was capable of
occupying it within a week or two. Israeli forces in the Sinai were ordered to retreat to east
of the international border between Egypt and Palestine. Israeli forces occupying parts of
south Lebanon received similar orders. Israel entered into armistice negotiations and
pressed for a final and irreversible peace settlement with the Arabs.

The accommodating posture in the final stages of the 1948 war failed, however, to
elicit sufficient cooperation from the Arabs. The Armistice Agreements were supposed to
lead to full-fledged peace agreements. Two conferences, in Paris and in Lausanne, were
convened for this purpose late in 1949 and early in 1950. They ended in a total deadlock.
Israel attempted to pursue bilateral contacts with Jordan and came close to a peace
agreement with that country. This move was thwarted, however, by the assassination of
Jordan’s King Abdullah. Increasingly despairing of cooperative gestures, Israel nonethe-
less welcomed the new regime in Egypt following the July 1952 revolution and resumed
its invitation for peace talks. The call, however, was ignored.

Meanwhile, Israel was increasingly faced with a problem of border insecurity. The
initial Isracli response was both defensive and, in terms of the security dilemma,
accommodative. A system of rudimentary border fortifications based on a combination of
mobile patrols with territorial defenses, in which villages along the frontier became part
of an integrated system, would take care of the military aspect. Reliance on United
Nations mechanisms and on Western mediation would add a wider political dimension.
Both parts of this policy led, however, to nought. Security along the frontiers
deteriorated. The UN Truce Supervision Organization (UNTSO) proved incapable of
anything but ex post facto ‘‘reporting,’’ and neither Great Britain nor the United States
would offer any security guarantees. The temptation to fall back on a policy of
self-reliance, or, in the language of the security dilemma, on an assertive posture, became
virtually irresistible. Reprisals, escalation, and ultimately a full-scale war in October 1956
were the main consequences of this shift.

The sequence of Israeli decisions leading to the 1956 war can be easily explained
without any reference to Zionist ideology even though official statements at the time
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echoed many Zionist themes. It constituted a response to the security dilemma and as such
it had important ramifications in both Israel and the Arab world. Within Israel the
acuteness of the emerging threat caused a split between Ben Gurion, Dayan, and others
on the one hand and Sharett and several other cabinet members on the other hand. The
dispute boiled down to slightly different prescriptions for action. The Ben Gurion
“‘school’” tended to prefer a somewhat more forceful response, the Sharett school a
slightly more accommodative one. But the latter, it should be emphasized, did not dispute
Ben Gurion’s diagnosis,” which stressed Israel’s limited range of policy choices and
advocated an assertive conduct.

The Ben Gurion ‘‘school’” once again prevailed. Its policy was intended to exact a
high price from the Arabs for their own policy of assertion. In other words, it intended to
enhance Israel’s security by increasing Arab insecurity. The Arabs were thus facing a
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sharpened security dilemma of their own. They responded to it in the same fashion.
Escalation became inevitable in turn, and the insecurity of both Arabs and Jews became
greater.

The demilitarization of the Sinai following the 1956 war defused some of the tensions
in Egyptian-Israel relations. But at the same time the 1956 war added impetus to the
Arab-Israeli arms race. The mounting costs forced Israel to abandon all hope for a defensive
military option. Indeed, from the late 1950s Israel was left with only an offensive military
option. Faced with a clear threat it would either have to yield or, alternatively, launch a
preemptive strike. In January 1960 an Israeli-Egyptian war nearly broke out when Egyptian
forces reentered the Sinai. Israel quietly mobilized but informed Egypt through third parties
that its forces would demobilize if the Egyptian forces were withdrawn from the Sinai.
Egypt complied. In terms of the security dilemma both parties played a game of accom-
modation and reaped important dividends, namely, the avoidance of war.

Simultaneously, however, Israel increasingly faced a major challenge from Syria.
The latter repeatedly challenged President Nasser to launch another ‘‘round’’ against
Israel, but he resisted. Alone the Syrians could not have attacked Israel, hence they
resorted to small-scale attrition practices. Up to a point Israel was prepared to react
defensively and to forgo harsh countermeasures but, as during the pre-1956 period, this
course gradually appeared unacceptable if not entirely counterproductive. The upshot was
a growing Israeli tendency to escalate these hostilities in the vain hope that Syria would
ultimately yield. But this merely intensified Syria’s own sense of insecurity, and the
result, again, was further escalation leading to a major showdown.

The crisis of 1967, in itself the product of escalation during the previous decade, did
not really confront Israel with an immediate threat of total extinction. The real danger was
that, having succeeded in erasing the post-1956 status quo, Nasser could be subsequently
tempted to launch a full-scale war, or, even more likely, to begin some form of
small-scale harrassment. In the estimate of the IDF, Israel could hold its own against even
a concerted Arab attack—this, after all, was the worst case scenario on which Israeli
planning was based-—but the potential cost was perceived as prohibitive. During the first
week of the 1967 crisis the Israeli government tried to react in the same accommodative
manner in which Ben Gurion’s government had reacted to a similar Egyptian move in
January 1960. This conciliatory posture was apparently interpreted by Nasser as a sign of
weakness and led him to escalate the crisis. The Israeli government, therefore, came to the
conclusion that sooner or later a war would have to be fought anyway, as a result of either
an Arab attack or an Israeli preemption. Given the absence of a viable defensive military
option, and given the assumption that the cost of sustaining a war initiated by the Arabs
would be far greater, the choice of a preemptive strike became well nigh inevitable.

To some Israelis the experience invoked the specter of the holocaust. Yet, on
balance, with or without the memory of the Jewish past and, needless to add, with or
without Zionist ideology, the decision to launch the 1967 war was quite predictable. It
was a classical response to the security dilemma. Having attempted limited accommoda-
tive moves and having failed to elicit a cooperative response, Israel was left with
preemption as the only viable alternative. Given the clarity with which the problem
presented itself, it is not surprising that this time the Israeli government was hardly
divided. There were, to be sure, some who insisted that diplomacy had to be exhausted
before resorting to force. But, when all the attempts to secure international help
foundered, Eshkol’s National Unity Cabinet closed ranks and voted unanimously to
launch a preemptive strike.
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Furthermore, nothing explains Israeli conduct in the course of the period from 1967
to 1973 more than the lessons of the 1967 crisis. Having given back the Sinai in 1956 for
little more than vague international promises, having accepted the presence of the UN force
in the Sinai as an additional substitute for peace, having attempted to invoke these promises
in May 1967, Israel became determined not to rely again on anything other than its own
resources. This typical response to the security dilemma meant, however, one important
thing: Israel would have to hold on to all the territories that were occupied in the 1967 war
until such time as its adversaries were ready to exchange territories for peace. Moreover,
assuming that negotiations would mean bargaining, the Israeli government would not
divulge in advance which territories would be returned. Individual members of the gov-
ernment had their different ideas about what should not be returned. Some of them made
their views public, but, at least with regard to the West Bank, no authoritative decision,
let alone a public statement of the minimally acceptable, was ever made.
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This decision not to decide had fateful ramifications. It increased Arab suspicions
that Israel had no intention of returning any occupied territory. It revived Israel’s
long-dormant dream of expanding the state’s territory to the whole of Palestine. It made
impossible even a tactical decision about partial withdrawal in the Sinai—which could
have prevented the 1973 war. It tarnished Israel’s image with those segments of
international opinion with which the Jewish state had no basic quarrel. Yet, in the final
analysis, the main initial motivation for this posture was not ideologically inspired, nor
was it particularly influenced by the peculiarities of individual decision makers or by
domestic opinion; rather, it was once again a not particularly unique response to an
essentially universal problem.

The same logic also applies to Israel’s response to the war of attrition along the Suez
Canal, as well as to the Palestinian issue, the PLO, and the question of whether to preempt
Syria and Egypt in October 1973. To be accommodative, Israel would have to withdraw
unilaterally from the Sinai, the West Bank, and the Golan, to recognize Palestinian rights,
to accept the PLO as a legitimate spokesperson for the Palestinians, and to be resigned to
the creation of a Palestinian state on the West Bank. This, it was instinctively assumed by
all Israeli governments, could conceivably lead to a piecemeal submission ultimately
resulting in suicide. Given Arab rhetoric and past Israeli experience with the Arabs, there
is no need to invoke Zionist ideology or the private complexes of Israeli leaders or, indeed,
domestic opinion. Such factors may have made Israeli governments even more determined,
but the notion of security dilemma in fact predicts that Israeli policy makers, like any other
policy makers, would have reacted in much the same way without any of these unique
factors.

The same can also be said about the Israeli posture since the 1973 war. During this
period Israel expanded the settlement activity in the West Bank and experienced a change
of government resulting in a far greater ideological emphasis in the climate of Israeli
politics, both domestic and external. Nevertheless, none of these factors is essential in
order to account for Israeli actions such as the decision to raid Entebbe, the decision to
raid Osiraq, and, last but not least, the decision to launch Operation Litani, Israel’s 1978
mini-invasion of Lebanon. Accommodating the Entebbe hijackers was unanimously
assumed to be a prelude to fresh hijackings and greater demands. Hence, in principle, the
issue of Entebbe boiled down to a choice between submission to the maximal demands of
the hijackers and an attack on them irrespective of the possible costs.

In the case of the Iragi nuclear program the presence of a veritable security dilemma
was even more pronounced. To follow the path of accommodation meant relying on the
available mechanisms of international inspection, weak and vulnerable as they may be.
But to do so would be tantamount to exposing Israel one day to the possibility of an Iragi
nuclear blackmail, a more hideous scenario than even submission to more conventional
forms of terrorism. Israel could, of course, have disclosed a nuclear option itself, but that
would have meant exposure to a great deal of international criticism and, worse still, an
immediate nuclearization of the Arab-Israeli conflict with all its horrendous implications.
Destroying the Iragi nuclear reactor, seemingly the least attractive alternative, was
therefore a logical, perhaps an inevitable move.

Alternative Interpretations of Israel’s Involvement in Lebanon

But what about the Israeli invasion of Lebanon? Can this latest phase in Israel’s history
also be explained as a standard response to the security dilemma? On the face of it the
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answer seems to be unequivocally no. In fact, juﬂging by most available interpretations,
no Israeli policy to date lends itself less to an analysis based on the notion of a security
dilemma than the one that led the IDF to the gates of Beirut. After all, when Israel
attacked the PLO the latter was visibly engaged in a process of reorientation leading to a
far more compromising approach toward the Zionist state than previously. It was also, as
a military force, weak, disorganized, ill equipped, and consequently hardly a match for
the mighty IDF, which at the time of the attack was sometimes described as the world’s
fourth most powerful army.?® Moreover, for close to a year before it was assailed by
Israel, the PLO held its fire. Syria, whose forces in Lebanon were also attacked in June
1982, had since 1976 assumed a similarly quiescent posture. In short, the Israeli attack did
not appear to be a standard response to the security dilemma but was, arguably, an
ill-advised act of aggression, an aberration, or a reflection of personal whims rather than
a statesmanlike response to genuine strategic imperatives.?’

Indeed, viewed more systematically, the Israeli invasion does seem to lend itself to
explanation based on premises of the four perspectives discussed earlier in the chapter.
Anti-Zionist writers have claimed that the dream of extending Israel’s border to the Litani
River inside Lebanon has been a powerful and persisting theme in Zionist and Israeli
thinking. In addition, the advocates of this view assert that the war in Lebanon was
inspired by Begin’s ideologically motivated desire to liquidate the PLO and thus
consolidate Israel’s own claim upon the West Bank.??

By contrast, the Zionist Fundamentalist argument emphasizes the role of the PLO in
Lebanon, and of its representatives on the West Bank, as instruments of Pan-Arab
nationalism. It can be argued from this perspective that Syria was deterred by Israel from
approaching the Galilee and therefore cultivated the PLO as a proxy. Israel’s war in
Lebanon was therefore a simple act of self-defense.?”

The Psychological-Cultural perspective, too, can be employed to account for the
Israeli invasion of Lebanon. An abundance of evidence supports the assumption that
Menachem Begin was obsessively preoccupied with the question of the Holocaust. All his
life, and no less so during his prime ministership, he used a language that repeatedly
stressed that the Arab struggle against Israel was another manifestation of anti-Semitism.
Time and again he would talk about the “‘spilling of Jewish blood’” and about the apathy
and cynicism of the world whenever Jews were in trouble. Indeed, in the course of the
1982 invasion, he explicitly invoked the memory of World War II. Thus, responding to
a birthday telegram from President Reagan, he explained Israel’s siege of Beirut in the
following terms: ‘‘I feel as a Prime Minister empowered to instruct a valiant army facing
Berlin where, among innocent civilians, Hitler and his henchmen hide in a bunker deep
beneath the surface.”’*°

None of this could be said about Ariel Sharon or Rafael Eitan. Their language is
different and certainly does not include many references to Jewish history before the
establishment of Israel. Nevertheless, observed from the Psychological-Culture perspec-
tive, their conduct too could be richly interpreted. Both of them were socialized into
violence. Sharon’s childhood memories include hard work on his parents’ small farm,
and, of course, a permanent and immediate threat from the Arabs in the villages which lay
east of his own village, 'Kfar Malal. As a young man he joined the Jewish underground
organization Hagana and fought in the 1948 war. During the early 1950s he was
commander of Israel’s main instruments of retaliation. He had planned, organized, and
carried out so much violence, it could be argued, that his personality must have been
deformed. For him, some of his opponents would argue, ‘‘a good Arab is a dead Arab.”’
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The thought of reconciliation with the Arabs, and in particular with the Palestinians,
would never have crossed his mind. His world is a field of violence and it was therefore
only natural that as minister of defense his greatest ambition would be to have ‘*his’’ own
war.?!

Rafael Eitan’s world is not very different. Born and bred in Tel Adashim, a moshav
in the heart of the valley of Jezreel, he was formed in much the same way. Hard work on
the farm; memories of skirmishes with the Arabs in the neighborhood extending back to
early childhood; a brief experience as a volunteer in the Hagana underground; an intensive
war experience in 1948 during which he was seriously wounded for the first, but not the
last, time; service in the same paratroop unit that Sharon commanded; participation in
numerous reprisals, deep penetration raids, and other dangerous missions; a slow but
steady rise in the ranks of the IDF from command over a paratroop company to a
battalion, a brigade, a division, Northern Command and, finally, the entire army. On this
long road he was wounded on several occasions. He lost members of his own family. He
saw hundreds of friends and subordinates lose their lives or their limbs and, naturally, he
himself took other people’s lives. Small wonder, then, that he developed a rather harsh
world view in which everything was painted in simple black and white. Zionism in the
simplest sense of bringing all Jews to Israel and settling them in every part of the ancient
homeland figures in Raful’s world view as self-evidently good and just. The Arabs, all
Arabs, are a relentless foe. They are boastful, emotional, bloodthirsty, lazy, and
disorganized—a mob, but a dangerous one that can be effectively dealt with only by brute
force.>?

The combination of Begin’s Holocaust obsession with Sharon’s and Eitan’s phobia
for the Arabs, not to speak of Sharon’s ruthless ambition, proponents of the
Psychological-Cultural perspective would argue, explain Israel’s invasion of Lebanon.
After all, the invasion had been preceded by more than a year of effective ceasefire with
the PLO and more than five years of stability in Israeli-Syrian relations. Having signed a
peace treaty with Egypt, and with Iraq committed to a protracted war with Iran, Israel had
become more secure in 1982 than it had ever been. Hence, only a world view as distorted
as Begin’s, Sharon’s, and Raful’s could still find the weak PLO sufficient menace to
justify a war.

Such an argument would not be rejected by proponents of the Domestic-Political
perspective. But they would emphasize the changing social bases of the Israeli political
system. Begin’s Likud party had been voted into power by an ascendant populist
sentiment. Most of the voters had never read the works of Jabotinsky—Begin’s mentor—
and have nothing in common with Begin’s ideology. Most of Begin’s supporters are
Sephardi Israelis, brought to Israel in the immediate aftermath of the 1948 war and often
insensitively forced to adapt to a political culture and an institutional setting for which
they had not been prepared. They were exploited by the established and mainly
Ashkenazi Labor elite, and the humiliation and misery of their early years in Israel had
turned them into passionate critics of the Labor movement. Yet, if this explains their
deference toward Menachem Begin and the Likud party, it does not fully account for
their support of Begin’s harsh military policy. What does account for it, according to this
argument, is the fact that they originated for the most part from Arab countries. Less
educated than the average Labor supporter, these Sephardi ‘Likudniks’® do not let
Western values interfere with their views of the Arab. They ‘‘know the Arab mentality™’
better than anyone, and this ‘‘knowledge’’ informs them that Arabs understand only the
language of force.
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This type of populist jingoism is particularly popular in the development towns of the
Galilee along Israel’s border with Lebanon. Little towns such as Kiryat Shemonah,
Shlomi, Ma’alot, Hazor, and Safed, small villages such as Kefar Yuval, Margalioth,
Avivim, and Me’onah are inhabited almost exclusively by Sepharadi populists. The
standard of living in such places is low. Bitterness toward the Labor movement—
represented for these people by the seemingly affluent, arrogant, and exclusionist
kibbutzim such as Dan, Daphna, Kfar Giladi, Manara, and Hanita—is intense. Last, but
not least, it was precisely these socially vulnerable towns and villages against which most
of the PLO’s fire was deliberately directed from 1968 to 1981. Hence, it could be argued,
it was only natural for such a domestic constituency to press the Begin government to ‘‘do
something once and for all”” about the PLO across the border.33

Each of these four alternative explanations of Israel’s decision to invade Lebanon
contains more than a grain of truth. It is true that south Lebanon had attracted the
imagination of many Zionist leaders as early as World War I, and that later Ben Gurion
and Dayan tried to convince Prime Minister Sharett to set up a Christian Lebanese state
and move the Israeli-Lebanese border to the banks of the Litani River. It is also
conceivable that Begin’s ideologically inspired desire to maintain the West Bank was for
him a major incentive to authorize an attack against the PLO in Lebanon. Moreover, in
1982 segments of the PLO were often employed by a variety of forces in the Arab world
as instruments in a wider struggle with the Jewish state. There is little doubt, moreover,
that the ambitions and simplistic world view of Sharon and Eitan led them to believe that
a war in Lebanon against the PLO and Syria might be a worthwhile undertaking. Finally,
the increasingly populist climate of Israeli politics and the pressure of an organized
Galilee lobby added yet another incentive for launching the invasion.3*

Yet, having said all that, there is still sufficient evidence to suggest that, much like
Israel’s previous decisions to employ force, the invasion of Lebanon was primarily a
response to the security dilemma. It did not emanate from any Zionist blueprint; it was not
just a matter of personal whim, and it most certainly was not a response to a domestic
demand or an attempt to divert attention away from burning domestic problems. It
resulted, rather, from a protracted sequence of incremental decisions over a period of
fifteen years, all of which sought to avoid drastic action but ultimately increased its
attractiveness.

Specifically, the invasion must be evaluated against the backdrop of the thirty-five
years preceding it. For twenty years after the establishment of Israel, a succession of
Israeli cabinets had maintained a ‘‘live and let live’’ policy toward Lebanon, reflecting a
basic lack of interest in Lebanon; but this pattern was broken nearly a decade before
Begin’s victory in the 1977 elections. A new pattern was initiated under Prime Minister
Levi Eshkol, a moderate by all accounts, and was maintained under Prime Ministers
Golda Meir, Itzhak Rabin, and even largely under Menachem Begin. The main source of
the change in policy was neither the replacement of one individual with another, nor
Zionist ideology, nor domestic demand—rather, it was the result of the encounter between
Israel and the PLO in which the latter increasingly presented a dual menace. In the short
term the danger was confined to the Israeli population along the border with Lebanon,
which rapidly became a hostage to the PLO, a means with which to contain Israel’s
propensity to make the PLO pay dearly for every act of sabotage or terrorism anywhere
in the world. In a broader sense the ascendance of the PLO faced Israel with the prospect
of either permitting the Palestinians to establish a state on the West Bank or risking a
major confrontation with the United States, a choice that, in the view of most shades of
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Israeli opinion, including the mainstream of the Labor party, had to be avoided. Moved
by its own security dilemma the PLO was impelled to sustain its military and political
pressures. Inspired by a not dissimilar logic Israel was prone to do anything it could to
avert both the military and the political implications of the PLO’s action.

As on other occasions, Israel had essentially two options: a political move leading to
a historic compromise with the PLO, or preemptive military action against it.
Responding to its own perception of the security dilemma, Israel eschewed
accommodation on the assumption most states since time immemorial have made:
cooperative behavior could lead to a greater menace than the one it sought to avert.
Having thus instinctively opted for the preemptive alternative, Israel faced three policy
options: inaction, and a strictly defensive posture; a limited offensive posture; or an
all-out form of military offensive. For nearly fifteen years the Jewish state had opted
repeatedly for the intermediate—limited—alternative. Even Begin’s first ministry
(1977-81) followed this pattern. But, increasingly, this policy of limited action brought
diminishing returns. By the beginning of the 1980s, it was becoming apparent that as
long as accommodation with the PLO remained unacceptable, the number of Israel’s
alternatives was rapidly decreasing to only two: a defensive posture or a massive
operation. A defensive posture at a time when the PLO was prone to avoid military
action in order to increase pressure on the United States to bring the Palestinians into the
peace process would ultimately bear the same fruits as an abrupt volte-face leading to an
Israeli willingness to negotiate with the PLO. Realizing this, segments of Israel’s left,
including a small number of Labor leaders, began openly to advocate precisely such a
historic change in Israeli policy. They were logical and consistent. So were Begin,
Sharon, and Eitan, who argued the opposite, namely, that a historic compromise leading
to a PLO state on the West Bank would be a prelude to a historic disaster. Hence the
Likud leaders were also logical and consistent when they advocated abandoning the
defensive posture and launching a military campaign. Essentially the two remaining
alternatives were: either Israel should have followed the advocacy of Yossi Sarid, Lova
Eliav and Abba Eban, or it should have gone along with Begin, Sharon, and Eitan. As in
Rousseau’s stag hunt a viable third alternative arguably no longer existed. And, again
from the French philosopher’s allegory, ultimately Israel, like most states in world
history, was more likely to follow the advice of the hawks than the doves. This had been
the pattern of Israeli conduct in the past and from this perspective the decision to invade
Lebanon was not at all an aberration. Begin, Sharon, and Eitan, owing to their
personalities and ideological outlook, may have moved faster and more ferociously than
more pragmatic Israeli policy makers would have, but, the nature of the problem was
such that, arguably, under any leadership Israel would have been hard put to avoid a
large-scale military operation some time in the course of the 1980s.

There were, however, a number of critical differences between the Israeli invasion
of Lebanon and the Jewish state’s previous wars. The first and most important difference
lay in a significantly altered ratio between perceived threat and the will to resist. Israel’s
implicit security doctrine, of which Sharon was one of the most important architects and
practitioners, was born in the 1950s and 1960s when the Arab threat was perceived in
existential terms and the willingness of Israeli society to resist it was at its peak. By the
time Begin and Sharon resolved to go to war, the equation had drastically changed. The
peace with Egypt had reduced the perceived military threat to manageable, almost
marginal, proportions. At the same time the rise in standard of living, the basic
attitudinal changes that rise eventually brought, and the accumulated war weariness from
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nearly four decades of war contributed to a shrunken will to suffer the consequences of
yet another war. Begin and Sharon were thus implementing a security doctrine that had
been largely overtaken by Israel’s social, cultural, and political realities.

Had they not failed to appreciate this important change, had they, Sharon in
particular, not violated the ethical and political ground rules of the Israeli political system,
had Sharon not resorted to unauthorized action, had the military operation gone according
to plan, the majority of Israelis would have basked in the invigorating sensation of
victory. But the same proclivities led to the opposite result once the full scale of Sharon’s
failure to come to grips with the realities he proposed to change became apparent.
Inadvertently, however, the Israeli public, which revolted against Begin, Sharon, and
Eitan, also inflicted upon itself as a direct consequence a greater punishment than it would
have suffered had it united in backing up the war once it had begun.

More specifically, one of the main contentions of this study is that strategically the
war plan was perfectly logical. What Sharon in particular failed to recognize was that
strategy is not an abstract exercise in logic. Military strategy is carried into effect by
armed forces, consisting of people whose predispositions, anxieties, hopes, dreams, and
systems of values a good strategist should take into account just as he should evaluate
seriously the impact of the proposed strategy on the population at the receiving end.

What made things worse was that neither Sharon nor Begin fully realized until it was
too late the practical implications of the fact that all of Israel’s previous wars had been
conducted by Labor-based governments. In 1956 and 1973 Begin’s Likud and its
antecedents, GAHAL and Herut, were in opposition. And since their entire outlook had
always been more hawkish than that of any incumbent government, they could be taken
for granted in war and assumed to be a real obstacle in a peace process. But when the
tables were turned the opposition was less hawkish and therefore impelled by the nature
of its outlook and political constituency to be a reliable source of support in peace
negotiations but a residual opposition in a real sense—and quite inevitably—to any
Likud-led war, and most particularly to a patently unsuccessful one.

Furthermore, Begin, Sharon, and their colleagues showed an uncommon degree of
simplemindedness in their estimates of possible U.S. reactions. In all of Israel’s previous
wars the anticipated reaction of the United States loomed as large on the planners’ minds
as the anticipated reaction of the government’s domestic front. Sharon, however, was
ill-advisedly led to believe that he could orchestrate, single-handedly and simultaneously,
both the Israeli public and the U.S. government if only he could throw enough sand in the
eyes of both. He was wrong on both accounts and therefore faced within a few days the
converging and mutually reinforcing pressures of the Israeli public on the one hand and
the Reagan administration on the other.

The result, it will be argued, was a domestic backlash at a moment when the entire
enterprise was still hanging in the balance. The military campaign lost momentum; the
political follow-up to the military operation became subordinate to an American policy
seeking to achieve precisely what Israel wished to prevent; the IDF, the Israeli public, and
Begin’s cabinet were divided irreparably. Sharon was removed. Begin resigned ignomin-
iously. The Likud declined in the elections that followed. The Labor party, only a small
fraction of which had opposed the war as a matter of principle, returned to office
committed to withdraw from Lebanon within a few months, irrespective of whether or not
the objectives of the war were attained.

The fact that the war was waged within the framework of a response to a real security
problem in the widest sense was underlined by the difficulty Israel faced in its attempts
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to extricate itself from what came to be known as HaBirza Halevanonit, the Lebanese
Swamp. If the problem leading to the war had not been real, if it had been merely the
figment of Sharon’s violent imagination, Israel would have had no qualms about a clean
break, a quick unilateral withdrawal. But this was not so. There was a real problem and,
once the IDF was in and around Beirut, it made little strategic-political sense—which
even some of the government’s most vociferous critics did not fail to see—to remove it
from there prior to a serious attempt to achieve significant political results such as the
withdrawal of the PLO.

Moreover, responding to the security dilemma in its most aggravating form, Israel
was caught in an unenviable situation in which, at any given moment, the cost of
unilateral withdrawal appeared as high as the cost of holding on. With the rise in
casualties the domestic rift deepened. This heightened domestic schism further undercut
the already much-depreciated gains of the war. Indeed, just as Rousseau and his
contemporary intellectual heirs would predict, Israel’s posture of accommodation since
the spring of 1983 fostered an image of weakness and thus encouraged the adversaries
(especially Syria), who from their point of view were responding to the same security
dilemma to exploit the situation to their advantage.

The result was an ever-widening gap between the dictates of a good strategy and the
demands of the government’s domestic constituency. The Begin and Shamir governments
yielded to a mounting domestic demand to withdraw, but in so doing they ignored their
own best strategic judgment. Under these circumstances it was quite unavoidable that
Israeli policy would become a snowball of ever-diminishing returns.

By the fall of 1984 when Peres formed his National Unity Government there was no
longer any logic in holding on. Fully aware of the fact that before the war the choice was
either a war (as advocated by the Likud leadership) or a historic compromise with the PLO
(as advocated by Labor’s own backbenchers), not willing to support either alternative but
afraid to try to stop Begin and Sharon from launching the war, the Labor leadership drifted
toward the least logical of all positions: they gave Begin their grudging approval for a
military operation, but as soon as it was expanded (as most of them had feared) they came
out against it. Their motives sprang from both political considerations and a great deal of
genuine conviction. But, whatever their motives, their actions served to undermine the
morale and efficacy of the IDF in the course of the war and during the various phases of
the withdrawal process. Peres, Rabin, and their colleagues thus enacted unwittingly a
self-fulfilling prophecy. They made a difficult war even more complicated, undermined
Israel’s bargaining posture and accelerated the reappraisal which led to the decision to
withdraw. Yet, paradoxically, in order to withdraw with full domestic backing Peres and
his Labor colleagues had to adjust the pace to what their Likud partners would tolerate.
The withdrawal was thus slower and more costly than it would have been otherwise.
Moreover, as the process of withdrawal was gathering momentum, not only the Likud but
also the Labor leadership were forced to ‘‘unlearn’’ many of their own preconceived ideas
about a variety of critical problems.

This protracted, complex, and painful process of escalation, war, retrenchment, and
collapse is analyzed in detail in the next four chapters. The main themes are: (1) Israel’s
specific response to the security dilemma at every given junction; and (2) the interplay of
pure strategic considerations with the real political world. Israel was sucked into the
Lebanese quagmire by its own, not entirely imaginary perception of a grave threat; but the
magnitude of the problem and the failure of officially held strategic perceptions to take
into account the full complexity of the political context aborted the entire enterprise. At






2

Escalation

In the Israeli mind the concept of Lebanon began as an object of cartography, was
transformed into an object of diplomacy, and degenerated into an object of strategy.
Lebanon was a topic of interest for cartographers, physical planners, hydraulic experts,
and agronomists when the founding fathers of Zionism first turned their attention from the
vision of a Jewish state to the reality of boundaries. It became a topic of some diplomatic
activity when the emergence of a Jewish homeland in Palestine turned into a source of
friction and encirclement of the nascent Jewish polity by its awakening Arab neighbors.
It degenerated into an object of strategy when Lebanon became, owing to its inherent
fragility, the main center of the PLO, that bitter harvest of the success of the Zionist
enterprise.

The typical Zionist, and later Israeli, approach to this changing concept of Lebanon
was one of utter, almost irreverent pragmatism. The Zionist intent under the leadership of
Weizman, later Ben Gurion, and subsequently Eshkol, Meir, Rabin, and even (in this
regard) Begin, was first and foremost to develop and preserve a Jewish state in Palestine.
The location of its northern and southern borders was a secondary issue. None of these
leaders contested the notion that certain borders would be better than others, but none of
them, not even Begin, ever advocated going to war as a means of changing them.

Nevertheless, gradually the escalating Arab-Israeli conflict and the appearance of the
PLO on the scene drove Israel into an ever intensifying involvement in the affairs of
Lebanon. At first this took the form of thoughts about an alliance with elements in
Lebanon that could assure that the country would not be transformed into an active
anti-Israeli confrontation state. Then it took the form of small-scale involvement in an
emerging security sphere of influence astride Israel’s border. Then there was a return to
the idea of an alliance with friendly elements in the center of Lebanon. Only when none
of these steps seemed capable of arresting the conflict in the border zone did Israel begin
to consider the possibility of an invasion.

But whereas the main factor propelling this process was the unrest along the
border between Lebanon and Israel, the topic cannot be dissociated from the broader
context of Arab-Israeli relations within which the issue was approached by all concerned.
Though initially insulated from the broader conflict, Lebanon gradually became its main
focus.

27
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The Maronite Connection

The roots of the Israeli interest in and connection with the Maronite community in
Lebanon can be traced back to the closing phase of World War I. Even before the issuing
of the Balfour Declaration, at a time when it seemed that the disintegration of the Ottoman
Empire would create an opportunity for the Zionist movement to obtain an intemationally
recognized entity in Palestine, some Zionist leaders had already paid attention to the
borders of the desired Jewish colony. Late in 1915 Shmuel Tolklowski (whose son Dan
was to become the Commander of the Israeli Air Force in the Early 1950s) authored a
proposal concerning the delineation of the northern border. It should run, he proposed,
“‘north of the first five kilometers of the upper part of the Awali River, and from there
a straight line to the south east of the southern point of Mount Lebanon and Mount
Hermon.”’

Tolkowski was particularly sensitive to political and strategic considerations.
Another expert who studied the same issue two years later at the behest of the Zionist
Executive was Aharon Aronson. An agronomist, Aronson paid greater attention to the
maximization of agricultural advantages and therefore the line he proposed was somewhat
different. Instead of starting on the Mediterranean, north of Sidon—as proposed by
Tolkowski—the border would start south of Sidon. And whereas Tolkowski spoke about
a point at thirty-three degrees, thirty-eight minutes to the north as the eastern end of the
border, Aronson preferred a point at thirty-three degrees, thirty minutes to the northeast,
just above the town of Rashaya.

Yet a third proposal on the same topic was submitted by Haim Kalwariski. For him
the natural solution would be to adopt the southern border of the autonomous Christian
“‘canton’’ which, in 1861, had been determined as the final border. This, he emphasized,
would make it possible for the Moslem population south of that line to remain within the
same political entity as their brethren further south in the heart of Palestine.

Finally, a more modest proposal was contained in a book coauthored by David Ben
Gurion and Itzhak Ben-Zvi during their forced exile (by the Ottoman authorities) from
Palestine in the course of World War 1. In their view the ideal border would be on the
Litani River which forms in many places a deep gorge, rather than further north on the
Awali or Zaharani rivers.

Such proposals formed the basis for the demands the Executive of the World Zionist
Organization submitted to the Paris Peace Conference on February 3, 1919. The northern
border of the Jewish state, the memorandum stated, ‘‘starts at a point on the Mediterra-
nean near and south of Sidon and follows the watershed of the heights of Mount Lebanon
until the Qar’oun Valley from Tin Valley.”’

This was the official position of the Zionist movement until the signing of the border
agreement between Great Britain and France on December 23, 1923. In order to obtain
support for this demand, the movement conducted a vigorous campaign. Emissaries were
sent to meet Prince (later King) Faisal, to prevail over the objections of the French
government, and to solicit the support of the government of the United States.

Ultimately, however, all this was to no avail. The final boundary was the product of
a British-French compromise which was not affected at all by Zionist demands.! It runs
south of the Litani River and therefore falls short of even the more modest Ben Gurion/
Ben-Zvi ideas. Nevertheless, the Zionist movement accepted the verdict without any
serious protest. At the same time, already fully alert to their built-in conflict with the Arab
world and sensing that the Christians in Lebanon had a similar problem, some Zionist



ESCALATION 29

leaders sought to establish cooperative links with the Arabs. Thus, as early as March
1920, before the final determination of the border, a pact of sorts was signed for the first
time between Yehoshua Khankin, a Zionist emissary, and some Maronite leaders. In 1932
another Zionist emissary, Victor Jacobson, traveled to Beirut to discuss with Maronite
leaders the establishment of ‘‘a Lebanese-Zionist social-cultural association’’ or even a
‘*joint company for using southern Lebanon’s Litani River for electricity and irrigation.”’
Although Jacobson’s visit led to naught the Zionist leadership did not despair. World War
IT had raised the urgency (and the likelihood) of Jewish independence in Palestine and as
a result the prospects for an all-encompassing conflict between the Jewish Yishuv in
Palestine and a united Arab world as well. Against this background it was essential for the
Jews to cultivate links with other non-Muslim factors in the region, namely, the seemingly
beleaguered Christians of Lebanon. Thus in September 1944 the Jewish Agency
dispatched Eliyahu Epstein to Beirut. His cover was that he was conducting a survey tour
on the problems of Jewish refugees passing through Lebanon, but his real mandate was
to forge a political entente between Jews and Christians against ‘‘the common enemy:
Islamic oriented Arab nationalism.’’?

Nor did the Zionist initiatives remain wholly one-sided. The effect of the creation of
a Lebanon wider than its Christian core was Syrian irredentism and the disruption of the
demographic balance inside the new state. This led to discord between the traditional
Maronite Christian core, which underlay Lebanon’s very creation, and the heterogeneous
population. Faced with this problem, the Christian community was divided. One school
sought a solution based on continued support of the French. A second school, however,
advocated the expeditious *‘territorial reduction of Lebanon in order to enable her to have
a more consistent Christian majority.’’ By ‘‘amputating’’ the mainly Sunni area of Tripoli
(in the north) as well as the mainly Shi’i southern Lebanon from the Lebanese state, argued
Emille Edde (Lebanon’s president from 1936 to 1941), ‘‘Lebanon will be rid of almost
140,000 Shi’i and Sunni Muslims and will be left with a Christian majority equaling about
eighty percent of her population.’’ Edde tried to persuade the French government to adopt
such a solution; but failing he turned to the Zionists for help. In 1944 Edde and other
Maronite leaders requested Weizman to pass a letter from them to President Roosevelt in
which they expressed utter mistrust concerning the intentions of Sunni Arab nationalists
toward non-Moslem minorities. Less than two years later, in 1946, Edde sent an emissary
to Chaim Weizman (whom he had met in person in 1937) with a proposal that the Zionist
movement should demand southern Lebanon between the international border and the
Litani River—with its Muslim population—for the Jewish national home.?

Edde’s demarche to Weizman was not an isolated move. Indeed, during the same year,
there were two more events of some significance suggesting that the Maronite leadership,
or at least elements in it, pinned some hopes on cooperation with the Zionist movement.
The first was the public expression of support for Zionist aspirations by Patriarch Antoine
Arida, who also signed a document with Bernard Joseph of the Jewish Agency for Palestine
in which the Jewish demand for independence and the Maronite demand for a Christian
Lebanon were mutually recognized. The second event was the testimony of Archbishop
Ignatz Moubarak, Maronite Bishop of Beirut, to the Anglo-American Commission of
Inquiry in favor of partition in Palestine and the creation of a Jewish state.

Given such clear signs of Maronite support for the Zionist cause, the Jewish Agency
was prompted to attempt to translate words into deeds. In March 1947 the agency’s Arab
department sent one of its officials, Alexander Lutski, to Beirut. His instructions were to
establish contacts with the Ketaeb (Phalange) party and in particular with its leader,
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Sheikh Pierre Gemayel. Lutski succeeded in meéting many Phalange leaders but the
overall impression he brought back to Jerusalem was that the Phalange were neither
entirely serious nor altogether genuine in their attitude to the Zionist cause. Gemayel
acknowledged the existence of a common interest but declined to mention any concrete
measures of cooperation. Another Phalange leader, Elias Rababi, editor of the party’s
newspaper, Al Amal, was far more forthright than Gemayel but his suggestions for
practical steps must have sounded somewhat eerie to Lutski. The Jewish Agency, Rababi
proposed, should bribe Lebanese politicians and journalists in order to ensure their vocal
support for the idea that Lebanon should not take part in any war the Arab League might
launch against the Zionist if and when the latter established a Jewish state.*

Given the disappointing results of the Lutski mission the Jewish Agency apparently
reached the conclusion that the Maronite connection did not really deserve undue
attention. Yet it did not take long before the issue was brought back to the forefront as a
result of a Maronite initiative. In March 1948 there were some contacts between Father
Joseph Awad of Waterville, Maine, and members of the American Zionist Emergency
Council (AZEC). Awad was an ardent supporter of the idea of Christian Lebanon in
alliance with a Jewish state and he was trying to influence Lebanese politics from his base
in the United States. Apparently lacking in resources he turned to the AZEC for help. This
organization subsequently contributed funds to Phoenicia Press, a propaganda organiza-
tion preaching the cause of Phoenician (that is, Maronite) separatism. In turn, Awad
agreed to undertake a visit to Lebanon with a view to exploring the possibilities for
Maronite Jewish cooperation.

Awad was in favor of a Lebanese-Israeli pact of nonbelligerency. But his visit to
Lebanon in the summer of 1948, at a time when Lebanon took part in the first Arab-Israeli
war, rendered these ideas quite unrealistic. Angered, he blamed this turn of events on the
policies of Sunni Moslem Premier Riyadh al Solh. His views apparently were well
received by some Phalange leaders, including Elias Rababi. Moreover, the fact that
Lebanon was now at war with Israel turned any direct contacts between Rababi and the
Israelis into an act of treason. Consequently, Rababi and his supporters could turn to
Awad, an American citizen, and employ him as a contact with the Israelis.

The indefatigable Awad returned to the United States late in the summer of 1948. He
then proceeded to advocate the idea of Israeli-Maronite alliance to the Maronite
community in the United States. Simultaneously, he resumed his contacts with the AZEC.
Meanwhile the participation of Lebanon in the 1948 invasion of the Jewish state, which
at first endowed Lebanon with some minor territorial gains, had turned into a defeat and
ultimately led to the occupation by Israel of fourteen Lebanese villages.

From Awad’s point of view this was not a Lebanese national calamity. In fact he
chided the Israeli and Zionist representative who met with him for Israel’s ‘‘failure’’ to go
deeper into Lebanon. In his opinion Israel should have taken advantage of the fact that
Lebanon had started the war (along with the rest of the Arab states) and should have sent
the IDF all the way to Beirut. If that had been done, Awad argued, it would have created
an opportunity for installing in Lebanon a government that would make peace with Israel
and perhaps even enter into an alliance later.

Still utterly convinced-that this was a sound idea, Awad proceeded in the fall of 1948
to win the support of Israeli and Zionist representatives. Early in September he approached
Eliyahu Ben Horin, Middle East Affairs Advisor of the American Zionist Emergency
Council, which had supported Awad’s activities (and his trip to Lebanon) since the previous
March. Things in Lebanon had reached such a state, he told Ben Horin (as the latter reported
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on 13 September to Moshe Sharett, Israel’s Foreign Minister) that the Ketaeb party was
ready ‘‘to begin a military insurrection to overthrow the Riyadh al Solh government and
gain power.”’ But to succeed, Awad added, the Ketaeb would need ‘‘real aid.”’ He said
that the French, since 1860 the mentors and supporters of the Christians in Lebanon, were
“‘ready to help’” and the Ketaeb “‘wanted to know’” how Israel could help, too.

Ben Horin replied circumspectly that while Awad’s views were clear, the Phalange
official policy toward Israel was “‘unknown.’’ Faced with this response Awad hurriedly
consulted Elias Rababi, the editor of A/ Amal, then on a visit to the United States.
Rababi’s answer, as Awad told Ben Horin, suggested that he—and thus the Phalange
party—was ‘‘no less pro-Zionist than Archbishop Moubarak.’’ Indeed, Rababi instructed
Awad to arrange for him a meeting with Israeli officials.

The three ranking Israeli diplomats in the United States were Eliyahu Epstein (later
Eilat), Head of the Mission in Washington, Aubrey (Abba) Eban, Head of the UN
Mission, and Gideon Ruffer (later Rafael), Councilor to the UN delegation. All three
were, however, absent at the time of Rababi’s request for a meeting. Ben Horin therefore
suggested that Rababi talk to Abba Hillel Silver, Head of the AZEC, and possibly to
Arthur Lurie and Uriel Heid, at the time junior members of the Israeli diplomatic mission
to the United States. If that were not enough, added Ben Horin, Rababi could stop in Paris
on his way back to Beirut. There he could talk to more senior Israeli officials such as
Gideon Ruffer and Tuvia Arazi. Rababi took Ben Horin’s advice and held talks with
Silver in the United States and with Tuvia Arazi in Paris. Significantly, it seems, Arazi
was accompanied at the meeting by Eliyahu Sasson, then Director of the Middle East
Department in the Israeli Foreign Ministry, who also had extensive contacts throughout
the Arab world.

Evidently Rababi failed to convince his Israeli interlocutors of the viability of his
ideas. Indeed, during the following year (1949) nothing of consequence was to happen in
this regard. But Rababi did not give up hope and late in 1950 he was back in the United
States trying to revive these links. His starting point was, again, the Zionist establishment
in the United States. Having made contact with Shulamit Schwartz (later Nardi) of the
American Zionist Council on November 7-8, 1950, Rababi seemed at least to have
succeeded in making a good impression. When she advised Reuven Shiloah, Director of
the Political Division in the Israeli Foreign Ministry, of these talks, he urged her to
compile a special report for the minister, Moshe Sharett. Encouraged, Schwartz wrote to
Sharett on November 20 emphasizing the following points: The Ketaeb mustered
*‘40-60,000 members . . . organized on the model of the Hagana’’ and it was * by its very
nature a democratically based mass movement.’’ ‘“This is no matter,”’ she added,

of a beautiful theocracy (though the Patriarch Arida and the Archbishiop Moubarak are
ardent supporters of al Ketaeb). This is no matter, either, of a group of wealthy
landlords. This is something new in the Middle East—a democratic, more than half
socialist mass movement, openly dedicated to breaking the power of the feudal
landlords of Lebanon, and though primarily Christian in creed, culture and member-
ship, still modern enough to jump over the confines of need and accept the fellowship
of the true Lebanese, even Moslem and Druse, who value Lebanese independence
more than Arab unity.

The youthful Schwartz may have been incredibly naive but she was also remarkably
articulate and persuasive. Her operational proposals were to embrace Rababi’s thesis of
‘‘taking Lebanon out of the Arab League’” and ‘‘making peace and reestablishing economic
relations’” with her. Sharett, who could not be accused of naiveté, was duly enthused. With
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characteristic caution he hastened to write to the Director General of the Foreign Ministry,
Walter Eitan, that ‘‘perhaps . . . she [Schwartz] exaggerated the importance and chances
of the (Ketaeb) organization and its leaders.’” But, he added, this

group is worthy of serious attention on our part. The picture drawn in . . . Schwartz’s
presentation . . . —the taking of Lebanon out of the Pan-Arab circle and its affiliation -
with Israel—is extremely heartwarming and opens the door to a farreaching alignment
in the whole structure of the Middle East. . . . Moreover even if this goal is not swiftly
attainable . . . it nevertheless remains a goal that is well worth striving for and
investing energy and means in.

Sharett was so impressed by Schwartz’s memorandum that he instructed Eitan to
seck permission, presumably from the prime minister, to have Gideon Rafael meet
Rababi. Early in December 1950 the foreign minister was in the United States. He
received a telegram from Eitan advising him of the clearance for the proposed
Rafael-Rababi meeting. Sharett therefore instructed his own private secretary, Ephraim
Evron, to set up the meeting and take part in it himself. Flanked by Evron and Schwartz,
Rafael met Rababi on December 12, 1950. His impressions, reported to Sharett on
December 28, were positive but far more cautious than those of Shulamit Schwartz.

“‘“The leaders of the Ketaeb,”” Rababi told Rafael, ‘‘have always been convinced
that the destiny of Lebanese Christianity is linked to the existence of friendly ties with the
state of Israel.”” One indication of that, Rababi pointed out, was the recent expression of
the idea of ‘‘peace and cooperation with Israel’’ in the Ketaeb (namely Rababi’s own)
newspaper, A/ Amal. At the same time, however, ‘‘the Ketaecb have become somewhat
less enthusiastic about the idea of seizing power in Lebanon through a coup.’” While
those are ‘‘plans for a revolution, the responsible leaders believe the hour has not struck
for energetic actions, and more active political preparations must first be made.”
What Rababi had in mind was that Ketaeb leaders should ‘‘run in the Lebanese elections
due to be held in the spring of 1951.”" In their estimate they could capture three or four
seats 1f they were given sufficient assistance. Rababi wondered whether Israel
would consider offering such help. More specifically, would it offer ‘‘financial assis-
tance for the election campaign which would be expensive in terms of bribes and vote
buying?’’

Unlike Schwartz, Gideon Rafael was not carried away by the téte-a-téte with Rababi.
His reasons were more strategic-political than personal. Rababi was in Rafael’s view an
“‘honest and frank person’” who should not be treated in the ‘‘manner of oriental
bargaining.”’ But beyond Rababi’s demeanor loomed a larger issue. If the Phalange were
successful in seizing power, would they really break from the Arab world and strike an
alliance with Israel? Rafael’s answer was decisively negative:

In the present circumstances in the Middle East, I cannot imagine that a Christian
movement, when it reaches power in Lebanon, will dare enter into a conflict with the
Moselm World by maintaining friendly ties with Israel. On the contrary . . . so long
as the other Arab states persevere in their stubborn policy towards Israel, Lebanon will
not be able, even under a friendly Christian government, to give concrete expression
to its friendly proclivities.

This did not mean that Israel should turn down the Rababi request for help. He
advised Foreign Minister Sharett that ‘‘Israel should be interested in the existence of an
important friendly force in Lebanon, without expecting too much in the near future.”
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What did that mean in concrete terms? In Rafael’s view it boiled down to an offer of IL
5,000-10,000 (approximately 25,000-50,000 U.S. dollars in 1951 value) to the Phalange
and an attempt to establish with them some sort of a permanent, liaison.

Thinking about such a limited tie, Rafael advised Emile Najjar, a senior Israeli
diplomat in Paris with a rich Middle Eastern experience, to see Rababi on his way back
to Beirut. He mentioned that Rababi might ask for help and cautioned Najjar against
making any concrete promises in this regard. At the same time he appraised Rababi in
positive terms and emphasized to Najjar that the Phalange ‘‘represents the militant part of
Lebanese Christianity and . . . [had] always considered cooperation with the Yishuv.
Following the establishment of the state of Israel they see in this cooperation the only
possibility of saving Lebanese Christianity.’’

Najjar for one seems to have endorsed Rafael’s view and even added that ‘‘every
Arab political figure says behind closed doors what he would dare not say in public.”’
Shulamit Schwartz, however, continued to cling to her sanguine opinion that the message
of Rababi was of great significance. She urged Foreign Minister Sharett not to miss *‘the
great possibilities latent in the movement’’; she compared Rababi to the Zionist socialist
pioneers who had transformed Palestine from a wasteland to a modern state; and she
advised Sharett to meet Rababi in person in order to ‘‘sense . . . the virile, modern
flowering of an ancient stock, so close to ours, so much inspired by our rebirth and so
eager for cooperation with us.”’

Possibly as a result of this great difference in the evaluation of the whole issue, the
matter was turned over to the Foreign Ministry’s research department for further study
from a broader perspective. Their report, signed by G. Tadmor and dated January 25,
1951, went even further than Rafael’s opinion in unequivocally dismissing the Phalange.
They did not have 40,000-60,000 members, Tadmor wrote, but barely 5,000 with
perhaps another 20,000-30,000 supporters. There was ‘‘no chance’’ that they would
succeed in electing three to four representatives to the Lebanese parliament and there was
“‘no taking seriously’’ Rababi’s promise of a Phalange revolution. ‘‘One should not put
too many hopes in the Ketaeb.’’ Rababi’s statement about a pro-Israeli note in Al Amal
was simply not true and, concluded the research department evaluation, ‘‘we believe that
a large investment in this organization will not be worthwhile. IL 5-10,000 is an
enormous sum in Lebanon . . . past experience teaches us that there is no relying on this
organization or those like it. And in any event there is no expecting great things of them,
and no reason to hope that with their assistance, a change will take place in Lebanon’s
stand toward Israel.”” The only thing that could perhaps have been worthwhile would have
been for Israel to furnish the Ketaeb with a ‘*small sum’’ in order to ‘‘display goodwill.”’
Tadmor’s recommendation was endorsed and Israel paid the Phalange the sum of IL
3,000. On April 15, 1951, when the elections to the Lebanese Parliament took place,
however, not even one Phalange candidate was elected.?

If this experience shaped the foreign ministry’s view for years to come, it did little
to persuade other Israelis that the link with a Christian Lebanon was essentially a
nonstarter. Those Israelis who continued to believe in the Maronite connection were
inspired neither by ideological irredentism nor by a desire to lay a hand on the waters of
the Litani. Their reasons, rather, were strictly strategic. Israel’s deepening sense of
isolation and encirclement in the early 1950s, the rise of Nasserism, and the
radicalization of the Arab world soon revived the Lebanese scheme. As during the debate
in the foreign ministry, this had nothing to do with Zionist ideology, with the holocaust
syndrome, or with any particular domestic pressures. It stemmed from a desperate search
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for a more secure existence manifested by a quest for a regional arrangements that would
loosen the tightening Arab noose. Moving the Israeli border to the Litani would bring
two main advantages: first, the northern border would be a more defensible barrier
against a surprise attack; second, a Christian state of Lebanon in alliance with Israel
would offer a buffer against the rampant forces of Nasserite Pan-Arabism. Ben Gurion,
who revived the scheme in February 1954, probably had no illusions about the military
capability of such a Lebanese state. But if it entered into an alliance with Israel its
borders would become a ‘red line’ whose crossing by any hostile Arab forces, for
example, from Syria, would become a casus beili. Such a deterrent posture could, of
course, be obtained with or without Lebanese consent—all Israel had to do was to declare
Lebanon’s eastern and northern borders a ‘red line’. But since such a move would elicit
negative reactions from the West, an alliance with Lebanon, turning its borders into
Israel’s red lines with voluntary Lebanese consent, may have appeared a more attractive
proposition.

The required changes in the relationship with Lebanon could not, of course, be
implemented at a time when Syria, in particular, could interfere. Appropriate timing was,
in other words, essential. Such a propitious moment seemed to present itself late in
February 1954. Syria had just experienced yet another coup d’état. With the new regime
preoccupied in consolidating power, and with the entire Arab world focusing its attention
on events in Syria, the moment for a bold move concerning Lebanon (and possibly Syria,
too) seemed to have arrived, according to former Premier David Ben Gurion. His
reasoning, with its exlcusive emphasis on the strategic aspect of the issue, is worth
quoting at length. Lebanon, he said ‘‘is the weakest link in the chain of the [Arab]
League.”” The Christian Community there constitutes

the majority in the historical Lebanon and this majority has a totally different heritage
and culture from the rest of the League. Even in the expanded border (and France’s
most serious mistake was to expand the borders of Lebanon) the Moslems are not free
to do as they wish, even if they are a majority there (and I do not know whether they
are a majority) for fear of the Christians. The establishment of a Christian state
therefore is a natural step. It has historic roots and it will find support from large forces
in the Christian world, Catholic and Protestant alike. In normal times this would be
virtually impossible. First of all due to the Christians’ lack of initiative and courage.
But in a period of confusion, upheaval or civil war things change and the weak shall
say: I am a hero. Maybe (of course nothing is certain in politics) now is the propitious
moment to bring about the establishment of a Christian state as our neighbor. Without
our initiative and our energetic help it will not come about. And it seems to me that
this is now the central task or at least one of the central tasks of our foreign policy, and
we should invest means, time and energy and act in all ways likely to bring about a
fundamental change in Lebanon. [Eliahu] Sasson and the rest of our Arabists must be
mobilized. If money is needed, the dollars should not be spared, even though the
money may go down the drain. All our energies must be concentrated here. Perhaps
Reuven [Shiloah, another Arabist] should be brought here immediately to this end. We
will not be forgiven if we miss the historic opportunity. There is no provocation here
of the world’s powers. In fact we need not do anything ‘‘directly’’—but everything
should, I think, be done*with alacrity and full steam.

Without a narrowing of Lebanon’s borders, of course, the goal cannot be
attained, but if there are persons in Lebanon or exiles outside who can be recruited for
the establishment of a Maronite state—they will have no need for expanded borders or
for a large Moslem population and such considerations need not count.



ESCALATION BS

[ do not know if we have people in Lebanon, but there are all kinds of ways if it
is decided to make the suggested attempt.®

Ben Gurion wrote this analysis as a private citizen. [t was sent from his retreat at
Kibbutz Sedeh Boker in the Negev to Moshe Sharett who, three months earlier, had
succeeded him as prime minister. Sharett, who grew up in an Arab village and prided
himself on his intimate knowledge of the Middle East, rejected Ben Gurion’s plan out of
hand. Echoing the views of his advisers during the 1949-51 contacts with Rababi, he
stressed in his reply to Ben Gurion that there was *‘no point in trying to create from the
outside a movement which is non-existent inside. One can reinforce a spirit of life when
it is already beating. One cannot inject life into a body which shows no signs of life. Now,
as far as I know, there is no movement in Lebanon today seeking to make that country a
Christian state in which the final say would be in the hands of the Maronite community.”’
If Ben Gurion’s plan were implemented, he added, it could ‘‘rend with one motion the
fabric of Christian-Moslem cooperation within the framework of present Lebanon, which
has been woven with stubborn labor and considerable sacrifices for a generation now.”’
It could ‘‘throw the Lebanese Moslems into the arms of Syria, and at the end of the
process bring on Christian Lebanon the historic catastrophe of its annexation to Syria and
the utter blurring of its personality within the greater Moslem state.”” Turning to the
implications for Israel of a hasty attempt to restructure Lebanon, Sharett warned that the
venture could make Israel’s position in the region far worse:

I fear that any attempt by us to raise the question would be taken as a sign of
frivolousness and superficiality or perhaps worse: as adventurist profiterring in the
well-being and survival of others, and as readiness to sacrifice their fundamental
welfare for the sake of temporary Israeli tactical advantage. Moreover, if the matter
did not remain secret but became public knowledge—a risk which cannot be ignored
in the Middle East context—there is no calculating the damage this would cause us
vis-a-vis the Arab states and the western powers alike, damage for which the eventual
success of the operation itself would provide no compensation.’

Ben Gurion accepted Sharett’s judgment without conviction. In February 1955 he
returned to the Government as minister of defense and as soon as Iraqi-Syrian tensions
presented an opportunity to implement the plan, he brought it up for discussion. This time
he was strongly supported by Chief of Staff Lieutenant General Moshe Dayan. But
Sharett’s forebodings ultimately prevailed. He agreed to set up an interministerial
committee to study the plan; but this was a barely veiled way of burying the scheme
altogether. Ultimately, the only steps Sharett authorized were very limited in nature,
namely, maintaining the covert liaison that had been established with segments of the
Christian community back in December 1950.%

Sharett’s decision appears to have shaped Israel’s strategy vis-a-vis Lebanon until the
aftermath of the 1967 war. However, another, not entirely implausible possibility is that
Israel’s resourceful intelligence community, in particular the Mossad, did try to go
beyond Sharett’s guidelines but failed to elicit from the Lebanese themselves any
enthusiasm for an explicit alliance. Eventually forcing Sharett to resign, Ben Gurion
returned to both the premiership and the ministry of defense. In this capacity he worked
actively toward establishing a network of alliances with non-Arab or non-Muslim states
and minorities such as Turkey, Iran, Ethiopia, the Kurds in Iraq, and the Christians in the
Sudan. The ideological underpinning of this policy was that the Middle East was not a
homogeneous Sunni ‘‘ocean’ waiting eagerly to be reorganized by Pan-Arabism but
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rather a mosaic of cultures, religions, and races. In such an area a Jewish state had a
legitimate place, whereas in the Pan-Arab alternative it appeared an alien intruder.
Moreover, strategically, the cultivation of such relations could lead to friction between
Isracl’s enemies and other minorities and nations. In turn, there was evidently some hope
that Arab armies could be pinned down to theaters of operatlon other than Israel’s borders
thus alleviating Israel’s pressing security situation.’

Since these ideas were widely shared in Israel’s foreign policy and security
establishment, it seems likely that the dormant link with certain elements in Lebanon was
maintained throughout the 1950s and 1960s. It was therefore in existence when the events
following the 1967 war augmented its value from the point of view of the Lebanese in
question. Most important was the rise of the PLO and its attempt to turn Lebanon into its
main base of operations. To be sure, this in itself does not explain every aspect of the
Lebanese problem. Had it not been for the weakness of the Lebanese polity, as well as the
coincidence of religious, ethnic, geographic, social, and economic cleavages in
Lebanon’s society, the appearance of the PLO might not have had the consequences it did.
But given the intensity of strife among Lebanon’s competing groups, the weakness of
political institutions, the absence of effective means of conflict resolution, and the
accelerating disintegration of the Lebanese state under the strain of rapid economic
growth, the appearance of the PLO and its activities against Israel were critical. In a sense
it created conditions under which even the cautious Sharett might have accepted the need
for a new policy toward the Maronites.

Vehement as Sharett’s critique of Ben Gurion’s scheme may have been, it was
qualified in one important way. ‘I do not rule out,”’ he wrote, the ‘‘transformation of
Lebanon into a Christian state’’ altogether. “‘I do not rule out the possibility of this
coming to pass in the wake of some series of shock waves that will strike the Middle East,
cause radical reshuffles and hurl the ensuing patterns into a crucible so that other
formations will emerge.’”'° The 1967 war clearly constituted such a shock wave. And the
1970 civil war in Jordan and the rise of the PLO brought further upheaval. These events
hastened the process of disintegration in Lebanon and created what Sharett had described
as a ‘‘crucible.”” But the Maronites were slow in rising to the challenge and Israel was
rapidly faced with a dilemma of the first order. Sharett was probably right in stalling on
Ben Gurion’s scheme. Against the relatively calm background of Israeli-Lebanese
relations in the 1950s it would have had an aggravating impact and could have led to the
turmoil in Lebanon and to the clash with Syria that Sharett anticipated. But would Sharett
have offered the same advice in the aftermath of the 1967 war? Since he died before this
event such a question is unanswerable. At the same time, however, it can be stated
categorically that while the turmoil in Lebanon in the wake of the 1967 war was not
Israel’s direct making, it confronted the Jewish state with hard choices which Sharett’s
advice fifteen years earlier could not and did not help solve. Sharett’s successors in the
post-1967 years—Levi Eshkol, Golda Meir, Itzhak Rabin, Menachem Begin, Itzhak
Shamir, and Shimon Peres—could not fall back on his sage advice. They had to find their
own solutions. This, to put it mildly, was not a simple task.

Israel, the PLO, and Lebanon: The Making of the Crisis

The main problem from the Israeli point of view stemmed from two sources. First, by the
very nature of its objectives and internal structure, the PLO was inexorably impelled to be
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hyperactive both militarily and politically. Second, while the Lebanese for the most part
resented the use of their territory by the PLO, their government was structurally ill
equipped for the task of curbing the PLO’s activities, despite the damage they caused
Lebanon.

The structural hyperactivism of the PLO stemmed from a variety of distinct but
interlocking factors. The organization was originally launched by Egypt in 1964 as
essentially an Egyptian subterfuge in the Arab cold war. President Nasser of Egypt sought
to protect his declining status as leader of the Arab world while avoiding a head-on
collision with Israel which, he feared, would lead to a catastrophe. He therefore adopted
a pervasively ambiguous policy. On the one hand he vigorously championed the cause of
Arab unity in general and Arab commitment to the liberation of Palestine in particular; on
the other hand he maintained a tight control, in fact a monopoly, over the activities of
Palestinian radicals. The result was a seemingly impressive organization with all the
trappings of a ‘‘progressive’’ national liberation movement but with no real power to
pursue a policy of its own.!!

Nasser’s gamble backfired, however. His Palestinian organization gained some
visibility but lacked from the outset any real legitimacy among the fledgling Palestinian
national movement that was beginning to take shape in various centers of the Palestinian
diaspora, especially in Lebanon, Jordan, Syria, and Kuwait. Moreover, Nasser’s attempt
to pursue an Egyptian interest through the manipulation of the Palestinian issue set an
example for other Arab regimes, which soon proceeded to employ the same tactic for the
purpose of challenging Egypt. Thus within months of the setting up of the Egyptian-
sponsored PLO, a rival organization of a similar type was set up by Syria, called Fateh
(a reversed Arab acronym standing for Palestinian Liberation Movement and implying
‘‘opening’’).

The PLO and the Fateh were not, however, identical. Whereas the former was based
on corrupt, verbose, submissive, and ineffective Palestinian notables such as Ahmed
Shukeiri, the latter drew on a new type of Palestinians; primarily professionals (doctors
such as George Habash, engineers such as Yasser Arafat) who had been influenced by
Marxist and third-world ideologies. They realized from the outset that their movement
would have to be heavily dependent on the patronage of Arab regimes; but they were
constantly in search of opportunities to evolve a significant degree of autonomy.

Such a disposition led to highly tumultuous relations between the Fareh and its Syrian
sponsors, leading on occasion to friction and at one point in 1966 to the arrest and near
execution of the entire Fateh leadership by their Syrian patrons.'? At the same time Syria
and the Fateh had during these early days (1965-67) a seemingly identical interest. The
new Syrian Ba‘ath regime that came into power in February 1966 sought to expose the
vacuity of Nasser’s dualist posture without running the risk of an all-out war with Israel.
The Fateh leadership sought to build up some credentials as a guerrilla organization as a
means of drawing world attention and of building an autonomous Palestinian constituency
in the refugee camps of Lebanon, Syria, and Jordan and in the Palestinian communities
in the Gulf. Therefore, the Fateh was anxious to launch small-scale attacks against Israel,
and the Syrian regime was willing to help it carry them out.

The result was a small, but retrospectively significant, wave of Palestinian attacks
against Israeli targets. Holding Syria responsible and assuming in fact that this was merely
a vicarious form of a Syrian campaign against it, Israel reacted with a deliberately
escalatory policy of reprisal. In turn the escalation along the Israeli-Syrian border was
accelerated and ultimately led to the 1967 crisis.'?
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Thus in a sense the Fateh acted as a fuse to ignite'the third Arab-Israeli general war.
This was clearly perceived by the organization’s leadership and seemed to offer a model
for the post-1967 period. Indeed, although from the point of view of the Arab states,
especially Egypt and Jordan, the 1967 war was a calamity of the first order, from the
perspective of the Fateh the war was the single most important turning point. For one
thing, the 1967 war made a mockery of Nasser’s long-held contention that the only means
to fight Israel would be a large-scale conventional war led by the Arab states. Nasser had
argued in this vein throughout the pre-1967 period partly with a view to holding Syria and
her radical cronies at bay through the argument that the Arabs were not ready for war. The
Fateh, quoting the experience of the Algerian rebels against France (1954-1962) had
challenged this Nasserist thesis and the 1967 defeat of the Arab states seemed at last to
have confirmed the Fareh’s counterargument, namely, that the only way to deal with
Israel was a Vietnam-type guerrilla war of national liberation.

Secondly, Israel’s occupation of the West Bank seemed to have provided opportu-
nities for the Palestinian National Movement in the practical sense. Suddenly Israel had
under occupation more than a million Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza, in addition
to some 500,000 Palestinians who had become Israeli citizens in the wake of the 1948
war. More than half of the Palestinians were thus for the first time not under Arab control
but under the yoke of Zionist occupation. This, the Fateh hoped, created a genuinely
revolutionary situation which, handled judiciously, could give the organization the same
opportunity the Front Liberation Nationale had enjoyed under the French rule of Algeria.

Finally, the post-1967 situation gave the Palestinians a golden opportunity to develop
their own autonomous identity. Yasser Arafat and his colleagues were quick to leave Syria
where they previously chafed under the tight control of the Ba‘ath regime. They moved
to the West Bank and to Jordan and, as a result, escaped the embrace of both Egypt and
Syria. If their popular liberation struggle were successful, they hoped, they would not
only subject Israel to intolerable strains but also conquer a place for themselves in the
Arab League, establish themselves as a recognized entity on the world stage, and
ultimately ignite yet another all-out Israeli-Arab confrontation from which, they hoped, an
independent Palestinian state would at last emerge.

The actual implementation of this design was a gigantic task and although it resulted
in some spectacular successes, it led the Palestinians to some equally spectacular
setbacks. The greatest success was achieved in consolidating for the Palestinian cause,
and for the Fateh leadership, a significant place-in the minds of their people and in affixing
their cause firmly on the international agenda. Even as late as the spring of 1968 Yasser
Arafat was still known to only a few Palestinians and to hardly anyone else except the
intelligence communities in Israel, Jordan, Syria, and Egypt (where he was known as Abu
Amar). Yet by the end of 1970 he was fast approaching the status of a world figure. In
addition he succeeded in radically changing his movement from the organizational point
of view. Egypt’s stooge. Ahmed Shukeiri, was discredited and sacked early in 1968. For
less than six months his position as chairman of the PLO was entrusted to Yhia Hammuda,
an unknown lawyer from Ramallah. By August 1968, however, Arafat had succeeded in
uniting his own Fateh organization with Hammuda’s PLO and ultimately in taking
Hammuda's place as chairman of the PLO (in addition to continuing as chairman of the
Fateh, by now the main constituent organization of the PLO).

Arafat’s rise was accompanied by a tremendous upsurge in the popularity of his
cause among Palestinian grass roots. After nearly twenty years in which the Palestinians
had been without recognized leadership (following the disgrace, decline, and death of Haj
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Amin al Husseini), the dispersed, as well as the nonrefugee Palestinians of the West and
East banks at last had a leader, a focal point of hope and pride. Consequently, Arafat’s
organization succeeded in vastly expanding its recruitment base and rapidly generated the
image of a mass movement.'*

But the symbolic rise of Arafat and the revamped PLO was accomplished despite the
organization’s spectacular failure in the battlefield rather than because of its success in this
regard. Arafat’s attempts to start an Algerian type of insurrection in the Israeli-occupied
West Bank and Gaza, not to speak of the Arab-populated parts of Israel proper, never led
to any real results. Israel responded to the early signs of this endeavor with skill and
determination, and large segments of the West Bank population came to fear Israeli
punishments more than PLO inducements. Within a few months the PLO lost whatever
ground it initially held in the West Bank and had to rely instead on incursions across the
Jordan River.

Israel reacted by blocking the Jordan Valley with fences, mines, and fortified
lookouts which sealed access from the East Bank to the West Bank so effectively that 95
percent of the PLO raiders were caught or killed within several hours of crossing the
Jordan River. Therefore the PLO had to resort to hit-and-run attacks againt IDF positions
along the river and to similar attacks against the Jewish population of the Beit Shean
Valley. The IDF’s responded with a scorched earth policy on the East Bank of the Jordan
Valley. Jordanian irrigation projects were destroyed and the bulk of the Jordanian
population of the area lost their homes and had to seek shelter in the vicinity of Jordan’s
main towns. '

The high price exacted from Jordan for allowing the PLO to use its territory as a
sanctuary for operations against Israel and the progressive undermining of Hussein’s
authority by 10,000 to 15,000 armed PLO troops inside the Hashemite Kingdom soon led
to an inexorable slide toward confrontation between the PLO and the Hashemite regime.
The immediate cause of this confrontation, which finally took place in September 1970,
was another rapidly developing facet of PLO operations—overseas terrorism and air
piracy. Drawing its inspiration from a similar ploy by Cubans against civil aviation in the
North American continent, the PLO based the idea of air piracy for political purposes on
an impregnable, if deadly, logic. It required only a small cadre of dedicated personnel. It
introduced significant strains in Israel’s relations with Western Europe. It drew colossal
world attention to the struggle of the Palestinians. It greatly assisted the PLO in projecting
the necessary image to their chief constituency in the refugee camps. And, last but not
least, it involved only a marginal risk since in most cases the hijackers would be turned
over to one or another of the Arab countries which, anxious to protect their credentials as
a champion of the Arab cause, would promptly release them without punishment.

Yasser Arafat and the Fareh benefited greatly from this campaign. But they tended
to advocate discretion in its implementation and, in particular, a careful attempt to avoid
friction with Arab regimes (such as Jordan) on whose tolerance the PLO was still excru-
ciatingly dependent . But Arafat’s nominal leadership of the PLO concealed the fact that
he could run the organization only by consensus. In effect the PLO was in 1967-70—and
has remained to date—a loose, voluntary confederation in which the militants (who are
often in the service of one or another Arab government) basically call the shots.'® This
structural weakness of the PLO was underlined in September 1970 when the Marxist
Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine, headed by George Habash, staged a triple
hijack operation which ended with the landing of the crowded jumbos on Jordanian
territory. King Hussein’s authority had thus been irrevocably challenged. The result was
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a showdown between the Hashemite monarchy and the PLO leading to the total expulsion
of the latter from Jordan.

Before this critical event the PLO had viewed Lebanon as a secondary base. Guerrilla
operations against Israel during the period from 1967-1970 were merely 1.9 percent of the
total Arab military effort against the common foe.!” Beirut was an important inellectual ,
publicity, and recruitment center for the PLO as well as a convenient hinterland from
which to plan and carry out overseas and air piracy operations. But the real center had
been Jordan. The PLO’s expulsion from Jordan dramatically changed this situation. For
if the PLO wished to protect its hard-won freedoms from Syrian and Egyptian control,
Lebanon would become its last remaining haven in close proximity to Israel.

Having been jettisoned from Jordan, the PLO faced a dilemma that would haunt it
throughout the coming years. If Lebanon was the last secure haven the PLO would have
to be exceedingly careful not to lose it. This implied that the excesses that led to the
debacle in Jordan would have to be avoided. The organization would not become as
involved in Lebanon’s complex domestic politics as it had in Jordan, and it would try to
avoid such challenges to the Lebanese as had prompted Hussein, despite grave hesitations
on his part, to clamp down on the Palestinians. Indirectly, this also implied a lower profile
vis-a-vis Israel.

But this logic was difficult to follow for two principal reasons. First, the anarchically
decentralized structure of the PLO meant that if George Habash, Naif Hawatmeh,
Ahmed Jibril, or other leaders of PLO component organizations disagreed with Arafat’s
call for prudence and restraint, the latter would have a hard time stopping them from
indulging in what he often considered to be imprudent excesses. If he tried to discipline
them, the PLO could break apart and Arafat’s claim to be the sole spokesman for the
Palestinian cause would suffer greatly. Second, and perhaps of even greater importance,
if the PLO were to become less active vis-a-vis Israel, be it along the border or in the air,
it was bound to suffer a political eclipse. The spectacular rise of the PLO during 1967-70
was due primarily to its success in attracting world, Arab, and Palestinian attention to its
existence and exploits. This success may have been gratifying to the Palestinians but it
had not been sufficient to build for the PLO the kind of international status that would
guarantee that no settlement of the Arab-Israeli conflict would take place without them.
Late in 1970 an Arab-Israeli peace still appeared remote. But Arafat must have watched
with alarm events such as the Rogers peace initiatives, early signs that Nasser’s successor,
Anwar Sadat, was more inclined to accept a political settlement, and many signs of a tacit
understanding between Israel and Jordan.

If the PLO were to refrain from any military campaign against Israel it would be
likely to break apart as an organization while sinking into oblivion as a claimant for an
independent state in Palestine. Therefore a continued campaign against Israel was an
essential and rational imperative. Yet, and this was the crux of the PLO’s dilemma, to
follow this logic would mean an ever-growing danger of a replay of the PLO’s disastrous
experience in Jordan. Israel could be assumed to resort to massive reprisals. Lebanon
would suffer and ultimately turn against its unwlecome Palestinian ‘guests.’

No matter how clearly aware of this complexity Arafat may have been in the
aftermath of his ouster from Jordan, in the final analysis he was evidently powerless to
avoid a high visibility in Lebanon. Consequently his unenthusiastic Lebanese hosts were
rapidly faced by a dilemma of their own. Like Jordan, Lebanon could neither sustain
endless Israeli reprisals nor risk a breach with the Arab world as a result of a decisive
move to curb the activities of the PLO. But Lebanon’s problem was even greater than
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Hussein’s since, whereas the latter could—once he was resolved to do so—quell the PLO,
Lebanon could not. Its armed forces, at least in nominal terms, should have been capable
of performing what Hussein’s had done. But the question of how to deal with the PLO
became hopelessly entangled with the struggle inside Lebanon between a fragmented
coalition of forces generally supporting the internal status quo and an equally heteroge-
neous coalition (of which the PLO became a part) of forces seeking to upset this delicate
status quo. The deadlock neutralized the Lebanese army as a possible arbiter in the
escalating tensions between the two coalitions. The Lebanese government thus became
incapable of restraining the PLO.'® From the Israeli point of view, it was just as
“‘responsible’” as any other Arab government for acts of violence against Israelis and Jews
emanating from its sovereign territory. In practice the Lebanese government lacked the
ability to quell these acts.!?

What was Israel to do under these circumstances? Theoretically the Israeli govern-
ment could either submit to the PLO or resist it in one form or another. Submission is not
a course of action that any government, Jewish or non-Jewish, Zionist or non-Zionist,
moderate or immoderate, ever adopts voluntarily. In practice, then, Israel had to choose
among various forms of resistance. These were, broadly speaking, three. Israel could
have decided that only an all-out war designed to drive the PLO away from southern
Lebanon would solve the problem. Alternatively, it could have opted for a purely
defensive posture, namely, building such fortifications along the Lebanese border as
would at least minimize the effect of the PLO attacks. Thirdly, Israel could opt for some
form of action that would involve neither an all-out attack nor an entirely defensive
posture.

An attempt to drive the PLO away from the Israeli border was evidently ruled out
from the outset. Militarily it was, of course, a rather simple proposition. The PLO did not
constitute a serious military force and the Lebanese Army was hardly present on the
scene. It would therefore have taken less than one infantry brigade to accomplish such a
mission in one day, probably with very few casualties. But, for political reasons, this
alternative was not viable. Israel’s victory in the 1967 war a year or two earlier was
already causing a slow erosion of its credibility. Recalling how easily Israel had won the
war, critics asked whether the Jewish state’s fear of annihilation by the Arabs expressed
on the eve of the war had not been merely a kind of deception. Secondly, as a result of
the 1967 war Israel was already occupying the Sinai, the West Bank, and the Golan with
their population of more than one million resentful Palestinians. To occupy south Lebanon
in addition would simply make things worse. Thirdly, the PLO in Lebanon was an irritant
not a real menace. It disrupted the daily life of the population in the Galilee, but in the late
1960s it did not appear really to threaten the basic security of the state. Against such a
background Eshkol’s government may have felt that if it were to occupy south Lebanon
it would face a great deal of domestic criticism.

Nor was a purely defensive posture an acceptable proposition. Technically Israel
could—and did—build a fence ‘‘system’’ as had been built in the Jordan Valley. To be
sure, the hilly and green woodland along the Lebanese border made the task more
difficult, but on the whole even this did not present insurmountable difficulties. The real
shortcoming of this method was that it could not stop the PLO from opening fire on the
Israeli civilian population near the border. In the Jordan Valley, with the exception of the
Beit She’an area in the north, there was no Israeli population. The PLO was therefore
forced to struggle with the IDF which was eminently capable of defending itselt. But the
Israeli-Lebanese border was strewn with villages, towns, and kibbutzim. The latter
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consisted of a highly motivated and richly experienced population which could withstand
the rigors of daily danger. But the rest of the Jewish population in the area consisted
largely of new immigrants from North African countries whose motivation, experience,
and social organization had made them exceedingly vulnerable to the pressures of the
PLO. )

A purely defensive posture vis-a-vis the PLO was, for this reason, almost as
unthinkable as the immediate occupation of south Lebanon. Any defensive measures
taken had to be supported by a policy that would increase the risk for the PLO, exact a
high price from it, preoccupy it as much as possible with its own safety, and, above all,
generate pressures against itself inside Lebanon. If the PLO could somehow become
saddled with its own security concerns, if its moves were restricted by the Lebanese, if
every PLO attempt to launch an attack against Israelis would have to take into account
obstacles within its Lebanese sanctuary, then the defensive measures would become far
more effective. Such a view, reminiscent of but not identical with the Israeli experience
of the 1950s along the borders with Egypt and Jordan, led to the choice of a reprisal
policy.

The government of Israel realized from the outset that Lebanon would find it difficult
to curb the PLO through authoritative government action. Hence there was no escape from
a policy that deliberately hurt segments of the Lebanese population. If life for the
Lebanese population in the south became intolerable they would, or so Israel hoped, exert
pressures on their government to restrict the PLO. In addition, if retributions were
administered to Lebanese villages and towns from whose vicinity PLO operations were
carried out, the incentives for this Lebanese population to acquiesce with the PLO and
offer it a sanctuary would appreciably diminish. If, finally, Lebanese interests in the
north, indeed, life in Beirut itself, were also threatened, those forces in Lebanon that were
naturally hostile to the PLO would exert pressure on the Lebanese government to deal
with the PLO and simultaneously, perhaps, take measures themselves for restricting the
PLO in its military activities against Israel in the south and in its hijacking and overseas
operations directed from PLO headquarters in the Lebanese capital.

This logic was brutal and incompatible with Israel’s ethos and values but, in the
existing circumstances, it was virtually inescapable. Just as the PLO could not afford to
stop its operations against Israeli civilians, Israel could not afford to react passively. The
pressure on the PLO to employ terrorism was existential in the most immediate sense. The
pressure on Israel to inflict misery on the Lebanese was, perhaps, not to the same degree
but it was nonetheless immense. In the language of the security dilemma neither side
could afford accommodative behavior and both were inexorably, and rationally, impelled
to act in a patently assertive manner.?®

Escalation, 1968-72

The first significant PLO attack from Lebanese territory occurred on June 14, 1968; ten
two-inch shells landed suddenly on Kibbutz Manara west of the town of Kiryat
Shemonah. On September 16, 1968, a civilian vehicle was ambushed near the village of
Zar’it. In October the PLO stepped up its activity: on the 14th, 20th, 26th, and 28th there
were attacks on Kefar Yuval, Kibbutz Malkiya, Kibbutz Dan, and Kibbutz Manara again.
Two Israeli soldiers and two Israeli civilians were killed, and one Israeli tractor was
destroyed. Following this activity Israel launched its first raid inside Lebanon. On
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October 30 an IDF unit crossed the border and raided a Fateh encampment. The personnel
in the base fled but the physical infrastructure was demolished. Meanwhile the PFLP had
begun hijacking operations and attacks on Israeli installations overseas. On July 22, 1968,
an El Al plane was hijacked to Algiers. On December 26, an Israeli plane was attacked
while parked on the tarmac in Athens. The Israeli government met in a special session that
day and authorized a raid on Beirut international airport. The explicit rationale of the raid
was explained by Minister of Defense Dayan to the raiding party before its departure:

Our purpose in this action is to make clear to the Arabs of Lebanon that they should
avoid the employment of Fateh against our civil aviation services. The plane which
brought the Fateh people to Athens came from Lebanon. The terrorists trained in this
state. If the Government of Lebanon allows the Fateh to train in its territory they must
be punished. It must be clear that there cannot be a failure [in this operation]. The
result of the operation must be such that the Lebanese (sic) will think twice before they
carry out such operations against our planes.?!

The implicit rationale of the raid on Beirut airport was more subtle. The raid was designed
to destroy on the ground the carriers of all Arab airlines. Altogether thirteen planes, all
belonging to the Middle East Airline (MEA) were destroyed. They had been the property
of Lebanese, primarily Christians. The operation explicitly avoided any casualties so the
message to the Lebanese was therefore clear. The IDF would not allow the Lebanese to
avoid disciplinary measures against PLO. If Israeli civilian aviation were disrupted so
would be the Lebanese civil aviation. Lebanon, and in particular its Christian population,
depended on business, tourism, and banking. If nothing was done at once to stop the PLO
these interests would be seriously hurt. The purpose, then, was to affect the political and
strategic calculus of the Lebanese government through a direct pressure on business—its
most sensitive ‘‘underbelly.’’ In addition, the actual landing right in the heart of Lebanon
in the early hours of the evening was designed to expose Lebanon’s vulnerability. This,
the Israelis hoped, would in itself generate domestic pressures on Lebanon’s government
to act swiftly and decisively.

The attack caused an uproar in the West. Critics charged that Israel had committed
an unforgivable violation of international law.?? But the segments of Lebanese population
to whose attention the message was directed had no difficulty in reading the writing on the
wall: at stake was the very existence of the Lebanese state. If it was incapable of
maintaining a monopoly on the use of force within and from its territory, its very fabric
as a polity would disintegrate and it would become little more than a battleground for
foreign powers. Realizing this the President of Lebanon, Charles Helu, ordered the
Commander in Chief of the Lebanese Army, General Emile Boustani, to put his troops
into action with a view to containing the PLO. This order was opposed by the Moslem
Prime Minister, Abdulla Yafi, and probably aroused resentment within the ranks as well.
The Lebanese Army therefore moved halfheartedly to curb the Palestinians in the Beirut
area. The result was sporadic fighting in Beirut during the week following the Israeli raid.
Negotiations between the Lebanese authorities and PLO Chairman Yasser Arafat
followed, however, and led to an agreement on January 16, 1969.%

While Lebanon attempted to come to grips with the issue of PLO operations, the
latter continued its activity against Israel in the south. On December 31, 1969 the PLO
employed for the first time a Soviet-made Katyusha rocket launcher against the town of
Kiryat Shemonah. Two Israeli civilians died and one was seriously injured. Alarmed by
the possible effect this would have on the morale of the population, Minister of Defense
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Dayan visited Kiryat Shemonah at midnight, the sanie day. Such sensitivity to the impact
on the less-motivated segments of the population can be traced back to the early 1950s:
Ben Gurion would visit a village immediately after an attack and hastily order that the
village receive greater financial support; Dayan, his disciple, acted in much the same way.
In Kiryat Shemonah, inimediately after the attack of December 31, 1969, Dayan not only
studied firsthand the state of civil defense facilities but also visited the families that had
suffered from the attack. He wrote in his diary:

I visited the homes of the Va’aknin and Abu Kasis families whose relatives died in the
previous attack. The visit to one of the families was especially difficult. A home
crowded with numerous children and problems. The furniture is poor and the misery
shows on people’s faces. The parents have another son who serves in the armoured
corps, and he supports them from his small salary. We shall have to support them.?*

The Lebanon-PLO agreement of January 16, 1969, survived until August 1 of that
year. Then the PLO attacked Kiryat Shemonah again with Katyusha rockets on two
consecutive days. This action appears to have touched off a reappraisal of the policy in the
Israeli cabinet and in the IDF general staff. They decided to escalate the retribution and,
in particular, to move to the employment of air power. The Israeli Air Force (IAF) was
sent into action for the first time on August 11. On September 4-5 another facet of the
new policy became apparent when a large force of infantry attacked the village of Zehalta,
demolished several houses, killed seven Palestinians, and took a prisoner. A month later
a similar force attacked the southern approaches of Itrun and, the following night, also the
village of Mazra’ al Daharijat.?®

The new and far more assertive strategy quickly had an impact on the Lebanese
scene. On August 28 fighting broke out between Lebanese and Palestinians in the Nahar
al Bared refugee camp near Tripoli, in north Lebanon. By October tensions rose to such an
extent that U.S. Assistant Secretary of State Joseph Sisco was prompted to publish a note
of concern (on October 12). Less than a week later, on October 18, heavy fighting broke
out between the Palestinians and Lebanese Army units throughout the south. Within a few
days the hostilities spread to the Beqa’a Valley. On October 23 there were first signs of
Syrian intervention in this area as al Saiga units, ostensibly part of the PLO but in fact
under the command of the military branch of the Syrian Ba’ath party, attacked Lebanese
Army units in the border town of Masna’a. Simultaneously there was an attempt by PLO
units to capture new positions in Moslem sections of Beirut and in Tripoli, where local
Moslem organizations joined the PLO. With hostilities spreading to these places and with
early signs of Syrian involvement, the Lebanese government evidently felt incapable of
coping with the crisis and turned to President Nasser of Egypt for mediation. General
Emile Boustany, Commander in Chief of the Lebanese Army, met Yasser Arafat in Cairo
on October 25. After some discussion they signed an agreement which came to be known
as the Cairo Accord.?®

Ostensibly the accord amounted to victory for the PLO and defeat for the Lebanese
government and, as a result, was a failure from the Israeli point of view. For if the Israeli
intention was to force the Lebanese government to clamp down on the PLO and bring an
end to the violence along the border and overseas, the Cairo Accord merely legitimized
the right of the PLO to maintain centers in Lebanon from which it would operate. No other
Arab government had ever agreed to such an arrangement before—Lebanon could thus be
said to have capitulated to the Palestinians. Yet, the agreement also included a provision
constituting a mildly positive result from the Israeli point of view. According to the Cairo
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Accord, the PLO would no longer operate against Israeli targets along the border from any
place other than the easternmost corner of south Lebanon. This was not officially
published but, nevertheless, it reached the media. Consequently Israel was ‘told’ by the
Lebanese where to concentrate its retaliatory attacks. The unsubtle hint was that although
the Lebanese were unable to discipline the PLO, they would not at all mind if Israel did
so in that area, which for the next several months came to be known in Israel as
‘‘Fatehland.”

Given this hidden dimension, the Cairo Accord could not survive for very long. The
PLO, for reasons mentioned above, could not afford to cease its operations. Israel, for its
part, could not afford to sit back and avoid reprisals. If the PLO, in order to avoid a
two-front war (with Israel on the one hand and with Lebanon on the other), were to abide
by the Cairo Accord, it would lay itself open to massive Israeli retributions. In fact this
is exactly what happened. The PLO directed its activities against Israeli targets in the
Galilee **finger,”’ the area due south of Fatehland. The IDF proceeded to pave aroad inside
Lebanon’s territory on Har Dov, a mountain overlooking the PLO positions. As a result
it did not take long before the PLO had no choice but to escalate horizontally, resuming
operations against Israel along a wide front stretching from the Fatehland to the Medi-
terranean. By May 1970 the Israeli government had come to the conclusion that the PLO
intended ‘‘a kind of an all-out attack.’” The IDF’s response was a sustained counterattack.
It combined ‘‘shooting in drips and drops’’ with ‘‘massive barrages,’’ large-scale infantry
raids with serial bombardments, patrols with search-and-destroy missions. In spite of these
offensive maneuvers, the ultimate result was far from successful from the Israeli point of
view. The PLO, according to Dayan, continued to operate despite the reprisals, and in
Israel’s northern villages there were signs of ‘‘a worrying phenomenon—people were
beginning to leave their homes, especially in Kiryat Shemonah. *?’

Dayan pressed the government to review the entire policy again. The discussion on
this issue took place on May 11, 1970 and led to a substantial increase in appropriations
for defensive measures such as shelters, peripheral lighting equipment, and fences as well
as to a decision to increase official attention on this population and to make a special effort
to expand investment in local industries. Simultaneously the government also decided to
move one rung up the escalation ladder. The following day, May 12, 1970, the IDF
launched yet a larger attack on the Fatehland. An armored column moved into the
Lebanese villages of Rashaya al Fukhar, Shuba, and Hammam. It blew up some fifty
houses and a great number of PLO depots, captured large quantities of arms, left some
thirty dead PLO combatants, and took six prisoners. The Lebanese Army that attempted
to assist the PLO lost six armored vehicles. Most important, Syria, which so far had
refrained from involvement in the PLO-Israel struggle, decided to intervene. It sent MIG
fighters and lost three of them in the dogfights that ensued.

Although it involved a significant move up the escalation ladder, this show of force
once again proved insufficient. The PLO continued its attacks, the IDF turned such
armored raids into an almost daily routine, and the Israeli population along the border
became even more restive. Under these circumstances Israel began to consider the
possibility of a permanent occupation of parts of southern Lebanon. On January 14,
1972, Lebanon was warned that if the attacks did not cease forthwith the IDF would
move into Lebanese territory. This ultimatum brought the Lebanese government to a new
crisis that was only temporarily resolved as a result of a voluntary consent of the PLO to
cease operations for two months. In practice the agreement survived for only forty days.
On February 23, 1972, the PLO resumed its operations. Israel further escalated its
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reprisals by inflicting on both the PLO and the Lebanese simultaneous attacks on land,
from sea, and from the air. Forty-seven Palestinians and Lebanese lost their lives.
Lebanon’s reaction was, again, two-pronged. On the one hand it submitted a complaint
against Israel to the UN Security Council. On the other hand it deployed forces in the
south as a buffer between the PLO and the Israeli border. This was evidently too little
and too late. The fighting continued to escalate.?®

The Rise of the PLO and Israel’s Security Dilemma

The rapid transformation of Lebanon’s south into a battleground caused a massive flight
of the Lebanese population. In Israel, meanwhile, there were signs of growing
demoralization; but direct government and IDF action prevented the trickle of departures
from Kiryat Shemonah and other towns from turning into a stampede. The IDF did far
greater damage in Lebanon than the PLO did on the Isracli side of the border. Moreover,
the PLO was not particularly popular with the local Christian and Shi’ite Moslem
population, on whom it had imposed itself. The Lebanese south reacted to the violence
differently than did the Israeli north because the south was neglected by the politicians of
Beirut. In essence, the same factors underlying Lebanon’s disintegration and its inability
to stand up to the PLO also undermined the perseverance of the population of the south.
Shaken, intimidated, and unable to continue to till their fields and attend to their
small shops they left en masse, joining the burgeoning population in the shantytowns of
West Beirut. The Shi’ite population of southern Lebanon lacked political impact on
Lebanon’s national agenda. In the course of the period under discussion there was an
attempt by Irani-educated Imam Musa Sadr to galvanize this politically amorphous
mass into a constituency capable of exerting major influence on the national scene.
Whether or not Sadr ultimately would have succeeded in this endeavor remains a moot
point; he himself was kidnapped in mysterious circumstances and apparently
assassinated. But, uprooted from their lands and stranded in the maddening combination
of abject poverty and dazzling wealth, devout religious piety and utter secular
debauchery, and, above all, unparalleled violence, this same amorphous political mass
quickly became an erupting volcano of frustration. They were idle, hungry, and
confused. They were therefore vulnerable to radical ideologies, natural partners (during
the early 1970s) of the Palestinian refugees and of their frustrated Lebanese Druze allies.
The result was a further erosion of the delicate social balance that had previously
permitted the Lebanese system to survive intact.

The first implications of this congestion in the Beirut area emerged in the wake of the
Israeli attack on PLO headquarters on April 10, 1973. Landing by night on a Beirut beach,
an Israeli commando unit met seven Israeli secret agents who had arrived with European
passports and rented cars. The party quickly drove to four different Beirut neighborhoods
and attacked PLO offices and personnel. Among the casualties were three top officials of
the PLO, the organization’s spokesman, Kamal Nasser, and two operational officers, Abu
Yusuf Najjar and Kamal ‘Aadwan.?®

Spectacular as the operation may have been, it actually failed in its overall purpose.
Israel had been unable either to dissuade the PLO from carrying on its campaign or to
force the Lebanese to discipline the PLO. As Dayan put it with characteristic candor, the
IDF’s most daring operations ‘‘shook the Lebanese but failed in bringing them to
removing the terrorists from their country. In practice a double form of coexistence
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emerged. The coexistence of the terrorist organizations with the Lebanese people, and a
coexistence of the State of Israel with the State of Lebanon with both its parts—its original
population which lives in peace with Israel, and its terrorists who make war against
her.”*3°

Such a failure was among the main reasons for Israel’s decision to engage in
counterterrorism involving personal assassinations and a worldwide war of nerves.3! Yet,
with this particular operation in Beirut, the Israeli government unwittingly caused an
upheaval that hastened Lebanon’s slide toward civil war and, as a result, a respite in
Israel’s deadly exchange with the PLO. One day after the April 10, 1973, raid, Lebanon’s
Prime Minister, Sa’eb Slam, resigned his post in protest against the Commander in Chief
of the Lebanon Army, Christian General Iskander Ghanem, who, the Sunni Moslem
premier argued, tacitly collaborated with the Israelis. On the same day the funerals of
those killed turned into riots. A state of emergency was declared by the Lebanese
authorities but the upheavals, which were largely organized by the anti-status quo
Lebanese National Movement (LNM), continued uninterrupted into May. At this stage
the army, under the command of General Ghanem, made its last serious attempt to
control the situation. On May 3, as fighting spread into the camps around Beirut, the
Lebanese Air Force intervened. Its planes attempted to silence artillery and rocket fire
from Burj al Barajneh camp near the international airport. In addition the army laid siege
to a number of the camps. This act was defended by Christian President Franjiyeh and,
evidently, by the bulk of the Christian community. But it met immediate Syrian
opposition. As a means of forcing the Lebanese Army to abandon the siege, Syria closed
its border with Lebanon and thus cut it off from its economic hinterland. The Lebanese
Army yielded.*?

The May 1973 confrontation hastened the consolidation of a coalition of Druzes,
Shi’ites, and Palestinians. To the various Christian communities in Lebanon this coalition
raised the specter of what one astute observer called ‘‘coptification,’’ that is, their
reduction in Lebanon to the status of religiously tolerated but politically insignificant
minority (like the Copts in Egypt).>> Moved by such fears they drew closer together
within a loose umbrella they called the Lebanese Front, led by four formidable patriarchs,
Pierre Gemayel, Camille Chamoun, Suleiman Franjiyeh, and Father Sharbel Kassis each
of whom was the leader of a private militia. Gemayel headed the 15,000-strong Ketaeb
(Phalange); Chamoun led the 3,000-strong al Ahrar (‘‘Tiger’’) militia; Franjiyeh and
Kassis each formed a private army of some 1,500 armed men. Perceiving themselves as
the ultimate guardians of Lebanon’s traditional order, these forces now intensified their
training, recruitment, and logistical preparations for what increasingly seemed like an
inevitable showdown. In turn their adversaries, especially the Palestinians and the Druzes,
also stepped up their preparations. Polarization increased and with it the likelihood of an
all-out encounter.3*

The countdown toward civil war in Lebanon confronted the PLO with the difficult
decision of whether to take part in the internal Lebanese struggle or to attempt fo maintain
at least a semblance of neutrality. Mainstream opinion (especially Yasser Arafat’s Fateh)
recalled the organization’s fate in Jordan, whence it had been expelled in September 1970,
and argued for neutrality. The radicals drew an opposite conclusion. If the PLO had joined
forces with the anti—status quo social forces it might not have lost in the 1970 civil war.
Thus, in Lebanon, the PLO should have joined forces with the anti—status quo elements,
the PLO radicals argued, as a means of securing for itself a freedom of action from
Lebanese territory. If it failed to do so, these radicals warned, the conservative status quo
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coalition, namely, the Lebanese Front, might win the intra-Lebanese struggle and then
proceed to restrict the PLO within the territory of Lebanon.

Within the PLO, those supporting neutrality had the upper hand. The implication was
that the PLO should be more guarded in its operations against Israel. But the voluntary
nature of the PLO meant, in fact, that Yasser Arafat and the Fateh could not prevent the
radicals from carrying on the struggle against Israel. The upshot was continuation of the
tension along Israel’s border but also a certain decline during 1973-75 in the frequency
(though not the ferocity) of PLO attacks against the Galilee.®

This tendency had also been reinforced by the 1973 war and its aftermath. The war
presented the PLO with new opportunities but also new dilemmas. By hijacking a train of
Jewish emigrants from the Soviet Union en route to Vienna, two weeks before the Yom
Kippur War the PLO unwittingly assisted Egypt and Syria in preparing their surprise
attack. During the hostilities the organization sent a small contingent to fight along with
the Egyptian forces. It also launched a number of rocket attacks against Israeli villages
and towns along the Lebanese border and attempted to organize a general strike in the
West Bank and Gaza.*® But, by and large, PLO endeavors in the 1973 war were put
entirely in the shadow of the massive Egyptian-Syrian military operation. In fact the entire
thesis of the PLO according to which a guerrilla type of armed struggle was the only way
to deal with Israel was resoundingly refuted by the Yom Kippur War, with its emphasis
on a massive struggle between vast conventional forces.

Moreover, following the 1973 war the PLO faced a critical choice. Sadat seemed
determined to lead the Arab world toward some reconciliation with Israel within the
framework of the Geneva Conference. This meant that the PLO would have to endorse the
conference without being a party to it, or, alternatively, demand to participate in an
all-Arab delegation to the conference, or, indeed, confront the Egyptian-led block of Arab
nations that supported the idea of gradual détente with Israel. In the final analysis this
PLO dilemma was resolved by Israel, Egypt, and the United States. Israel and the United
States in particular basically held that the Geneva Conference, in which the Soviets and
all Arab states would participate, was bound to lead to renewed diplomatic stalemate. The
three governments therefore doubled their efforts to ease tensions between Israel and its
neighbors through a bilateral, step-by-step approach. The PLO was thus saved from one
dilemma only to confront another. Bilateral Israeli-Egyptian and Israeli-Syrian negotia-
tions with U.S. backing left the PLO out in the cold. If successful, such negotiations could
be expanded to include Jordan, too, in which case an overall settlement excluding the
PLO might gradually emerge.>’ The radical elements in the PLO such as the Marxist
Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP), the Popular Democratic Front for the
Liberation of Palestine (PDFLP) and the Popular Front General Command (PFGC), were
driven by this prospect to a renewed military activity against Israel along the Lebanese
border. Its purpose was to elicit Israeli retaliations which might undermine the peace
process. The Palestinian attacks on a school in Kiryat Shemonah on April 11, 1974, and
on another school at Ma’alot on May 15, 1974, are particularly dramatic examples of such
action. They were followed, predictably, by Israeli counterstrikes.*® Egypt and Syria were
nevertheless not dissuaded from continuing the negotiations. Indeed, within a year both
countries signed ‘‘interini’’ agreements with Israel which, to the PLO’s chagrin,
contributed significantly to the stabilization of the situation.

What saved the PLO from a hopeless confrontation with the bulk of the Arab world
at this juncture was the Israeli refusal to extend the negotiations with Egypt and Syria to
Jordan, too. Despite Kissinger’s pressures, Prime Minister Rabin had been committed to
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‘‘go to the country’’ before any settlement involving the future of the West Bank. If he
were to respond to Kissinger’s pleas and negotiate a limited *‘interim’” agreement with
Jordan, his government would fall and general elections would have to be held. Rabin
therefore declined to deal with Jordan, giving the PLO a golden opportunity to cash in on
its rising international status, overcome the opposition of Egypt and Jordan, and gain
recognition at the Rabat Conference of the Arab League, on October 29, 1974, as the sole
legitimate spokesman for the Palestinian cause.*”

This important milestone in the history of the PLO gave it the boost it needed to gain
the international prominence for which it had been struggling ever since 1967. The weight
of the Arab bloc in the wider Islamic Conference, especially at a moment when Arab oil
power was at its all-time peak, ensured that this large group of nations would endorse the
PLO as well. The Islamic Conference, in turn, was large enough to sway opinion in favor
of the PLO in the nonaligned bloc, too. This guaranteed the unequivocal support of both
the Soviet and the Chinese, along with their European clients. Faced with such a
conglomeration of forces, the Western European nations could no longer refuse to pay
official attention to the PLO. And against this background the PLO had no problem in
obtaining the recognition of the United Nations, at least in the status of an ‘‘observer.’’4°

When Yassar Arafat appeared before the UN General Assembly in November 1974,
he was already the seemingly unchallenged leader of the entire Palestinian movement.
This success had both advantages and disadvantages. The main drawback was that Arafat
would have to assume the statesmanlike mantle of responsibility, namely, to reduce
substantially the PLO’s military activities in Lebanon and elsewhere, except for the
occupied territories. To achieve that he would have to prevail on his militant critics within
the PLO. This new posture suited his inclination to avoid significant involvement in the
intra-Lebanese conflict, but it risked a bitter, even violent struggle within the organiza-
tion. The main advantage of this great international success was that it made him
personally, and the Fateh more generally, far more powerful within the PLO. This, it
seems, was reflected by the fact that when Arafat’s critics in the PLO resigned from the
Executive Committee and formed the ‘‘Rejection Front,’” they refrained from resorting to
force against Fateh as a means of vetoing Arafat’s moves.*!

By the end of 1974, then, it was no longer as essential as it had been that the PLO
resort to attacks against Israeli civilians for the purpose of attracting world attention. From
the Israeli point of view this offered a short-term advantage but it also entailed the
beginning of a long-term problem of a different magnitude. The shift in PLO emphasis
from border attacks and hijackings to diplomacy reduced somewhat the pressure on Israel.
The rampant escalation in military operations that had been typical from 1968 to 1973
abated somewhat. The seemingly inevitable grinding toward a point at which Israel might
have no option but to seize the south of Lebanon slowed considerably. The policy of
limited reprisals had gained, so to speak, a new lease on life. Yet, the meteoric rise of the
PLO to international prominence seemed to herald the arrival of a far greater menace.

As long as the PLO enjoyed the rather equivocal support of only the Arabs and their
Soviet and nonaligned friends it posed no political menace. The main problem was
military in the narrow sense of what the Israelis call *‘current security.’’*? The increasing
support for the PLO in western Europe and even in the United States, however. could
have presented Israel with a major political challenge. If Europe and the United States
were to adopt the PLO thesis that the Palestinian issue could not be solved without the
establishment of a Palestinian state, and that the only legitimate spokesman for the
Palestinian cause was the PLO, Israel could have found itself under intolerable pressure
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to deal with the PLO; specifically, to accept the principle that the PLO should be allowed
to form an independent state on the West Bank and in the Gaza Strip.

Ideologically such a proposition would have been totally unacceptable to a growing
segment of the Israeli population that espoused, with increasing vehemence, the cause of
a ‘‘Greater Israel”’ that included the West Bank, the Golan, Gaza, and parts of the
Sinai.*> But neither the Meir nor the Rabin governments were really preoccupied with
this type of Zionist Fundamentalism, they were primarily concerned with security. The
West Bank and the Gaza Strip were perceived as large strategic salients which a foreign
army—Ilike the Arab Legion and the Iraqi Army in 1948 and the Jordanian and Egyptian
armies in 1967—could use for the purpose of attempting to cut Israel in two at her
fifteen-kilometer wide waistline between the West Bank and the Mediterranean.** An
independent Palestinian state would naturally claim the right to possess its own armed
forces and/or to allow the armed forces of neighboring states to be stationed on her
territory.*> Moreover, from such a state Israel could be subject to terrorist attacks such as
it had experienced from Jordan in the 1950s and from Lebanon in the 1970s. Last, but
not least, a Palestinian state on the West Bank and Gaza could become a nationalist
rallying point for the nearly 600,000 Israeli Arab citizens, without, however, solving the
festering problem of the million or so Palestinian refugees living in camps in Lebanon,
Syria, Jordan, and other parts of the Arab world. Hence, regardless of the ideological
leanings of such a state and even if it were to come under the control of a reformed PLO
which accepted coexistence with a sovereign Zionist state, such a state could face Israel
with grave risks.

To be sure, a Palestinian state on the West Bank was not bound to become a menace.
The risk it represented was a matter of conjecture and probability, not of deterministic
certainty. The problem Israel confronted as a result of the political ascendance of the PLO
was made, in this sense, of the very stuff of which security dilemmas (in the classical
formulation) are normally made. It was probable that an accommodative Israeli response
would pacify the PLO and lead to conflict resolution from which Palestinians, Israelis,
most other Arabs, Europeans, Americans, and possibly even the Soviets clearly stood to
gain. But if Israel acted accommodatively and a similar response was not elicited from the
PLO, accepting a PLO-controlled state on the West Bank could in the long run threaten
the very existence of Israel. That most Israelis would act on the assumption that the
probability of a failure of accommodation with the Palestinians was greater than the
probability of success is not surprising. Given such a choice, the security dilemma
construct predicts an overwhelming preference for assertion rather than accommodation.
And in this regard the Israeli response, namely, attempting to prevent the creation of a
Palestinian state, was not a blind ideological fixation but a standard and universal posture
predicated on perfectly rational considerations.

This view, which all Israeli cabinets since 1967 have endorsed without reservation,
led to very clear operational implications. Israel could not officially admit the existence
of a genuine Palestinian nation or the legitimate nature of the PLO itself. For if Palestinian
rights and/or the PLO were officially acknowledged by Israel, a continued refusal to
negotiate with the PLO would become untenable. But what could be the subject of such
negotiations with the PLO concerning the future of the West Bank and Gaza. As Prime
Minister Itzhak Rabin, a typical pragmatist with a noted penchant for cool strategic
analysis, pointed out in 1975, if Israel agreed to negotiate ‘‘with any Palestinian element’’
it would provide ‘‘a basis for the possibility of creating a third state between Israel and
Jordan.”’ But Israel, he emphasized, would never accept such a state. ‘‘I repeat firmly,
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clearly, categorically,’’ the Israeli prime minister concluded, such a state ‘‘will not be
created.”’4¢

To be sure, there were some highly placed Israelis who disputed the wisdom of this
approach. They included not only well-known leaders of the Israeli left, such as Uri
Avneri, Yossi Sarid, and General (ret.) Mati Peled, but also dovish members of the Labor
mainstream such as Minister of Health Victor Shemtov and Minister of Information
General (ret.) Aharon Yariv. Rabin’s government, however, declined to endorse these
views and continued to adhere to the utter rejection of a Palestinian state.*’
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This fundamentally strategic approach to the question of the PLO also had military
and diplomatic implications. Given its rise to international political stardom, a moder-
ate—political rather than terrorist—PLO, which previously would have been preferred,
could become far more dangerous than the violent PLO of the previous years. With such
a moderate posture the PLO could be far more successful in making significant inroads
into European and American public opinion, gradually changing government policy in
these traditional strongholds of support for Israel. The joint declaration of the European
community on November 6, 1973, which referred to ‘‘the legitimate rights of the
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Palestinians,”” and similar advocacies in the United States during 1974-75, seemed
portents of things to come. If this trend were to continue it could lock Israel in a bitter
conflict with its most important allies. Hence, military action against the PLO could
perhaps be employed not only for military ends but also for the purpose of weakening
PLO moderates and strengthening their radical rivals. A deadlock between Yasser Arafat
and his militant critics could be quite enough to saddle the PLO with a common platform
which, owing to its denial of Israel’s right to exist, would never make the PLO palatable
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to European and American opinion. Punitive military acton deliberately out of proportion
to damage done by PLO attacks would most likely weaken Arafat, while strengthening
Habash, Jibril, Hawatmeh, Khalaf, Mohsein, and their radical supporters. As it turned
out such a policy also hastened the process that ultimately led to the civil war in Lebanon.
In turn, Israel’s security dilemma was further aggravated.

Israeli Policy During the Lebanon Civil War, 1975-77

Looking back at the events of the civil war in Lebanon, Walid Khalidi, a leading
(Palestinian) proponent of the anti-Zionist Perspective, drew the conclusion that the war
had been political ‘*‘manna to the Israelis’” and that Israel had *‘actively hoped that . . .
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[its] strategy would reinforce the trend towards Maronite separatism (i.e., partition) or
create such a state of chaos that several options would be open . . . [to it] from which to
choose at leisure.”’*® Drawing its inspiration from the typical assumption of a long-term
Israeli master plan, such an interpretation seems to confuse cause and effect. Initially
Israel did benefit from the civil war among the Lebanese, but in the long term the
upheavals in the neighboring country presented the Israelis with a series of difficult
choices they would have gladly avoided. Indeed, rather than viewing the war as a golden
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opportunity, Israeli policy makers reacted to its events uneasily and merely attempted to
cut Israel’s losses. The overall thrust of their policy reveals an instinctive tendency to
view the issue in terms of the security dilemma, namely, as a sequence of hard choices
between accommodation and assertion. Specific decisions, however, were made on an ad
hoc and pervasively incremental basis. Some of these decisions seemed at the time to have
been prudent, as the security dilemma construct predicts, however, the sum total was
negative. It amounted to a deep entanglement in the Lebanese quagmire from which Israel
gained very little if, indeed, anything at all.
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The civil war has been variously divided into phases. Some argue that it fell into
three distinct parts.* Others have observed four’® and even six’! different phases. From
the point of view of this discussion the details of this tragic story are not central. What
matters is the nature of the specific challenges to which Israeli policy makers had to
respond. These were essentially two, namely, the Christian call for help and the Syrian
intervention. Israel reportedly confronted a Lebanese Christian call for help for the first
time shortly after the beginning of the civil war (in September or October 1975%2), when
Danny Chamoun, son of Lebanon’s former president and leader of the Tiger militia,
approached the Israeli government through Mossad contacts in Europe with an urgent
request for assistance. It was followed six months later by requests for help from parts of
the Lebanese population close to Israel’s border. A third and far more problematic request
for assistance took shape in the early months of 1976, at which time the mainly Christian
forces of the Lebanese Front found themselves retreating in the face of a mainly
Moslem-Druze-PLO offensive. At this juncture Syria began to intervene directly, thus
presenting Israel with the second major challenge of the civil war.

Israel’s initial response to the civil war was rather passive. Since intercommunal
violence in Lebanon had been frequent in previous years, it could not be foreseen that this
time the hostilities would continue for more than a couple of weeks. As the war dragged
on and gradually expanded in scope, the Israeli government at first tended to view it with
relief: at last the Christians might be heading toward the showdown that could contain the
PLO. To be sure, during the initial six months of fighting the PLO attempted to preserve
its neutrality. In this sense the Israeli hope that the organization would take a beating
remained frustrated. But events in the environment of Beirut and Tripoli caused PLO
attention to gravitate away from Israel’s border. Consequently the north of Israel could
enjoy a period of tranquility such as it had not experienced since 1968.

By the fall of 1975, however, Israeli satisfaction began to give way to some
concern. If at first it had seemed that the Lebanese Front was winning, this trend soon
forced the PLO to abandon its neutrality. Once the PLO joined the Lebanese National
Movement (LNM) anti-status quo coalition, the balance of forces tilted against the
Maronite dominated Lebanese Front. By the end of 1975 it seemed as if the latter’s
ability to hold its own was dwindling. At this point both Israel and Syria seemed to have
encountered paradoxically a comparable problem. A defeat for the Lebanese Front would
result in the radicalization of Lebanon’s overall posture. The radical Sunnis, the Druzes,
the Shi’ites, and the Palestinians would probably develop a new pattern of regional
alliances with a view to enhancing their independence vis-a-vis Syria, turning to Syria’s
rivals in the Arab world such as Iraq, Egypt or even Libya. Moreover, their continued
supremacy inside Lebanon would remain dependent on an alliance with the PLO.
Lebanon would then become an even safer sanctuary for PLO activities than it had been
before.

Realizing this, Syria attempted to enforce a satisfactory degree of internal balance
among the rival Lebanese camps. If Syria did not move, Israel would in all probability
intervene, at least in the south of Lebanon, in order to safeguard its own interests there.
The fact that Israel did not hasten to make such a move was due to a still-persisting
reluctance to take such an onerous step. There was no constituency in Israel for
incorporating south Lebanon into the Jewish state, and adverse Western reactions to such
a move could be taken for granted. The issue was perceived in strategic terms, and from
that point of view avoiding entry into Lebanon was preferable unless either the PLO or the
Syrians were to attempt to establish themselves in the south of the country. Israel, in
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short, assumed a minimalist posture of denial and not an ambitious posture of
expansion.”?

This is not to say that Israel had no interest in the south. Repeated statements by
members of Rabin’s cabinet made plain that there was a fundamental Israeli interest in
restoring the tranquillity that had prevailed in south Lebanon from 1949 to 1967. In effect
Israel sought to turn the south of Lebanon into a buffer, a cordon sanitaire that would
somehow insulate the Jewish state from the turmoil of Lebanon and that, beyond anything
else, would prevent the PI.O from resuming its operations against the Galilee.>* From this
point of view the massive return late in 1975 of Shi’ite and Christian southern Lebanese
who had earlier fled from the south to the Beirut area seemed to offer a neat solution. They
were not hostile to Israel. They had originally left the south in the course of 1968-73
because the tug-of-war between Israel and the PLO in the area made their lives miserable.
Now the same thing was happening in the Beirut area where the civil war was raging. The
south became tranquil again. It was therefore only natural that they would flee from the
north back to their homes in the south.>®

Conditions in the south soon turned this migration into a prelude to a new chapter in
the relations with Isracl. The collapse of Lebanon as a state manifested itself in the
complete destruction of all services. Schools ceased to function. Food began to be in short
supply. Employment became scarce. Medical services, to the extent that they had existed
before in the relatively backward south, collapsed. Under these circumstances southern
Lebanese began to turn for help to their Israeli neighbors across the border. Minister of
Defense Shimon Peres immediately responded with a new idea. The border fences should
be opened. Assistance to these people should be offered. This would create a modicum of
cooperation which could rapidly transform the atmosphere in the whole area. In time such
an enterprise could endow Israel with a sphere of influence in south Lebanon covering the
area the PLO had previously exploited for its operations against the Galilee. A visionary
of sorts by natural inclination, Peres developed an ambitious plan in which such a zone
of cooperation in Lebanon’s south could gradually be stretched northward, thereby
establishing an ever-expanding zone of peace far beyond the security belt Israel sought to
create along its border.>®

The enterprise of the Good Fence—as it came to be known—was little more than an
incremental reaction to a fluid situation. It was not even a policy in the full sense of the
term. Peres believed in it and received a general mandate from his colleagues in the
cabinet to pursue it according to his best judgment. Rather than reflecting the implemen-
tation of a detailed ideological blueprint, it was presumably nurtured by an emerging
concept of a settlement regime between Israel and its neighbors which would be based, as
in the Sinai following the Sinai II Accords, on surrounding Israel with a belt of
demilitarized zones. Israel would then have a strategic depth outside its sovereign territory
and, simultaneously, would be able to ensure its population against the nightmare of
frequent terrorist attacks. The demilitarized zones would decrease the danger of a surprise
attack without entangling Israel in additional occupied territories.

In practice, the Good Fence policy fell far short of Peres’s hopes. When the initial
excitement faded, the fence on the border with Lebanon became ‘‘good’ in only three
small and noncontiguous. areas. Other parts remained hostile and would be soon
reoccupied by the PLO. Meanwhile Israel faced a far greater problem as a result of the
course of events in Lebanon’s north. The tilting of the balance in the civil war in favor of
the anti-status quo coalition as soon as the PLO decided to join the latter forced the
Syrians to rethink their policy, too. The common wisdom is that Syria had always waited
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for an opportunity to seize Lebanon. This theme, greatly favored by supporters of the
Lebanese Front, bases itself on Syria’s historic objection to the very creation of Lebanon
by France. It also drew inspiration from a tendency of Assad’s Ba’ath regime to articulate
its statements concerning Syrian interest in Lebanon in the language of Syria’s historic
claim for Lebanon, which emphasizes, in President Assad’s words, the ‘‘historical
indivisibility’” of the two countries and the argument that ‘‘the Lebanese people can never
be separated from their Arab body . . . [namely] the nearest and principal part of this
body—Syria.”"’

Yet those observers who choose to emphasize this aspect overlook an emphatic
denial by the Syrian ruler of any immediate claim for direct control over Lebanon. To
emphasize the fact that Syria and Lebanon do not conduct their relations through
diplomatic legations, President Assad pointed out in a 1984 interview with Le Monde, is
“‘to belittle [Syria’s] relations with Lebanon by identifying them with a specific office and
a small number of officials. Lebanon is an independent sovereign state. But this does not
mean that . . . [Lebanon and Syria do not constitute] one people.’’>®

If such words can seem to be devious and self-serving doubletalk, the pattern of
Syria’s invasion of Lebanon in the course of the civil war endows them with a great deal
of credibility. Syria at first attempted to mediate between the warring parties. Failing, it
deployed (in September 1975) and subsequently employed its own client Palestinian
forces such as Zoheir Mohsein’s al/ Saiga and units of the Palestinian Liberation Army
(PLA). Both forces were ostensibly part of the PLO but in fact were arms of the Syrian
Ba’ath and the Syrian army, respectively. They were unleashed against the forces of the
anti—status quo LNM and PLO coalition when the latter, riding the wave of what seemed
an imminent victory, proved unwilling to cooperate with Syria’s mediation efforts. When
this measure appeared insufficient, Syria deployed (on January 19, 1976) the Yarmouk
Brigade of the PLA. Two months later it moved into Lebanon regular Syrian commandos
masquerading as PLO units.>’

Syrian caution was inspired by at least three factors: reluctance to become too
involved in the intricacies of Lebanon, which the Syrians were well placed to fully
appreciate; sensitivity to criticism in the Arab world; and uncertainty about Israel’s
reaction. Which of these three considerations weighed most heavily is impossible to say,
but it can be assumed that Syria did not take lightly Israel’s repeated warnings, dating
back to the 1950s and reiterated in 1975-76, not to feel free to enter Lebanon.®® Israel had
traditionally presented this principle as something amounting to a casus belli.®! Five years
earlier when Assad’s predecessor, Salah Jedid, sent an armored column of the Syrian
Army into Jordan to help the PLO during the civil war there, Israel and the United States
made threatening noises which caused the Syrians to retreat. Assad took advantage of this
defeat by removing Jedid from office. He could not have forgotten the incident.®?

This time, however, both the United States and Israel adopted a different approach.
It took more than six months of civil war in Lebanon before the United States began to
take a stance. Moreover, it seems that from the outset the United States was favorably
disposed to the idea of a Syrian effort to stabilize the Lebanese scene. This idea was
signaled to the Syrians and clearly conveyed to the Israelis.®* Israel, despite its stern
warnings to Syria, did not move any faster or more resolutely. From the Israeli point of
view the proposition that Syria should enter Lebanon was instinctively unacceptable for
fear that such a move would subsequently turn Lebanon into another confrontation theater
between the Jewish state and Syria. The conclusion of the Sinai II Accord with Egypt in
September of the previous year signaled to Arabs and Israelis that Egypt was heading
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toward a separate peace with Israel. The Israeli government naturally hoped this would
materialize since it would change the entire balance of Arab-Israeli relations. Prime
Minister Rabin even permitted this hope to be stated in public.®* But this possibility was
as threatening and unwelcome from the Syrian point of view as it was gratifying from the
standpoint of Israel. In an attempt to stop the Egyptians, or at least to cut their own losses,
the Syrians moved to form what came to be known in Israel as the ‘‘banana front,”” a
crescent shaped war coalition on Israel’s eastern and northern flanks consisting of
Lebanon, Jordan, Iraq, and of course Syria itself as the pivot of the alliance.®®> From the
Israeli point of view, then, if Syria succeeded in establishing itself firmly in Lebanon, the
danger from the banana front would be significantly increased.

But the alternative to a Syrian entry into Lebanon appeared even worse. Either Israel
itself would have to send large contingents of the IDF deep into Lebanon—which no
Israeli leader was yet prepared to countenance—or the Lebanese Front would have to
succumb to Syrian pressures. If the latter scenario materialized, Lebanon could rapidly
become a radical confrontation state in which the PLO would figure as the main pillar of
the regime. Preventing this from happening loomed very large in the considerations of the
Israeli cabinet. As Prime Minister Rabin put it, *‘Israel is concerned that Lebanon should
continue to be what it has been, with the present political formula and internal regime.’’%®
Seen in this way the idea of Syrian entry into Lebanon began to appear increasingly
acceptable. For one thing, Rabin and his colleagues rationalized that if Syrian forces were
bogged down in the Lebanese quagmire Syria’s ability to engage Israel in a war would be
reduced because the Syrian forces of the Golan would be weakened. Secondly, the Rabin
cabinet expected that a Syrian involvement in Lebanon would cost so much that Assad
would have to seek aid from Saudi Arabia and the other Gulf countries. Consequently,
Syria would become more dependent on these pro-American moderate states which might
help in reducing its own militancy and ultimately, perhaps, draw her out of the Soviet
orbit. Finally, the Rabin cabinet anticipated that a protracted presence in Lebanon would
have a corrupting and weakening effect on the Syrian army.®’

Against such a background the willingness of the United States to offer its good
offices as an intermediary between Syria and Israel was appreciated by both governments.
Syria, which had led the ‘‘rejectionist’” opposition to President Sadat’s peace policy,
would not deal with Israel directly. Israel would have liked to deal with Syria directly but,
owing to Syria’s refusal, had to accept an indirect approach. The U.S. government sent
a special envoy, Ambassador L. Dean Brown;, to set up indirect negotiations in March and
April 1976, and ultimately an understanding was reached to Syria’s and Israel’s mutual
satisfaction.®®

An official Israeli definition of the terms of this secret understanding was never
published, but a number of statements of Israeli policy makers revealed its scope and
emphases. According to Yigal Allon, the foreign minister, the ‘red line’ which Syria
should not cross encompassed a combination of several factors, such as the depth of the
Syrian advance and the size of the Arab force to be sent to Lebanon. The ‘red line’ further
included factors such as the length of stay of foreign troops in Lebanon and the new
reorganization of the PLO after a ceasefire had been achieved.®®

Shimon Peres, Minister of Defense at the time of the agreement, added to this
definition also that first *‘the Syrians must not cross an imaginary line on the map . . .
[and] second that they must not act against us from the air; and third that they must not
use missiles against our planes.”’’° Differently stated, under the ‘red line’ agreement Syria
was permitted to send large forces into Lebanon in order to force a cessation of hostilities
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on the warring Lebanese factions. But Syria agreed to avoid stationing SAM missiles on
Lebanese territory, to allow Israel open skies above Lebanon’s territory, to respect the
rights of the Lebanese Front (arrayed beyond the ‘‘imaginary line on the map’’), and to
refrain from deploying troops south of a line stretching from the Zaharani estuary on the
Mediterranean to the village of Mashki in the Beqa’a Valley. Israel, on the other hand,
was apparently allowed a ‘‘free hand’’ in Lebanon’s south below the Zaharani-Kafr
Mashki red line.”!

Shortly after the agreement was reached, two events of far-reaching importance took
place. Syria prepared to send her armed forces into Lebanon, and Israel moved to
establish contacts with the Lebanese Front. The Syrian move took place six weeks after
the agreement with Israel. A force of some 30,000 Syrian troops entered Lebanon and
proceeded to discipline the PLO and their Lebanese allies in the Beqa’a Valley, in the
Zogharta region around Tripoli, in the southern part of the Shouf mountains around Jezin,
and in the cities of Beirut, Sidon, and Tyre. To everyone’s surprise it took this formidable
Syrian force far longer to stabilize Lebanon than could have been expected, given the vast
disparity in power between Syria and the PLO-LNM coalition. But by the end of 1976,
Syria had succeeded in restoring order throughout Lebanon.’?

From the Israeli point of view the fact that Syria was vigorously fighting PLO forces
and was having difficulties in Lebanon were, to say the least, gratifying. Still reeling from
the impact of the 1973 war, concerned about a breathing space in which to rebuild the
IDF, suffering a major economic crisis, and, above all, wanting to maintain the
momentum of the negotiations with Egypt, Israel could not but relish the sight. In addition
Israel was relieved to see the PLO suffer defeat at the hands of its (supposedly) greatest
champions, the Syrians. PLO forces regrouped in the north of Lebanon, leaving the south
in tranquility. Israel had time to organize its own Lebanese militia, under renegade Major
Saad Haddad, which would be able to prevent, or at least make more difficult, a PLO
return to Israel’s northern border. Finally, the blow to the PLO in Lebanon could, the
Israelis hoped, check the march of the organization toward international respectability. In
particular it would undermine the PLO’s claim to represent not only the aspirations of the
Palestinians but also the wishes of the entire Arab world. In the Rabat Conference two
years earlier, Egypt and Jordan had been isolated in their opposition to the investiture of
the PLO as a legitimate spokesman for the Palestinians. Now Syria was in fact joining the
anti-PLO front within the Arab world and, needless to say, with devastating consequences
for Yasser Arafat and his Beirut establishment.

While gratified by all this, however, the Rabin government was not carried away.
The red line between Kafr Mashki and the Zaharani estuary created in south Lebanon a
dangerous no-man’s-land which the PLO could easily exploit. As Rabin was quick to
note, Israel’s enemies could find ‘‘shelter under the Israeli umbrella’ which deters the
Syrians

because the Syrians were prevented from moving south of the Red Line, southern
Lebanon became a haven for the terrorists. We had foreseen such an eventuality and
preferred it to Syrian military control of the area bordering our territory. . . . Israel
could not tolerate having Syrian troops stationed along two of her borders [the Golan
and the Galilee]. PLO terrorists, Israel’s sworn foes, found asylum under the Israeli
“‘deterrent umbrella’ intended against the Syrians.”?

Beyond this unpleasant choice of Syrian presence on Israel’s northern border or a
PLO sanctuary there, the Rabin government was fully aware of the longer term results of
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the Syrian entry into Lebanon. Within the narrow context of the civil war in Lebanon,
Syria was, for its own reasons, very helpful from the Israeli point of view. But in the long
run it remained Israel’s most determined and most dangerous foe. Sooner or later it would
stabilize the situation in Lebanon and then turn to its own longer-term interests. The
Syrian alliance with the Lebanese Front was, like other alliances in the Arab world that
Israel had watched come and go,” rather tenuous. While tacitly cooperating with Syria,
the Israelis needed to build into the Lebanese equation additional checks against Syria
which would buttress the fragile agreement between the latter and the Jewish state.
Moreover, the Rabin government’s position at home was relatively weak and its policy
vis-a-vis Syria exposed them to considerable—though at the time invisible—pressures.
Thus, not long after the Syrian invasion of Lebanon, a Likud deputation headed by
Menachem Begin, then leader of the opposition, called on Prime Minister Rabin. Begin
and his Likud colleagues urged Rabin to go to war with Syria in order to expel Syrian
forces from Lebanon. Having failed to convince Rabin, the Likud raised the issue again
in a much more formal manner during a meeting of the Knesset Foreign Relations and
Security Committee.

Faced by such formidable pressure but not at all convinced of their arguments, Rabin
resorted to a Begin type of response in order to counter Begin: ‘‘I do not want to have to
meet,”’ he said with an atypical (and hence presumably tactical) emotional pitch, ‘‘one
mother whose son fell in Lebanon in a war that is not our concern.”’’> But whatever he
said to Begin, Rabin was undoubtedly concerned about the long-term implications of the
Syrian entry into Lebanon with Israel’s (that is Rabin’s own) permission. And it was with
such a perception in mind that Rabin’s government set out, as soon as the Dean Brown
mission was successfully concluded, to establish a firmer liaison with the Lebanese Front.

The idea that the Lebanese Front should turn to Israel for help had been discussed for
the first time as soon as the civil war broke out. Particularly keen to do so were the
Chamounites. The old man, Camille Chamoun, had been president of Lebanon during the
crisis of 1958 and had then received small quantities of arms from Israel. His son Danny
apparently advocated or even attempted an approach to the Israelis in the fall of 1975. The
fact that nothing of consequence came out of this move was due more to Israel’s
reluctance than to the unwillingness of Chamoun’s people. But there was serious
opposition to the scheme also among the Christian Lebanese themselves. Particularly
opposed to the idea was Pierre Gemayel, the godfather of the Phalange. Gemayel may
have been latently anti-semitic but beyond this he feared in 1976, as he had in 1948-52,
that a Christian-Israeli link would burn the bridges between the Lebanese and the Arab
world. What finally caused him to change his mind was, clearly, the shadow of Syria. As
long as Syria had not sent its forces into Lebanon, its less direct involvement in Lebanon’s
internal affairs was still considered tolerable. But the growing Syrian military involve-
ment inside Lebanon and the fact that Israel too seemed to have agreed to the entry of
Syrian forces created a new situation altogether. If the Lebanese Front could not find a
powerful patron, capable and willing to act as a counterveiling force against Syria, it
would sooner or later lose its autonomous existence. Once Syria entered, Gemayel
believed, it would never depart of its own free will. Hence, a secret liaison with Israel
appeared increasingly palatable.”®

This change in Gemayel’s definition of the situation was paralleled by a similar
process in the Israeli government. Like Ben Gurion in the 1950s, Yigal Allon and Defense
Minister Shimon Peres had for many years advocated the pursuit of regional alliances with
non-Arab states such as Turkey, Iran, and Ethiopia, and with non-Arab or non-Moslem
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Middle Eastern minorities such as the Kurds, the Druzes, and the Christians. Peres’s
Good Fence scheme was partly perceived by him in these terms. Yigal Allon had felt since
the 1950s that Israel should attempt to unite the Druzes in Jebel Druz in Syria, in the
Golan, and in the Shouf Mountains in Lebanon, to help them form a state of their own,
and to enter into an alliance with them. This, he hoped, would lead to the disintegration
of a large and militantly anti-Israeli Syria, or, at the very least, create a Druze buffer
between Syria and Israel.”” During the civil war in Lebanon, Allon and reportedly others
returned to the idea with specific reference to Lebanon. Israel, it was argued, should seize
the opportunity to form contacts with Lebanon’s various minority groups. At one stage
Allon urged Itzhak Hofi, head of the Mossad, to send Major General (ret.) Dan Laner as
a permanent military adviser to the LF, and even proposed to go into Lebanon in person
(he spoke Arabic very well with a local, colloquial accent) in order to lay the ground for
the expansion of relations with them.’®

Prime Minister Rabin also occasionally invoked Israel’s vocation as the guardian of
Middle East minorities. He even did so with specific references to Lebanon in the course
of discussions held during his visit to the United States on January 26, 1976, with
President Ford and Secretary of State Kissinger as well as with senators, congressmen,
reporters, and Jewish leaders. ‘‘I emphasized,’’ he later recalled, ‘‘that Israel should not
overlook the lesson of the [civil] war in Lebanon; the Moslems do not tolerate minorities
in their midst, even if they are part of their own nation but belong to a different religious
denomination. I called attention to the horrendous cruelties which the Moslems perpetrate
against Christian children and old people.”’”®

Nevertheless, Rabin was initially far less keen to support the Christians in the north
of Lebanon than was Allon. Cautious by nature, careful not to overtax Israel’s resources,
mesmerized by his negotiations with the United States, and, above all, preoccupied with
the peace process with Egypt, he seems to have been skeptical about his colleagues’ ideas.
His opinion changed, however, as a result of his own agreement with the Syrians during
March—April 1976. Like Pierre Gemayel he realized that stability in Lebanon could not be
restored without Syrian intervention. Yet, also like Gemayel, he was concerned about the
long-term implications of such an intervention. The upshot was a gradual convergence
between the Isracli government and the leadership of the Phalange and, of course, the
Chamounites. Both sides in fact sought the same thing: the formation of a force capable
of at least containing Syria inside Lebanon and ultimately perhaps even of easing its
presence out of Lebanon altogether.

From March through July 1976, both sides confined themselves to careful initial
appraisal. The Phalange sent an emissary to Israel and the Israeli government reciprocated
by sending its own two emissaries. In August, six weeks after the entry into Lebanon of
a Syrian armored brigade, Prime Minister Rabin met Camille Chamoun. The latter
inquired whether Israel would intervene in the civil war. Rabin reportedly evaded the
question by inquiring whether the Lebanese Front would request an Israeli intervention.
Following this meeting Rabin and other prominent Israelis met, for the first time, the real
force in the Lebanese Front, namely, Pierre Gemayel and his sons, Amin and Bashir.

According to available accounts the Israelis were, on the whole, quite unimpressed
by what they saw. Their Lebanese hosts were slick, divided, disorganized, wasteful,
boastful, and somewhat untrustworthy. They did not strike most of the Israelis as capable
of forming a serious and responsible military force which could really hold the Syrians at
bay. Therefore the thrust of Israel’s policy at this stage remained limited. Israel woud
supply the Lebanese Front with foodstuffs, fuel, ammunition, and weapons for which the
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Lebanese offered to pay in full. The IDF would undertake to help the Lebanese help
themselves by training Lebanese personnel who would be transported for that purpose into
Israeli territory (to avoid a direct Israeli involvement in the actual fighting on Lebanese
soil). But the Lebanese wanted more than that. They tried, according to one report, ‘‘to
persuade the Israelis that they would benefit from sending the IDF across the border and,
in coordination with . . . [them] impose a ‘new order’ in the turbulent Land of the
Cedars.”” But Rabin’s government would not commit itself, not even through ambiguous
hints, to actual participation in the fighting anywhere but in the south close to the Israeli
border.5°

Although Rabin and his colleagues did not realize it at the time, and though they
were convinced that limited help to the Lebanese Front did not constitute a more far
reaching step than had the aid Israel offered, for example, to the Kurds in northern Iraq,
they nevertheless made a momentous decision. The significance of this step lay precisely
in the fact that assitance was being offered to an ally whom no Israeli leader really liked
or trusted. If Israel believed the Lebanese Front was not more than a bunch of scheming
Mukhtars (village chieftains), why offer them help? Israel should have abandoned them
to their fate and washed its hands of the entire affair without any qualms. Yet the fact that
Rabin, Peres, Allon, and their lieutenants decided to overcome their reservations and to
offer some support to the Lebanese suggests that they perceived a wider strategic
significance in the emerging link.

What could that be? The answer seems almost self-evident. Having permitted Syria
to enter Lebanon, Israel exposed herself to grave risks in the future. Sooner or later the
Syrians would mend their fences with the PLO, and then Israel would have to go back to
the deadly exchanges with the PLO, or to accept the PLO and deal with it with a view to
establishing a Palestinian state in the West Bank and Gaza, or, more likely, to enter
Lebanon itself. If the first or the second of these alternative scenarios were to materialize,
the limited assistance to the Lebanese Front would be of no consequence. But, if the last
scenario—a major operation against the PLO in Lebanon—were to take shape, it would
be eminently useful to have an ally in the heart of Lebanon. It could cause both the Syrians
and the PLO to commit forces to their rear. And, if it ever came to an all-out war, it could
offer Israel a kind of beachhead on the road to Damascus. Such considerations had
nothing to do with Zionist ideology, domestic politics, or personal whims. They
represented standard strategic-political thinking. Rabin, owing to his distrust for the
Phalange, resisted this logic for a time, but ultimately he too conceded that the exigencies
of the Lebanese situation following the civil war had turned a tacit alliance with the
Christians into a compelling strategic imperative.5! )

Escalation, 1977-78

By October 1976 the civil war in Lebanon was grinding to a halt. Saudi Arabia and
Kuwait, at Syria’s behest, called all the Arab parties in the confict to a conference in
Riyadh, which resulted in an all-Arab legitimization of Syria’s role as peacemaker in
Lebanon. The Syrian forces in Lebanon were reinforced by token contingents of other
Arab forces and then renamed the Arab Deterrent Force (ADF). A seemingly stable status
quo was established in Lebanon’s north, and the PLO became free again to attend to its
position in the south, in the area along Israel’s border into which the Syrians could not
move because of Israel’s deterrent threats. The result, inevitably, was a further
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intensification of hostilities which continued uninterruptedly for eighteen months and
ultimately led to the Israeli ‘‘mini-invasion’ of March 12, 1978.

To be sure, the escalation leading to Operation Litani in March 1978 cannot be
accounted for only by reference to Israel’s drive to protect Haddad’s domain and to the
PLO’s simultaneous struggle to secure its bases of operation astride Israel’s northern
border. In the background, a number of major political changes were taking place and
these undoutedly fueled the conflict. Specifically there can be no doubt that Israel’s
approach during this period was significantly conditioned by the advent of the Carter
administration in the United States and by the victory of the Likud in the Israeli general
elections of July 1977. At the same time, both the Israeli and the PLO positions must have
been affected by Sadat’s peace initiative. Together, these significant background changes
threatened the vital interests of both parties, prompted them to act precipitantly. and thus
contributed to further escalation.

The Carter administration came to power in January 1977, heralding the consolida-
tion of a significant reorientation in American policy in the Middle East which had been
in the making for at least seven years. The focal point of the new orientation was the
Palestinian issue in general and the status of the PLO in particular. The Rogers peace plan
of 1969 included a statement that there could ‘‘not be a lasting peace without a settlement
of the problem of those Palestinians whom the wars of 1948 and 1967 . . . [had] made
homeless. . . . A just settlement must take into account the desires and aspirations of the
refugees.”” A short while later it was stressed by Assistant Under-Secretary of State
Joseph Sisco that the United States had “‘to distinguish between the minority which has
turned to mindless, futile terrorism and the masses of Palestinian Arabs. whose legitimate
concerns must be taken into account in any settlement.’” After the 1973 war, the United
States increasingly invoked the question of Palestinian representation in the peace process
that ensued. This was manifested, for example, in a message from Secretary of State
Henry Kissinger to the Israeli government in which he indicated that in the first stage of
the Geneva Conference ‘‘the issue of extending invitations to the Palestinians and the
Lebanese would be discussed,”” and in a statement by Joseph Sisco describing the
Palestinian National Council which was meeting in Cairo at that time as a ‘‘Palestinian
Congress’’ in which *‘the Palestinians are trying to determine their own direction at the
present time.’’

Since Israel rejected the proposal to deal with Palestinian representation in Geneva
while the PLO persisted in its rejection of UN Resolution 242 of 22 November 1967, in
which Israel’s right for ‘‘secure and recognized boundaries’ is stressed but the
Palestinians are mentioned only as refugees, this American trial balloon led nowhere.
Nevertheless, the Ford administration continued to uphold the view that (in the words of
Alfred Atherton, Assistant Secretary of State) ‘‘some way must be found to involve the
Palestinians in the [negotiation] process,’” and that (in the words of the Nixon-Brezhnev
communiqué of July 31, 1972) a lasting peace in the Middle East would have to take into
account ‘‘the legitimate interests of all peoples in the Middle East, including the
Palestinians.”’

Within a year, this line was carried significantly further toward its logical conclusion
when Deputy Assitant Secretary of State for Middle Eastern Affairs. Harold Saunders,
testified to the Special Sub-Committee of the Senate Foreign Affairs Committee on
November 13, 1975, that the Palestinian issue was the very heart of the Arab-Israel
conflict. The United States, Saunders argued, must move toward recognition of some sort
of Palestinian national representation. It seems inconceivable that Saunders would have
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made this statement without authority. His words appeared to be yet another trial balloon,
a signal to both Israelis and Palestinians. Whatever the policy rationale of Saunder’s
testimony, he was expressing the opinion of a growing portion of the American political
elite, in both the Republican administration and the Democractic Party.®? This is
supported by a Brookings Institution paper which emphasized the same thesis and which
was published at about the same time. Referring to the Palestinian issue, the Brookings
paper argued that the ‘‘Palestinians for the most part believe that they have a right to
self-determination. For a peace settlement to be viable, indeed, for it to even be negotiated
and concluded, this right will have to be recognized in principle and, as a part of the
settlement, given satisfaction in practice.”” The Brookings paper added that ‘‘the
Palestinians must recognize Israel’s right to sovereignty and territorial integrity within
recognized borders, '’ and that, in exchange, the possibility of setting up an independent
Palestinian state in the areas of the West Bank and the Gaza Strip or, alternatively, ‘the
inclusion of those areas as autonomous units in a confederative framework with the
Kingdom of Jordan, should be considered. %

Such public manifestations of a gradual drift toward acceptance of the PLO in the
United States were accompanied by backstage moves pointing in the same directon, which
could not have been overlooked by the Israeli government. According to one press report,
direct contacts between the United States and the PLO were first established under the
Nixon Administration.®* Other sources reveal that these backstage contacts went beyond
intelligence activites. In February 1971 the administration requested Professor Roger
Fisher, a Harvard specialist on conflict and terrorism, to go to Beirut. His mission was to
prevail upon the PLO leadership which, following the PLO’s eviction from Jordan the
previous September, was considering resuming worldwide terrorism, to turn instead to
diplomacy. More specifically Fisher was to attempt to convince the PLO that if it were to
change direction and emphasize a search for a political solution based on PLO
participation in the ultimate approach to peace, the U.S. government would give it
significant backing.

Fisher’s negotiations in Beirut brought upon him the wrath of the Popular Front for
the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP) and Popular Democratic Front for the Liberation of
Palestine (PDFLP) radicals, the main supporters within the PLO of a resort to terrorism—
therefore, he could not stay in Lebanon for long. But his mission was resumed some time
later when the Quaker movement established in East Jerusalem a Center for Information
and Legal Assistance under Ann Lesch, a Quaker scholar and a close collaborator of
William Quandt, the chief author of the Brookings paper. Tacitly backed by the state
department (mainly through the U.S. consulate in East Jerusalem), Lesch proceeded to
encourage the expansion of the Palestinian College at Bir Zeit, in the outskirts of
Ramallah, and the setting up of what later became the Committee for National Guidance,
a PLO-oriented council of West Bank mayors. These activities soon brought Lesch into
conflict with the Israeli authorities on the West Bank, who finally demanded her
departure. The state department resisted this demand strenuously but ultimately yielded,
and Ann Lesch, whose visa was not extended, had to depart.®

Such subtle but persistent manifestations of U.S. support for the notion of an
independent Palestinian state aroused great apprehension in Isreal. If this was anathema
to the Israeli right from the ideological standpoint, it was totally unacceptable to all
political shades of opinion, with the exception of a small fringe on the left, for the
strategic reasons mentioned above. Reflecting this attitude, the Rabin government
extracted from Kissinger in the course of the Sinai II negotiations an Executive
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Commitment that no American government would ‘‘recognize or negotiate with the
Palestine Liberation Organization so long as the Palestine Liberation Organization does
not recognize Israel’s right to exist and does not accept Security Council Resolutions 242
and 338.7'%¢

Kissinger may have agreed to such a generous commitment because he knew it was
worthless. Indeed, he could have taken it for granted that if necessary his successors could
some time in the future find a way to bypass the commitment. Even if this was not
Kissinger’s view, the Carter administration clearly felt uncomfortably constrained by their
predecessors’ commitment on this issue. National Security Advisor Zbigniev Brzezinski
had been among the authors of the Brookings paper, and in 1975 he had published an article
in a widely read journal in which he forcefully advocated the establishment of a PLO state
in the West Bank and Gaza.®’ President Carter and Secretary of State Vance fully accepted
Brzezinski’s view on this matter. All three felt that U.S. policy in the Middle East (as
elsewhere) should be significantly modified. They rejected Kissinger’s step-by-step di-
plomacy. They rejected the Nixon-Kissinger thesis that the Soviets should be ‘‘expelled”’
from Middle East diplomacy. Above all they were convinced that the frustration of the
Palestinians could be lessened only if somebody representing them were to be coopted into
the search for peace. In their view the mainstream of the PLO was basically moderate. If
the United States were sufficiently flexible, they argued, the PLO could be brought to
change its fundamental positions and accept Israel as a legitimate negotiating partner.%®

Chagrined and alarmed, Israel watched Carter and his aides expound their thesis to
Itzhak Rabin during the latter’s last official visit to the United States as Israel’s Prime
Minister, maintaining and expanding various ‘‘back channels’’ to the PLO and finally
advocating publicly, in a speech at Clinton, Massachusetts, in March 1977, a ‘‘homeland”’
for the Palestinians. But what alarmed the Israeli government more than anything was the
fact that there were ample signs that the PLO was reciprocating these American moves.
To be sure, Yasser Arafat was still unable to prevail entirely over the objections of the
Rejection Front within the PLO, but, persistently and skillfully, he seemed to be inching
his complex and divided organization toward an indirect acceptance of UN Resolution 242.
By 1977 Arafat had succeeded in creating for the PLO a truly remarkable international
status. This fact, along with the skill with which he navigated his cause through the
Jordanian and the Lebanese civil wars, gradually made him the single most important
Palestinian leader. Taking full advantage of this status and consciously responding to
Carter’s signals, he pushed the PLO toward acceptance, in a March 1977 meeting of the
Palestine National Council (PNC) of the notion of a Palestinian state ‘ ‘in the territories from
which Israel withdraws.’'3® Another year or two of maneuvering, many Israeli policy
makers feared, and Arafat would come close enough to an acceptance of UN Resolution
242 to convince the Carter administraton that the time had come to deal with the PLO
directly. If it ever came to that, Israel would have to either yield—which would mean the
eventual establishment of a Palestinian state on the West Bank—or face a major breach
with the United States. The former alternative was perceived as an unacceptable gamble
from a security point of view, not to mention the great ideological resistance it would be
bound to generate inside the Jewish state. The latter alternative could place Israel in its most
difficult and isolated international position since the early 1950s.

As a hidden agenda more than an explicit policy, such considerations added impetus
to Israel’s drive against the PLO in south Lebanon. If previously the sole focus had been
on local security considerations, by 1977 the emphasis was shifting implicitly to the
macro-political ramifications of the battle of south Lebanon. Exposing the PLO to the
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fiercest military pressures would not only limit its danger in the Galilee but also
undermine the position of the moderates within its ranks. This would make it impossible
for Yasser Arafat to overcome the objections of his militant critics to the acceptance of
UN Resolution 242. In turn President Carter’s maneuver to coopt the PLO into the search
for peace in the Middle East would be foiled, too.

Israeli governments could not advocate this policy openly since it would raise grave
questions about their devotion to the cause of peace. It was based on a strategy that is not
entirely comprehensible to the average citizen, and hence if it were to be debated in public
it could lead to acrimonious domestic debates. Thus it had always remained a pervasive
but unspoken element of Israel’s policy.

Paradoxically the Likud governments, which were formed after the 1977 general
elections, could deal with this problem with an easier conscience than could the majority
of the Labor party. To all but the extreme doves in the Labor party (who opposed this
policy as a matter of principle), the rationale of this policy was practical and strategic.
Indeed, it was not even new: during the 1948 war Ben Gurion, the first prime minister and
the guide and mentor of the Labor leaders of the 1970s, acted on similar premises.
Without ever making all his considerations explicit he maneuvered Israel toward an
understanding with King Abdullal: of Jordan. The latter would be allowed a free hand in
the areas west of the river Jordan, which the UN partition plan had allotted for a
Palestinian state. This was the basic underlying rationale of the talks Golda Meir held with
Abdullah on the eve of the 1948 Arab invasion. Since following Egypt’s decision to go
to war against the Jewish state, Abdullah could not afford to defect from the Arab
coalition—he, too, had to enter the war. The Jordan Legion and the IDF did battle in only
one area on which no understanding had been previously reached, namely, Jerusalem
and its approaches. Elsewhere both armies were not allowed by their respective political
chiefs to make a move. Ben Gurion resisted the pressures of Yigal Allon and the activist
Ahdut HaAvoda to conquer the West Bank, and Abdullah resisted the pressure of officers
such as Abdullah al Tal to expand the war effort into other areas of the Jewish state.

To both Abdullah and Ben Gurion, the main unspoken purpose was to prevent the
creation of a Palestinian state which was perceived by both as a long-term menace. Ben
Gurion’s (and Abdullah’s) successors, Meir, Dayan, Rabin, Peres (and King Hussein),
consciously pursued a similar objective. Yet, inspired by expediency, such a position was
fundamentally incompatible with Labor’s instinctive sense of historic justice, a legacy of
the party’s fiercely socialist origins. It therefore inevitably led to a pervasive ambiguity,
if not to something amounting to a guilt complex. By contrast, the Likud’s ideology of
integral nationalism within a greater Israel married expediency to its own perception of
high principle. It was therefore easier for the Likud to advocate an outright military drive
for the purpose of preventing PLO moderation than it was for the tacitly guilt-ridden
Labor.

To be sure, the ambiguity on this issue in the policy of the Rabin government was
for a while carried over into the policy of the first Likud government. For Begin himself,
the ideological commitment to Greater Israel was at least as important as the strategic
argument for preventing the establishment of a Palestinian state west of the Jordan River.
But in his coalition the most important ministers, Deputy Prime Minister Yigal Yadin,
Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan, and Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, were far more
preoccupied with the strategic dimension of the problem. For them Begin’s ideological
rigidity was not more than an irritant, because it did not run contrary to their own view
that no foreign army could ever be allowed to cross the Jordan River. They disputed
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Begin’s settlement policy in the densely populated centers of the West Bank because none
of the three were convinced of the security rationale for such a policy which some
supporters of extensive settlement were advancing. They did not see any reason why
Israel should impose itself on the Arab inhabitants of the West Bank through an intensive
involvement in their daily lives. They prided themselves on their knowledge of Arabic and
shared a romantic affection toward the people who spoke it. But they were united in their
opinion that, come what may, Israel should never allow any foreign government to wield
ultimate authority over the West Bank and the Gaza Strip.”

Begin was in basic agreement with the broad outline of Rabin’s Lebanon policy, but
he had frequently chided the Labor government for not being sufficiently vigorous in its
campaign against the PLO.®' In 1970, when Dayan was Minister of Defense in Meir’s
cabinet, he suspended the reprisals, initiated a policy based on a sustained drive against
the PLO in southern Lebanon, and even considered the seizure of parts of south Lebanon.
Ezer Weizman, too, was critical of the entire concept of an ‘‘exchange rate’” for violence
whereby Israeli retaliation would be indexed to the level of PLO provocation.®> When all
of them came into power, the limited tit-for-tat policy of the past had already begun
yielding diminishing returns. Hence, more than at any time before, the basic choice
between a cohererently accommodative posture and an assertive strategy (to use the
language of the security dilemma) was called for. And since the accommodative posture,
namely, responding positively to Carter’s approach to the Palestinian issue and simulta-
neously lowering the military profile in southern Lebanon, was totally unacceptable to all
three, at least as much as it had been to their Labor predecessors, a vigorously assertive
strategy was a natural outcome.

This was reflected in Israeli actions within weeks of the formation of Begin’s
government. Begin and Weizman immediately stepped up assistance to Haddad’s militia.
They also abandoned their predecessors’ discretion about Israel’s role in arming and
training these militia forces. Above all, they stepped up military operations in the south
of Lebanon. On September 2, 1977, an armored IDF column crossed into Lebanon. The
U.S. government demanded the immediate evacuation of this force and suggested the
stationing of a UN force or some 700 Lebanese soldiers in the areas that Israel was to
evacuate. Israel refused. Its experience with UN forces had always been negative. Such
forces were militarily weak and politically hamstrung and therefore incapable of stopping
the PLO. At the same time they could conceivably constitute an obstacle for Israeli and/or
Haddad hot pursuits. The Lebanese army would be even less acceptable since its military
efficiency was in doubt and its political loyalties suspect. For these reasons Israel would
only agree to an increased presence of Haddad’s force. Arguing this case with the United
States took three weeks. Ultimately the U.S. government gave up on the idea of a UN
force, whereupon Israel agreed to withdraw the IDF contingent.”?

Faced by the intense pressure of the IDF, the PLO responded in kind. Further
escalation thus became inevitable. The Israeli Air Force and Navy were used for bombing
operations against PLO bases in Tyre, Sidon, Beirut, and Tripoli. The Israeli government
was fully aware of the fact that these raids harmed Palestinian and Lebanese civilians,”
but, like its Labor predecessors, it hoped the raids would generate pressures on the PLO
to lower its profile. More important still may have been the sense of urgency and alarm
owing to the evident narrowing of the gap between the United States and the PLO’s
positions. Moreover, the Israelis reasoned, the PLO had deliberately established bases
in densely populated urban areas and confronted Israel with a difficult choice. If it be-
came reluctant to continue attacks out of concern for civilian casualties and Western
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opinion, the PLO would obviously gain. If, on the other hand, Israel decided to continue
its attacks, its image would be blemished and the PLO would also gain. Given the need
to safeguard the Galilee population and a growing concern in the face of the PLO ‘‘peace
offensive,’’ a strategy of sustained attacks against its bases was perfectly rational from the
Israeli point of view. ;

At the same time, Israel paid an increasingly high price for this strategy. Every
additional attack by the IAF led to gruesome pictures in the Western press and to highly
critical editorials. And yet, in the final analysis, this harsh policy did achieve some of its
objectives. When the Executive Committee of the Palestine National Council (PNC) met
in Damascus on September 20, 1977, Yasser Arafat failed to obtain support for a move
to come up with a ‘‘grand gesture,’’ presumably a qualified acceptance of UN Resolution
242. The main reason, reportedly, was that the participants wondered whether the United
States, which ‘“‘could not pressure Israel to agree to the stationing of 700 Lebanese
peacekeepers in south Lebanon,’” would be able to ‘‘bring about an Israeli withdrawal
from the West Bank and Gaza.”'®3 As a result Carter’s policy began to lose momentum.®

This impaled Sadat on the horns of his own dilemma. If he continued to wait until
Carter reconvened the Geneva Conference—indeed, even if Carter succeeded in leading
all the parties to this conference—it could mean an endless process, a deadlock, and
possibly another war. If, on the other hand, he were to make his own separate approach
he might be able to retrieve the Sinai peninsula and obtain U.S. economic and military
aid, even if it meant some criticism in the Arab world. Sadat was, evidently, ‘‘a man in
a hurry.”’®” Hence, impressed by Begin’s apparent integrity and resolve, he opted for the
second alternative. The upshot was his solitary pilgrimage to Jerusalem and a bilateral
Isracli-Egyptian peace process in which the Palestinian issue was addressed but from
which the PLO was utterly excluded.

Sadat announced his separate peace initiative on November 9, 1977, that is, at about
the same time when a large IDF contingent operated in south Lebanon and six weeks after
the rejection of the ‘‘grand gesture’’ by the PNC Executive Committee. Having explored
the ground through secret diplomacy, he made his dramatic announcement of the trip to
Jerusalem in the presence of Yasser Arafat, who was literally summoned for the occasion
from Libya. The latter left the hall of the Egyptian National Assembly in bewilderment and
thus initiated a painful reappraisal of his organization.”® From the PLO’s point of view (as,
for a while, from President Carter’s) Sadat’s move was a serious setback. In one fell swoop
it pulled the rug from under Arafat’s strategem of the previous four years. Indeed, the
Egyptian volte-face in 1977 was as momentous as the Egyptian decision in 1948 to join
an Arab coalition in a military campaign against Israel. Then the Egyptian move led, in
effect, to an all-out Arab-Israel war. Now the Egyptian decision to move in the reverse
directon could have an equally important impact on the calculations of other Arab states.
It did not immediately change the course of Syrian policy, nor that of Iraq, Libya, the oil
countries or, of course, more peripheral Arab powers. But even if the rest of the Arab world
were to maintain its initial adherence to the principle of rejection and thus seemingly
embrace the PLO’s standpoint, in the longer term the Egyptian defection was bound to have
acritical effect. Israel would be freed of the need to attend to an Egyptian front. Syria would
become the mainstay of any future Arab campaign. Syria could not be expected to rally
the same broad coalition that Egypt had so far led. The PLO itself would lose much of its
hard-won freedom of action and become as uncomfortably dependent on Syria’s good will
as it had been in the 1960s. Israel would be free to sustain military operations against the
PLO in Lebanon as well as settlement activity on the West Bank. Of course, the Egyptian
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president’s move was presented to the Arab world as a method of resolving the Palestinian
issue too. Sadat himself probably believed this and may have well been right. But the
possibility that the Egyptian initiative might be detrimental to the PLO’s interest clearly
appeared to the majority within the organization as a more likely outcome.

Thus impaled by Sadat’s action on the horns of its own dilemma, the PLO could
theoretically opt for accommodation, join Sadat, and attempt to gain as much as possible
in exchange for such a grand gesture. In practice, however, the PLO was no more likely
to prefer accommodation over assertion than any other international actor. Sadat’s policy
may have been perceived by the PLO leadership as an ingenious trap which could
emasculate the PLO, robbing it of all its achievements of the previous decade. Hence the
PLO leadership had only one reasonably safe policy option: to seek disruption of the
Israeli-Egyptian peace process. How could that be done? Quite naturally through a violent
provocation—this would lead the Israelis to retaliate disproportionately and Egypt in turn
might be so upset that it could react by suspending the negotiations. And if Egypt did not
react so harshly the very least to be expected was the strengthing of Arafat’s position
vis-a-vis his critics within the PLO and a greater pressure on Egypt and the United States
to force Israel to make concessions on the issue of the Palestinians in general and the PLO
in particular.””

Such a rationale was the very epitome of political and strategic sense. It aimed to
cause escalation as a means of preventing a process that could easily lead to a demise of
the Palestinian struggle. And based as it was on an instinctive understanding of Israel’s
pattern of response, it was also successful in correctly predicting how Israel would react.
Moreover, Arafat and his colleagues also exhibited a shrewd sense of timing. Provoking
Israel when the peace process was gaining momentum woud have been ineffective. Rather
than abandoning the peace process, Sadat would most probably have defied the PLO with
all the means at his disposal. Conversely, if Israel had been severely provoked when the
peace process was deadlocked, the likelihood of a bitter Egyptian reaction to an Israeli
overreaction to a Palestinian provocation would be greater.

Whether the PLO leadership was moved by such considerations is impossible to tell,
but the fact remains that it provoked Israel in March 1978—two months after the
suspension of Egyptian-Israeli talks as a result of a deadlock. On March 11, a small party
of eleven PLO combatants landed on the beach near Kibbutz Ma’agan Michael, some fifty
miles north of Tel Aviv. They walked eastward toward the Haifa—Tel Aviv highway,
killing Gail Rubin, a young American tourist, on their way. On the highway they stopped
two buses and one cab, forcing all the passengers into one bus which they commandeered
toward Tel Aviv. They were chased by Israeli police, by passersby, and by the security
forces. The bus was brought to a halt near a country club some five miles from Tel Aviv.
A lengthy shootout followed in which thirty-seven passengers (and all but two of the
terrorists) lost their lives, and seventy-eight were wounded.

The audacity of this operation sent shock waves throughout Israel. In the absence of
Defense Minister Ezer Weizman (who was abroad), the Chief of Staff, Lieutenant General
Mota Gur, summoned the general staff which in turn initiated preparations for a
large-scale military operation. This operational plan was then submitted to the cabinet’s
security subcommittee which approved it promptly. If this move was influenced more by
an emotional reaction than by cool reasoning, the operation itself, code named ‘*Stone of
Wisdom’’ but known later as Operation Litani, basically set out to implement what must
have been a contingency plan since the early 1970s when Dayan issued the first public
warning that Israel might invade.!? The attacking PLO party came from Damour and not
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from south Lebanon. But it is doubtful that the Israelis really cared where it came from—
indeed by this stage in the protracted encounter the precise origin of the attacking party
was of no consequence. From the Israeli point of view the policy of limited operations had
all but exhausted its effectiveness. Keeping the PLO from attacking Israel’s north from
positions within the no-man’s-land between the Israeli border and the Syrian lines had
become impossible. Haddad’s militia proved incapable of policing this area. For all the
help it received from Israel it failed to mature into the spirited, large, disciplined army that
Shimon Peres and Itzhak Rabin may have hoped for when they decided not to meet the
Syrians on the banks of the Litani. Nor had increasing Israeli raids in this area succeeded
in compensating for the shortcomings of Haddad’s army. Israel could resign itself to this
fact and spend ever larger sums on building defenses along the border with Lebanon, but
this would not remove the menace from the Galilee. The most it could achieve would be
to lessen the casualties but at the price of turning life in this area into a virtual nightmare.
The only other alternative was to attempt to occupy the whole area to the Syrian lines and
then either stay there or, in order not to be blamed for seizing Lebanese territory, seek to
reestablish Haddad’s militia on a more solid basis. The question was when to carry out
such an operation. The PLO attack provided a pretext that no American president or
domestic critic would be able to challenge.'°!

To be successful such an operation had to meet several critiera. First, it would have
to be brief. Second, it would have to cost only a small number of Israeli casualties. Third,
it would have to result in an extensive measure of Israeli control of the entire area for years
to come. Fourth, it would have to involve a large number of PLO casualties but only a
negligible number of Lebanese casualties. Fifth, it would have to avoid friction with
Syria. Sixth, it would have to be (at least retrospectively) endorsed by the United States.
Seventh, while testing Egypt’s resolve to carry on the peace process the operation should
not lead to a breakdown of Egyptian-Israeli negotiations.'??

The first criterion was more or less met since the operation took five days. The
second criterion was also met since the total number of Israeli casualties was sixteen. The
third criterion, and possibly the most important, was not met. Under severe U.S. pressure
Israel had to agree to a complete withdrawal. A special UN force was set up and ordered
to take control of the bulk of the area, starting from the Litani River and moving down
south to about five kilometers from the Israeli border. Only after a great deal of haggling
did Israel succeed in extracting a grudging American consent to the stationing of Haddad’s
militia in the five-kilometer belt along Israel’s border.!?

Nor did Israel succeed in attaining the fourth criterion. With the IDF force of some
7,000 troops moving cumbersomely in a wide front from south to north, the PLO had
plenty of time to retreat and seek shelter behind Syrian lines. By the time this became
clear, Israel had already caused extensive damage to the Lebanese population. Concerned
about avoiding Israeli casualties the IDF relied on heavy artillery and air support for the
purpose of preparing the entry of infantry into towns and villages. Since the PLO had
retreated, the bulk of the fire hit the Lebanese population. The result was a large number
of civilian casualties, extensive damage to property, and a substantial problem of
refugees.'*

The fifth criterion, avoiding friction with Syria, was fully met. But in entailed a
heavy price for it was largely owing to this principle that the PLO personnel could safely
escape and also that the IDF chose to move cautiously from south to north rather than
relying on a more audacious maneuver. Finally, while not endangering the peace
process,'* Operation Litani merely exacerbated Isracli-American relations. President
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Carter had hastened to express his *‘shock and dismay’” at the PLO raid. But he was just
as quick to express his objections to Israel’s invasion and to instruct the U.S. delegation
to the UN to back a Security Council resolution (No. 425) calling Israel to withdraw
““forthwith.” 10

If Operation Litani was almost a net failure it led to another serious liability as far as
Israel’s long-term objectives were concerned. The UN force (called UNIFIL—United
Nations Interim Force in Lebanon) was quickly organized, but when it moved to take its
positions it soon discovered that it could not do so without PLO consent. Ingeniously
Yasser Arafat maintained that since UN Resolution 425, from which UNIFIL’s mandate
emanated, made no mention of the PLO (in order to be palatable to Israel), the PLO was
not bound by this resolution. Faced with this procedural problem, General Emanual
Erskine, the Ghanian Commanding Officer of UNIFIL, signed an agreement with the
PLO whereby the latter accepted the ceasefire with Israel. The Jewish state was thus
unwittingly made a party to an agreement with the PLO, whose legitimacy it had declined
to endorse for all the strategic and ideological reasons already mentioned.'°”

Moreover, before long it became clear that UNIFIL would have to abide by the rules
prescribed by the PLO. Upon their arrival in south Lebanon some UNIFIL units
attempted to adhere to their initial brief, namely defending Israel from PLO attacks. This
entailed a number of bloody skirmishes with the PLO, whose numerical strength on the
spot was far superior. The governments that had sent troops to the UN force were at once
confronted with a serious problem. Would they assert their authority in south Lebanon
and face the prospect of violence with the PLO and, worse still, of wider political
consequences as a result of pressures from Arab governments, including the oil states?
Or would they acknowledge the supremacy of the PLO, tacitly collaborate with it, and
thus violate the mission for which they had contributed these troops in the first place?
After a major skirmish between French paratroopers and the PLO early in May 1978, the
French government opted for the second alternative. The governments of the Irish
Republic, Nigeria, Senegal, Norway, Finland, and the Fiji Islands hastened to follow the
French lead.!%8

This seemingly isolated incident had, indeed, far-reaching repercussions. Before
long the PLO infilitrated the UNIFIL zone with the strength of some 700 fighters and
established an autonomous string of bases in the vicinity of the town of Jouaiya which, for
its strength and degree of consolidation, came to be known as the Iron Triangle. Having
yielded to the PLO, UNIFIL had no choice but to accept a PLO demand that UN forces
not approach closer than 500 meters of PLO positions within UNIFIL’s own zone of
responsibility . !%° '

To be sure, this apparent weakness of UNIFIL was not observed only by the PLO.
Israel and its protégé, Saad Haddad were not slow in drawing their lessons. According to
UN Resolution 425, Lebanese sovereignty over the south of Lebanon was to be
represented by a contingent of the Lebanese army. On July 31, 1978, a Lebanese
detachment of 500 soldiers, headed by Lieutenant Colonel Adib Saad, set out from the
Beqa’a Valley to enter UNIFIL domain, near the village of Qauqaba. As soon as it
approached the UN roadblock it was warned that Major Saad Haddad and his militia had
set up one of their units nearby with the expressed intention of preventing Adib Saad’s
troops from moving into the area. Haddad’s reasons were simple enough. The Lebanese
army unit was dispatched in order to underline the illegitimate nature of his own regime
in the south. If the government in Beirut needed a symbol of sovereignty in the south it
could endorse him. Their refusal to do so was a clear affront. It also signaled to Israel that
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it should support Haddad in order to maintain its sphere of influence in the area. In the
face of this, Adib Saad turned back and never returned.!!©

But the weakness of UNIFIL would spell trouble for Israel in the years to come. If
UNIFIL would not engage the PLO, the latter could attempt to cross UNIFIL lines into
Israel without running any real risk. At most, UN troops would merely apprehend the
PLO party, disarm it, and send it back up north. On the other hand, whenever a PLO unit
succeeded in crossing UNIFIL lines into ‘‘Haddadland,’” not to speak of Israel, Israelis
would find themselves in serious friction with the UN and with the governments whose
troops were stationed there. If the crossing ended with a skirmish withint Israel or within
Haddad’s zone, there would be no serious repercussions other than complaints about the
inefficiency of the UN force. But if a skirmish led to hot pursuit by Israelis or by Haddad’s
militiamen, the UN force would attempt to stop them. Neither the IDF nor Haddad’s
militia would obey these orders. For both, making the price of PLO operations high for
the PLO was an article of faith. Without it there would be no disincentives for PLO
personnel to step up their operations. But the outcome was constant friction between Israel
and the governments in question. Israel had previously had cordial relations with most of
these governments, but as a result of UNIFIL’s creation these relations were unnecessarily
strained. UNIFIL solidiers sent letters criticizing Israel to their home newspapers,
resulting in a great deal of public criticism of Israel’s conduct while UNIFIL was doing
very little to relieve Israel’s fundamental problem with the PLO.!!! Operation Litani, in
short, was close to a fiasco. It did not solve the problem it was meant to address, and in
many ways it sowed the seeds of further escalation in the years to come.

Rampant Escalation, 1979-81

The friction across UNIFIL lines cannot alone explain the rapid pace of escalation during
1979-1981. In itself it was little more than an irritant. But the fact that it took place
against the background of other complex problems turned it into a major catalyst of an
ever-widening conflict. In retrospect it seems that all the parties—Israel, the PLO, the
Lebanese Front, Syria, and, in the background, the United States, Egypt, and the Arab
World—increasingly faced an agonizing problem. Each one of them acted more or less
rationally, but the ultimate result was an almost deterministic slide toward anarchy.
The first cause of greater anarchy was, paradoxically, the heightening anxiety of both
Israel and the PLO as a result of the march toward peace between Israel and Egypt.
Following the initial moment of enthusiasm in November 1977, the peace process faced
great difficulties. A téte-a-téte between Begin and Sadat in Ismailiyah, on December 25,
1977, ended in a bitter deadlock. A meeting of foreign ministers in Jerusalem on January
17-18, 1978, also led to naught. Sadat recalled the Egyptian delegates from the Jerusalem
Conference, and Egypt reacted with a variety of gestures that recreated a sense of
bitterness and disillusionment in Israel. The latter responded with accusations and with a
spate of new settlement construction in northern Sinai. But the basic interest that had
originally led to the peace initiative was far too deep to fade away in the face of these
troubles. In Israel fear that the peace process would collapse led to the establishment of
Peace Now, a spontaneous movement calling on the government not to obstruct the peace
process. The United States, which initially had been taken by complete surprise by
Sadat’s Jerusalem trip, now set out to encourage the process. A meeting of foreign
ministers in Leeds Castle, near London, on July 9, 1978, melted some of the ice.
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President Carter then took a tremendous risk and invited Sadat and Begin for a
“‘marathon’’ conference at Camp David. The conference went though some very difficult
moments but then led to an accord. In less than a year a peace treaty was drafted and then
signed on March 26, 1979. By May, Israel had begun to evacuate the Sinai. Meanwhile
Egypt moved toward normalization of relations with Israel, including the cessation of all
forms of hostility, the establishment of a diplomatic legation in Tel Aviv, and the opening
of its borders to Israeli tourists. By April 26, 1982, with the final withdrawal of Israeli
troops from Sinai, all the signs pointed to a completion of the peace process.!!?

While obtaining for Israel a peace agreement with the single most important Arab
state, the Egyptian-Israeli peace process also heightened the Begin government’s
apprehensions concerning Carter’s ideas about Palestine. Sadat needed a solution in
principle to the Palestine issue in order to avoid Arab charges of a separate peace with the
Jewish state. He therefore pressed President Carter to exert pressure on the Israelis to
agree to a Palestinian state or at least to an autonomous region on the West Bank. Carter,
as has been pointed out, was of the opinion that this would be an imperative in any case.
He therefore toned down Sadat’s demand in this regard but proceeded, nevertheless, to
apply pressure on Israel to accept these ideas. Begin’s initial reaction was flatly negative,
but Foreign Minister Dayan, Defense Minister Weizman, Attorney General Barak, and
Military Advisor Tamir shared an intense fear that without Israeli concessions on this
issue the peace process would collapse. Therefore they gradually and carefully,
sometimes almost imperceptively, pressed the prime minister to accept the notion of
Palestinian autonomy. Their ideas on the issue were not, however, very different from
Begin’s own, although they were inspired by the strategic argument against Palestinian
autonomy and not by Begin’s ideological objections. Accordingly, what they pleaded
with Begin to accept was the principle of autonomy. Later, they argued, the concept could
be interpreted so narrowly that it would not constitute a menace to Israel. As one astute
and well-informed observer put it, Foreign Minister Dayan reached the conclusion that

the Palestinian problem was not solved and would not be solved through the settlement
of refugees. He recognized that the Palestinian refugees did not assimilate into the
Arab states but became a political movement. In a characteristic spate of anxiety he
hastened to create facts which would affect the ultimate shape of the West Bank and
which, in particular, would prevent the development of the Palestinian national
movement into an independent state. Among the components which he believed could
be agreed upon with Jordan and implemented in the course of the [five years]
autonomy period were the following: the deployment of IDF units, protection for the
Jewish settlements, a ban on the deployment of foreign troops and an understanding
between Israel and Jordan that a Palestinian state would not be establised.!!?

Israel’s anxieties were matched by the apprehensions that these developments
aroused in the PLO. In November 1978, it seemed as if the whole of the Arab world
would succeed in closing ranks for the purpose of ostracizing Sadat and thus nipping his
peace initiative in the bud. Iraq called a summit meeting. Every member state of the Arab
League except Egypt participated. Resolutions condemning Egypt and urging it to rescind
the peace process were passed amid much ceremony, and a special Arab fund for
combating the peace process was established.!!*

None of these attempts succeeded in halting Egypt from carrying on negotiations
with Israel. Indeed, tacitly a number of more conservative Arab regimes moved to
reestablish amicable relations with Egypt. Meanwhile Egypt endorsed the autonomy plan
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for the West Bank, a formula that the PLO leadership feared, with good reason, would
totally undermine the claims of the PLO to be the sole legitimate representative of the
Palestinian people. It would in fact seal the fate of the PLO altogether since, implicitly,
the autonomy scheme entailed a final settlement of the most important outstanding issues
between Israel and the Palestinians.

Under such circumstances Yasser Arafat could not prevent a hardening of the
position of the PNC. Indeed, the Israeli-Egyptian negotiations established a trend within
the PLO away from the positions that had previously enabled Arafat to nudge his stubborn
colleagues toward an understanding with the United States. Moreover, in these circum-
stances the PLO could ill afford not to maintain a high level of military activity against
Israel. In the same way that moving toward an understanding with the United States in
1976-77 had encouraged the PLO to deemphasize the military dimensions of its
campaign, so did the move in the opposite direction in 1978-81 encourage the
organization to step up its military activity. Four months after Operation Litani, Arafat
asked rhetorically:

What have we done after the 1967 war? . . . We engaged the Zionist enemy militarily
and psychologically until the Arab armies were built. We are now playing the same
role. We must keep the area ablaze until the Egyptian absence (from Arab ranks) is
compensated for, either through returning Egypt to the arena of the war . . . or until
balance is restored through the building of the eastern front.'"

But the PLO was not as free as Arafat’s words suggest to determine whether the
region would be set ablaze. Indeed, in many ways it was merely reacting to forces entirely
outside its control. For one thing, although the organization was not ruined by Operation
Litani it had suffered a setback. After all the years during which it had attempted to secure
for itself a zone of operations along Israel’s northern border, it was now confined to an
autonomous region right in the middle of Lebanon but without a contiguous ‘‘window’’
of Israeli border through which to penetrate. UNIFIL could not stop the PLO from
crossing its lines, but the combination of UNIFIL and Haddad’s buffer presented the PLO
with new headaches. The area was more accessible than, say, Syrian lines on the Golan,
where the PLO could not make any move without permission. But penetration into Israel
had become substantially more difficult than at any time in the past.

To be sure, there were ways and means of bypassing this new obstacle. The PLO
could, and did, use the sea as a route of access to Israel’s long, exposed, and heavily
populated coast. The PLO also purchased long-range artillery which could inflict sudden
salvos on Israel’s northern towns from Nahariya on the coast, to Safed on the Galilee
mountains, to Kiryat Shemonah in the northern part of Israel’s finger-shaped Huleh
Valley. Such artillery, indeed, did not have to be very accurate. The purpose was to harass
the civilian population, and that could be achieved by launching inaccurate salvos of
Katyusha rockets. In addition the PLO could employ airborne means of transportation—
not airplanes (they would be easily detected and shot down by Israel’s Air Force and, in
any case, required an infrastructure which the PLO did not have) but, ingeniously, gliders
and balloons which fly low and do not make any detectable noise. Their range was of
course limited, but it was sufficient for the purpose of crossing over the UNIFIL and
Haddad zones and even for penetrating twenty miles into Israel.!!®

All these means of coping with the new situation after Operation Litani had some
very serious drawbacks. The Israeli navy is small but, consisting primarily of fast missile
boats with state-of-the-art radar systems, it could almost seal Israel’s coastline to PLO
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vessels. Indeed, realizing that the PLO was attempting to develop a small naval capacity,
Israel concentrated on preventive operations, including intensive reconnaissance along
Lebanon’s entire coastline as well as preemptive attacks on port facilities.!!”

Other methods available to the PLO brought disadvantages also. Conventional
long-range artillery could be a deadly weapon, but in order to use it effectively PLO
teams had to spend lengthy periods of training in the Soviet Union at a time when their
skills were required rather urgently at home. Moreover, such artillery required an
ever-lengthening logistical ‘‘tail,”” which made the PLO increasingly less flexible. The
strength of the PLO in previous years had been their guerrilla capacity, their ability to hit
and run. This had caused Israel great difficulties. But the incremental arming of the
organization with heavier weapons capable of overcoming the UNIFIL-Haddad barrrier
meant that it was slowly conventionalizing itself as a military force. The more this
became the case, the greater the vulnerability of the PLO to Israeli counterattacks and,
indeed, preventive attacks. It did not take long before the IDF discovered this trend in the
complexion of PLO armed forces in the south Lebanon. The reaction was, from the
PLO’s point of view, devastating. The IDF launched a series of day and night operations
including ambushes, mining operations, hit-and-run attacks, sudden salvos of artillery—
in short, a deadly combination which increasingly engaged the PLO more in a quest for
its own security than in a sustained campaign against Israel.!!8

Superficially these developments could be attributed merely to the fact that Israel’s
Chief of Staff during these years was Rafael Eitan, a tough and highly experienced
paratrooper whose military philosophy tended to emphasize surprise, night operations,
initiative, and daring. Although this was an important factor, it seems that a larger process
was taking shape. The PLO was becoming increasingly conscious of the possibility of a
grand showdown. Sensing that Operation Litani was not Israel’s final word, the PLO
leadership was seized by a (justified) anticipation of another attack. They were therefore
engaged in a frantic effort to build up their own Masada. Israel detected this and in turn
stepped up its own efforts to bring down the PLO. Israel’s operations could not but elicit
a strenuous PLO attempt to fight back using increasingly more devastating weapons. A
steady increase in violence brought intense escalation in which both sides were acting
more or less rationally.'!”

Like all protracted wars of attrition this one too had a built-in tendency to escalate
not only vertically (that is, in the type of weapons used) but also horizontally (in
geographic scope). The intensification of the exchange with the PLO from 1978 to 1981
led Israel step by step to an expansion of the battle zone from the south toward Beirut.
The purpose was to force the PLO to cease military operations altogether and sink into
political oblivion. With such a purpose in mind the logic of hitting PLO installations and
bases of support everywhere, of denying the PLO any kind of sanctuary anywhere, had
a momentum of its own. Beirut, not the south, was the nerve center of the PLO. Hence,
in order to force the PLO to cease operations, its headquarters and depots in Beirut had
to be hit massively. After the ‘‘Rent-a-Car’’ operation in April 1973, the PLO command
had become exceedingly careful. Gone were the days when Yasser Arafat, George
Habash, Naif Hawatmeh, Farouq Qaddoumi, Ahmed Jibril and their many lieutenants
could hold numerous and lavish receptions in front of television cameras. Now they were
engaged in a massive war effort in which the Israelis could hit them every day.
Moreover, the fact that Christians in Beirut were engaged in the construction of an
alliance with Israel meant that Israel had valuable sources of information about the
location and activities of PLO personnel, depots, training centers, and other important
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elements of the organization’s infrastructure. Such sources made the temptation for Israel
to expand the war to Beirut greater. The upshot was another stage of escalation.

The new phase in the process of escalation took the form of a rapprochement between
the PLO and Syria, an expansion of Israel’s links with the Lebanese Front, and, as an
inevitable result, a slow shifting of the main arena of conflict from the battered south to
the Beirut-Beqa’a areas in central Lebanon. The Syrian switch of alliances from the
Lebanese Front to the left and the PLO had, at first, little to do with Israel. Syria’s main
concern was to restore order in Lebanon and that meant supporting the forces of the status
quo and opposing the forces seeking to upset it. Therefore Syria at first supported the
Lebanese Front, a mainly Christian conglomerate of forces which, in addition, were of
quite a different ideological complexion than Ba’athist Syria. By the same token once the
PLO and the LNM were brought into line, Syria had no reason to batter them any further.
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At this stage—late 1976 and early 1977—Syria would have been quite pleased to see
balance restored in Lebanon. Such a state would guarantee Syria’s status as the final
arbiter without forcing it to maintain a large military presence in Lebanon. Indeed,
whether or not Syria had moved into Lebanon in the first place in order to fulfill the old
dream of Greater Syria—a rather doubtful proposition in itself—the presence of some
30,000 Syrian troops in Lebanon was rapidly becoming a major burden on the Assad
regime. This was primarily due to mounting domestic criticism of the policy of
intervention of the Assad regime. Syria was therefore anxious to lower its profile in
Lebanon, which required restoring stability there first.'2°

Moved by such considerations Syria mended its fences with the PLO and their
Lebanese allies during the summer of 1977.'2! Thereafter the main objective of the Ba’ath
republic was to see the new status quo maintained by all factions in Lebanon. But this
objective was increasingly threatened by some elements among the Christians, especially
the Phalange, who progressively drifted to a pro-Israeli orientation. The roots of this
development in the Christian outlook can be traced to two factors, one objective and
situational, the other subjective and personal.

The objective source of Christian-Syrian tensions and, as a result, of a Christian
search for a closer bond with Israel, was the very situation of occupation which had been
created by the Syrian appearance on the scene. Originally, it will be remembered, the
Lebanese Front was saved by the Syrians from a defeat at the hands of the LNM-PLO
coalition. Nevetheless, the fact that Syrian forces seemed to be settling down for a long
sojourn in Lebanon rapidly generated resentment. The Lebanese Front wished to obtain
Syrian help against their (then) common enemy and, as soon as the mission was
accomplished, to see the departure of the Syrians from Lebanon. The Syrians would
have gladly complied with such a wish for their own reasons, but carrying it out
was more easily said than done. The Syrians needed a great deal of time to put the
Lebanese humpty-dumpty together again. And the Christians rapidly developed a deep
suspicion that the real intention of their Syrian allies was to fulfill their ancient dream of
a Greater Syria.

This diffuse but intensely felt suspicion also converged with practical problems on
the site. When the Syrians moved into Lebanon, the lines of demarcation between them
and their Christian allies in terms of political and administrative responsibility were not
clearly drawn. Consequently, it did not take long before friction developed concerning
matters such as pillage and rape, arbitrary arrests, confiscation of property, and
roadblocks by Syrian personnel on Lebanese soil. Such a state of affairs led to a serious
clash on February 8, 1978 between Christian units in the recently restored Lebanese army
and Syrian soldiers. According to one source this was ‘‘the most serious security
incident—apart from Kamal Jumblatt’s assassination—since the cessation of general
hostilities. Whether the clash was the spontaneous explosion of frayed nerves on both
sides or specifically timed by some agent provocateur to mar President Assad’s reelection
the same day, is uncertain.”” What mattered, however was that *‘the fighting threatened
to spill over into Maronite neighborhoods.’!??

This incident could not but add to the buildup of further tensions between the
Syrians and the Lebanese Front. As a result, the familiar pattern of retrenchment and
preparation for an inevitable showdown could soon be discerned. In this situation the
rise of Bashir Gemayel to the leadership of the Lebanese forces clearly had a dramatic
effect. The objective source of Syrian-Christian tension was in fact reinforced by the
subjective one.
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The Rise of Bashir Gemayel

Bashir Gemayel’s rise to power coincided with and was spurred on by the Lebanese civil
war and its aftermath. Bashir was nominated Commander of the Lebanese Forces in July
1976 after the death of the founder of the LF, William Hawi, during the battle of Tal Al
Zaatar. Undistinguished in appearance and previous achievements, Gemayel quickly
made his way up the ladder of Lebanon’s national leadership. His guiding ideology, never
explicitly stated, was more national than sectarian. He believed in meritocracy, in uniting
the private militias, in reducing the rigidities of the traditional class structure of the
Christian community, and, of course, in relieving Lebanon of Syrian occupation. His
choice of means was, however, far from enlightened. On June 13, 1978, he ordered his
loyalists to eliminate Tony Franjiyeh and his household. The pretext was the killing by
Franjiyeh’s Marada militiamen of Joud Bayeh, a Beirut banker associated with the
Phalange. But the real reason was the Franjiyeh clan’s defiance of Bashir’s attempt to
extend the authority of the LF over the former’s stronghold near Zogharta. Franjiyeh, in
addition, had been supported by Syria, whose influence in Lebanon Bashir had set out to
eliminate. His assassination was therefore critical for Bashir’s rise to power as the
recognized leader of the emerging Christian mini-state.

Franjiyeh’s assassination at his home in Ehde was widely criticized. In the final
analysis it proved to be the most important step in Bashir’s rise to power. After this event
Bashir proceeded to weaken the position of his own elder brother, Amin, and even of his
father, Sheikh Pierre Gemayel, the septuagenarian patriarch of the Phalange. Simulta-
neously he undermined the status of the Lebanese state by increasingly levying taxes,
engaging in a variety of profitable enterprises which earned his organization an estimated
$100,000,000 a year, challenging the position of the Lebanese army which President
Sarkis—with Syrian backing—was attempting to reconstruct, and exerting substantial
influence over Lebanon’s state television. Having achieved all this he moved on July 7,
1980, to destroy Chamoun’s al Ahrar (Tiger) militia. This led to a bloody battle which left
Bashir Gemayel the single most important political and military figure in Maronistan, the
LF state within a state in the Junieh—Beirut—-Metn Mountain area.'??

This piecemeal coup d’état naturally captured the attention of both the Syrians and
the Israelis. From the Syrian point of view the rise of Bashir Gemayel posed an
increasing threat. Syria had been trying to reconstruct a stable Lebanese balance by
building up the stature of President Elias Sarkis, who had been appointed to the
presidency largely as a result of Syrian influence. The rise of Bashir and his abrasive—
and highly successful—challenge to Sarkis’s authority visibly threatened to undo this
delicate Syrian endeavor. Moreover, Damascus must have received word about Bashir’s
flirtations with Israel. From the Syrian perspective this combination of successful
leadership of the LF, a challenge to Sarkis’s authority, and Israeli support, must have
been alarming.

By June 1978, Syrian forces and Bashir Gemayel’s Lebanese Forces had engaged in
an open conflict. When the latter attacked the Franjiyeh stronghold in Ehde, Syrian forces
helped the Marada militia fight back. In addition the Syrians rushed commandos to Beirut
by helicopter. Bashir Gemayel and Camille Chamoun responded by instigating strikes and
demonstrations which quickly escalated into gunfire against Syrian soldiers and then
Syrian retaliation by shelling Beirut’s Christian suburbs. When even this did not suffice
to restrain the LF, Syrian President Assad issued an ultimatum: If the LF did not cease the
fire forthwith, he threatened, Syria would occupy its strongholds. The LF did cease the
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fire but renewed it two weeks later. Syria’s reaction was devastating. Massive shelling of
East Beirut followed as well as an attack on LF strongholds in the mountains. The result
was a great number of casualties, a large-scale devastation of property, and a considerable
exodus of Christians to Europe, North America, and South Africa.'?*

Israel’s Response

Israel’s policy toward the LF up to the summer of 1978 had been equivocal. The bonds
that had been created under the Rabin government were maintained. There was a steady,
though modest, flow of arms. Phalangists were being trained by the IDF. Menachem
Begin, Israel’s Prime Minister since the elections of May 1977, reiterated (somewhat
more explicitly) Rabin’s commitment to prevent a ‘‘genocide’” of the Lebanese Chris-
tians. Yet, on the whole, this was done with little enthusiasm and, indeed, with a great
deal of skepticism. The Israelis were troubled by the evidence of disunity among the
various constituent components of the LF. The Christians’ atrocities against their own as
well as against others were looked upon with dismay and disgust. Their military
performance was frowned upon, and their loyalty, especially after their failure to help
Israel by reinforcing Saad Haddad in the wake of Operation Litani, was held in doubt.!?3

Nevertheless, as of the summer of 1978 this general attitude began to change. During
the fighting early in June two IAF fighter planes were flown over the Beirut area as a
threat to the Syrians that should they not stop the shelling of East Beirut, Israel might
intervene. Thereafter, particularly following the defeat of the Christians described earlier,
Israel at last agreed to Bashir Gemayel’s request to step up the aid program. The LF was
asked to pay for the equipment. But at the same time the entire Israeli involvement
assumed a different scale. The number of Israeli advisers was greatly enlarged. This new
team started from a methodical review of the potential and the real needs of the LF and
then proceeded to reconstruct these hitherto disorganized bands into a fully structured
army with standardized uniforms, an orderly chain of command, a detailed training
program, and much of the weaponry of a modern, mechanized infantry force.!2¢

This new policy could be, and has been, explained exclusively in terms of Begin’s
simplistic world view. Begin, it is argued, was ‘‘genuinely moved by Chamoun’s and
Bashir’s unabashed patriotism and declarations of appreciation of Israel as the only party
that cared about the Lebanese Christian minority.’’ He regarded himself ‘‘as bearing the
responsibility for the fate of the Maronites and believed his involvement with their plight
to be a moral duty no less than a matter of national self-interest.’”” Above all, ‘‘he savored
the idea of being able to influence events in a neighboring state.’*'?” To the extent that can
be judged, all this, and probably more, is true enough. Begin’s view of the world was very
simplistic. He was perpetually reliving his experiences as a young Jew in Poland, on the
eve of World War 1I'*® and, indeed, during the war. He was often unable to avoid
interpreting the predicament of the Christians in Lebanon by an analogy with the plight of
the Jews, or the Czechs, in the face of persecution by the Nazis and indifference by the
rest of the world."*® But was this all there was to Israel’s increased invovlement with
Bashir Gemayel’s enterprise? Most probably not.

As has been argued, Rabin—whose world view was shaped in Palestine and not in
Europe—resisted the advice of his colleagues to expand the aid to the Phalangists only up
to a point. By the early summer of 1976 he too became convinced that Israel’s national
interest dictated the cultivation of atacit alliance with the Christians. This reflected no
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affection for the Phalange; if anything he moved in this direction despite his natural
distaste, even contempt, for the Christians. Rabin’s attitude was shared by Begin’s three
Palestine-born ministers, Dayan, Weizman, and Yadin. The three of them together
exerted a great deal of pragmatic influence over Begin’s policies. Their absence in his
second government was to have a critical impact on its policies. But all three were still
members of Begin’s government when the decision to step up assistance to the LF was
made in June-July 1978. Indeed, the actual implementation of this policy was entrusted
to Ezer Weizman, the Minister of Defense.'*® Differently stated. without discounting
altogether the importance of Begin's world view as a factor in the decision to increase the
involvement with the Lebanese, the most important reasons for this decision have to be
sought elsewhere.

One important reason for expanding the ties with the LF could have been the
evidence that Bashir’s leadership was gradually effecting a seemingly revolutionary
change in the very nature of the Christian posture vis-a-vis the PLO and the Syrians. Had
the Christians not appeared like a bunch of murderous Mukhtars, a kind of Middle Eastern
cosa nostra, lacking in genuine national will and incapable of pulling their resources
together for the purpose of resisting their enemies, Rabin might have had fewer qualms
about collaborating with them. Israel, after all, was engaged in a protracted conflict with
Syria and the PLO. It succeeded in exploiting a unique conjuction of circumstances for the
purpose of striking a limited deal with the Syrians at a time when the latter were fighting
the PLO and supporting the Christians. But this deal could not provide the basis for a
long-term accommodation with Syria. There was therefore a powerful reason, which
some senior officials in the Mossad emphasized repeatedly, for attempting to buttress a
counterveiling force such as the Christians.!*! And if this was not done with great
enthusiasm the reason lay in the evidence of the Christians’ intrinsic lack of purpose and
unity.

Conversely, the rise of Bashir Gemayel suggested to Israeli goverments, irrespective
of their personal makeup or ideological leanings, that the anti-Syrian and anti-PLO
counterveiling force that Israel needed was rapidly emerging.!3? Bashir’s ascendance to
hegemony of Maronistan was, of course, neither irreversible nor, indeed, achieved
through means that any Israeli policy maker would condone. These factors continued to
loom very large in Israeli policy formulation. The chiefs of both the Military Intelligence
(AMAN) and the Mossad persistently cautioned, precisely for these reasons, against
becoming too closely associated with the Christians and with Bashir in particular. But
they were hard put to dispute the validity of the objective logic of forging a strategic
alliance with the LF. Moreover, some of their own lieutenants who had gradually become
Israel’s field representatives in the continuous dialogue with the Christians tended to
discount the weaknesses and emphasize the strengths of Bashir’s leadership. They
included old intelligence hands such as David Kimche from the Mossad and *‘Fuad,’’ that
is, Brigadier General Binyamin Ben-Eliezer from the army, whose integrity was not in
doubt and whose judgment on previous experiences elsewhere appeared to have been
superb. Both Kimche and Ben-Eliezer advocated fostering the links primarily for practical
strategic reasons. But Kimche was also impressed by what he perceived to be a moral
imperative. ‘‘Bashir once said to me,’’ he recalled later, ‘‘Look, if I want to bring up my
children learning physics in French and not in Arabic, it’s my business, and I don’t want
others to dictate to me in what language they’ll study physics. And if I want to go to
church on Sunday morning and pray and keep my own holidays, it’s my own business, and
I don’t want somebody to dictate to me about that.”” Kimche was of course aware of
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Bashir’s brutality, but he had no problem reconciling this with the moral principle of
assistance to the supposedly persecuted Maronites. Asked about this by an American
journalist, he offered the following reply,

You are examining Bashir’s brutal conduct in accordance with Western values, and
we’re talking about a country in which factional strife has been the dominant
characteristic for the last 2,000 years. And this is something we’ve got to understand.
You’ve had massacres throughout their history. The attitude has been one of
massacres, of countermassacres, of bloodletting, of blood feuds. It’s something you
don’t like, and we don’t like, but this happens to be the reality of Lebanon. It’s a
violent country.'*?

What undoubtedly added weight to the advocacy of a strategic alliance with the LF
was the rapid escalation of the exchange with the PLO as described above. Vertical
escalation (in weapon systems) could not but be accompanied by horizontal escalation (in
terms of the arena of fighting). If in the course of this process Israel were suddenly to
reduce pressure on the PLO, the latter would gain a valuable breathing space in which to
improve its logistics, purchase and introduce new weapon systems, and, in short,
enhance its ability to resist Israel in the inevitable next round. Of course, the next round
would not be as inevitable if only Israel were to agree to deal with the PLO directly with
a view to creating a Palestinian state in the West Bank. But with this possibility ruled out
for security reasons by all (and for ideological reasons by some), Israel could logically do
only one thing: escalate (as it had done in the war of attrition along the Suez Canal nearly
a decade earlier) for the purpose of ultimately achieving a deescalation. Consequently,
sooner or later there would be no way of maintaining pressure on the PLO without hitting
its logistic and command centers in Beirut. Such an expansion of the arena of fight-
ing would ultimately make friction with Syria impossible to prevent. In turn an ally, a
secure beachhead, right on the flank of both the PLO and the Syrians would be
invaluable. And since Bashir Gemayel’s leadership suggested that such an alliance had
become feasible, it made sense to help him along. Indeed, precisely because his
hegemony in Maronistan had not yet been fully consolidated, Israeli help could prove to
be critical. Offered at the right moment and with sufficient largess it could tilt the
precarious balance inside the Christian community in his favor. He would gain the tools
for further strides; he would be able to prove to those who had doubted the wisdom of his
abrasive challenge to the Syrians that his was the right approach; and, as a result, he
would soon turn his potential for leadership into a real force. His gains in this respect
would be Israel’s gains too. Therefore, many Israeli officials argued, Israel should move
ahead and support him.!3*

While this was a rational argument it also entailed a gamble. Making Bashir Gemayel
more powerful vis-a-vis his rivals within the Chistian community and vis-a-vis the PLO
and the Syrians would also increase his ability to preempt his Israeli mentors. Bashir made
no secret of his ambition. He would not be satisfied with a policy of containment. What
he wanted was nothing less than the retreat of the Syrians from Lebanon, the expulsion,
or at least emasculation, of the PLO, and the subsequent recovery of Lebanese
independence. His Israeli allies would also have liked to see these things happen. But by
building up Bashir’s power‘they provided him with the tools to initiate actions against the
Syrians and the PLO at the time and place of his own choosing. He was never provided
with enough power to seriously take on the Syrians, but he was provided with sufficient
means to provoke the Syrians and then to proceed to call Israel to his rescue. Israel was
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thus gaining a mixed blessing, an ally whose dependence on Israel patronage could be
turned to his advantage and to Israel’s disadvantage.

Israeli policy makers, with their own wealth of experience in the role both of
dependent yet rather independent ally (vis-a-vis the United States) and of patron (vis-a-vis
Mullah Moustapha al Barazani Kurdish rebels in Iraq), were probably aware of this
complexity with its attendant risks. But they could rationalize that their freedom of action
was not being seriously impaired. Moreover, given the stakes, namely, the political and
military menace posed by the PLO and above all the formidable military menace posed by
Syria, the loss of some control over Gemayel could be and in fact was presented as a
reasonable price to pay for gaining a power base behind the lines of the Syrians and the
PLO. It seems that some Israeli policy makers in the summer of 1978 already acted on the
assumption that a major confrontation in Lebanon was a foregone conclusion. ‘‘How will
the U.S. react if Israel decides to act in Lebanon?’’ Foreign Minister Dayan asked an
American diplomat shortly before the Camp David negotiations.

It is not for us to ask you what would you do if Lebanon becomes part of Greater Syria,
with Soviet experts and Soviet missiles and we shall face a long Syrian front. And how
has it happened? Is it another Czechoslovakia? There was a war in Lebanon and
so-called Arab peacekeeping forces were introduced, and the next step will be the
conquest of Lebanon by Syria. It all happens either inadvertently or perhaps
deliberately on the eve of [the] Camp David [meeting]. The Christians in Lebanon
charge that because of the negotiations with the Egyptians we are throwing them to the
dogs, and the Syrians exploit it. I doubt whether we could tell them that we are going
to sit back and do nothing while the Syrians are taking over Lebanon, and that only
because we do not wish to jeopardize [the] Camp David [talks] we shall keep quiet.'3*

The fact that Dayan said these things to an American diplomat less than six months
after Operation Litani is highly suggestive. Whatever his views in the 1950s, by 1978 he
had lost all appetite for adventures in Lebanon. Indeed, he was essentially in favor of an
understanding with Syria. But it seems that he realized that Operation Litani had not
solved the problem and that Israel would have no alternative to a major strike in Lebanon.
Had he not become convinced of that, he would not have spoken about it with an
American envoy. And if he and his colleagues were inclined to view the problem in such
drastic terms, their fear of losing control over Gemayel and the Phalange must have
become secondary.

The Missile Crisis

Though Israeli-Phalange relations came under the title ‘‘alliance,’’ implying cooperative
rather than adversarial relations, they too, with their built-in tensions, ambiguities, and
complexities, reflected more than just a question of personal compatibility or lack of it.
All alliances are formed in response to the security dilemma but contain, in their internal
relations, a controlled form of a different response to the same predicament. Actors enter
into alliance in recognition of the inadequacy of self-reliance and not as a cherished end
in itself. Alliances are thus born of tension. Their business is conducted in tension
(euphemistically described as ‘‘discord’’ rather than as straightforward rivalry). And they
collapse as soon as one of the parties senses that the benefits of staying in are smaller than
the payoffs of coming back out into the harsh and cold world of self-reliance. But before
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this disintegration actually happens the allies are structurally locked in a controlled
competition the logic of which is the same as in Rousseau’s stag hunt. Every individual
member strives to maximize its gains and minimize its costs. A gain for one ally is always
a loss for one, or all, of the others. Therefore all are pushed, logically, into a game of
preemption against not only their adversaries but also their allies. This was true of
alliances in the Peloponnesian Peninsula during the fifth century B.C. and still holds true
of NATO, the single most successful alliance in world history. In this sense it was
inevitable that the tacit, tenuous, asymmetrical alliance between Israel and the Phalange
would be plagued intrinsically by a similar malaise, as it would have been no matter who
the leading personalities in the game had been.

The first occasion on which this ‘‘iron law’’ manifested itself in the emerging
Israeli-Maronite alliance was the missile crisis of April 1981. In December 1980 Begin
gave Bashir Gemayel assurances that if Maronistan were attacked by Syria’s air power,
Israel would provide an IAF umbrella over the former’s territory.!3® Begin was later to be
castigated for being irresponsibly led up the garden path by his deceptively endearing
young interlocuter. But it seems that the die had been cast by the sheer magnitude of
Israel’s support for the LF duing the preceding two years. With or without Begin’s
assurances, the very fact that Israel had so extensively helped the LF had created for Israel
a basic problem of credibility. If the LF were to be attacked by, or, for that matter, if they
were to launch an attack on, the Syrians, Israel would have to bail it out if it were unable
to hold its own. If Israel were to desist from doing so the Syrians, the LF, the PLO—the
entire Middle East—would be left wondering about Israel’s resolve. A failure to back up
the Christians in such a scenario would almost certainly herald challenges in the future
that Israel would be hard put to evade. Therefore Begin’s verbal assurances were little
more than icing on a cake that had already been baked.

Bashir Gemayel was, by all available accounts, as rash as he was ruthless. But this
alone does not account for his moves in March—April 1981. From his point of view
provoking the Syrians was the only method whereby he could engage Israel in a war that
might result in the expulsion of Syria from Lebanon. Otherwise, he feared, the Syrian
involvement in Lebanon would become permanent. This logic led him, toward the end of
March 1981, to send a party of eighty soldiers to the town of Zahle. The city itself
basically supported the LF, but it was surrounded by Syrian forces and it lay within a short
distance of the Syrian headquarters. The raiding party immediately opened fire on the
Syrian headquarters at Shtoura and on Syrian sentries guarding the Barouni River bridge
on the nearby Beirut-Damascus road.

Syria reacted instantly. A siege was laid on Zahle, and a Syrian detachment attacked
the LF position at a strategic point known as the ‘‘French Chamber’’ on top of nearby
Mount Senin. Worried about Israel’s reaction Assad reportedly sent a signal. His forces
began to dig placements for four Soviet-made surface to air (SAM-6) missile batteries.
Israel should have observed this and backed down from any involvement. If Israel were
to react the Syrians would move ahead and install the missiles, thus challenging the
stipulations of the April 1976 understanding. Advised of this by the intelligence chiefs,
the Israeli government was, reportedly, inclined to avoid any action in support of
Gemayel’s besieged contingents in Zahle and the French Chamber. But Chief of Staff
Eitan was nevertheless told to prepare the IAF for small-scale action. Eitan, however,
understood his brief differently; he ordered the IAF to move immediately, and two Syrian
transport helicopters were shot down. Syria responded by advancing SA-6, SA2-E, and
SA3 surface-to-air missiles into the emplacements inside Lebanon. Israel now faced a
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painful choice: should the missiles be knocked out and the escalation accelerated, or
should Israel allow Assad to emerge from the duel as the winner?

Begin was inclined to unleash the IAF against the Syrian missiles and, in fact,
authorized such an action on April 30. The IAF, however, was apparently opposed.
Destroying the four SAM batteries was feasible. But the mechanics of doing so could only
be used once with surprise. Therefore to waste the method of destroying the SAMs (the
development of which took nearly a decade of strenous work) on the elimination of some
ten sites in the heat of an isolated incident was simply irrational—such an action should
be spared for the event of a general war. Whether or not Begin was prepared to listen to
such arguments and bear their political cost, namely, humiliation at home on the eve of
elections and a serious loss of face abroad, is difficult to establish. One thing, however,
remains clear. The day after April 30 he announced that the attack would be deferred
owing to unfavorable weather conditions. Meanwhile, as a means of saving face, Begin
eagerly accepted an American offer that Ambassador Philip Habib, an old diplomatic
hand of Lebanese origin, should attempt to mediate in the dispute.

Syrian President Assad was inclined to interpret such a demonstration of Israeli
acquiescence as a sign of weakness. He would not agree to remove the missiles, and his
troops completed the conquest of the LF position on the crest of Mount Senin, from which
the bulk of Maronistan could easily be seen. The Habib mission was therefore a total
failure. If Begin had not already decided that a major war was inevitable, he must have
moved closer to such a conclusion after this brief but dramatic incident. The incident
revealed how complicated the situation in Lebanon had become with Syria in a
commanding position, the LF’s ability to drag Israel into complicated incidents enhanced,
but Israel’s freedom of action increasingly constrained. Sooner or later the LF would
succeed in setting in motion a chain of events that would lead Israel into war. Severing
ties with the LF in order to avoid such a trap was not considered for the reasons mentioned
above. But if that was the case, if a war increasingly beame inevitable, it would have been
better from the Israeli point of view to retain freedom of choice about when, where, and
how a war should begin.!?’

If cutting this Gordian knot was one reason to move toward a decision of war it was
reinforced by other factors too. Most important among them was the political menace as
a result of the international ascendance of the PLO. The Reagan administration had come
into power committed not to deal with the PLO unless it accepted UN Resolution 242 and
the existence of Israel and renounced terrorism. By April 1981, however, the question of
terrorism had quietly been dropped and ‘‘back-channel’” contacts between the United
States and the PLO had been resumed. Against the background of a pro-PLO upsurge of
unrest in the West Bank and a visible American interest in the issue, and despite the
knowledge that Secretary of State Haig, unlike some of his professional advisers, was not
averse to a blow to the PLO, the swiftness with which the United States under Reagan
returned to the orientation of the Carter administration was alarming to Israel. Increas-
ingly it appeared as if the United States was looking for ways of advancing Israeli-
Egyptian autonomy talks through a combination of indirect pressure on Israel to slow
down the settlement policy in the West Bank and a discrete wooing of the PLO and its
supporters on the West Bank, with the goal of breathing new life into the stalemated
autonomy negotiations. Against such a background, it became even more imperative for
Israel to continue the military pressure on the PLO in Lebanon as a means of ensuring its
inflexibility (and thus disqualifying it for any meaningful contact with the United States).
Indeed, if even the Reagan administration with its hard-line Cold War and pro-Israeli
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outlook could be so easily drawn into a tacit acceptance of some of the less palatable (from
the Israeli point of view) premises of Carter’s policy, the time might have come for a far
bolder move. The possibility of an all-out war which had been deferred for so long was
increasingly becoming the only viable option (except, of course, its complete opposite—
negotiations with the PLO).!*® ”

Immediately after the missile crisis Israel, or at least Prime Minister Begin, was not
yet ready for war. Begin for one was determined to avoid any action that might jeopardize
the peace process with Egypt.!*® The general elections lay ahead. Bashir Gemayel and the
Lebanese Forces might have needed more time for preparation. Above all, Begin had no
minister of defense. Since Ezer Weizman’s resignation over the issue of the defense
budget in May 1980, Begin had acted as his own minister of defense with Mordechai
Zippori as his deputy. In this state of affairs Chief of Staff Rafael Eitan was, in fact,
elevated to the role of Begin’s principal adviser on defense questions. Eitan was an
excellent field officer, but in Begin’s assessment he was not the type of military leader
who could lead the IDF in a full-scale war. Zippori, on the other hand, had increasingly
annoyed Begin with his criticism of the entire policy. Zippori had no consistent alternative
to offer. He was merely insisting on caution and greater prudence. In such views he was
often supported by Mossad Chief, Major General (ret.) Itzhak Hofi and by the Head of
Military Intelligence General Yehoshua Saguy. As a result Begin often faced a core of
opposition to his views within his own administration which was reminiscent of Ben
Gurion’s problem with Moshe Sharett on the eve of the 1956 Sinai Campaign. The
solution to this problem evidently lay in the reconstitution of the leadership on defense
matters following the elections of July 1981. Meanwhile holding the PLO at bay both
militarily and politically had to be sought through a policy of sustained pressure against
the PLO (in south Lebanon), coupled by continued support for the LF (in north Lebanon),
and accompanied by a massive settlement policy on the West Bank and by harsh measures
against the West Bank Arabs.

On May 28, 1981, Israel launched a massive air attack on the PLO in Lebanon. The
attack, which resembled the last stages of the Canal War more than a decade earlier, lasted
until June 3, causing a great deal of material damage as well as approximately 100
casualties. Concerned with denying Israel a pretext for a large-scale operation, the PLO
reacted gingerly but Arafat’s ability to hold back his troops in the face of such an attack
was limited. During the PNC meeting earlier in May the congress had produced a draft
resolution calling for Israel’s liquidation. According to one well-informed source, it *‘was
not a serious resolution. But it was a warning shot to Arafat from some Fateh leaders, the
leftists in particular, expressing their frustration with politics and compromise, which
were getting them nowhwere.”” Significantly, the leader of this challenge to Arafat’s
policies and position was the chairman’s right-hand man, Abu Iyad (Salah Khalaf) who
advocated a return to a ‘‘mix of terror with politics.’ 140

Given this weakening of Arafat’s position, in itself the result of Israel’s constant
military pressure, further escalation over the next two months became almost inevitable.
When Israel renewed the attack on July 10, the PLO returned fire in a wide front covering
Israel’s entire north from Nahariya to Kiryat Shemonah. The upshot was a war of attrition
of an unprecedented scale in this area. As thirty-three Israeli villages and towns were hit
by PLO fire, a massive flight of the population began. Within days Kiryat Shemonah
became virtually a ghost town. Many people fled other towns and villages in the area.
This was not what Begin had anticipated. His military advisers insisted that if only they
could keep the pressure on the PLQ for another few days, the organization would need a
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long time to recover. But Begin was so shocked by the flight of the population—a
nightmare that all his pedecesors had feared but none had ever to face—that he hastened
to embrace a U.S. offer that Ambassador Philip Habib negotiate the terms of a ceasefire
with “‘Lebanon’’ (in fact with the PLO).!4!

The guns on Israel’s northern border fell silent on July 24, 1981. Israel had suffered
yet another reversal in the intermittent battle with the PLO. Militarily the latter was beaten
very seriously, too, but it had succeeded in obtaining indirect recognition by both the
United States and Israel. Yet behind this facade it is clear that from Begin’s point of view
this was not an accommodative move. Indeed it seems that Begin had at last resolved to
lead up to a big war. Its purpose would be to destroy the PLO’s base in Lebanon altogether
and, at the same time, to undermine its political position. The long and painful process in
which Israel attempted to resolve both its military and its wider political problem with the
PLO through limited means ultimately led to a point where a basic choice had to be made.
Israel would either have to pursue a settlement with the PLO or to use all its power to deal
the PLO a massive blow.

The first of these alternatives was coherent and feasible. If only Israel agreed to deal
with the Palestinians on an equal basis a settlement could be worked out, or, alternatively,
the PLO would be broken apart and unambiguously exposed as an intrasigent entity with
which no serious negotiations could be conducted. The United States would support such
an accommodative Israeli move. Egypt would support it too. Jordan would not be able to
prevent it. The Arab oil powers would go along with it and so would Western Europe and
the Third World. But this was an alternative that few Israelis would countenance. The Labor
party was just as opposed to it as was the Likud. The latter articulated its view on the matter
in terms that laid a greater emphasis on an ideological rationale than on security consid-
erations. The former put the main emphasis on the strategic aspect. But both parties, as
well as most other political forces in Israel, started from a common basis: A Palestinian
state on the West Bank, with or without the PLO, would mean that another power would
be given freedom to deploy armed forces astride Israel’s heavily populated ‘‘waistline.”’

It is impossible to say with any certainty that a Palestinian state is bound to pose an
unacceptable menace to Israel. Theoretically the Palestinians, with or without the PLO,
could turn out to be very cooperative neighbors. But if Israel acts in accordance with the
logic of the security dilemma, it is just as likely as most nations in history to assume the
worst, namely, that giving the Palestinians such credit would entail an unacceptable risk.
This, in turn, rendered an Israeli decision to go to war in Lebanon some time in the 1980s
virtually inevitable. Unattracted by this prospect and, owing to their unusually rich ex-
perience, fully alive to all the difficulties this alternative could entail, successive Israeli
governments, including Begin’s, chose to put it off until alternative courses of action had
been tried. In a process closely resembling Israel’s experience from 1953 to 1956 and its
encounter with Egypt and Jordan from 1968 to 1970, the period from 1978 to 1981
demonstrated the incoherence of the middle ground between ‘‘accommodation’ and
‘‘assertion.”” The last straw was the mini-attrition of July 1981. If the population of Kiryat
Shemonah could no longer hold on, the implication was that the entire Jewish population
of the Galilee had become hostage to the PLO. To achieve that, the PLO did not have to
be omnipotent. As Begin and his colleagues knew full well, in conventional military terms
the PLO remained what it had always been: a ragtag militia of mediocre fighting ability
and a verbal courage that was not matched by a veritable esprit de corps. But all this
weakness did not affect its ability to hold Israel to ransom. From then on, every time an
attack was launched by the PLO or any of its numerous and quite unruly constituent
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organizations on Israelis at home, in the occupied territories, or for that matter, abroad,
Israel would be denied the ability to exact a price for this through punitive action.
Conversely, if the PLO were to ‘‘go political’’ and gradually renounce military action and
terrorism, it would increase the political menace (from the Israeli point of view) of a
Palestinian state. To escape this trap without running the risk that a political settlement with
the PLO would entail, Israel could do only one thing—go to war. In principle such a
decisicn could under certain circumstances rally a broadly based national consensus, but
the when, the how, and the what directly resulting from it would prove more divisive than
any previous Israeli decision of a comparable magnitude.'*?



War

Every unsuccessful war is bound to be associated in the public mind with the names of a
small number of villains, just as every successful war creates, almost as a matter of a law
of nature, its outstanding heroes. Moshe Dayan went down in history as the hero of the
1956 and 1967 wars and as the main culprit for the great surprise of 1973. Arik Sharon,
through a similar mechanism of oversimplification, was turned into the hero of the 1973
crossing of the Suez Canal and the outstanding culprit for the unsuccessful Lebanon War
in 1982.

The fertile ground in which such folksy interpretations of complex historical events
grow is people’s yearning for heroes and their equally burning desire to blame a calamity
on the head of one individual. Affection and pride require a personified object with which
people can identify. Humiliation, frustration, and pain require a personified object of hate
and recrimination. People cannot identify with faceless abstractions with the same
intensity with which they can identify with one familiar, easily recognized figure of flesh
and blood. Similarly people cannot really hate ideas except when they become associated
in their minds with a familiar face.

Such an inclination for what the French aptly call personification de pouvoir is, of
course, grounded in the reality of politics. Decisions are made by people operating within
hierarchical systems. There is thus always an identifiable leader at the apex of any
organization. And since the span of attention of the general public is limited, it tends to
willingly embrace single person interpretations. Moreover, the main vehicles of interpre-
tation of events as they occur are journalists who are either incapable of deeper
understanding, or professionally predisposed to save their readers the full complexity of
a picture and feed them colorful, personified, and therefore punchy shorthand interpre-
tations instead. This is the mechanism by which historical myths are born, and it is the
reappraisal of such myths that turns the study of history and politics into a fascinating
pursuit.

To state that in the story of Israel’s invasion of Lebanon, Arik Sharon and Menachem
Begin are the main villains has become trite. Such a view is a somewhat oversimplified
interpretation. If Sharon could lead his chief, Begin, his subordinates in the IDF, his
colleagues in the cabinet, his entire nation up the garden path it reflects more poorly on
them than on Sharon. There are few examples in history in which nations became so
spellbound by the magic of one person that they followed his orders blindly. Sharon had
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no spell over the Israelis and certainly not over his cabinet colleagues, the Labor
opposition, or the IDF. He was not particularly popular—when he ran for election on his
own, he received barely 40,000 votes. To move the enormous military machine that he
ordered into Lebanon he needed the acquiescence, if not the enthusiastic support, of a far
larger circle. The truth of the matter appears to be that he had this support, at least up to
a point. He had clearly transgressed the limits of his formal authority in an audacious and
brazen way for which he was made to pay later on. But there is more than a grain of truth
in his insistence that he was not acting alone. This, in a nutshell, is the main argument of
this chapter.

Begin’s War Cabinet

To contend that the problem Israel faced in Lebanon was becoming increasingly more
acute is not the same as to argue that ambitions, whims, ideological predispositions, and
the dynamics of policy making and domestic politics had no impact over the course of
events in the year leading up to the war of 1982. Israel’s dilemma was an objective
outcome of the conflict with the Arab world, the disintegration of Lebanon, the rise of the
PLO, and of course U.S. policy. Israeli response, however, was critically affected by
subjective factors such as ideological leanings, personal ambitions, and the response of
critical decision makers to the exigencies of domestic politics. As the concept of security
dilemma would predict, in the final analysis precipitative action and assertion is more
likely to be preferred than cooperation and accommodation. But when, where, and in
what form this action would occur cannot but be affected by a variety of subjective
variables.

The pertinence of this general rule to the Israeli encounter with the problem of
Lebanon became increasingly conspicuous during the year prior to the invasion of 1982.
The Likud virtual victory in the general elections of June 1981 enabled Menachem Begin
to form something amounting to a war coalition. Gone were Weizman, Yadin, and
Dayan, the experienced pragmatists who had nudged Begin toward peace with Egypt on
the basis of a West Bank autonomy and a complete withdrawal from the Sinai. Their
place in the inner circle of government was taken by tough-minded hawks (including
opponents of the peace with Egypt) such as Itzhak Shamir, Moshe Arens, Yoram Aridor,
and, of course, Ariel Sharon. In fact Begin had replaced the hard core of cautious
pragmatists by a group of tougher, less experienced ministers. If it came to a decision to
launch a war he would be able to count, in addition to the three individuals just
mentioned, on Chief of Staff Rafael Eitan. He would still need to overcome the doubts of
experienced ministers such as National Religious Party (NRP) leader Joseph Burg, as
well as those of Mordechai Zippori, Chaim Berman, and Simha Ehrlich. On top of that,
Arens had just been appointed Ambassador to the United States and would therefore be
absent from the scene of deliberation. But with the exception of Zippori, a retired
Brigadier General with vast military experience, all the other ‘‘doves’’ were incapable of
holding their own against Begin's formidable personal authority. Moreover, Begin could
also count on notorious compromisers such as Moshe Nissim and Gideon Pat as well as
on other ‘‘hawks’’ such as Itzhak Moda’i, all from the Liberal party component of his
Likud alignment. ‘

Having more or less decided to lead the country to war, Begin overcame his initial
reservations about Sharon and proceeded to appoint him Minister of Defense. Previously
he had reportedly said that if Sharon were given this post he would surround the Knesset
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with tanks and stage a coup d’éat." Whether Begin had actually said this is a moot point;
what seems clear is that under routine circumstances he would entertain grave misgivings
about allowing Sharon access to the ministry of defense. Conversely, the fact that he
resolved to appoint Sharon to this position, reinforces the impression that Begin was
consciously headed for war.

Not having had any military experience, Begin was a complete dilettante when it
came to matters martial. In the words of Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, Begin ‘‘showed
little interest in what was happening in the security establishment and when his interest
was aroused it was almost always in connection to trivia.”” On one occasion he reacted
with great excitement when the chief of staff ordered soldiers to wear their berets on their
heads rather than on their shoulders. ‘‘My talk with him on this issue,”” Weizman recalled
sadly, ‘‘was longer than our talk concerning the acquisition for the IAF of F-16 jets.”’2 He
venerated the display of power in an old-fashioned romantic and grandiloquent way,
mistakenly emphasizing matters of appearance and utterly lacking any realistic under-
standing of strategy. ‘‘He lacks,’” said the former head of the Mossad, ‘‘the ability, the
background or the experience to grasp the significance of military matters and since there
[was] . . . not a person on his staff who . . . [was] capable of receiving processed military
data,”’® Sharon must have appeared to him as the greatest master of generalship. He
evidently never studied in detail any of Sharon’s more notorious blunders. Above all,
although he must have been aware of Sharon’s track record of grand disobedience and
lack of collegiality, Begin probably believed he would be able to ride this tiger on the road
to decisive victory.*

The risk which Begin was taking in appointing Sharon can only be fully appreciated
by reviewing Sharon’s career at some length. Born Ariel Scheinerman in 1928, he
graduated from the Geulah High School in Tel Aviv in 1945 and at once joined the
Hagana underground. During the next three years he completed the Hagana squad
commanders’ course and trained others for a while, then served in the British-sponsored
Jewish Settlement Police, and subsequently, with the outbreak of the 1948 war, joined the
‘“Hish’” (acronym for Field Corps) as squad commander. Rising within a short while to
the rank of a platoon commander he was severely wounded in the critical battle of
Latroun, a controversial campaign in which Israeli losses were heavy and their mission
was not accomplished. According to one informed source, Sharon subsequently devel-
oped many of his own ideas about the conduct of war in the light of this trauma.’

After recovering from his injuries, he was appointed company commander and then
batallion intelligence officer during the battles of the Faluja ‘‘pocket’” in which, again, the
IDF repeatedly failed to subdue a small contingent of besieged Egyptians (including
Gamal Abdul Nasser). From 1949 to 1951 Sharon commanded a reconnaisance company
of an infantry brigade and then passed a course for batallion commanders. In 1952 he
became chief of intelligence in the IDF Central Command and was then moved to the IDF
Northern Command. where he served under Moshe Dayan in a similar capacity. Dayan
was unusually impressed with Sharon for the first time when he asked him to cross the
border and abduct a number of enemy soldiers for the purpose of exchanging them
subsequently for Israelis held by the other side. Asked whether he could do it, Sharon
replied promptly in the affirmative and carried out the order within a matter of hours.®

Toward the end of 1952 Sharon was sent by the IDF to study for a Bachelor’s degree
in history and Middle Eastern studies at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem. Before long,
however, he was requested by Colonel Mishal Shaham, commanding officer of the
Jerusalem district, to carry out a special operation; a small-scale reprisal against an Arab
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village northwest of Jerusalem on the (then) Jordanian side of the border. Sharon had a
free hand to pick his men from among his friends and acquaintances on an ad hoc basis.
He organized the task force within a day or two and then carried out the operation. It was
a failure.

Nevertheless, the determination, style, and resourcefulness Sharon showed in
organizing the raid impressed his superiors sufficiently to ask him to establish a special
secret unit for reprisal raids. The new unit, which came to be known as Detachment 101,
was relieved of the usual requirements of uniform and organization, and its very existence
was a closely guarded secret for several months. Although organized in a hurry,
Detachment 101 was ready for action within weeks. It then set out to perform, often
several times a week, deep penetration night raids against Jordan Legion soldiers and
Palestinian civilians in the Jordanian-held West Bank. The purpose of these raids was to
create the greatest degree of confusion and terror in that area in order to persuade the
Jordanian authorities and the Palestinian population that it was not in their interest to
participate in, or offer support for, raids on the Israeli communities across the border.”

Initially Sharon performed the task superbly. Indeed, to the great satisfaction of his
superiors, Detachment 101 quickly became a standard setter for the IDF as a whole in
terms of its professional performance. Yet by October 1953 Sharon had overplayed his
hand for the first (but not the last) time and thereby defeated the main purpose he had been
called upon to advance. On October 12, 1953, a party of Palestinian fedayeen
(commandos) attacked the Israeli village of Yahud, ten miles east of Tel Aviv. A woman
and two of her children were killed. The IDF was ordered to carry out a reprisal raid.
Sharon, who was soon to merge Detachment 101 with the IDF’s regular paratroop
batallion and to become the new unit’s commanding officer, was told by Chief of Staff
Dayan to attack the Palestinian village of Qibyeh, on the West Bank. The operation was
to be carried out by Detachment 101, with some support from the paratroopers.

Sharon and his soldiers returned in the early morning of October 15, having taken the
lives of more than fifty men, women, and children. Israel was condemned by world
opinion. The United Nations accused it of perpetrating another Deir Yassin (a notorious
massacre during the 1948 war). Acting Prime Minister Sharett was outraged. Ben Gurion
and Dayan criticized the ‘‘excess’” but did not officially blame the IDF or reprimand
Sharon.® At the same time the minister of defense and the chief of staff had become
resolved to hasten the dismantling of Detachment 101. From then on the emphasis in
reprisal operations would be on military targets only.

Dayan’s main lesson from the incident was that it would have a salutary impact on
the performance of the IDF. ‘‘Instead of units returning, as in the past, and offering excuses
why they had not done what was expected of them,’’ he noted, *‘the paratroopers had to
explain after every operation why they have done more than was expected of them.’’® Soon
afterward, however, even Dayan would shudder at yet another typical Sharon excess. On
the night of December 10, 1955, Sharon was ordered to launch an attack on Syrian forces
on the northeast coast of the Sea of Galilee. The Syrians had in the previous months opened
fire on Israeli boats on the lake, and Ben Gurion, in his capacity as acting prime minister,
acting foreign minister, and defense minister (Prime Minister and Foreign Minister Sharett
was in the United States), decided to inflict upon them a deterrent punishment. Shortly
before the operation Sharon had requested permission to attack two additional Syrian
positions in the same area. Since he did not request more men or weapons, Ben Gurion,
who was informed of the request by Dayan, thought that the requested additional task could
not be carried out in any case. Hence he authorized it. Sharon’s units launched the attack
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successfully. But instead of killing a small though unspecified number of Syrians—as was
his expressed intention—they killed close to fifty.

This time even Ben Gurion was angry and reprimanded the chief of staff for being
“‘too successful.”’ Dayan commented wryly that if he had been asked how many would
be killed he would not have answered. *‘I know,”’ he added, ‘‘that Arik’s quota in
operations such as this is measured in scores. He has never finished with less than
scores.”’10

Often, however, the ‘‘scores’’ of casualties in Sharon’s operations included a
frightful number of his own soldiers. The most celebrated such case was Sharon’s blunder
at the Mitlah pass during the 1956 Sinai campaign. By this time Sharon had risen to the
rank of paratroop brigade commander. One battalion from his brigade under (then)
Lieutenant Colonel Rafael Eitan was ordered to jump west of the strategic Mitlah pass.
Shortly before the landing, however, an Egyptian encampment of tents was spotted close
to the jumping site. Hence Eitan’s battalion was ordered to jump east of the pass instead.
The rest of the brigade under Sharon’s own command was ordered to make its way from
the Israel border to the pass. The task of the entire force was to prevent the Egyptians from
sending reinforcements or from fleeing. To carry out this assignment Sharon had no need
to send his own troops through the narrow pass, but nevertheless he requested permission
to send in a reconnaissance patrol.

Chief of Staff Dayan had a keen appreciation of a commander’s need to make
on-the-spot decisions and to take the initiative, so he granted Sharon the requested
permission. But instead of sending a patrol Sharon sent a large task force consisting of two
paratrooper companies mounted on Armored Personnel Carriers (APCs), one tank
platoon, the entire brigade reconnaissance company on trucks, as well as a battery of
heavy mortars. The force did not know that five Egyptian companies were hiding in the
caves overlooking the pass. Therefore in something amounting to suicidal carelessness, it
entered the pass in single file, one vehicle after the other. The result was a pitched battle
in which Sharon’s paras killed 150 Egyptians, but lost 38 and wounded 120 of their own
for no good reason and contrary to explicit orders.

Dayan later marveled at the fighting spirit of the paras. But he was outraged at the
fact that he ‘‘failed,”’ as he put it, ‘‘to establish relations of confidence and trust’’ with
this unit.!! This understated critique of Sharon was made more explicit by Ben Gurion,
who reportedly noted in his diary that *‘if only Sharon could abandon his habit of not
telling the truth and if only he could avoid gossip he would have been an exemplary
military leader.’’'? But if Dayan and Ben Gurion were still prepared to overlook Sharon’s
aberrations, the latter’s immediate subordinates in the paratroop corps thought otherwise.
After the disaster in the Mitlah, three of them, Eitan (later to serve as chief of staff under
Sharon), Hofi (head of the Mossad during the war in Lebanon), and Gur (chief of staff
from 1974 to 1978), refused to serve under Sharon’s command. When this quiet rebellion
grew as the kibbutz movement, many of whose boys had been killed in the Mitlah,
demanded that Sharon be relieved of his command, the IDF General Staff yielded. Sharon
was sent to study in Britain and was subsequently relegated to relatively marginal
positions under two consecutive chiefs of staff (Laskov and Tzur, 1957-63).'3

This prolonged punishment must have greatly increased Sharon’s pent-up bitterness
toward his colleagues and evident determination to demonstrate his genius and indispens-
ability. If that was the case—and it is difficult to establish—the opportunity to do so was
offered to him by Itzhak Rabin. Rabin was appointed chief of staff of the IDF in January
1964. Shortly before taking office he had a talk with Ben Gurion, who was due to retire
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within days of the talk. One of the things Ben Gurion told him related to Sharon. “‘You
know,’’ he said, ‘‘that I have a special attitude to Sharon. I view him as one of the best
soldiers and as one of the most ferocious fighters we have. If only he could speak the truth
it would help his prospects for promotion. I beg you not to treat him as he has been treated
in the past.”” Ben Gurion ‘‘did not speak in detail,”” Rabin recalled, ‘‘but this is the way
I understood his words: Dayan, Laskov and Tzur had not promoted . . . [Sharon] since
Operation Kadesh [the 1956 war], therefore I assumed that Ben Gurion requested that I
should consider the possibility of promoting [him].”"!*

Rabin proceeded to unfreeze Sharon’s promotion, appointing him chief of staff of
Northern Command. In this capacity, Sharon commanded many of the fiercest clashes
between Israel and Syria during 1964-65. He was then promoted to the rank of Major
General and became, simultaneously, chief of the general staff training wing and
commanding officer of an armored division.'3

By all accounts his performance in the 1967 war was brilliant. His division was in
charge of the central sector in the Sinai theater with two divisions on his flanks. He
planned and carried out a complex, highly successful combined operation of armor,
airborne infantry, artillery, and infantry and succeeded in three days in breaking through
heavily defended Egyptian positions and carrying out a large-scale tank battle in which the
Egyptians lost heavily. Riding the wave of this well-earned esteem, he then aspired to the
position of chief of staff of the IDF. But this was not to be. It took two years before he
was given charge of the IDF Southern Command, and during these years his relations with
most of his colleagues were strained and complicated. The overt reason was Sharon’s
critique of the very notion of the static Bar Lev line along the Suez Canal. Although
retrospectively Sharon’s critique proved to have been correct (he advocated either
allowing Egypt to reopen the Suez Canal or an IDF reliance on a mobile concept of
defense), it seems that much of the strained relationships with his associates was of a
personal nature. Sharon, in Weizman’s words, was an ‘‘outsider’’ since, not having
served in the Palmach elite before 1948, he could not easily fit in the company of ‘‘Chaim
Bar Lev, Itzhak Rabin, David Elazar, Shaike Gavish and other Palmach veterans.’’ He
was therefore rejected by the Havura (the Hebrew word for *‘intimate group’’) and often
berated it and its military acumen.!®

As OC Southern Command Sharon attempted to implement unilaterally his own
ideas for deployment along the Suez Canal. Simultaneously he also proposed a method for
dealing with Palestinian terrorism in the Gaza Strip. Having at last extracted permission
to act, he moved with characteristic gusto, ruthlessness, and determination. Massive
arrests took place. Bulldozers were brought to the scene and ordered to open wide avenues
right in the heart of the Palestinian refugee camps. There were casualties. There was a
great deal of public criticism. But the plan worked and, since then (1970), the Gaza Strip
has been the most peaceful part of the occupied territories.!”

The next controversy surrounding Arik Sharon involved a devious and unsavory
crossing of the lines between military and political domains. Early in 1969 Sharon ap-
proached Menachem Begin (then a minister without portfolio in Meir’s National Unity
Government) and the leaders of the Liberal faction in Begin’s GAHAL parliamentary bloc
and sounded them out on the possibility of giving him a ministerial position if he were to
retire from the I.D.F.. Begin, for many years a pariah in Israeli politics, showed interest
not only because of Sharon’s fame (and putative electoral appeal) but also because the very
idea that a retired general would join GAHAL (an acronym for Herut-Liberal bloc) and not
(as had been the case until then) the Labor party was enticing for the GAHAL leadership.
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Sharon, however, did not mean business. He reportedly made sure that the Labor
leadership would learn about his contacts with the GAHAL, figuring that this would force
them to hasten his promotion inside the army. The result was as he had hoped. He
received the position of OC Southern Command, and, in a note to Pinhas Sapir, Minister
of Finance and the real king maker in the Labor party, he indicated that a meeting with
Begin a few days earlier had convinced him that ‘‘under no circumstances’’ should he g0
into politics *‘in the status of a dependent’” on Begin.!®

Famous last words. When he realized that he would never be appointed chief of staff,
Sharon accepted the inevitability of retirement from the IDF and renewed his contacts
with Begin’s liberal allies. This was on the eve of the 1973 general elections, at a moment
when he could still guarantee a safe seat for himself in the seventh Knesset. But Sharon
had no intention of becoming a new backbencher. In fact he sought nothing less than the
creation of a new parliamentary bloc capable of forming a government. He turned to the
liberals because he could more easily use them as a basis for an improved bargaining
position vis-a-vis Begin. Remarkable as this scheme was, he did succeed in turning the
loose Herut-Liberal block (GAHAL) into a new party, the Likud, which in the December
1973 elections won thirty-nine seats (compared with the declining Labor’s fifty-seven)
and after the May 1977 elections succeeded in forming—for the first time in Israel’s
history—a cabinet with no Labor representation. This was indeed a spectacular feat for
which Sharon fully deserves the credit.'

The 1973 war caught Sharon and his associates in the emerging Likud in the middle
of this entire maneuver, just as it caught Israel in the midst of a stormy election campaign.
The results, in terms of the conduct of the war and in terms of Sharon’s fortunes, were
very significant. Having quit the IDF shortly before the war, Sharon had missed a golden
opportunity to be OC Southern Command at one of that command’s most critical
moments. Instead he was merely a reserve division commander under a former
subordinate, General Shmuel Gonen, who was both his junior and a far less capable
officer.

This gave rise to a most unhealthy situation. The war began with a complete surprise
as the scant Israeli force along the Suez Canal failed to abort an Egyptian crossing. Gonen
appeared to be confused and not entirely in control. Sharon’s neighbor on his northern
flank was General Adan, a typical member of the Havura which Sharon detested and held
in low esteem. In addition Adan had been a supporter of the defense concept which was
adumbrated by Bar Lev and had been vehemently challenged by Sharon. Above all,
Sharon was no longer a regular officer with aspirations for promotion and consequently
had a minimum of respect for his colleagues and superiors. He was already a politician of
national stature and had merely reentered the army as a reserve officer.

Against such a background a near-collapse of the chain of command, a communication
jam, and serious repercussions for the conduct of battle were virtually foregone conclu-
sions. Sharon disregarded his immediate superior, Gonen, and even the orders of the chief
of staff and the cabinet. He would approach Dayan, the Minister of Defense, whenever
he disagreed with his immediate superiors. He conducted the war in the presence
of a large entourage of favorable journalists and constantly issued statements to the press.
He conducted his own war with a minimum of coordination with others, thus contributing
to the catastrophic failure of the counterattack on October 8, 1973. In Dayan’s words,
‘‘relations between Arik on the one hand and the Southern Command and the Chief of
Staff on the other hand were utterly lacking in mutual trust and reached an intolerable
nadir.”’?° Nevertheless, in terms of the public image, the responsibility for this state of
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affairs was blamed on others while the rewards for the successful Israeli counterattack and
the crossing of the Suez Canal on October 15 were attributed disproportionately to
Sharon. Ultimately his contribution to the war was less impressive than it had been in
1967. But in the public eye, or at least with some segments of the bewildered public, he
emerged as ‘‘Arik, King of Israel.”"?!

Even before the dust raised by this tumultuous affair had-settled down, Sharon was
back in politics completing the formation of the Likud and electioneering for the Knesset.
Needless to say, just as he mixed politics with the strategy of the war, so did he mix the
causes and the conduct of the war with electoral politics. The extent to which his personal
performance contributed to the Likud gains in the elections of December 1973 is difficult
to measure, but it seems plausible that the earthquake of the Yom Kippur War added a
gread deal of weight to the shift of the electorate toward greater support than ever before
for the rightist Likud, of which Sharon was the undisputed godfather.

Nonetheless, Labor was still the dominant party and it formed the next government.
Sharon had therefore no choice but to adjust to his new role as a member of the Knesset’s
main opposition. Evidently this was hardly enough for a man with such a drive for power.
It was thus fortunate from his point of view that Rabin, his old patron in the IDF and the
new Prime Minister, invited him to be his national security adviser. Sharon quit his
parliamentary seat and once again seemingly crossed the lines. But not quite—Rabin’s
offer gave Sharon a ringing title but the power that went with the position was negligible.
Frustrated, Sharon tried to convince Rabin to dissolve the cabinet, to run for election at
the head of a personal, nonpartisan list, and to form a national ‘‘redemption’’ govern-
ment. The list he proposed of members of this technocratic government primarily included
retired army officers such as himself.??

Rabin rejected the idea. Sharon’s frustration therefore led him to search for new
avenues to advance his career. While still advising Rabin he gradually drifted toward a
vociferous support of Gush Emunim, the Bloc of the Faithful, a religious-nationalist
movement advocating the immediate annexation of the West Bank. If this was not quite
consonant with his position as a civil servant (as Rabin’s adviser), it helped build his
reputation as a forceful advocate of Greater Israel. Soon this reputation would become
valuable. For in the spring of 1977 Israel was prepraring for new elections. Having
antagonized both Begin’s Herut and his own Liberal party colleagues, Sharon urgently
needed a constituency of his own in order to ensure his return to the Knesset. He therefore
formed an ad hoc party, Shlomtzion (‘‘the Peace of Zion’’) and concocted a program with
a clear appeal for frustrated Sephardis with a nationalist bent. When the votes were
counted, Shlomzion had gained only 2 seats (out of 120).

This was hardly impressive, but it suited Sharon’s needs. The elections created a
“‘turnover’’ (Mahapach in Hebrew). For the first time the Likud would be close to a
majority, especially if the newly formed Democratic Movement for Change (DMC),
which had gained most of its seats from the Labor constituency, were to join the Likud
in the formation of a cabinet. In such a constellation Sharon’s two seats were priceless.
He at once entered into negotiations with the Likud, formed an alliance with them, and
secured for himself a ministerial position in Begin’s first cabinet.

This, however, was not quite enough. For one thing it remained an insecure position
because of Sharon’s narréwly based constituency. Second, Sharon evidently set his eyes
on the ministry of defense and ultimately on the prime ministership. He needed a more solid
political base, and the ministry of agriculture gave him the leverage with which to develop
it. To be sure, although of *‘peasant stock,’” as Weizman described him,?* and the owner
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of one of Israel’s very few large private farms, Sharon does not seem to have had any
intention of focusing on agriculture as such, since this would not earn him the electoral
and party base he needed. Rather, he used his ministerial post for the purpose of gaining
chairmanship of the cabinet’s committee on settlements. For the next four years he nearly
neglected ordinary agriculture. The flow of all his enormous energy was diverted toward
one goal: building as many settlements in the West Bank as he could, even half-empty and
nearly phantom ones, as a means of qualifying for membership in the inner circle of Likud
leadership. In this plan he was very successful. As was noted by well-informed observers,
when ‘after the 1981 elections, he gave up the agriculture portfolio for that of defense,
he left behind him a significant monument: 103 settlements, most of them established
during his tenure, with plans for some 60 more to be established in the 1980s.’'2*

This, one suspects, had little to do with Sharon’s real ideological convictions. His
entire career, the audacity with which he changed his allegiances, and the brazen manner
in which he interpreted orders, suggests that the overarching principle governing his
actions was an unideologic drive to the top. The settlement program was thus a means to
an end rather than an end in itself. It helped his drive for a solid following inside the Likud
which in turn earned him in 1981 the defense portfolio. Indeed, as minister of agriculture
he advised Begin during the Camp David negotiations to return the whole of Sinai to
Egypt. The implication was that a vast settlement effort in northern Sinai that Sharon
himself had been instrumental in building would have to be dismantled.?> And
subsequently, as minister of defense, Sharon presided over, in fact managed, this
demolition enterprise.

If Sharon had succeeded in swaying the policies of cabinets headed by powerful
leaders such as Ben Gurion and Golda Meir, his impact on decision making in Begin’s
cabinet was virtually overbearing. This stemmed primarily from the combination of
Begin’s unquestioned authority over his colleagues on the one hand and his fundamental
weakness in the face of Sharon on the other hand. To his colleagues the prime minister
was a venerable ‘‘civilian commander.”” He would ‘‘listen to them with immense
patience. But in the end he would leave no doubt: the decision remains what it has been
from the very beginning.’” They would ‘‘obey him blindly and hardly dare challenge him
. . . one penetrating look by Begin would be sufficient to silence any island of resistance.
He focuses his eyes, wrinkles his forehead and says nothing. [But] No interpretation is
necessary. At first they [the ministers] waver. But when it comes to a vote they all look
at Begin and vote with him.” 2%

Faced by Sharon, however, the same man became a weak and muddle-headed
admirer. ‘‘Begin has a special attitude to military people. This is seven times more so in
the case of Sharon. Arik’s grandmother was the midwife who delivered Begin in Brisk
[Poland]. Sharon’s grandfather, Mordechai Scheinerman, was the closest friend of Dov
Zeev Begin, the Prime Minister’s father. They were the first Zionists in Brisk. They broke
together into the synagogue in order to hold there a memorial service to Herzl.”>” Moved
by such sentiments and convinced of Sharon’s military genius, Begin was ill equipped,
perhaps even ill disposed, to act as a critical superior. Unlike Ben Gurion who three
decades earlier had been faced with a comparable problem as a result of his colleagues’
relative weakness and his chief of staff’s (Dayan’s) magnetic personality, Begin did not
have the technical expertise, the mental concentration, the patience for detail, or, indeed,
the strategic wisdom to control Sharon.

The minister of defense could thus manipulate the Prime Minister while relying on
him to lead other ministers blindly in the path of Sharon’s choosing. Such an unhealthy
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scenario would have beset Israel with grave problems even without the occurrence of a
major war. But against the background of a preparation for war, not to speak of its actual
waging and the complex issue of its termination, the dangerous disruption of the balance
within Begin’s cabinet ultimately led to a national tragedy.

The original sin, so to speak, was not the decision.to go to war. For reasons
mentioned earlier the Israeli political elite, including much of the Labor opposition, had
by 1982 come close to accepting the notion that the situation along Israel’s northern
border, and, beyond it, the political trend seemingly leading to American pressure on
Israel to accept a Palestinian state, combined to make a large-scale military operation an
acceptable proposition and perhaps even an urgent imperative. Rather, the original sin
was the government’s failure to build sufficient consensus around a clear set of objectives.
When Ben Gurion had faced the decision to launch war against Egypt late in 1955, he too
had difficulties in generating concensus. The proposition of a war in the uninhabited Sinai
desert was in some respects far simpler than the proposition of a war in populous
Lebanon. Ben Gurion’s personal status among his cabinet colleagues and in the nation at
large was higher than either Sharon’s or even Begin’s. Ben Gurion was fully aware of his
unusual status. Nevertheless he was prepared to countenance the possibility that a great
deal of valuable time would be lost in a search for a consensus on the objectives of the
war. Ultimately, he resolved to force Sharett out of power, replace him with Golda Meir,
and then renew the preparations for war. Sharon and Begin had watched Ben Gurion
maneuvering during 1955-56 but apparently failed to grasp the lesson fully. They faced
opposition to their definition of the war’s objectives from a cabinet that was far less
capable of opposing them than Ben Gurion’s cabinet had been in 1955-1956. But they
failed abysmally in their method of overcoming this opposition and thus doomed the
enterprise from the outset.

The Calculus of Invasion

Israel went to war in Lebanon on the basis of two parallel and almost contradicting
concepts. The first was Begin’s. The second was Sharon’s. Begin’s concept was simple.
He envisaged an IDF drive throughout the area under PLO control which would bring the
collapse of the PLO state within a state in Lebanon. He did not plan a peace treaty with
Lebanon or the replacement of President Sarkis by Bashir Gemayel or, above all, a war
with Syria. The Syrian forces in the Bega’a Valley, he thought, would have to be
circumvented from the West and then offered a tacit understanding through the good
offices of the U.S. special envoy Habib. Such an understanding would leave Syrian forces
in place but they would remove the PLO forces within their area out of range from the
Galilee. The whole maneuver, Begin thought, would take two to three days, cost a small
number of casualties, and result in a quick withdrawal of the IDF followed by the
deployment of a multinational force in the areas to be vacated.

Sharon, however, seems to have had a far more ambitious plan in mind. It started
from the following strategic-political assumptions. First, to halt its rise to political
respectability, the PLO-would have to be dealt a blow from which it would not recover
for years. To achieve this the PLO would have to be denied an independent territorial
base. It would have to lose its command center, its depots, and its organizational hold
over the Palestinian population in the refugee camps of Lebanon. Ideally it should not
only lose its independent infrastructure but also come under the tight control of Syria.
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This would not necessarily destroy Palestinian nationalism but it would weaken
substantially the burgeoning PLO establishment, deny it any real autonomy, make it
perhaps verbally more extreme but politically and militarily far less potent. If it were ever
to succeed in rising again—after a long period in which Israel would have had a
much-needed political and psychological breathing space—it might direct its attention to
Jordan, in Sharon’s perception a Palestinian state under a Hashemite establishment. If
that were to happen the Hashemite and the PLO establishments would be locked in a
conflict from which Israel would only gain. Meanwhile a blow to the PLO in Lebanon
would lead West Bank leaders to accept the autonomy scheme agreed upon between
Israel and Egypt at Camp David.?®

Second, if dealing a major blow to the PLO as a political force was the raison d’étre
of the entire operation, it would require the occupation of the western part of Lebanon all
the way to Beirut. A more limited attack, a sort of a larger Operation Litani, would not
achieve such a purpose and might even backfire altogether. If the IDF were to occupy the
area between the Israeli border and, say, the Zaharani River, the political mainstay of the
PLO, the PLO’s organizational, logistic, and cultural centers in Beirut would remain
intact. Thus, although its military force might suffer somewhat, politically it would
remain as potent as ever. Indeed, a limited operation would be construed in PLO
propaganda as a defeat for Israel. The mighty Zionist forces, the PLO might argue (as it
had done after the Karameh Operation of March 1969 and after Operation Litani in March
1978), had been held at bay by the forces of the Palestinian revolution a long distance
from the latter’s citadel despite the enormous disparity in military strength. If that were to
happen the PLO’s case as a politically viable force would merely be enhanced by a limited
operation. Therefore a massive drive to Beirut was the only alternative.

Third, if the PLO were driven out of Lebanon, a large power vacuum would be
created in most of the areas it had occupied. If Israel wished to avoid a protracted
occupation of this area by the IDF, with all the domestic and international repercussions
this would entail, some other political authority would have to be found for these areas.
The same reasons that impelled Rabin to reject the idea of allowing the Syrians into this
area made Sharon and his advisers rule out this notion too. Nor did UNIFIL qualify.
Israel’s experience with this body had been very troublesome. It was not an effective
custodian of stability, yet Israel’s continual problems with it caused a great deal of
embarrassment. By the same token it was undesirable to have another form of
international force, such as, for example, the (mainly American) Multinational Force, in
the Sinai. Israel certainly did not wish to develop friction with the U.S. government such
as had been experienced with the governments that had sent troops to UNIFIL. Who,
then, could solve the problem? The answer was simple enough: Bashir Gemayel and the
Lebanese Front in conjunction with Saad Haddad’s militia. Bashir had visibly grown into
the unchallenged leader of the Front, which in itself had expanded to become Lebanon’s
single most important political and military factor. He could be helped into the presidency
of Lebanon and thereby be legitimized. If the PLO were ousted, the internal balance in
Lebanon would tilt again in favor of the Christians. The Sunnis, the Druzes, and the
Shi’ites would have no choice but to fit into this scheme of things. True, Bashir Gemayal
represented a minority, but the same was true of Hafez al Assad, a member of the Alawite
minority who had ruled Syria ruthlessly and effectively since 1970. Bashir had shown
strong signs of being potentially just as effective (and just as ruthless) as Assad. With
Israel on his side he would not be expected to have greater difficulties in ruling Lebanon
than Assad had faced in ruling Syria. Finally, dependent on Israel as he would inevitably
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be, Bashir himself would have no alternative but to embrace Haddad. The latter’s domain
would be expanded up to the Zaharani River. And since he would owe his position to
Israel, the Jewish state would retain an important instrument of vicarious control over the
south of Lebanon even after the departure of the IDF from Lebanese territory.

Fourth, the plan would fail to obtain its objectives if the Syrian forces were not
driven out of Lebanon, especially out of the vicinity of Beirut. These forces were spread
in different areas, including Jezin on the Shouf Mountains and the Beqa’a Valley from
south of the Qar’oun Lake all the way to the north, Tripoli and the Zogharta area, and,
or course, Beirut. This form of deployment made it impossible to deal with the PLO
without tackling the Syrians. It also enabled Syria to exert a critical degree of influence
over Lebanon’s internal politics, starting from the appointment of presidents all the way
to local police matters.

To put an end to this state of affairs the Syrian forces in Lebanon would have to be
threatened so effectively that they would withdraw on their own volition or engage the
IDF, thus offering the latter an opportunity to administer to them a humiliating military
defeat. But if this took place, the war might get out of hand. Under pressure the Syrians
might be tempted to open a second front on the Golan. If Israel defeated them they might
call on the Soviets for help. If the Soviets became involved the United States might find
it impossible to remain a bystander. Again, Sharon and his aides had an answer to all of
this and, again, it was logical. To reduce the temptation for Syria to open a second front
in the Golan, Israel would have to deploy a massive force of its own there. This would
have the additional advantage of pinning to this theater a large part of the Syrian army for
the purpose of counterdeterrence against an Israeli attempt to relieve pressure in Lebanon
through a second front on the Golan. The Syrian force in Lebanon would thus be
substantially contained. It would be too small and too vulnerable to prevent the IDF from
pushing it out of most of Lebanon. Indeed, if the various arms of the Syrian force in
different parts of Lebanon were cut off from their center in the Beqa’a, Israel’s task would
be further eased.

As for the Soviets, the assumption was that they would never dream of involving
themselves in Lebanon on behalf of the PLO. Moreover, if the deterrence gambit on the
Golan succeeded, the IDF would not have to attack objectives within Syria itself. Under
such circumstances the Soviets would most probably avoid any real action. They would
help the Syrians in the United Nations and they would provide arms, but, unless and until
fighting took place on Syrian territory, the risk of Soviet involvement seemed remote.

Consequently there would be no need for extensive American involvement either.
The Reagan administration might go through the motions of calling on all sides,
somewhat righteously, to stop shooting and start talking, but it would not be displeased
at all to see the PLO beaten, the Syrians contained, and Lebanon restored to a more
cohesive form. There was, of course, a need to prevent a total surprise to the United States
when hostilities began. Normally, Israel would never let the United States know in
advance either its objectives or its operational planning. But to avoid U.S. interference
this principle should be compromised. Secretary Haig was sympathetic enough to be
employed as an instrument to prepare the administration, somewhat ambiguously, for
what was coming and, at the same time, to extract something amounting to a green light
for action. It made no difference if he were not truly representative of his administration’s
position. As far as Israel was concerned he was the Secretary of State of the United States
and therefore a representative and a legitimate spokesman for all his colleagues and for his
president. If he inadvertently committed his government to something it basically
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opposed, he might be called to task by his superior but his words would nevertheless be
upheld.

Fifth, IDF casualties would be kept to a bare minimum. Begin, Sharon, and their
lieutenants were painfully aware of the impact that the large number of casualties suffered
in the Yom Kippur War had had over Israel’s posture and over the domestic position of
Labor. Begin, and subsequently others, in fact quoted the concern to limit the number of
Israeli casualties as one of the most important reasons for launching the war out of choice
and for not leaving the initiative to the adversaries. Personally, Sharon may have been less
sensitive on this question than the prime minister. Having been wounded in battle, having
seen numerous friends and subordinates lose their lives on the battlefield, having lost his
own son in an accident involving a shotgun, Sharon’s views on the matter of casualties
may have become entirely instrumental. Heavy casualties would undercut the buoyant
feeling of victory he was hoping for. They would also be cited by the PLO after the war
in order to minimize their defeat. Therefore they had to be avoided, but this was not an
easy task, to be sure. Much of the war was bound to take place in built-up areas. The war
against the Syrians could also be costly because of the terrain. Lebanon’s mountains,
narrow valleys and numerous ravines gave the defender a built-in advantage, as Israel had
learned from its own experience in the Golan in 1973. The terrain offered natural
platforms for tank and antitank ambushes. The attacking force would not be able to spread
out on a wide field or to maximize Israel’s advantage in the combination of movement and
fire. Sharon’s staff’s answer to this problem was as simple as it was brutal: artillery,
masses of artillery, a heavy emphasis on air support, even at the cost of heavy civilian
casualties among the Palestinians and the Lebanese.

But in order to be able to bring air power into full expression Israel needed clear
skies. The Syrian air force would therefore have to be neutralized if and when it attempted
to intervene. In addition, the old score with the SAM batteries that the Syrians had
brought into Lebanon following the Zahle—-Mount Senin incident would have to be settled.
The IAF had, since 1973, developed an efficient method of knocking out the SAMs. In
April 1981, these techniques were spared for a full-scale war. A war in Lebanon such as
was being planned could be the occasion to employ these methods if the Syrians
intervened.

Sixth, a dramatic blow to Syria with or without a military confrontation would also
serve a larger purpose. Following Sadat’s peace initiative Egypt had been neutralized
from any effective influence over the Arab world. Syria’s position, by contrast, had been
elevated to that of a virtual pivot. Its military power had never been greater and, according
to an internal IDF evaluation late in 1981, might by 1984 provide Syria with the capacity
to initiate a devastating war, at least for limited goals. Syria’s regime was stable. Its
subversive power throughout the Middle East was beyond dispute. Its close alliance with
the Soviets was on terms that were more favorable from the Syrian than from the Soviet
point of view. In addition, Syria benefited from a geographic proximity and accessibility
to all centers of the Arab world which Egypt had never enjoyed because Israel established
a barrier between Egypt and the rest of the Arabs on the former’s only land connection to
the Fertile Crescent. Given all these factors Syria’s status in 1982 peaked. Indeed, Iraq’s
war with Iran gave Syria another crucial uplift.

As a result Syria had become something of a dead weight on the Israeli-Egyptian
peace process. Having only gained from its intransigent international and regional
posture, Syria had no real incentive to permit Sadat’s peace initiative to expand. For if it
were to expand Syria itself would become increasingly isolated and might ultimately have
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to bow again to Egyptian hegemony. Consequently, Syria would do anything to threaten
other Arab players against joining the peace process. In turn, the peace process that had
given Israel so much by way of security (as a result of Egypt’s departure from the Arab
war coalition) would be constantly threatened. If others did not join it, the process would
remain limited, cold, insecure, fragile, unless Israel agreed to seek a political settlement
with the PLO. But for the reasons already mentioned this was-deemed unacceptable, and
therefore the peace process could only be buttressed by containing Syria. A swift and
decisive Israeli victory in Lebanon, Sharon and his associates hoped, would do precisely
this. All the more so if the planned war were to be followed by the conclusion of an
Israeli-Lebanese peace agreement.

Seventh and, of course, intimately connected with all the other assumptions, was the
possible effect of such a victory over Israel’s spirit and its regional and international
status. The 1973 war, Sharon firmly believed, had done Israel incalculable damage not
because of its military consequences—which amounted to a great success in his point of
view—but because of the harm it had inflicted on Israel’s morale, self-image, and
international status. Instinctively inclined to believe in Dayan’s theory, promulgated in
1957, that Israel should assume the image of a ‘‘detonator’” or a ‘‘biting beast,””
convinced that Israeli deterrence would be effective only if it were based on a recurrently
demonstrated ability to inflict deadly blows on the adversary, Sharon felt that Israel
needed a resounding victory in order to redress the psychological balance of incentives
and perceptions between Arabs and Israelis, a balance without which the Arabs would
always have a built-in urge for further trials of strength.?’

Eighth, the mini-attrition of July 1981 had driven the PLO into a frenzied search for
weapons, a substantial reorganization, and an ambitious attempt to ‘‘dig in’’ before the
next round. Owing to a polite but rather persistent refusal by the Soviets to supply them
with arms, the various PLO constituent organizations turned to some of the Soviets’
clients in Eastern Europe, as well as to North Korea and to Swiss and Brazilian
manufacturers. By the end of 1981 the PLO had put together three infantry brigades
(Karameh, Yarmouk, and Kastel), several artillery and support units, a fledgling network
of workshops to service them, some 200 pieces of artillery, and the beginning of a small
tank force based on old T-34 tanks.

Some time before the Israeli invasion the PLO held for the first time a full-dress
conventional military exercise at brigade level. Held near Kafr Yanta in the Beqa’a
Valley, the exercise featured four battalions from the Yarmouk brigade. Their objective
was to storm a fortified ‘‘Israeli’’ position including an artillery barrage and a concerted
mechanized breakthrough into the objective.*® ‘

This transformation of the PLO into a semiconventional military force played straight
into the hands of the IDF, which found it far more difficult to deal with a guerrilla PLO
than with a poorly trained and poorly equipped conventional PLO. At the same time, if
allowed longer respite, the PLO in this new form could present the IDF with greater
difficulties. In other words, if the assumption was that sooner or later a major war would
have to be fought, the sooner it was launched the easier it would be for Israel to defeat the
PLO and suffer only a small number of casualties.?!

Ninth, a critical question arose about how to deal with Beirut. Involving the IDF in
fighting inside the Lebanese capital had two drawbacks. Politically, this would be the first
time Israel would invade an Arab capital. The result could be a great pressure by Arab
governments on the United States, leading to an American attempt to stop Israel before the
operation was completed. Militarily, the prospect of fighting in the streets and alleys of
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Beirut was hightly unattractive. Indeed, the IDF experience in the city of Suez on the last
day of the 1973 war had shown that such fighting could take a heavy Israeli toll. Yet
Beirut had to be rid of the PLO, or else the entire operation would fail to achieve its main
purpose.

Sharon’s answer to this dilemma was that Bashir Gemayal and the Phalange should
take on the PLO in West Beirut with IDF artillery cover from the city’s outskirts. But
since there were indications that the Phalange might prove either unwilling or unable to
play this role, Sharon was even prepared to consider a headlong Israeli thrust into West
Beirut regardless of the cost. This strategy, the minister of defense knew very well, was
bound to be costly and hence controversial. But, confident that it would succeed and
convinced that it was a linchpin of the entire operation, he remained adamant about it.32

Finally, a number of considerations critically affected the choice of time for carrying
out the operation. Menachem Begin and most of his colleagues, not to mention the United
States, would be opposed to, indeed outraged by, a massive Israeli war effort before the
completion of Israel’s withdrawal from the Sinai under the terms of the March 1979 peace
treaty with Egypt. This withdrawal had to be completed by April 26, 1982. Until then a
war in Lebanon might constitute such a provocation for the Egyptians that the peace
process might be totally disrupted. Sharon himself did not object to testing Egypt’s
resolve to pursue the peace process at a time when Israel could still use it as an excuse for
retaining the most critical parts of the Sinai. But Begin’s commitment to the peace process
with Egypt was so uncompromising that it alone ruled out any action before April 26,
1982.33

At the same time, the operation could not be deferred for too long after this date.
Lebanon’s terrain and climate render warfare there in the course of the winter a practical
impossibility. Snowfall and rainfall are heavy. Many passes in the mountains are blocked.
There are serious problems in preventing troops from suffering the effects of low
temperature. The war would have to take place in the summer. And since Sharon expected
the IDF to stay in Lebanon from six weeks to three months, the war would have to be
launched not later than the middle of June.>*

Moreover, presidential elections were due to take place in Lebanon some time in
August 1982. The Syrians were trying to replace Sarkis with Suleiman Franjiyeh, their
virtual vassal from Zogharta and Bashir Gemayel’s avowed enemy. If Israel wished to
make Bashir president of Lebanon—a linchpin of the entire plan—the IDF would have to
be in the vicinity of Beirut in time for the elections.>> Added to this critical personal
factor, Sharon may have been worried about Haig’s position in Washington. Sharon’s
plan was based on a partial co-optation of the United States, through the subtle
manipulation of Haig. Given the latter’s constant problems with the White House, his
removal from office could have been imminent. It was essential to make a move before
that happened.

Last, but not least, several developments in the summer and fall of 1981 may have
heightened Israel’s anxieties concerning the PLO. Specifically, it was feared that the PLO
would, in addition to observing the ceasefire agreement of July 26, 1981, also engage in
a real dialogue with the Reagan administration. Back in April 1977 the PLO had published
a peace plan calling for Israel’s withdrawal from the occupied territories and for the
establishment of a mini-Palestinian state on the West Bank. The plan failed to obtain
adequate support. Fearing that Israel would soon launch an offensive in Lebanon, the PLO
sought during July—August 1981 to convince the Saudi government to promote a similar
plan. The Saudis agreed, and the result was an eight-point plan bearing King Fahd’s
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name. To Israel’s dismay the Reagan adminsistration showed a guarded interest in the
Saudi idea. Ultimately the Fahd plan was aborted by ‘Syria, which boycotted the Fez Arab
summit conference of November 25, 1981, in which the plan was to be discussed and
approved. Yet, from the Israeli point of view the writing was on the wall. One or two
more attempts like the Fahd Plan could conceivably lead to an American conviction that
the PLO had become an acceptable partner for negotiations.>®

Such considerations led to a critical emphasis in the initial planning on three classical
principles of warfare: surprise, concentration of force, and an overall search for an
indirect approach. Surprise was essential in order to throw the PLO and the Syrians off
balance. If the PLO could be caught by surprise, casualties in street fighting could be kept
to a minimum. If the Syrians were surprised, they would not have an opportunity to pour
in reinforements or to focus their attention on Israel’s main thrust. This again would mean
maximization of advantage in terms of space and minimization of Israeli casualties.

The overwhelming concentration of force would simply reinforce these same
advantages. Israel had always operated on the assumption that a local superiority in
critical areas was an essential ingredient of success. In all previous wars the IDF had
suffered from an overall inferiority in numbers. This, however, was offset in all wars
except those of 1948 and 1973 by the IDF’s success in detecting important points to apply
pressure which, in most cases, was based on a local superiority. This time Sharon was
planning a deluxe war by IDF standards. It would be based, simultaneously, on overall
superiority and local superiority in every theater of importance. If that could be achieved
the pace of the entire campaign would be hastened appreciably. It would also save Israeli
lives either through quick decision in battle or, as Sharon may have hoped, through the
extraction of surrenders without fight by vastly outnumbered and outgunned PLO and
Syrian forces.

Bridging the chronic Israeli gap between overall and local correlation of forces was
also important for the purpose of applying pressure simultaneously on the maximum
number of points throughout Lebanon south of the Beirut-Damascus road. By natural
inclination Sharon had a penchant for complex, ingeniously orchestrated battles. From
this point of view the battle of Umm Katef in the Sinai, during the 1967 war, is perhaps
the best example. It was a critical battle in terms of the larger plan of the war. It involved
a variety of forces transported by helicopter, APC, tank, and on foot. It was based on fine
tuning. It involved both day and night fighting and, because of its complexity, if one facet
went wrong, the whole gambit would collapse.?’

This was typical Ariel Sharon planning. From battles such as this and the crossing of
the Suez Canal in the 1973 war, he had derived his reputation and his exuberant
self-confidence. And he was going to perform his greatest battle ever, he hoped, in
Lebanon. Of course, beyond sheer vanity this approach was an integral part of his whole
design. He wanted to cut off the Syrian force in Beirut from the Syrian force in the Beqa’a
Valley. He also wished to prevent a safe retreat of the PLO, before the advancing IDF,
from the south of Lebanon to Beirut. Such a pedestrian strategy had been employed in
Operation Litani. The results had been poor and Sharon thought, correctly, that the IDF
was capable of a far more imaginative performance. Forces should, according to his
thinking, move into Lebanon from virtually all directions simultaneously. A large
armored force should enter.from Israel’s border and make its way north in two main
thrusts supported by a number of smaller thrusts. Two main landings should take place
from the sea, one somewhere near Sidon and one in Junieh and/or Beirut. Additional
forces should land by helicopter on critical points along the Beirut-Damascus road, such
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as the Dahar al Baidar pass. An advance party of, for example, paratroopers should land
in the first night of the operation in the vicinity of Jezin, on the Shouf Mountains, and
another party should attempt to make its way at the very beginning of the fighting straight
into the heart of PLO-controlled West Beirut.

The Decision to Go to War

If Sharon had his way with his cabinet colleagues, this would have been the overall picture
of what came to be known as Operation Peace for the Galilee. A plan along these lines
had in fact existed in the IDF under the codename Operation Pines.?® But—and here lies
the very crux of the entire fiasco—not only were there important differences of opinion
between the prime minister and the minister of defense but they had never been authorized
to carry out such a plan. Sharon had set out to sidestep his colleagues and extract consent
from them for an operation that would begin with more limited objectives (*‘Little Pines’’)
and end with the implementation of the bulk of the larger plan (which soon acquired the
title “°‘Big Pines’”). The result was not only resentment, demoralization, and division, but
also a significant perversion of the very specifics of the military operation.

With Begin’s full support, during a special cabinet meeting at the prime minister’s
residence, Sharon presented his war plan to his bewildered colleagues on December 20,
1981. To the surprise and dismay of Begin, Sharon, and Eitan, the majority of the cabinet
rejected the idea almost out of hand. What was particularly frustrating, perhaps, was the
fact that no member of the cabinet really questioned the desirability of achieving the
plan’s objectives. The opposition to the plan instead focused exclusively on its operational
aspects. Accepting the need to deal a blow to the PLO, Begin’s colleagues were simply
apprehensive about the human, economic, and diplomatic cost Big Pines seemed certain
to demand.*’

Confronted with this unexpected obstacle Begin adjourned the meeting without taking
a vote.*° But he remained convinced that a large-scale war was called for. A few days after
the December 20 meeting there was an explosion on a Greek ship headed for Haifa.
Investigations concerning the incident led to the conclusion that the cause was a mechanical
failure in the ship. Yet before this was clarified Begin suspected a PLO sabotage operation.
He therefore summoned Sharon, Chief of Staff Rafael Eitan, and Chief of Military
Intelligence Yehoshua Saguy and commanded them to proceed with the preparation for a
major military operation against the PLO. Having been advised subsequently of the real
cause of the incident, the prime minister recoiled from the intention to launch the war in
the immediate future.*! But evidently neither he nor Sharon abandoned the plan altogether;
rather, the lesson they apparently drew from the abortive attempt to prevail upon their
recalcitrant colleagues was that to obtain support for a full-scale war, the PLO would have
to be provoked into a large-scale bombardment of the Galilee along the lines of the July
1981 mini-attrition. In the event the cabinet would find it difficult to oppose a massive
retaliation against PLO positions in Beirut. In turn the PLO would have no choice but to
increase its fire, and the Israeli cabinet would no longer dare to resist a request by the prime
minister and minister of defense for a large-scale operation.**

The first opportunity to set in motion such a chain reaction seemed to present itself
on January 28, 1982, when a party of six PLO combatants crossed into the Israeli-held
West Bank near Mechola, a settlement in the Jordan Valley. The party was intercepted
and three of its members were killed. Sharon at once met with the prime minister and
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obtained his support for a request from the cabinet to launch an IAF strike against PLO
installations in Beirut. Once again, the cabinet provéd to be evasive. Rather than authorize
a strike against the PLO which could conceivably act as a trigger leading to war, Begin’s
colleagues, headed by his close friend Deputy Prime Minister Ehrlich, proposed that
Chief of Military Intelligence Saguy be sent to Washington to brief the Reagan admin-
istration of the alleged increase in PLO activity.*? -

Sharon was inclined to believe that in the face of cabinet opposition, Begin’s
determination to launch the war was declining,** but it was the cabinet’s resistance that
in reality began to decrease. When Saguy returned from Washington two weeks later, his
report to the cabinet provided an opportunity for yet another discussion of the planned
invasion. By now it seemed that most ministers were already prepared to authorize an
operation that would be larger than Litani but smaller than Big Pines.

The arguments some leading ministers employed were of two types. The first was that
PLO terrorism could not be prevented by a military operation. The second was that Israel
should avoid a clash with Syria. In themselves both arguments were quite logical. Yet, in
the final analysis, the implication was not that the military operation should be limited but
that it should not be launched at all. This was the view of Deputy Prime Minister Ehrlich.
But, argued Sharon, while not doing anything would play into the hands of the PLO, the
proposition of a limited operation was quite untenable. A limited operation would not
destroy the political infrastructure of the PLO in Beirut; it would leave Syria in control of
Lebanon; it would amount to the foresaking of the Lebanese Front; and it would involve
Israel in a protracted occupation of the south of Lebanon. Hence, argued Sharon, the most
logical alternative was to launch Big Pines. The argument failed, to persuade the cabinet
however, and one more meeting ended inconclusively.*’

During March 1982 Sharon, presumably with Begin’s support, made two further
abortive attempts to extract permission from the cabinet to launch a large-scale
operation.*® Though frustrated, Sharon and Begin did not give up. On April 3, 1982, an
Israeli diplomat was shot in Paris. The incident created such a shock in Israel that Begin
and Sharon were apparently persuaded to believe that this time their colleagues would
support them. On this assumption Begin proceeded (on April 6) to brief the leaders of the
Labor opposition on the planned invasion. Although the latter expressed reservations that
were not dissimilar to those of Begin’s cabinet colleagues, the prime minister proceeded
(on April 11) to request cabinet approval for massive IAF retaliation. Despite the
seriousness of the provocation, no less than five ministers still opposed action. None-
theless, at last there was majority support for an action that might create an adequate
pretext for launching the invasion.

This time, however, it was the PLO’s turn to frustrate the emerging Israeli design for
a major showdown. In the spring of 1982 Arafat became convinced that the United States
was conspiring with some Arab states to destroy the PLO. Arafat (not surprisingly)
conceived that the United States was signaling to some conservative Arab regimes that if
they allowed Israel to detroy the PLO in Lebanon, the Reagan Administration would
subsequently apply pressure on Israel to force an Arab-Israeli settlement without the PLO.
Arafat was also advised by one prominent Arab leader that in the event of an Israeli attack
the PLO would be on its own, since the tacit consensus in the Arab world was that the
PLO had become an obstaclé to peace in the region. In addition Arafat also suspected that
Syria was trying to employ Ahmed Jibril’s organization to provoke an Israeli attack on the
PLO, leading to its demise.

Whether these suspicions were well founded is a moot point. What counts is the fact
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that they influenced Arafat’s policy. He was absolutely determined to avoid any action
leading to the confrontation Israel seemed to want. At the same time, while capable of
preventing fire against Israel, he would not, according to one of his aides, stop a battle
altogether once it began. Indeed, the pressure of some of his field commanders to return
to military operations had become difficult to contain since 1979.

The results of this situation in terms of the PLO response to Israeli actions during
April-May 1982 could be clearly seen. The Israeli cabinet decision of April 11 led to a
large-scale air raid on West Beirut. Yet the PLO did not react at all. Consequently another
raid was ordered (without specific cabinet approval) on May 9. This time the PLO did
respond with sporadic shelling of the Galilee. But this was hardly enough to justify an
invasion such as Sharon and Begin had in mind.*’

Frustrated and, owing to the approaching presidential elections in Lebanon,
convinced that time was running out, the Israeli prime minister and his minister of
defense decided to change their tactics. Since the cabinet’s opposition to a limited
operation had been gradually (though by no means entirely) eroded, they could perhaps
request its permission for a limited operation. From Begin’s point of view this might
have been a genuine resignation to a more limited enterprise. Sharon, however, seems to
have resolved to abandon persuasion and turn to unauthorized action. Convinced, for the
reasons mentioned, that time was running out, that a limited operation would be quite
inadequate, and that Big Pines was a feasible maneuver, he drew the conclusion that a
smaller operation could be launched for a start and subsequently expanded step by step.

With this in mind Sharon and Begin convened the cabinet on May 10 and succeeded
at last in obtaining permission for a watered-down version of Big Pines. However, seven
of the eighteen ministers present, including Begin’s powerful deputy prime ministers,
Ehrlich and Levi, still raised their hands against the plan. Hence Begin concluded that
there was insufficient support for the operation and, once again, declined to order the
IDF to move.*® By this stage it must have become clear to the supporters of the operation
that adequate cabinet approval would only be forthcoming if the scope of the invasion
were limited further. The result was the preparation of a two-phased plan: the first would
entail a twenty-five mile incursion, and the second, which would not be initially
implemented, would attempt to avoid confrontation with Syria, leading to the intro-
duction of a vaguely defined multinational force into the area from which the PLO was to
be ejected. This was clearly the least coherent of all the available alternatives. While
proposing to disrupt the ceasefire of July 1981, it would not address itself to the
perceived political menace posed by the PLO. It could not guarantee that a multinational
force could really be obtained. And, accordingly, it would be little more than an
expanded replay of Operation Litani.

Nevertheless, Sharon and Begin were prepared to accept this alternative for two
principal reasons. First, such an operation, good or bad, could obtain cabinet approval.
Second, at least from Sharon’s point of view, it could create opportunities for a piecemeal
expansion of the incursion until most of the objectives of Big Pines were ultimately
achieved. The latter possibility was anticipated by at least one minister, who may have
learned that the IDF’s planning continued to be based on the assumption that it would
penetrate Lebanon all the way to the outskirts of Beirut.*® But, unwilling to play the odd
man out, this cabinet member moved toward support for the new and seemingly more
limited version of the original plan.

On June 3, 1982, there was an attempt to assassinate the Israeli Ambassador to the
United Kingdom, Shlomo Argov. Mossad sources indicated that this was a provocation
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against Yasser Arafat and the Fareh by more radical elements, such as the Abu Nidal
group. Begin, however, was not in the mood to pay attention to such a small detail. He
ordered the IAF to launch a massive attack against the PLO centers in Beirut. With Yasser
Arafat away, in Saudi Arabia, the PLO supporters of a reprisal against the Israeli attack
won the upper hand. The Galilee was therefore shelled heavily by PLO artillery. The
long-awaited pretext for launching the invasion became available. Moreover, barely a
week before these events the U.S. government, or at least Secretary of State Haig, had at
last said in public a number of things that came close to constituting a ‘‘green light’’ for
Israeli action. ““The time has come,’’ the secretary said during a speech in Chicago, ‘‘to
take concrete action in support of both Lebanon’s territorial integrity within its
internationally recognized borders and a strong central government capable of promoting
a free, open, democratic and traditionally pluralistic society.’’” Prompted by the outrage of
Argov’s injury, emboldened by the words of Haig, and impatient to see the Lebanese/PLO
issue at last dealt with, Begin convened the cabinet and offered it Little Pines, (a
twenty-five mile incursion). The cabinet approved the plan by fourteen votes to two and
within two days the IDF, including many reserve personnel, was ordered to cross into
Lebanon.>°

Politics, Strategy, and the Decision to Expand the War

The decision on June 5, 1982, to approve the limited invasion was followed by a sequence
of decisions, extracted from the cabinet by Sharon with Begin’s support, which ultimately
saw the IDF carrying out more or less what Begin’s colleagues had previously objected
to—namely, a head-on collision with Syria and the seizure of parts of the Lebanese
capital. What made this possible was principally the combination of two factors. First, as
in the process leading up to the June 5 decision, Begin’s cabinet ministers became typical
victims of what Irving Janis aptly described as ‘‘groupthink.’’3! Second, the strategic
logic of Sharon’s advocacy of going all the way or not going at all into Lebanon was
sounder than the logic of carrying out Little Pines, a halfway measure the sole virtue of
which was that it generated cabinet consensus.

““‘Groupthink™ is a scholarly euphemism for conformity. Rather than deciding on
the merit of a case, members of a decision unit yield to the emerging majority view.
What counts is not the explicit item on the agenda but the hidden agenda of every
participant and his or her own expected payoffs as a member of the group. The result is
a group consensus but often an illogical decision. Groupthink is particularly likely when
a decision is deliberated under stress by a decision group consisting of weak and
mediocre members. And with one notable exception—Energy Minister Itzhak Berman,
who chose to resign rather than conform—these were the most typical traits of most of
the war cabinet members who opposed the invasion.

The two most conspicuous examples were Deputy Prime Minister Simha Ehrlich and
Minister of Communications (Brigadier General ret.) Mordechai Zippori. Ehrlich had
opposed all along the very idea of an invasion of any kind. Nevertheless, in public he lent
his support to the idea of war in the strongest possible terms. In a radio interview a few
weeks before the war, he stated:

The ceasefire with the PLO is likely to break down any day. What happens today is
intolerable. We have reliable information that this is the PLO, and that the latest
incidents are not the exception but the result of a carefully planned operation designed
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to hurt Israel and Israelis everywhere. In my view they have crossed the ‘‘red lines.”’
We have no doubt that the head and the hands which performed the assassination of
the Israeli diplomat in Paris are those of the PLO, even if another organization claims
the responsibility. From the outset it was obvious to us that the ceasefire on the
northern border is a temporary situation. Sooner or later the PLO will attempt to break
out with all its force and we will have no choice but to suppress and uproot it. Since
the ceasefire of 24 July 1981 the PLO has been preparing to resume its activity. The
digging of shelters, the underground paths, the bunkers, the enormous purchase of
tanks, artillery and other weapons, have all been designed for one purpose—the
renewal of the war against Israel. Sooner or later this is bound to explode. Israel cannot
stand idle in the face of this. There is bound to be a moment in which Israel will have
to act and with all the means.>>

Given this glaring contrast between what he said in public and what he said in cabinet
deliberations throughout the period from December 1981 to June 1982, it is not at all
surprising that when it came to the crunch on June 5, Ehrlich performed pitifully. He
thought ‘‘that he was voting against the decision to go to war but he found out that he was
listed in the minutes as having abstained. . . . Begin asked the Ministers ‘who was in
favor’ and 14 raised their hands. He then asked who abstained and I was so tense that
inadvertently I raised my hand.’’>?

During the discussion preceding the vote Ehrlich suspiciously inquired ‘*What about
Beirut?’’ apparently assuming, on the basis of a long and unhappy acquaintance with
Sharon, that the latter would not settle for Little Pines. When in the course of the war
these suspicions proved to have been well founded, Ehrlich nevertheless joined his
colleagues in authorizing almost every step. All this distressed him deeply, but instead of
following his own judgement he apparently sought consolation in a series of nocturnal
téte-a-tétes with U.S. Ambassador Sam Lewis. According to one report the main topic
was how to remove Sharon from office!*

Mordechai (Motke) Zippori’s record was equally pathetic. If Ehrlich knew
Sharon’s methods thoroughly because of their short-lived (and troublesome) political
partnership,>> Zippori knew Sharon and understood the battlefield implications of what
was happening very well, owing to his long military career. Throughout the protracted
debate on whether to launch the war, Zippori was the ‘‘sharpest opponent of military
action.”’>® Nevertheless, by June 1982 his opposition had been eroded and the notion of
a twenty-five-mile incursion had become, in his own words, ‘‘acceptable.’’>” At the same
time he continued to insist that use of the IAF and artillery bombings should be limited.
““The concentration of forces and air force bombing,”” he warned, ‘‘create a snowball
leading to war. It is a race toward general war, the results of which no one can predict.
In Operation Litani we also suffered many casualties. An incursion into Lebanon will not
be simple and in the end we will have to return to where we came from.’’>® With such a
combination of strongly held conviction and a clairvoyant perception of what was afoot,
Zippori should have been prepared to resign as a means of stopping Sharon. But he did
not. In fact he continued to oppose Sharon yet subsequently allowed him to do what he
saw fit throughout the eventful months of June—September 1982.

What arguably eroded the resistance of Ehrlich, Zippori, and other ministers who
shared their premonitions was the fact that they did not challenge Sharon’s definition of
Israel’s political objectives vis-a-vis the PLO and Syria, and that, at the same time, Sharon’s
argument for an all-out war was more logical operationally than their arguments for a more
limited incursion. For the reasons mentioned earlier, the contention that PLO moderation
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and great success in maintaining the ceasefire of July 1981 could stimulate further the
tendency of the United States to bring the PLO into the peace process was very powerful.
To some Israeli ‘‘doves’” this did not seem to be an unthinkable proposition. But none of
Sharon’s colleagues in Begin’s cabinet shared this view. Indeed, to different degrees they
all regarded it as a serious menace. Holding such a view, they had to admit that a limited
operation such as the one they had grudgingly agreed to would not really address the
problem. In fact an expanded Operation Litani could even backfire and hasten the drift of
the United States toward acceptance of the PLO.

The implication was, clearly, that the PLO had to be substantially reduced in stature
which could only be achieved, if indeed at all, through the eviction from Lebanon of its
political headquarters and military arm. Moreover, in order to prevent its return to
Lebanon, in order to save Israel the need for an extended occupation of parts of that
country, it was essential to ease the Syrian grip over the Lebanese political scene and to
install Bashir’s Lebanese Front as Lebanon’s government. This, again, could not be
achieved through a limited incursion in the south, which would undoubtedly prompt Syria
to tighten its control, both politically and militarily over the central and northern parts of
the country.

Furthermore, a strong case for expanding the operation could also be made on
military-tactical grounds. The Syrian forces in the Beqa’a Valley reached close enough to
the Israeli border to provide the PLO with a sanctuary from which the Galilee ‘‘finger’’
could be effectively shelled. As if to serve notice of that, there was some PLO shelling
of Kiryat Shemonah while the war was already in progress. Hence, to launch a limited
incursion into south Lebanon without even denying the PLO their sanctuary within firing
distance of Israel was untenable.>’

Moreover, to ease the Syrians out of their positions in the south of the Beqa’a, the
IDF could do one of two things: either engage the Syrian forces head on or establish itself
on the Syrians’ western flank in a position that would threaten the Syrians with
semi-encirclement. In either case knocking out the Syrian SAM batteries which had been
introduced in the course of the Zahle-Mount Senin incident of April 1981 would be a
critical prerequisite. General Amir Drori (OC Northern Command), who was to lead the
operation, assumed this (and more) all along.®® And it was precisely because he
acknowledged this strategic logic that Zippori, for one, initially objected to any military
operation. By the same token, once he had given his support to a limited incursion his
ability to counter Sharon’s arguments for expanding the fighting had been severely
hampered. And if Zippori with his vast combat experience could not seriously challenge
Sharon’s arguments for expanding the operation in the course of the war, his colleagues
who had no military background certainly could not.

In a deeper sense the opponents of the war in Begin’s cabinet were locked in a classic
no-win situation. ‘‘Statesmen,’’ one of the foremost military historians of our time has
correctly observed, ‘‘are normally expected to provide for the security of their commu-
nities, and those who in the past have failed to do so have not earned the gratitude of
posterity.”"®! Their acute awareness of this leads statesmen in the final analysis to respond
assertively to the security dilemma. In this sense the preference order of Begin’s
colleagues was to prevent a.Palestinian/PLO state on the West Bank without war if they
could but through war if they had no alternative. In this sense, too, their preference order
was to provide security for the Galilee without war if they could but through war if there
was no other way. Such a perception of priorities rapidly eroded their resistance te
Begin’s and Sharon’s war advocacy during 1981-82. Apprehensive of the implications
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and far less prone to take risks than Begin and Sharon, they tried to limit the war. But
since their argument for /imiting (as distinct from avoiding) the war rested on shaky
logical foundations, they were ill equipped to stand up to Sharon whenever he confronted
them with further requests to enlarge the war. Only two logical alternatives presented
themselves: to accept the notion of a Palestinian state, seek a negotiated understanding
with the Palestinians, and run the risks this would entail, or to reject it, launch an all-out
war, and accept the risks that this alternative would entail. An intermediate alternative
would be a charade, and once the war began this fact was bound to become apparent
within days, perhaps even hours.

The Dynamics of Piecemeal Decision Making

According to Ezer Weizman, Sharon ‘‘always knew how to present his positions in a way
which would render them acceptable for the majority among the Ministers, if not, indeed,
for all of them. His fingers roamed freely over maps which were utterly incomprehensible
for most of his colleagues. On occasion I had a feeling that the marks on the maps were
not accurate. But nobody around would admit that he does not understand much about
such matters.”’®?> What made it worse was that the Israeli cabinet had no professional
advisory staff capable of evaluating complex strategic problems. The entire cabinet,
starting from Prime Minister Begin, was thus exceedingly dependent on the information
and assessment provided to it by the minister of defense, who was determined from the
outset to expand the war far beyond what had been approved by the cabinet.

During the second day of the war Sharon told the general staff that it was essential
to “‘build a picture,”” through IDF action, that would convince the cabinet that a
confrontation with Syria was unavoidable. One of the Generals present responded that the
“‘picture’” would be constructed through the move of an armored division on the central
(Shouf) axis. Sharon approved the move but cautioned that the IDF should avoid the
impression of a concerted attack against Syria. Following this discussion at the general
staff, Sharon confronted the cabinet—twenty-four hours after the beginning of the war—
with a request to outflank the Syrians in a manner that would force them to retreat but also
ultimately take the IDF to the Beirut-Damascus road many miles beyond the twenty-five-
mile limit which the cabinet had initially approved. The dilemma, of which Sharon may
have been fully aware before, was presented to the cabinet when the war was already in
progress. There was no going back, and therefore the cabinet had no logical alternative
but to authorize the move. In a vain attempt to prevent turning the outflanking maneuver
into a general confrontation with the Ba’ath republic, the cabinet demanded that an
approach be made toward Syria promising to avoid confrontation if the Syrian forces
would not open fire. Following this cabinet request the Israeli forces facing the Syrians
south of the Beqa’a in the vicinity of Hasbaiyah and Qauqgaba refrained from action. In
addition Begin requested President Reagan’s special envoy ambassador Philip Habib to
pass a message to Syrian President Assad expressing that (1) Israel did not wish to fight
the Syrian forces; (2) the decision not to open fire on the Syrian army except in response
to their fire remained in force; (3) Syria should remove the PLO forces within the area
under its control beyond shooting range from the Israeli border at Metula; (4) Israel calls
on Syria not to reinforce its contingents in Lebanon. To give greater weight to this
message, Begin delivered a televised speech in the Knesset in which he emphasized
Israel’s confidence in Assad’s respect for agreements and urged the Syrian president not
to order his forces in Lebanon to open fire.
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Meanwhile, the race toward the Shouf Mountains of the IDF units that performed the
outflanking operation was threatened as of June 7 by a column of Syrian T-62 tanks led
by a small PLO force near Jezin. This prompted Chief of Staff Eitan to request an air
attack on this Syrian armor. Sharon passed the request to the cabinet which approved it.
Fire on Syrian forces was thus initiated by the IDF on Tuesday, June 8, at a time when
Begin’s cabinet was still awaiting a response from Syria. It is thus not at all surprising that
the Syrian response was to send reinforcements and to add a number of batteries of SAM
missiles in the vicinity of the Beirut-Damascus road.

On the following day, Brigadier General Einan’s armor, the spearhead of the
outflanking maneuver, encountered spirited Syrian resistance in the approaches to Ein
Zhalta. To overcome the obstacle, Sharon told his bewildered colleagues that the IAF
would have to be brought in. Yet the area in question was already within range of the
Syrian SAM missiles. Therefore, concluded the minister of defense, there was no escape
from attacking and destroying the Syrian air defense system north of the Beirut-Damascus
road. The cabinet approved what was for them a new twist, only to be confronted within
another twenty-four hours by a request to attack the Syrian force in the Beqa’a Valley
south of the Beirut-Damascus road. Otherwise, argued Sharon, the Israeli outflanking
column would itself become exposed on the right (east) to Syrian attacks. Whether this
new request was explicitly granted remains unclear, but the IDF acted as if a cabinet
authorization had been given. On Wednesday, June 9, Major-General Amir Drori ordered
a spirited thrust toward the Beirut-Damascus road in the Zahle-Shtoura district. In the
early hours of the next day, the IDF launched an attack on the Syrian forces on its left
(eastern) flank. Thus, by the time Habib saw Assad, the message from Begin that he was
carrying must have looked to Assad like a disingenuous act of deception.

Meanwhile Sharon had extracted incremental cabinet approval for a parallel
expansion of the war in the western sector astride the Mediterranean coast. Here he could
not claim the need for an ‘‘outflanking’’ maneuver, and therefore simply proceeded to
issue operational orders conforming to the outline of Big Pines. The most important
manifestation of this act was the landing early on Monday, June 6, of a reinforced infantry
division north of Sidon. The landing site itself was already beyond the twenty-five-mile
limit. Moreover, the landing division proceeded almost instantly north toward Damour,
then took a northeasterly turn and headed for Baabdeh, a suburb of Beirut and the location
of the Lebanese presidential residence.

Questioned about this approach to Beirut in contradiction with the cabinet’s decision
of June 5, Sharon denied any intention of entering the Lebanese capital. It was a standard
maxim that the IDF does not assault Arab capitals and he was fully in agreement, he said,
with this view. Here he might have been at least partially candid since, as he perceived
his understanding with Bashir Gemayel, the assault on the PLO center in West Beirut would
be carried out by the Lebanese Forces with IDF artillery and air support. But it soon became
apparent that the Lebanese Forces had no intention of taking part in the action against either
Syria or the PLO. Consequently Sharon had to face the possibility of IDF action in Beirut,
a possibility that had not been clear during most of the first week of the war.

Nonetheless, as that week drew to an end it was clear to most members of the
cabinet that the IDF was implementing a variant of Big Pines, the war plan that had been
persistently vetoed. Outraged, two ministers (Itzhak Berman and Zevulun Hammer)
demanded a cabinet discussion of the war aims. Begin promised them he would hold
such a discussion but failed to do so in time for a significant change in the policy to be
effected.®?
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Most of the ministers suspected they had been the victims of a cleverly contrived
deceit, and their feelings added impetus in the second week of the war to opposition
within the cabinet for any further moves. From Sharon’s point of view this created a real
threat that he might not be allowed to bring the operation to a successful conclusion, in
which case all the cost in life and material incurred during the fighting beyond the
twenty-five-mile security belt in the vicinity of the Israel border would have been in vain
and Sharon would be the chief culprit. He was thus thrust into the position of a losing
gambler: to stop would mean sustaining an assured loss; to carry on might increase the
loss but also held the possibility of an ultimate success that would justify all the costs.
But, increasingly denied cabinet support, he could no longer maintain the previous
pretense of acting with full authority. His only alternative from then (roughly June 14)
until the completion of the operation and the beginning of the siege of Beirut was on many
occasions to order the IDF to continue without any real cabinet authorization.

Sharon’s last attempt to extract a mandate for continuing was during the cabinet
meeting of June 15. He failed, but he ordered the IDF to carry out two major operations.®*
The first, which was already in progress at the time of the cabinet’s meeting, took IDF
units east along the Beirut-Damascus road up to a point—reached on June 16—east of
Jamhur, a few miles west of Aley. The second operation was begun on June 21, after
Prime Minister Begin had flown to the United States for discussions with the Reagan
administration. This second major unauthorized assault focused on Syrian positions on the
ridge of Ruisat-a-Na’aman, south of the Beirut-Damascus road, as well as against the
Syrian force in Mansuriyeh, near the road in the vicinity of Behamdoun. When both
operations were completed, by June 26, the IDF had taken complete control of the
Beirut-Damascus road from the outskirts of Beirut to a short distance from the Dahar al
Baidar peak overlooking the Beqa’a.®

Because neither operation had been authorized, Sharon moved unhindered to a
technique that the IDF had used on previous occasions, including during the critical days
of October 22-24, 1973. The Israeli government had previously agreed to a ceasefire. The
IDF was ordered to ‘‘improve its positions,’’ that is, to advance. It could be expected that
the Syrians would open fire, and then the blame for breaking the ceasefire would be put
on them. In turn Sharon would be able to inform the government that the IDF was acting
defensively.

But all told, the two operations had taken the lives of 28 Israelis and caused injury
to more than 150 others. In addition, the forces that had carried out the operations could
hear on Israeli radio stations such as Galei Tsahal and Kol Israel descriptions of the battle
that did not tally with what they knew. This aroused resentment, and soldiers and officers
reported to their families and friends and, more important still, to members of the Knesset
and of the cabinet. The result was that the trick did not quite work. Having heard about
the assault of June 22, Deputy Prime Minister Ehrlich consulted ministers Burg, Zippori,
and Levi and, by telephone, prime minister Begin too. The latter told Ehrlich to order the
IDF to cease its fire. Sharon would not obey the order. The matter was hotly debated in
the cabinet meeting of June 24. But since by then the operation was nearly completed and
much blood had already been spilt, Sharon once again succeeded in prevailing upon his
weak and bewildered colleagues. The cabinet at last approved continuation of the attack
on Alei-Behamdoun, and it was completed two days later.%®

From Sharon’s point of view the further erosion as a result of the events of June
12-26 of whatever trust his colleages had had in him was of little consequence. Having
carried out the bulk of Big Pines and sent the IDF in effect to besiege Beirut, he could now
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be confident that, willy-nilly, the cabinet would .allow him to exploit the success. The
reason was once again both political and strategic.

The PLO was under siege, but as a political force it was still essentially intact. If the
IDF were to withdraw without expelling Yasser Arafat and his men from the Lebanese
capital, the PLO would score a moral and political victory which would wash away the
impact of everything that had been achieved in the war. Sharon’s colleagues could be
reminded in this regard of how Nasser had turned his military defeat of 1956 into a
political victory and of how Arafat had done the same following the Karameh Operation
of March 1968, in which two unmanned Israeli tanks had been left behind. This
seemingly minute technical detail was turned into a historic turning point by PLO
propaganda. If the IDF were to leave the PLO in Beirut the damage would be
incomparably greater.®’

As will be seen, this strategic-political logic for tightening the siege of Beirut until
the PLO was forced to depart was grudgingly endorsed at this stage even by some of
Sharon’s critics outside the government. Sharon could therefore hope realistically that his
cabinet colleagues, too, would have no choice but to endorse the continuation of the siege.
Thus, although previously he had time and again promised that the IDF would not
approach Beirut, as of June 27 he changed course. For the next six weeks he pressed for
authorization to tighten the siege and, when denied such authority, he again took intiative
himself.

Ultimately Sharon had his way and the PLO was forced to accept a departure from
Beirut. But irreparable damage had been done to his relations with his colleagues. On July
30 he drove Foreign Minister Shamir, who had been an ardent supporter of Big Pines all
along, to the point of resignation. Shamir had paid a visit to the United States and
informed his American interlocutors that the IDF would not make any further advance into
West Beirut, as he had been told by Sharon. Meanwhile the IDF had been making further
advances. Shamir’s credibility with his American hosts had been put in question and,
outraged by this, he nearly resigned.

During the August 5 cabinet meeting Sharon requested permission for another small
military operation in the Beirut area. Eight ministers spoke against him. To be sure, ten
ministers were still in favor, but the vote would have been so close that Begin ruled that
no vote would be taken. Sharon could not possibly acquiesce with this inconclusive result.
The longer the siege of Beirut, the greater became the pressure on him to step up pressure
on the PLO. An extended siege, he argued (correctly), was tantamount to a victory for the
PLO. Hence the pressure on the PLO had to be increased wholesale and not in a piecemeal
fashion. Accordingly, if the cabinet would not allow him to do so he would issue his own
instructions to the IDF.

This was the logic behind the massive bombardments of the Lebanese capital on
August 6 and, even more so, on August 12, the most horrendous day of the siege. The
hair-raising reports in the world press on the bombardments led to two stormy cabinet
meetings on August 8 and 12 in which, at last, even Begin sided with the outraged
opponents of Sharon. ‘‘You are the government’s representative to the army,’” he
reportedly told Sharon in anger on August 8, ‘‘and not the army’s representative to the
government.”’®® Once Begin had turned against him, Sharon’s isolation was underlined.
The prime minister’s reprimand was naturally followed by sharper criticisms from other
senior ministers. When Sharon requested yet another permission for an operation west of
the hippodrome in Beirut, on August 12, no less than fifteen ministers voted against him,
stripping him in effect of the authority to order the IDF to make any further move.%®
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And yet, by August 21, Sharon’s determination seemed at last to have paid off. He
may have lost the support of all his colleagues but, as Arafat and his men were leaving
for a new exile in eight different Arab countries from Tunisia to South Yemen, Sharon
could proudly boast in a press interview with Oriana Fallaci:

I wanted them out of Beirut, of Lebanon, so I fully obtained what | wanted. Arafat
may claim what he likes, it does not count. It’s the facts that count, and the
developments which such facts will have in the future. Perhaps . . . [Arafat] seriously
thinks to have won politically, but the future will show him that his defeat has been
mainly political.”®

The Making of a Pyrrhic Victory

In a nutshell what has been argued so far is that Sharon was determined to pursue his
strategy with brazen disregard to the political setting in which it was implemented. The
result, however, was almost the opposite of what he sought to achieve. Rather than
succeeding in decoupling strategy from politics, especially domestic politics, to the
advantage of strategy, he soon saw his strategy so deeply trapped in a maze of political
forces that his ability to bring it to conclusion was almost entirely destroyed.

Specifically Sharon’s conduct undermined the execution of the war because of a
backlash in five interlocking and highly relevant arenas of political-strategic deliberation:
the cabinet, the legislature, the armed forces, public opinion, and, last but not least,
relations with the United States. In most of Israel’s previous wars these arenas had proved
to be on the whole—but not entirely—mutually reinforcing. A united cabinet supported
by a united legislature and by an equally united public facilitated a superb military
performance in 1956, in 1967, and in 1973 despite the fact that relations with the United
States (especially in 1956 and far less so in 1973) left much to be desired. Conversely, in
1982 a divided cabinet reinforced divisive tendencies in the legislature and in the public
at large, severely undercut the performance of the IDF, and reinforced the inclination of
the United States to intervene in a manner that made matters even worse.’!

To be sure, this was not the first time an Israeli government faced domestic unrest
in the course of a major external crisis. Immediately after the termination of the 1973 war,
when Golda Meir’s government faced a delicate negotiation process with Egypt and Syria
involving an ongoing war of attrition and the continued mobilization of vast numbers of
reserves, it also had to deal with a significant domestic crisis. In 1973 the process had
started with the demonstrative act of one individual, a reserve captain by the name of Moti
Ashkenazi, which rapidly developed into a mass protest movement on the same scale as
that of the summer of 1982. Captain Ashkenazi had accused then Minister of Defense
Moshe Dayan of failing to prepare the IDF for war and thus, by implication, of being
personally responsible for the high toll the IDF paid in the Yom Kippur War. In
November, a few days after the ceasefire, Captain Ashkenazi began a ‘‘sit-in’’ in front of
the ministry of defense which he planned to continue until Dayan resigned. Within days
Ashkenazi was joined by others, including some of Dayan’s political opponents. The bulk
of the protesters (as in 1982) were educated soldiers from combat units, many
intellectuals, students, and of course bereaved families. Soon the themes of the protest
were to be taken up by organized political movements. Begin and the Likud on the right
rode the wave (and gained something from it in the elections of December 1973), as did
the MAPAM party on the left and two new parties which actually came into existence as a
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result of the mood of protest engulfing the country—Shinui and the Civil Rights
Movement.”? Nothing demonstrates more vividly the tremendous impact of the 1973
protests than the personal account of the movement’s main béte noire, Minister of Defense
Moshe Dayan:

While the official political postmortems [of the 1973 war] were being conducted in
the institutional frameworks, the Cabinet, the parties and through elections, there
arose in the country a ‘‘protest movement’'—a mixture of emotional and political
elements. The protest movement, or more precisely, the ‘‘protest movements’’
demonstrated (especially against the Cabinet on days in which it was in session),
carried posters, gave interviews to journalists and TV reporters and made inroads into
the people’s hearts. . . . In the latter stages the movements were so heterogeneous that
they demanded contradictory things: religious and nationalistic elements demonstrated
against Kissinger and against withdrawal in the Golan, whereas the left demanded the
opposite. Moreover, their impact gradually declined, and in the final analysis they
failed to unite into a constructively influential body—although they tried. They had a
public impact in two matters: in their demand for change, for the replacement of
former leadership (with myself at the top of the list) and in pointing an accusing finger
concerning military and political failures in the course of the Yom Kippur War and
the days before. The protest movements had a tremendous echo. Among the
organizers and the participants many were young people who had participated in the
war as well as widows and bereaved parents. This gave . . . the protests a special
public and emotional weight. One could have argued with their demands, or
dismiss[ed] their slogans, but it was impossible to relate to them with indifference.

Dayan’s sensitivity and curiosity brought him to the unusual step of inviting Moti
Ashkenazi for a talk.

The talk was almost a monologue. Moti Ashkenazi wanted to speak and I wanted to
understand and gain impressions. Concerning me his words were clear: I have to resign
because of my parliamentary accountability; he respects me personally, but the army,
the war, the policy before the war and the previous Six Day War—are a failure, inaction
and an imprudent policy. He demands the replacement of the leadership, first of all me.
... Inthis war everything was bad. Pilots were sent on suicidal missions. As commander
of “‘Budapest’” [stronghold on the Suez Canal] he saw them falling, and demanded
Southern Command to stop sending them to attack in the Canal and Port Said; but
nobody would listen to him. In the strongholds along the Canal nothing worked
properly; the armour did not fight well. The medics did not know how to deal with battle
shocks; the military industry had not prepared well for the war. . . . Now we need a
revolution. He wants changes in democratic ways, but there are those who are prepared
to do it in violent ways; friends tell him that they are prepared to enter with Uzi
sub-machine guns, to the office of the Cabinet and liquidate all Cabinet members. He
will not rest until he brings about a fundamental change—in policy, in leadership, in
government and in the army. The people are with him—and I must resign.

Dayan was not very impressed by the logic of some of these vehement arguments, but he
drew two sensitive and significant conclusions which are worth recalling if the events of
1982 are to be put in appropriate perspective. First, he realized what in 1982 proved to be
beyond Sharon’s comprehension, namely, that ‘‘the Minister of Defense needs the
confidence of the people. He is not just a manager of an office. More than any other
political office holder, he is responsible for decisions concerning war, death and injury,
prison, widowhood, bereavement. His opinions may be challenged; but there could be no
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doubt as to his dedication, prudence, and responsible attitude to matters of defense. I
felt,”” Dayan concluded, that “‘this confidence in me is rapidly eroding.’” While admitting
this, indeed while several months later accepting the verdict of the protestors and
resigning, Dayan also thought that the Israeli political system was in the throes of a crisis
of fundamental transformation which should have been a source of grave concern to the
national leadership.

In the protest movements, and in what surrounded them in the press, in TV and among
politicians who sought to exploit them, there was also a streak which was presented as
an ideal but amounted in fact to defeatism—the erosion of faith not only in the justice
of our ways but also in our goals; the weakening of our strength and resolve. This was
a serious matter in my view. I saw a harsh forecast for our ability to wrestle with the
difficulties and the pressures which were facing us.”?

In the heat of the post-1973 debate such conclusions by Dayan could easily be
depicted, and in fact were, as self-serving manipulation of national security issues for the
purpose of minimizing his own personal responsibility. But in retrospect it is difficult to
argue that his views were wrong. Before the 1973 war, the Israeli political system had
been undergoing a major process of change, which gained further momentum in the eight
years that separated the Yom Kippur War from Operation Peace for the Galilee. What the
exact reasons for the change were is a question that cannot be answered here, but the
import of the transformation insofar as Israel’s ability to fight wars is concerned seems
clear. The frustrated hopes for peace that were aroused by the 1967 victory; the heavy
cost of the Canal War of 1968-70; the nerve-racking encounter with the Palestinians
since 1967; the heavy cost of the 1973 war; the growing domestic rift on foreign policy;
the future of the occupied territories; religion; Sephardi-Ashkenazi relations—all have
added up to a lowered tolerance for pain. The Israel that went to war in 1982 was
nominally more powerful and materially far stronger than it had been a decade earlier,
but it had lost a great deal of its ability to withstand pressure.

Such a decline in the will to resist is more easily revealed in a war initiated by one’s
own country than in a purely defensive war. The 1973 war began as the result of an
Egyptian-Syrian attack and not as the result of an Israeli preemption. Nevertheless it
caused what Zeev Schiff aptly described at the time as an ‘‘earthquake.’’’* By the same
token it is not at all surprising that the 1982 war led to a major domestic backlash. In
1973 no one had accused the government of deceiving the people; the only accusations
were of poor judgement, excessive self-confidence, and, in short, ineptness.
Accordingly, the suspicion that Sharon and Begin had deceived the nation was bound to
have serious repercussions. Given the facts that the Israeli population was already weary,
that the war in 1982 was initiated by Israel, and that the PLO did not appear as
immediately menacing as had the Egyptians and Syrians in 1973, Sharon’s apparent
deception could be predicted to have a catalytic impact which would send ripples
throughout the Israeli political system. Having lived through the post-1973 period Begin,
Sharon, Eitan, Shamir, and others should have been alert to this when they made the
decision to launch another war. Indirectly they were, since the constant theme in their
utterances during the first days of the war was that the ‘‘shame’” of 1973 had been
erased. But they drew the wrong conclusions. The nation they took to war again was
tired of war rather than eager for a resounding victory. The best treatment for such a state
of mind would not have been another war, certainly not another unsuccessful war, but
rather a prolonged period of convalescence from the injury of the previous war.
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This misreading of the mood of the nation on the part of Begin, Sharon, and some
of their colleagues had a direct bearing on the course of the war itself. It led, as had been
seen, to a deep division in the cabinet and consequently to indecisiveness and a tendency
to adopt decisions only because they mustered cabinet consensus. It also spilled over from
the cabinet to the parliamentary opposition, to the public at large, and, above all, to the
IDF.

The result was a self-reinforcing political process, turning a war that was bound to
be complicated even with a high degree of domestic consensus into an even more
complicated affair. The cabinet’s indecision forced Sharon to compromise his military
strategy. This slowed down the pace of the war and increased its toll. The result was an
erosion of morale in the battlefield which reflected in battlefield performance. The
Knesset was aware of this and, by fulfilling its role and attacking the government, turned
unwittingly into a colossal amplifier of the cabinet’s lack of resolve. This further
undermined the ability of the IDF to perform its task and, inevitably, increased the
sluggishness of the operation. The public soon reacted in a similarly negative way which
further reinforced the same tendencies. And when the repercussions of all these effects
converged with an incoherent and ill-advised reaction by the Reagan administration, the
tendencies toward irresoluteness were given a further impetus.

The original sin was unquestionably the apparent deception. For Sharon would not
let go. With uncommonly dogged determination he pursued the war and remained
unperturbed by the mounting criticism. Hence, the greater the pressure on him to stop, the
worse the result from the broader Israeli point of view. Rather than leading either to a
complete cessation of hostilities or to a determined pursuit of the war to a decisive
strategic conclusion, the mounting criticism led to a halfway point between those two
logical alternatives, that is, to a slow and increasingly costly grinding of the war to an end.
But by (understandably and legitimately) struggling to stop the war in the middle,
Sharon’s critics in the cabinet, the parliamentary opposition, the public protest, and the
intervention of the United States ultimately defeated not only Sharon’s but also the critics’
own purpose. Crudely emulating many of the young Dayan’s notions, Sharon lacked the
finesse, sensitivity, and responsibility that Dayan showed as a mature minister of defense.
An imaginative battlefield strategist, he proved a poor grand strategist inasmuch as he
exhibited a limited ability to imagine the domestic political repercussions of his actions.
In the 1956 and 1967 wars, cabinet unity and the support of the Knesset had guaranteed
full public support, unity of purpose, and therefore an excellent performance by the IDF
and government ability to ward off American pressures in the course of the fighting. In
1982 these five interlocking spheres of action had the opposite effect.”> The details are
worth exploring at length.

The Knesset

Broadly speaking it seems clear that the pattern of parliamentary opposition to the
war followed closely in the footsteps of opposition to Sharon inside the cabinet. Before
the war the leadership of the main opposition—the Labor party—had at first been
divided and then tended to support a limited military operation. Early in the war the
Labor party resolved to overcome its doubt and to stand united behind the government.
As it became clear that Sharon was implementing a variant of Big Pines, the Labor
opposition, much like Sharon’s critics in the cabinet, became increasingly restive. But,
with the siege of Beirut, again much like the cabinet, the Labor opposition became
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split again into supporters of tightening the siege and of an outright Israeli
disengagement.

But pointing out the similarity between the response to Sharon’s exploits in the
cabinet and in the Labor party is not to say that the factors that shaped the two positions
were identical. To start with the Labor party had to be very careful not to lay itself
bare to charges that it was not behaving as a loyal opposition should. All of Israel’s
previous wars had been managed by Labor and there had never been any problem in
obtaining Begin’s and the Likud’s support for the simple reason that the latter has
always been far more hawkish than has Labor. Any sign of reluctance on the part of
Labor to lend complete support to a war effort managed by the Likud could thus lead to
electorally dangerous charges by Begin and his followers that the Labor party was
playing politics with the single most important aspect of the national interest. Such
charges were in fact leveled by Begin on the eve of the 1981 elections (in which Labor
in fact did not do well), when the Labor party criticized Begin for having bombed the
Iraqi nuclear reactor for electoral purposes. And given this experience Peres and his
colleagues had to be, at least for a while, exceedingly careful in voicing opposition to the
war.’®

However, and here lies a second critical difference between the cabinet and Labor
opposition, the internal composition of Labor is such that it could ill afford not to come
out strongly against the war. Labor is essentially a highly heterogeneous ‘‘supermarket’
of ideological emphases representing all but the two extremes of the Israeli political
spectrum, at least in terms of attitudes to the Arab-Israeli conflict. Whereas leaders such
as Rabin, Hillel, Rozolio, Arbeli-Almoznino, Amir, and Nehemkin are essentially
hawks, MAPAM, which was then in alignment with Labor, and leading members of the
party such as Sarid and Eban, had been consistently very dovish in their outlook. The
inevitable result was a split on the party’s response to the nation’s security problem. The
doves had been close since the middle of the 1970s to accepting the idea of coexisting
with a Palestinian state, even it it were controlled by the PLO. This part of the party
comprises roughly one-third of the total. The rest has been as adamantly opposed to the
idea as has the Likud, though for strategic rather than ideological reasons.”” But the
doves inside Labor had been vociferous enough to make it practically impossible for the
party leadership to stop them from voicing criticism of a war with the declared purpose
of extinguishing the PLO as a military and, by implication, as a political force. Indeed,
no sooner had the war started and, at a time when the party leadership was still in support
of the government, the Labor doves were condemning the entire enterprise as, in Sarid’s
words, ‘‘that damned war.’’’® Thus, if Peres and the party leadership were to keep the
party united, they had no choice but to criticize the war as soon as it extended beyond the
twenty-five miles envisioned by Little Pines.

The same antagonism for and suspicion of Sharon that was manifested in the cabinet
was also prevalent in the Labor party. Labor leaders such as Lieutenant General (ret.)
Mordechai Gur who had served under Sharon in the Mitlah, or Rabin who had been
Sharon’s immediate superior in both the IDF and the government, or Peres who had been
Ben Gurion’s right-hand man in the ministry of defense throughout the latter’s tenure,
probably knew Sharon far better than did any member of the Likud and, mostly, liked him
less. But, in addition to this reason for opposing the war, the Labor leadership—unlike
Begin’s blindly admiring cabinet colleagues—also genuinely did not trust Begin’s ability
to handle successfully an operation of such magnitude. For most of them this was a legacy
from the days of Ben Gurion, who had considered Begin the single most irresponsible
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Israeli leader.” In addition they had watched with abhorrence Begin’s exploits as prime
minister, especially moves such as the attack on Osiraq, the Golan and Jerusalem
annexation laws, as well as, of course, the massive settlement of densely populated parts
of the West Bank and the aggressive abuse of friendly foreign governments. But the Labor
leadership also mistrusted Begin the peacemaker. They had watched him give back the
whole of the Sinai and, in a show of (they thought) irresponsible magnanimity, refuse to
bargain with the United States over the three billion dollars’ worth rebuilding of air bases
in the Negev following the return of the Sinai to Egypt. They also disputed the wisdom
of Begin’s West Bank autonomy scheme. Hence, the thought that Begin and Sharon
would take the country to war filled them instinctively with horror on purely operational
grounds.

Another difference of critical importance was that the mainstream of the Labor
leadership was inspired in varying degrees by a belief in a Syrian-Israeli understanding.
True, they had been the ones to initiate links with the Phalange, but while recognizing the
strategic imperative of doing so they had never abandoned hope that an understanding
with Syria, beginning with Lebanon but gradually expanding to a wider sphere including
the Golan, would one day become feasible. In other words, they essentially advocated a
policy of hedging Israel’s bets in the intractable Lebanese imbroglio. The Phalange should
be supported as a contingency for a confrontation with Syria, even as a tacit inducement
for Syria to be more cooperative. But this gambit should never be allowed to lead to a
head-on collision with the Ba’ath Republic.

The most vociferous and consistent proponent of this view was Mota Gur. During the
spring of 1976 when he was Chief of Staff of the IDF, he went as far as advocating a
signal to Syria that its forces would be allowed to advance virtually all the way to the
Israeli border. Later, during Operation Litani, he pointed out that the IDF should under
no circumstances allow itself to be dragged into a confrontation with Syria while pursuing
the PLO. And in the spring of 1982, when a war appeared increasingly imminent, he once
again returned to the same theme.

Gur’s opinion was strongly supported by Rabin and not at all challenged by the rest
of the party leadership. The implication, however, was a pervasive ambiguity in the
party’s position. Like the Likud, the Labor mainstream was apprehensive about the
potential ‘‘Carterization’’ of U.S. policy vis-a-vis the PLO. But opposed to Sharon’s idea
of a potential ‘‘preventive’’ war against Syria, they could not extend this position to its
logical conclusion, namely, a military campaign to drive the PLO out of Lebanon. What
would be sufficient to destroy the PLO would entail a collision with Syria, whereas the
kind of operation that was needed to avoid a confrontation with Syria could not undermine
the political position of the PLO and might even add impetus to the U.S. inclination to
force Israel into a dialogue with the PLO, as it had in Operation Litani in 1978 and the
mini-attrition of July 1981.

A final factor affecting the Labor opposition’s response to the war was in fact a
complex cluster of dispositions and attitudes that were characteristic of Labor and almost
entirely absent among Begin’s close colleagues. Disciples of Ben Gurion, Labor politicians
had a heartfelt belief in a pragmatic, piecemeal, and in the long run cumulative advance
toward goals. They would rather see Israel deterring the Arabs through the accumulation
of power than through its demonstrative use. Their ultimate goals were not very different
from those of their Likud rivals, but, unlike the latter, they never set much store in
comprehensive solutions carried out in one fell swoop. Abba Eban articulated this vague
but important disposition in a typical combination of clarity and forcefulness:
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[The] ideas, the ways of thought, the temperamental attitudes, the emotional
preconditions that underlay . . . Sharon’s and Begin’s grand design were inherently
incapable of being accommodated within the terms of the Israeli Labor movement. The
Begin-Sharon rhetoric resounded in Labor ears like an alien language clothed in an
undecipherable, exotic script. Labor Zionism, for good or ill, is skeptical about ideas
that soar too far from the ground. It believes in things that are concrete, real,
recognizably shaped and presented in a mood of proportion. It has its visionary
component, but its particular strength lies in a proven capacity to bring aims and
capacities into balance.®°

This basic disposition of the Labor party had its logical corollary in the party’s
attitude to the use of force in the modern world. **The Labor movement is not pacifist by
tradition,”” Eban continues, “‘it is in fact the architect of the Israeli defense system, and
its somewhat blunt unsentimental rationality has fashioned the psychology and vocabulary
of the IDF.”” At the same time, while not rejecting the use of force as a matter of
philosophical principle, the Labor movement is imbued with a

sober view of what military action can and cannot do in the modern age. It does . . .
not believe that . . . military action can achieve much beyond its crucial defensive
function. It can prevent . . . Israel from being wiped out, or deeply injured and that
is no small thing. But it cannot produce durable changes in the map of history or
generate the kind of reactions out of which new regional harmonies can be fashioned.
If a victory is only military, it comes close to not being a victory at all. . . . The aim
of modern war is not to exterminate your adversary or to deny him an influence on the
postwar settlement. The aim is to change his mind and attitude so that his position in
the political negotiations which follow war is not too remote to make a compromise
feasible.®!

Informed by such a perception of politics and strategy, some Labor leaders could
very well see the logic of pursuing the PLO. But they would rather see Israel bide its time
until a showdown became virtually inevitable than accelerate the process by its own
initiative. They perceive the Middle East as a complex arena in which what seems is often
not what is and in which Israel has often been saved from difficult straits by an unexpected
twist in Arab politics. In a word, although the trend appeared to be toward either a historic
compromise with the PLO (to which only the party’s doves were reconciled) or a risky
showdown (which they did not relish), the Labor party felt that Israel should not initiate
the turmoil. It should adopt a wait and see attitude in the hope that Syria, Jordan, the
vicissitudes of Lebanese politics, or all three would ultimately pull the chestnuts out of the
fire to Israel’s benefit. This ephemeral but all-important predisposition was reinforced by
Labor’s fond concern for the IDF. The IDF was built primarily by people such as Peres,
Rabin, Bar Lev, and Gur. For them it was Israel’s most successful enterprise, a vehicle
of nation building no less than an instrument of national security, a pacesetter, standard
setter, and social laboratory in which the best and the brightest were trained to Kill but
educated to believe in humanist values. The backbone of the IDF, moreover, are junior
officers, NCOs, and combat troops who come predominantly from the core of Labor’s
own constituency in the kibbutzim, Moshavim, and middle-class intelligentsia. For Labor
politicians such resources should under no circumstances be employed for dubious
purposes or exposed to compromising circumstances, such as a war in Lebanon, they
knew only too well, would be bound to create.

With such a combination of considerations the Labor leadership was impaled on the
horns of an excruciating dilemma from the moment Begin presented them for the first time
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with his war plan. Political instinct and concern for the unity of the party made them
averse to the plan from the very beginning. Long-term security and wider political
considerations aggravated matters further. To come out forcefully against the war would
expose them to the charge that because of their opposition, a critical national project could
not be carried out. Support for Begin’s plan, on the other hand, might lead them into an
abyss if the war failed, or give Begin an electorally devastating advantage if the war
turned out to be the success Begin and Sharon confidently predicted it could be.

Aware of such possibilities they attempted from the very beginning to walk a
tightrope between support for the war and opposition to it. On April 6, 1982, they were
invited by Begin for the first in a series of meetings about the war. Present at the
discussion were Shimon Peres as Party Chairman, Chaim Bar Lev as Party Secretary
General, and Itzhak Rabin, the party’s second most senior leader. The latter two had been
chiefs of staff of the IDF. Peres had been director general of the ministry of defense,
deputy minister of defense, and minister of defense. Rabin had been, in addition to his
career in the IDF, also ambassador to the United States and prime minister. Together they
formed a formidable team.

Begin and Sharon presented the Labor leaders with the plan for Big Pines. Their
reaction was, to say the least, unenthusiastic. Peres argued against the enterprise. His two
colleagues did not. Bar Lev questioned the wisdom of taking on the Syrians, whereas
Rabin wondered whether the IDF was capable of withstanding the rigors of an extended
stay in Lebanon which, he predicted, would be inevitable.32

If Begin and Sharon seemed to be impressed by these arguments it must have been
because the Labor leaders’ doubts echoed those of many members of the cabinet. The
result was a seeming modification of the plan leading to the idea of a watered-down
version. On May 16, the Labor leaders were summoned for a second meeting. Their
reaction to the watered-down version was identical to that of Begin’s recalcitrant cabinet
colleagues. Rabin inquired whether the town of Sidon was included in the plan. Peres
expressed support for the idea of an incursion to a line extending from Sidon to Qar’oun
Lake. At the same time all three Labor leaders emphasized that such a complex operation
should not commence unless and until a major PLO provocation occured.3® The emphasis
in Labor attitude was thus shifting from a mixture of skepticism and outright opposition
to a qualified support for a halfway measure between Big and Little Pines. Begin and
Sharon had thus obtained the same kind of flickering green light from Labor, as they had
from their colleagues and, as will be seen, from the United States.

This idea was reaffirmed when the war broke out. The Labor leaders were again
summoned to a talk with the prime minister, in which they essentially repeated what they
had told him during the previous meeting. This, moreover, was reiterated on the same day
in the larger forum of the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee.

We must all as one stand behind this operation [Peres told the Committee]. It is no
secret that there were differences of opinion on the eve of the operation and there will
be differences of opinion in the future. However, all of us are patriots. As long as the
operation continues, no one should raise any other thought. The paramount consid-
erations of all of us, those who approve the operation and those who oppose it, must
be the safety of our soldiers and our settlements. As of the moment the war began, we
are as one with the army, blessing it and praying for its safety.

This equivocal mixture of overt support and insinuated opposition to the war set the
tone for Labor’s position as the war took its tortuous course. On June 8 the Labor party
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helped the government defeat a no-confidence motion introduced by the (mainly Arab)
Democratic Front for Peace and Equality. On the same day, however, Mordechai Gur
warned the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee in a closed session that,
““They [the government] are clearly lying to us.”” His suspicions must have been
supported by hard evidence since, as a former chief of staff of the IDF, he still had ample
access to inside information. His warning was therefore taken very seriously by his Labor
party colleagues, who decided there and then to instruct Peres and Rabin to approach
Prime Minister Begin and underline again the need to avoid a full-dress confrontation with
Syria.®?

On June 13 the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee met again. Gur
repeated his anxious warning that the government was withholding critical information
from the committee. Three days later Peres echoed the same accusation, charging that
various operations had been carried out without cabinet approval. A week later such
previously private suspicions were aired in public for the first time, in a Knesset debate.
Labor member Gad Ya’akobi, a former associate of the late Moshe Dayan and a former
Minister of Transport, requested Prime Minister Begin to explain how it happened that a
war begun for limited aims had expanded to such all-embracing proportions.

The battles of Aley and Behamdoun and the tightening noose around the Lebanese
capital rapidly raised the suspicion that Sharon was planning to order the IDF into Beirut
and to launch further offensives against Syria with a view to driving Syria completely out
of Lebanon. The result was not only greater anxiety in the cabinet and the Labor party but
also the emergence of a wider coalition of opponents to the war, cutting across party lines
for the first time. On June 24 the government was called upon by the Shinui party to avoid
expanding a ‘‘war without consensus’’ and to refrain from ordering the IDF into Beirut.
Such an admonition had been expressed in closed session a day earlier, during a Knesset
Foreign Relations and Security Committee meeting, by a dovish member of the Liberal
component of the Likud, Dror Zeigerman, as well as by a dovish member of the National
Religious Party, Avraham Melamed. This may have come as no surprise, but during the
same meeting these long-standing doves were joined for the first time by a mainstream
member of Begin’s own Likud bloc, Ehud Olmert. The evident drift toward opposition to
the war within the Labor party was thus beginning to spill over into the political center and
even into Begin’s own parliamentary base.

Nothing in the course of the war exposed the equivocation of the Labor party in its
attitude to the war more than the prolonged siege of Beirut. Former Prime Minister Rabin,
a leading Labor hawk, visited the Beirut area where he was televised in the company of
Sharon, thus suggesting in effect support for the latter’s moves. Former Chief of Staff
Gur, a leading opponent of the war from the beginning, apparently could not overlook the
logic of keeping pressure on the PLO in Beirut once the siege had begun. Indeed, he
hastened to criticize a government decision to discharge some reserve troops as
‘‘premature.’’ As if intending to prevent the impression that the Labor party had resolved
to support a military solution in the Lebanese capital, Rabin exclaimed a day later that
Gur’s statement should not be taken as a sign that Labor was averse to a politically
negotiated solution. Three days later, however, Rabin’s own wavering between support
for and doubt about the wisdom of what was going on was underlined in a television
interview in which he stated:

The Israeli action in Lebanon brought impressive military achievements and the IDF
operated extremely well, but the military operation must have a political purpose. . . .



126 Dilemmas of Security

The basic goal of securing Israel’s northern settlements has been achieved. But some
elements in the government had a concept . . . that the power of the IDF could be
used to achieve farreaching political objectives. Statements such as ‘‘not a single
terrorist will remain in Lebanon’’ or ““a strong Lebanese government will sign a peace
treaty with Israel by the end of the year’’ or talk about the expulsion of all foreign
forces from Lebanon, including the Syrians, are objectives which cannot be realized
given the IDF’s achievements, and I think I would not have gone to war in order to
obtain them.

Under the circumstances what must be done is to climb down from the tall tree
of farreaching political objectives, get out of the quagmire of Beirut, and do everything
to maintain the original purpose of Operation Peace for the Galilee, namely, securing
a 25-27-miles strip north of Israel’s border, to which the terrorists would not be
allowed to return.

The first priority in my view is to get out of the Beirut quagmire where . . . if the
terrorists do not come out or are not brought out, Israel would suffer a serious blow,
the question of how we reached such a situation notwithstanding. Two methods must
be used: tightening the siege, including selective bombing of terrorist targets and water
and electricity cut-offs, as long as the non-combatant civilian population is allowed to
leave, and, concurrently, making Israel’s political conditions for a resolution more
flexible.

Thus, Rabin was in effect supporting Sharon’s stepped-up pressure on the PLO as a means
of facilitating an Israeli withdrawal. He could not help but see that Sharon’s tactics, brutal
as they may have been, made ample strategic sense. His only advice for modifications in
Sharon’s strategy at this stage was to lower Israel’s sights and aim at less far-reaching
objectives than Sharon’s. Moreover, much like Sharon he also expressed a critical attitude
toward the role U.S. envoy Philip Habib was attempting to play in resolving the prolonged
standoff in Beirut. In the course of the same TV interviews, he said:

I do not understand what Philip Habib is doing in the Arab states, as though he is
seeking a refuge for the terrorists. There is a simple refuge in Tripoli, or even the
Beqa’a, since a third of Lebanon is under Syrian control. Even if thousands of
terrorists were to reach Damascus and Latakiya they would be able to return to
Lebanon.

But Rabin’s position was not shared by a growing number of his party colleagues. While
the former prime minister advocated tightening the siege, Party Chairman Peres and
Rabin’s successor as Chief of Staff in 1968, now Secretary General of the party, Chaim
Bar Lev, urged the government to stop the bombings and the water and electricity cut-offs
and thus, in effect, to lift the siege without results. It is impossible to tell which view was
supported by a larger number of Labor members of Knesset, or of Labor supporters in the
country, but it seems clear that the horrors of the siege gradually melted away Labor’s
initial commitment to bury the hatchet with the Likud until the end of hostilities. Indeed,
on August 12, the worst day of the siege, the Labor party demanded a full-dress Knesset
debate on the war. Presenting the request in the plenum, Secretary General Bar Lev had
this to say:

The leadership of the Labor Party had supported the limited goals of the operation as
defined to them on June 5. But on that occasion we found it necessary to warn against
slipping into aims and military actions that go beyond the specified and limited aim of
pushing the terrorists away from the border. Prime Minister Begin told us that the aim
was to release Israel’s northern settlements from the threat of the terrorists’ fire.
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The operation, we were told, would last a day or two. Since then 68 days have passed
and there is no resemblance between what is happening in Lebanon and Operation
Peace for the Galilee as defined to us. . . . For many years to come we shall be
reminded of this dark hour. . . . The use of the IDF’s enormous power must be sanctity
saved for ensuring Israel’s direct security and with respect to this there is a broad
national consensus. The campaign in Lebanon exceeded our direct security needs and
hence the debate and the criticism.%¢

Bar Lev is a composed, down-to-earth, and eminently sober person. For him to employ
such strong language was quite unusual and doubtless reflected a genuine, very strong
opposition to what Sharon, Begin, and the cabinet had done. Yet, Bar Lev’s anguish
notwithstanding, this brief survey of the Labor party’s tortuous stance from April through
August 1982 suggests that inadvertently the party, much like Begin’s colleagues who
opposed the war, had contributed to the course of events that it criticized. The lack of
consistency, the equivocation, the excessive preoccupation with tactical and immediate
political considerations ultimately reinforced the tendency toward the worst of all
possibilities from the Israeli point of view. Had the Labor party opposed the war in any
shape or form before it had begun, the Likud goverment would have found it far more
difficult to initiate it. Conversely, had Labor supported the war from beginning to end, it
might have made it possible for the government to allow the IDF to operate according to
strategic desiderata rather than according to the pace at which political authorization was
extracted from the cabinet. Having done neither, the Labor party reinforced the tendency
to launch a limited operation, which made neither strategic nor political sense and
therefore was bound to be subsequently expanded in the wrong manner. Moreover,
Labor’s equivocation added impetus to a government breach with the Israeli public. Its
own attitude was no doubt also partly nourished by this growing division. But its
parliamentary authority, the military and political weight of its leadership, had turned it
into a powerful amplifier of a public doubt which otherwise would have remained
confined to a small fringe, at least until the war was over.

Public Opinion

One reason that could account for Labor’s equivocation is the fact that public opinion in
general was relatively slow to crystallize in opposition to the war. Ever since Labor had
lost power in 1977, its leadership had been painfully confronted by a visible trend of
decline in popular support for the party. Hence to oppose a war that the general public
seemed to support would be tantamount to a political suicide. It would identify the party,
to its detriment, with its own left-wing radicals, and it would confront it head-on with the
Sephardi community which was a majority in most towns along the Lebanon border.
Conversely, once strong signs of public disenchantment with the war were detected,
especially when most of the initial opposition came from Labor’s own constituency. the
party could feel more at freedom to express its own real view of the problem.

Initially the Israeli public was clearly very supportive of the war. Indeed, Begin's
declining popularity, as well as Sharon’s, had been on the rise again. To the question,
““Who is best suited to be Prime Minister?”’ support for Begin increased from 40.4
percent in May 1982 to 51.5 percent a month later. Likewise, to the question, “*Who is
best suited to be Minister of Defense?’” support for Sharon rose from 42.1 percent in May
to 56 percent in June. Another survey conducted simultaneously asked respondents to rate
the performance of the prime minister and minister of defense on a scale. Between May
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and June the percentage of those who felt that Begin and Sharon performed ‘‘very well’’
doubled. S

At the time of the Aley-Behamdoun battles and especially with the acceleration of the
siege of Beirut, public support as measured by opinion polls began to dwindle. Polls taken
in the course of June had reflected overwhelming support for the war. In one poll 77.2
percent thought that launching the war was definitely justified, 15.6 percent that it was
justified with reservations, and only 2 percent that it was definitely not justified. Another
poll at about the same time found that no less than 83 percent of the respondents felt that
the war was entirely justified. A month later, however, the latter poll’s results dropped to
76 percent. At the same time the percentage of respondents who felt that the war was
unjustified rose in this poll from 13 percent early in June to 19 percent early in August.

If these changes in public opinion in general during the period from June to August
were not particularly important, the rapid mushrooming of ad hoc protest groups was very
significant indeed. The first antiwar demonstration was staged by 300 students in front of
the prime minister’s residence three days after the end of the painful and costly
Aley-Behamdoun battle. A week later the Peace Now movement organized a rally in front
of the Tel Aviv municipality with the estimated participation of 100,000 people. They
demanded the dismissal of Defense Minister Sharon, an immediate ceasefire, and the
initiation of diplomatic negotiations.

The Peace Now demonstration set the stage for an immediate proliferation of protest
movements. On July 8, eighty-six soldiers and officers set up an organization called Yesh
Gvul (literally, ‘‘there is a limit,”” or ‘‘there is a border’’). Submitting a petition to the
prime minister and to the minister of defense, they demanded permission not to serve in
Lebanon. Two days later an organization calling itself ‘‘Soldiers Against Silence’’ was
formed, which included some 300 reserve soldiers who claimed (correctly) that under
government instructions the IDF was silencing criticism. Had it not been for that, they
contended, the siege of Beirut which was strenuously opposed by many in the service
would never have commenced; hence it had been an illegal act. On July 26, Yesh Gvul
and Soldiers Against Silence held two separate demonstrations in Jerusalem.

On August 5. during the bloodiest period in the siege of Beirut, thousands of
torch-carrying members of Peace Now laid a symbolic siege on Begin’s residence. Two
days later an ad hoc Committee Against the War in Lebanon organized a protest march
in Tel Aviv in which 10,000 people took part. Simultaneously another group announced
that it was going on a hunger strike for as long as the war continued. On August 8, 2,000
supporters of Soldiers Against Silence submitted a petition to the prime minister in which
they expressed three main demands: the IDF should not be ordered again to open fire in
Beirut; the government should pursue negotiations with the besieged PLO; the silence
about the circumstances in which the war had been expanded beyond the twenty-five-mile
limit should be broken. The symbolic importance of the petition was underlined by the
facts that the petitioners were all from front-line combat units, and their leading
spokesman was Avraham Burg, son of the incumbent minister of the interior.®’

The IDF

Unlike Sharon’s cabinet colleagues, the Labor opposition, and public opinion at large, the
IDF, and in particular the regular command structure, could not honestly complain that it
had been the victim of a cleverly contrived deception by the minister of defense. The IDF
had had elaborate contingency plans for a whole variety of operations not only in Lebanon
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but elsewhere in the Middle East. This in itself reflected no Israeli political intention, rather
it was a standard military planning procedure that every army with a command structure
worthy of the name, including the Swiss army, simply has to follow. Contingency planning
delineates the army’s working perception of the threats with which it might have to deal.
As such it forms an essential basis for training programs, procurement programs, annual
working plans—indeed, for the army’s organizational structure.

Moreover, the escalation of the Syrian-Israeli arms race after the October 1973 war,
Syria’s intensified involvement in Lebanon, the fact that Syria had gradually become
Israel’s single most important foe, and, of course, the escalation of the conflict with the
PLO inevitably intensified the IDF’s planning concerning a variety of operations in
Lebanon. This did not necessarily involve explicit instruction from the political echelon
with a specific deadline. It was at least in part a matter of anticipation by the General Staff
that sooner or later it would inevitably be instructed to do something about both the PLO
and the Syrians. Nor was this anticipatory organizational response confined to the
‘‘drawing board,”’ so to speak. Throughout the 1970s the IDF carried out in Lebanon
actual operations involving the air force, the navy, all the available types of land forces,
and of course the intelligence community. And the greater the variety of ad hoc
operational responses the IDF had to produce, the greater the effort it invested in both
planning and training programs which, to various degrees, were inspired by the
presupposition that a major showdown in Lebanon was in the offing.

Nor would it be fair to say that this anticipation was only a cause of resentment. Like
the overwhelming majority of Israelis, the IDF command at all levels looked upon Syria
and the PLO with a mixture of contempt and concern which is normally reserved for
mortal enemies. But in addition, the IDF had its own very specific reasons to be receptive
to the idea of a military operation. For one thing, it had emerged from the October 1973
war with a frustration nourished by the heavy toll paid in that war and, at least as much,
by a feeling that the armed forces were made by the Meir government to begin the war in
the wrong way. Had Meir given permission for a preemptive strike, many officers felt, the
course of the 1973 war would have been quite different.®®

This attitude was reinforced by an accumulating frustration in the course of the
more-than-decade-long encounter with the PLO in Lebanon. The relative restraint of
successive Israeli governments, including Begin’s own, implied that operationally the
IDF had never been given an opportunity to deal with the PLO effectively. Instead of a
relentless pursuit maximizing a cardinal element in IDF doctrine, namely, ‘‘the exploi-
tation of success,”’ the IDF had been permitted only to engage in limited operations
leading to casualties, to a great deal of waste in training resources, to a bad press, but not
to any conclusive results. This feeling understandably grew after Operation Litani.
Hamstrung by political constraints and heavy-handed as it appeared, this operation earned
the IDF little respect and, indeed, involved it in scandals that suggested a decline in its
ethics.® Then, early in July 1981, the IDF was given permission to pursue the PLO more
fully, only to be stopped on July 24, by Begin’s decision to accept a ceasefire when the
general staff was convinced that the PLO was on the verge of collapse.

As deeply felt as this frustration may have been, from the IDF’s point of view the real
menace was Syria. According to an intelligence estimate carried out in 1981, the rapid
buildup of forces in Syria, with Soviet assistance, would render 1984 a year of
maximum peril. From then on, it was estimated, the Syrians might feel strong enough to
initiate a full-scale war for limited gains or, at the very least, some sort of war of
attrition.®® Against this background the experience of the Yom Kippur War suggested two
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utterly contradictory courses of action. One would be preventive war before Syria was
ready. The IDF could then choose the time and the preferred strategy and, given previous
experiences with preventive action as well as with wars initiated by the Arabs, the chances
would be good that Israel could score an impressive victory at a low cost in both life and
matériel.°! An alternative view, however, was the recognition that every previous war had
vastly accelerated the arms race and thus proved to be to Israel’s long-term disadvantage.
With Egypt out of the war cycle, it could be argued, Syria felt isolated and was rapidly
arming in order to improve its ability to withstand an attack from Israel. Assad was a
pragmatic and cautious leader and would not run the risks involved in taking on Israel
without the massive support of other Arab armies. But since Iraq was bogged down in a
hopeless war with Iran, and Jordan was quite unlikely to expose itself to another
disastrous war with Israel, Assad had virtually no war option at all.*?

Such contradictory theses represented the very epitome of a security dilemma. And,
in the same way that the rest of the Israeli elite was split about how to deal with it, so was
the IDF; however, in the same way that support for some operations would ultimately
appear more attractive to a larger part of that elite than would an avoidance of any action,
so did the IDF too ultimately tilt in its professional evaluation toward support for a major
move. The debate was conducted in an Israeli setting in the latter part of the twentieth
century, but both the options and, indeed, the outcome had been in a sense predicted by
an age-old tradition of thought that Rousseau had so succinctly articulated in the latter part
of the eighteenth century.

At the same time, there are some indications that the ‘‘war party’’ within the IDF was
not substantially stronger than the ‘‘antiwar party’’ or that, at the very least, the latter
constituted a formidable group. As (then) Deputy Chief of Staff General Moshe Levi was
to admit, within the IDF command *‘the debate on the war preceded that war; it was the
first [war in Israel’s history] to be debated and analyzed so much before it took place.
Every soldier went to war with his own assessment.”’® Thus the appearance on the scene
of Arik Sharon turned out to be critical, since in his position as minister of defense he had
the authority of an ultimate and indisputable arbiter. To oppose his verdict would mean
the opponents might have to resign from the service or suffer a setback in terms of their
prospects for future promotion. This would have been the case with any minister of
defense, but given Sharon’s well-known brutality and his vindictiveness toward any
opponent, whether a military subordinate or a political colleague, the dilemma confront-
ing those IDF officers who felt that a war was not inescapable became far more acute. On
the whole—and, as one of the few exceptions to this rule, Brigadier General Dov
(‘‘Dovik’’) Tamari was quick to point out, not to their credit—the opponents of the war
within the IDF resolved this dilemma by playing what came to be known as Rosh Katan
(‘“‘small head’’): they kept their criticisms and doubts to themselves and obeyed orders
they opposed.®* The result was that for the first time in Israel’s history, a war was launched
by an IDF that was not sufficiently motivated to pursue it with vigor, élan, and
unwavering determination.

In fairness to Sharon it ought to be emphasized that such unhealthy tendencies would
have been, and were, detected at the time he took office, a year before the war. Upon
assuming office Sharon received a letter from General Avraham Rotem, who was then
retiring from service:

Please view this letter as a soldier’s report. . . . It is written after everything. It is not
based on any personal hopes and it does not contain any personal requests. Its only
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purpose is to throw light on the situation from a personal point of view. In my opinion
the IDF in recent years has been led by extreme conservatives. Human relationships
have become pervasively suspicious and lacking in trust. There is abuse of power and
position. There is a tendency for false pretensions and excessive self-confidence.

The result is damage on two counts. a. A significant decline, even deterioration
in military thinking, concepts of war, structure, organization, training and recruitment.
b. An erosion of the human infrastructure, depreciation of its values and stagnation in
thinking, loyalty and initiative. . . .

Conservatism (such as this) is inevitably anti-intellectual. It reflects a conceptual
crudity. And it is blind to nuance. Everything is black or white. The solution is
frequently all or nothing. Partial alternatives are dismissed as bad words. The extreme
conservative officer is vindictive and bad-tempered. Pushed into a corner intellectually
he keeps a grudge and will never forgive him who proved him wrong.

Such phenomena become worse when they go hand in hand with an atmosphere
of total paranoia. For the paranoid the ‘“*clique’’ is a refuge and only he who is well
known, he who has shared past experiences and was O.K., can join it. He who is not
of the ‘‘clique’’ is a potential enemy and he who would not join the chorus of ‘‘yes
men’’ harms the sacred harmony and as such poses a threat and has to be removed.
Loyalty to a tyrant [sic] is to tell him what he likes to hear. Criticism—be it
constructive as it may be—is perceived as a personal affront, and attempt to undermine
the tyrant’s position.

This situation, Rotem added, has critically affected the IDF’s ability to perform.

In my evaluation slowly but surely a wrong concept of war as a static,
predictable, carefully pre-phased affair settles in. The more distant the previous war,
the ‘‘clearer’’ appears the next. The result is a defensive concept. [It begins] from the
belief that, first, we’ll break them in a good defensive [war] and then we’ll regroup and
launch an offensive. Basking in the possibility that seemingly exists for a preventive
offense stifles thinking about the more realistic scenario of both an offense and a
defense simultaneously. There is no thinking about an attack which is not dependent
on a defense and on the adversary’s planning. There are no clear objectives for an

offensive. . . .
Often it seems that the handling of land forces is like a car sliding down a cliff
while the passengers . . . do not seem to know what should be done. Should the hand

brake or the emergency brake be used to prevent a disaster? No amount of words will
alter the fact that the reorganization of land forces is urgently called for, not in order
to save money but in order to give it again conceptual, doctrinal and organizational
momentum. . . .

In the IDF today there is a hostility to an original, thoughtful and creative officer.
His superiors do not understand what motivates him. The pretenders see with alarm the
possibility of real development which will make a mockery of their own useless tricks
and inventions. . . . Only a few have the restiveness and the critical thinking which
stops them from accepting what is. Only few have the intellectual stamina, the energy
which is needed to confront the problems and find solutions. Only a handful have the
tenacity and resilience which are required to make suggestions and defend them at risk
to their careers and friendships.

These are now fought by the system. It leads to despair and attrition, it sets
high penalties for criticism and offers attractive prizes for conformity, silence and
docility. . . .

The IDF has become a train with many cars carrying heavy and expensive duty
but moving slowly on a side track, headed by an ancient locomotive which has lost its
power, which rather than pulling holds back; and all it can do is to honk and
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occasionally blow some smoke. The guards of the track are impressed from a distance
by the semblance of the reality and by the expensive cargo, but they do not notice that
the train moves by the inertia invested in the cars while consuming the energy which
was gained by the previous trip. . . . Hence instead of replacing the locomotive by a
new and powerful diesel, they replace some of the cars and add rusty old additional
locomotives . . . soon the energy will be spent, the inertia will dissipate and the train
will come to a halt.® .

This concerned critique by a person who was typically perceived as a strict and loyal
disciplinarian clearly suggests that the IDF that had been ordered into Lebanon in June
1982 had suffered a serious malaise long before the war. The mediocre performance in the
war cannot therefore be blamed only on Sharon’s putative deception. If Rotem is correct
in his analysis, and it seems that he was at least correct to a certain extent, the war, any
war, would have been fought sluggishly even if there had been no deception and no
domestic criticism. Against this background Sharon must have further aggravated the
malaise by acting like a tyrant, visibly exceeding his authority, and, above all, denying
the forces in the field clear instructions about their specific objectives during the latter
phase of the war.

The importance of this last factor cannot be overstated. Over the years the IDF had
evolved a remarkable degree of technological sophistication. From an infantry militia in
1948, it had become one of the world’s best equipped armed forces. But its superb
performance in the past had never been the result of sheer technological aptitude. In the
final analysis, its technology had always been a secondary factor, more of a *‘sufficient’”’
than a ‘‘necessary’’ condition. Its real strength had always lay in a racing, competitive
spirit among individuals, units, corps, and services. The best examples reflecting this trait
were the 1956 and 1967 wars, in which not only battlefield outcomes but—especially in
1967—the very outcome of the campaign as a whole was the result not of political
decisions but of a race toward the Suez Canal, the Wailing Wall in the Old City of
Jerusalem, and Kuneitra and the Hermon peak on the Golan.%®

The state of mind that had such a galvanizing and crystallizing effect on the forces
from the general staff all the way down the chain of command could have been created
and nurtured only by an unshaken belief that what they were doing was at once critical,
inescapable, ethical, and honorable. Acting instinctively on such assumptions, they turned,
as Dayan put it, into ‘‘galloping stallions.’” Dayan was fully aware of the fact that this had
sometimes led to military outcomes that significantly reshaped the government’s political
intent (such as reaching the banks of the Suez Canal in 1967 when they had been explicitly
instructed to destroy the Egyptian army and stop west of the Gidi and Mitlah passes). But
the alternative, Dayan had fully acknowledged, was that the IDF would be like ‘‘lazy
oxen.”’ Between the two alternatives, Dayan for one had always preferred the former.®’

One of the most ironic twists in the Lebanon war was the fact that Arik Sharon
himself had been Dayan’s chief instrument of transforming the IDF from lazy oxen into
galloping stallions. Yet in Lebanon his determination to pursue the war first and to rely
on a successful outcome as the principal means of generating consensus later ultimately
accelerated the transformation of much of the IDF command back into lazy oxen. To be
sure, this swing of the dispositional pendulum did not lead to symptoms of disintegration
such as personal cowardite, command from the rear, or any noticeable decline in the
IDF’s very special degree of camaraderie. Thus, a survey conducted by the IDF
Department of Behavioral Science on a sample of 1,500 soldiers from front-line combat
units came up with the following results:
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85% felt that the soldiers at their own level (their peers within their combat units) had
fought and performed well under fire.

60% said that their morale had been “*high’ or “‘very high’’while they were in battle
with their units.

86% said that they received a “*high’’ or *“‘very high’’ degree of mutual support from
their peers in their units while in battle.

80% said they had a “‘high’’ or ‘*‘very high’’ degree of confidence in their immediate
superior commanders.

76% said they had a **high’” or *‘very high’* degree of confidence in their equipment
and the way it performed in battle.”®

Rather, Sharon’s heavy-handed bullying of the IDF into a war that many felt was not
entirely justified critically increased their existing propensity to act like lazy oxen in terms
of drive and readiness to take risks of both officers and enlisted men. Whereas
overextension and overexertion in previous wars had been a ubiquitous and often even a
dangerous phenomenon, during Operation Peace for the Galilee there were ‘‘islands’’ of
such behavior in the middle of ‘‘lakes’” of caution sometimes bordering on lethargy.
Officers would not readily commit their subordinates to missions involving grave risks.
There was hardly any fighting during the night, previously the IDF’s preferred time for
major operations. There was a noticeable tendency to stall, to call for immense artillery
and air preparation before an assault. ‘‘There was a feeling,”” in the words of the
commanding officer of a crack paratroop unit, ‘‘that it was preferable to go slow but be
safe [rather] than advance rapidly and take risks.” "

Such tendencies may have been reinforced by a number of additional factors that
were not of Sharon’s making, in any case not directly. According to one critique, the IDF
had experienced a significant decline in the quality of manpower signing up for extended
regular service. Consequently many mediocre soldiers succeeded in rising in the ranks
because others had retired to a civilian career.!® If this assertion contains a grain of
truth—which is very difficult to establish!®!—the effects may have been compounded by
the shattering impact on morale the experience of a war in densely populated civilian
zones had on Israeli soldiers. ‘“This is the most terrible war we’ve been in,”’ one soldier
said in an interview. ‘“You entered the camp—the people you saw in front of view were
just civilians—and then someone shoots at you from some house. Well, you have to shoot
back in self-defense, even when you know there are women and children inside (oo, P 7H
To minimize civilian casualties, the IDF operated within very strict procedures which had
been carefully worked out in advance of the war. Yet, paradoxically, this too slowed
down the pace of the campaign and further deteriorated its overall momentum.

If such a factor was relevant only in the western sector of the fighting along the
Mediterranean, where the IDF deployed some two divisions or roughly one-third of the
total invasion force, another, quite different factor had a similar impact in the central and
eastern sectors of the war, where approximately four IDF divisions were confronted
mainly by the Syrian army. Specifically, when civilians were not involved this was caused
by the nature of the terrain. Though preparing for the possibility of a war in Lebanon, the
IDF had essentially kept its earlier doctrine unchanged; it had spent a great deal of
resources on the further mechanization of the main force and on the performance of a
successful combined arms operation. But implicitly it had retained the emphasis on fast,



134 Dilemmas of Security

mechanized thrusts of the kind ideally suited for wide, open spaces but less so for
mountainous areas such as Lebanon.

In tactical terms the main difference between war in an open space and war in a
mountainous terrain lies in the fact that in the mountains movement is confined to a few,
curving, easily defended roads. The defender, in this case the Syrian army, can confront
the attacking force with tank and antitank ambushes and fortified positions. The attacking
force has little room to maneuver and is often forced to proceed in single file on utterly
predictable axes of advance. As a result large fighting forces turn into convoys in which
the lead tank does most of the fighting and incurs most of the risks. When it is
incapacitated it becomes itself a roadblock that increases the vulnerability of the rest of the
force behind it.

Israel had had ample experience with this kind of warfare during the siege of
Jerusalem in the 1948 war. Ultimately the price of breaking through the narrow Jerusalem
highway became so high that it was necessary to pave a ‘‘Burma Road,’’ bypassing the
Arab forces in the area behind their backs. A similar solution was applied to the Lebanon
war in one instance when the IDF engineers paved, in startling speed, a bypass road which
ultimately enabled the forces of Brigadier General Yossi Peled to establish positions on
Jebel Barouq from which they could prevent Syrian reinforcements from pouring into the
Beqa’a. But apart from this instance the IDF fought primarily on the existing, predictable,
and therefore dangerous road system.

For the most part it had succeeded in attaining its objectives within the timetable of
the pre-fighting planning. But on a number of occasions it paid a heavy price, or proved
slow in carrying out the plan, or, indeed, both. The result must have been a peculiar sense
of confusion. On the one hand the IDF was on the offensive at a time and in a method of
its own choosing. It also enjoyed a significant quantitative edge. Yet, at the same time,
the buoyant feeling of a speedy, sweeping, and decisive victory that had been generated
by the advances in previous wars and, in turn, contributed to such victories, never quite
developed in this operation.!%

Strictly speaking Sharon could not have been held responsible for the fact that the IDF
was not optimally prepared for the kind of war it was asked to carry out in Lebanon. The
IDF of 1982 was largely the product of the major buildup of forces that had taken place
primarily under Minister of Defense Shimon Peres, Chief of Staff Mordechai Gur, and
Prime Minister Rabin at a time when Sharon was allowed virtually no influence in this
regard. In addition, at least in the formal sense, the specific tactics of the war were not
Sharon’s responsibility but rather the responsibility of General Eitan and the general staft.
But in reality Sharon did exert an overbearing influence over the actual conduct of the
campaign, and in many respects acted as a kind of super chief of staff. The result was yet
another source of confusion which further reinforced the lack of a real racing spirit. The
war in Lebanon was characterized not only by an excessive concentration of force in relation
to space but also by an excessive concentration of command structures per space, units,
and quantities of manpower. Sharon was constantly breathing down Eitan’s neck and often
bypassing him, giving direct orders to Eitan’s subordinates. If Eitan had any complaints
in this regard he could be blamed for doing much the same thing to General Amir Drori
who, as OC Northern Command, was commissioned with the management of the cam-
paign. Indeed, Eitan’s involvement was often carried to an extreme when he actually rode
along with his subordinates’ spearhead units. Amid this chaos Drori’s legendary self-
composure and taciturn manner were undoubtedly assets. But then his own staff had the
entire general staff kibitzing about it out of a sheer, some may say childish, urge to be
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close to the action. Finally, a similar situation on a lower level developed in General
(‘“Yanush’’) Ben-Gal’s management of the campaign on the eastern front. Ben-Gal acted
as commander of a huge force amounting to an army group. But the proximity of his staff
to the divisional commands subordinate to them was so close that interference and the
inevitable fracturing of the normal chain of command occurred there too.!%4

Such chaos was not merely harmful in itself but also underlined another source of
imperceptible but significant trouble, namely, Sharon’s knack for antagonizing and
demoralizing all but a few of his subordinates. That a minister of defense with such an
awe-inspiring personal record would create around him an air of complete and unchal-
lenged authority was neither new nor entirely surprising. Dayan had had a similar effect
on people and he too could boast a remarkable military career prior to his tenure as
minister of defense. But Dayan’s impact on people was all in all positive. He spoke little
and interfered less. On certain issues he would be brutally decisive, on others he would
not take a stance—for example, in a disagreement between him and the general staff he
would wait for the chief of staff to bring the matter to the prime minister for arbitration.!%3

Sharon’s impact was very different and, especially against the background of a
deeper malaise, disastrously counterproductive. He would interfere with minute details,
bully and humiliate people, and, above all, show neither respect nor even curiosity toward
others’ opinions. The result was that subordinates would sooner or later either confront
him head-on and find themselves relieved of their responsibilities, or, worse still, avoid
challenging him even when it was urgently warranted.!% Such a Byzantine suppression
of dissenting views is the enemy of creativity. It leads to blind subordination and, in an
essentially healthy situation, to the accumulation of pent-up resentment which sooner or
later bursts into the open, usually to the detriment of the entire system.

Sharon had a rich track record of causing outbursts in the ministry of agriculture and
in the ministry of defense. In both capacities he had inherited a smoothly functioning
bureaucracy with an excellent record of achievement, and succeeded in rapidly demor-
alizing them to such an extent that many of the best members of these organizations either
quit their posts or planned to do so.!%” Thus, even if the war of 1982 were to develop into
a great success story, it was probable that he would generate a great deal of resentment.
But the fact that toward the end of the first week of fighting the lack of consensus began
to have its effect must have added impetus to the process in which the minister of defense
was fast losing his authority over his IDF subordinates.

This, to be sure, was not just a lack of consensus with regard to the Lebanon war in
particular, but a deeper division concerning the general outlook of the Likud government.
A virtually paradigmatic example of a citizen’s army, the IDF, especially when mobilized
to full capacity, cannot but reflect general tendencies in Israel society as a whole. Its greatest
victories, in 1956 and 1967, were won when complete national consensus on foreign policy
facilitated a hermetic insulation of the armed forces from politics—maybe not entirely so
at the level of the general staff where appointments are, in effect (though not formally),
authorized by the government, but very much so at the lower levels. Conversely, the rapidly
polarizing debate in Israeli society over the future of the occupied territories pervaded the
army as well, especially at the lower and therefore reserve-based echelons. The earlier
confidence that Israel was at war only because of Arab hostility gave way to doubts on the
part of all center-to-left opinion whether at least a certain part of Arab hostility might be
nourished by Israel’s own intransigent commitment to retain territories occupied in 1967.
Signs of strain in this regard were already discernible before the 1973 war, but they were
multiplied as a result of the Likud government’s policies since 1977, especially the massive
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settlement of the West Bank and the suppressive policies there of Sharon, as minister of
defense, in the year preceding the invasion of Lebanon.

These divisions were aggravated in the course of the Lebanon war because of the
government’s misguided tendency to articulate the aims of the invasion in the rhetoric of
integral Zionism, which to at least half the Israel population—and thus, by extension, half
the IDF—was strange, if not utterly objectionable. Instead of emphasizing the strategic
security rationale of the pursuit of the PLO, government spokesmen, in particular Prime
Minister Begin, Defense Minister Sharon, and Chief of Staff Eitan, presented the invasion
of Lebanon as the Battle for Eretz Israel. For Begin’s domestic constituency this may have
been a sufficient cause for war, but the overwhelming majority of soldiers in the IDF’s
best fighting units were not from Begin’s populist constituency but from kibbutz,
Moshav, or middle-class intelligentsia background. To them Begin’s nationalist rhetoric
was either ridiculous or virtually alienating. And the clearer it became that the war was
expanding beyond the stated original aims, that the toll in life was heavier, that the war
had become more prolonged, the greater the alienation of these soldiers from the war.

The immediate cause of the outburst of resentment against Sharon inside the IDF
was the ‘‘crawling’’ phase in the war on the Beirut-Damascus road and in the siege of
Beirut. In both instances Sharon appeared to be instructing the IDF to carry out operations
that had not been authorized by the cabinet. Consequently he could not issue sufficiently
clear statements of objectives of the kind that had been available in phase I of the same
war and that could conceivably have rekindled the IDF’s customary racing spirit. If such
confusion was sufficient in itself to transform the units in question into lazy oxen, this
tendency was amplified and became the source of an explosive situation because the
“‘crawling’’ method of advances caused heavy casualties. In the case of the Beirut siege,
on top of that, the troops were confronted directly by the results of their own actions
against the civilian population. In the fighting near the Beirut-Damascus road Sharon
created the impression, moreover, that he intended to pursue the Syrian forces further than
he actually did, whereas in the Beirut siege he appeared to be heading toward an order to
break into the besieged sector of town. Above all, in both instances officers and enlisted
men could see how his maneuvering to bend cabinet decisions had become the cause of
poor tactics in the field which resulted in presumably unnecessary casualties.!%®
Consequently there was a self-reinforcing process in which the IDF became embittered
and tended to ignore the minister’s orders or water them down; army officers contacted
politicians and the press with complaints; the pressure on the cabinet to restrain Sharon
increased and, inevitably, so did his tendency to issue new unauthorized orders.

Much of this remained subterranean until the resignation of Colonel Eli Geva,
Commanding Officer of the seventh armored brigade, which had spearheaded the advance
on the coastal road toward the city of Beirut. Eli Geva had been considered a brilliant
officer. Son of Major General Joseph Geva, who retired from service shortly after the
1967 war after a distinguished career in the IDF, Eli Geva was one of the most quickly
promoted officers in the history of the IDF. During the third week of July, 1982, when
it seemed that Sharon was adamant about entering West Beirut, Geva applied for an
interview with the chief of staff, asking to be relieved of his command but to be permitted
to remain with his soldiers as a private. ‘‘I do not have the courage,’” he told Eitan, ‘‘to
look into the eyes of the parents of the soldiers who would be killed going into West
Beirut.”’'% According to Geva, General Eitan did not understand his arguments against
making a ‘‘straight frontal assault’” into the Lebanese capital. ‘*‘He never read about
Lebanon, he does not know about Lebanon,’”” was Geva’s reaction. But Eitan was
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open-minded (or shrewd) enough not to make a decision on his own. He took Geva to
Sharon, who “‘listened carefully,”” but the “‘talk soon turned into a big argument.”
Sharon then took Geva to Prime Minister Begin, whose response was that **Sharon and
Eitan knew what they were doing, and that he, a young colonel, should do what he was
told.”” Frustrated, Geva resigned his command and was dismissed from the IDF. Sharon
and Eitan later charged that Geva had been politically motivated, that he had suffered
mental fatigue, that he was dishonest, and that he had abandoned his soldiers.'!° But this
kind of attempt to counter Geva’s act of protest, which had cost him an exceedingly
promising career, could no longer be effective. The resignation acted like a detonator. It
opened a vent for all the bitterness against and frustration with Sharon that had been
bottled up in the previous six weeks of fighting. The segmentation of the IDF from the
general public which Sharon had attempted to foster in order to be able to proceed with
the implementation of Big Pines thus collapsed.''! In the coming months a great deal of
information about other incidents of protest within the IDF during the war would quickly
reach the public. In turn, Sharon’s authority in the IDF, like his authority in the cabinet,
became so eroded that not even the removal of the PLO from Beirut would suffice to
restore it.

The United States

The Israeli siege of West Beirut ran almost contrary to what had been envisaged in Big
Pines. Studies conducted by the IDF in the course of the planning process, as well as a
full-dress war game held by the IDF general staff on March 8, 1982, had indicated not
only that it would be difficult to bring the whole war to a decisive conclusion but also that
the IDF should do its utmost to avoid an entry into the Lebanese capital. The Phalange,
the war game suggested, were utterly unreliable and if the IDF were to enter Beirut it
could expect only trouble of virtually catastrophic proportions. This notwithstanding,
Sharon and Eitan prepared a plan for a ‘‘straight frontal assault’” into the town as soon as
the IDF reached it, while at the same time banking on a flimsy and ambiguous
understanding with Bashir Gemayal according to which the Phalange were to deal with the
PLO in Beirut with IDF support from the outside.!!?

When the encirclement of the city was completed, however, it became clear that the
leader of the Lebanese Front had no intention whatsoever of implementing his part of the
plan. Worrying about relations with the Arab world following the Israeli invasion, he
could not possibly expose himself to charges that he was acting as an Israeli stooge against
the PLO, the Arab world’s declared favorite son. Sharon and Eitan were thus confronted
with an acute new dilemma, possibly the worst since the beginning of the war. Having
encircled the city they could not order the IDF to lay off without a disastrous loss of face.
But given the mounting indications of opposition in the cabinet, in the Knesset, and in the
public, to the notion of making a break into the city, such an enterprise was also
unacceptable except if no other alternative presented itself (or so the minister of defense
and the chief of staff thought).

This dilemma was further aggravated as a result of the response of the United States.
Again it ran contrary to one of Sharon’s most important assumptions. In Sharon’s scenario
Haig would be co-opted on behalf of the Reagan administration. Sharon knew only too
well that no other leading member of the administration would permit Israel to carry out
the military campaign that he had in mind. He suspected, as has been shown, that sooner
or later the Reagan administration might be tempted to push Israel toward an accommo-
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Table 1. U.S. Arms Deliveries to Israel, January—March 1980, 1981, 1982 (in U.S. dollars)

Item 1980 1981 1982

Aircraft 22,300,000 142,454,000 187,604,000
Vehicles and Weapons 1,702,000 17,000 20,410,000
Ammunition 278,000 1,068,000 6,725,000
Missiles 16,000 3,179,000 127,000
Miscellaneous Support Equipment 11,000 104,000
Training, Maps, Other Assistance 412,000 1,300,000 2,631,000
TOTAL 24,719,000 148,018,000 217,601,000

Source: Defense Security Assistance Agency, Washington. Quoted by Claudia Wright in In These Times, 14 Sept. 1982.

dation with the PLO. But he also realized Haig’s different perspective on the same set of
issues, specifically the latter’s inclination to permit Israel to bleed the PLO. Therefore he
was apparently led to believe that Haig could somehow be co-opted. That would enable
the minister of defense to convince the Israeli cabinet that the United States had given a
green light for a military operation and, more important still, it would force the
administration to back up Haig’s position afterward. Unlike Israel’s previous wars, the
military operation would thus be conducted without significant American attempts to stop
it, despite the fact that not the entire administration would be supportive. In a way Sharon
hoped to use Haig as a shield against U.S. interference with the operation.

In the months preceding the outbreak of hostilities there were clear indications that
Sharon’s gambit would work insofar as the United States was concerned. For one thing
the Department of Defense showed an inordinate willingness to step up shipments of arms
ordered by Israel. This is clearly reflected in Table I, which compares arms deliveries in
the first half of 1982 with the same period in 1980 and 1981. The table shows that in the
first quarter of 1982 Israel took delivery of $217,601,000 worth of supplies, or nearly ten
times more than in 1980 and over 50 percent more than in 1981. The main items
accounting for the change were ten F-15 planes, fourteen tank recovery vehicles, nineteen
self-propelled 155 mm howitzers, and over six million dollars in bombs and munitions,
all of which were important for the approaching war.

Simultaneously there was a noticeable buildup of U.S. naval forces in the eastern
Mediterranean. Shortly before the war the U.S.S. Ranger was ordered to sail from San
Diego, California. It reached the Indian Ocean on June 1, five days before the war. As
soon as the Ranger was on station, another aircraft carrier, the U.S.S. Kennedy, was
ordered to sail to the shores of Lebanon. It crossed the Suez Canal on June 3 and was close
to Lebanon before the outbreak of hostilities. Also on June 1, the aircraft carrier U.S.S.
Eisenhower and its escorts left Naples, Italy, and sailed southeast to take up position
within range of Soviét naval anchorages near Crete. Simultaneously, U.S. marine and
amphibious landing equipment were assembled at the Spanish port of Rota and readied to
sail for Lebanon. This force left Rota on the day the war broke out, headed toward
Lebanon with the expressed purpose of evacuating Americans from the war zone.

Moreover the force in question had also been trained during the preceding three
months for a landing operation. Indeed, one report suggests that the U.S.S. Guam, a
helicopter carrier which later participated in the marine landing in Beirut, had left
Norfolk, Virginia, en route to Rota, Spain, as early as May 24. These and other
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movements of the U.S. fleet led to the accumulation by June 23 of not less than thirty-nine
U.S. vessels close to Lebanese shores.!!3

Whether this was done in coordination with Israel’s war plans is a matter of some
dispute. Logically it seems implausible that the Reagan administration would allow itself
to become a partner in an Israeli war plan that even Haig did not explicitly endorse. But
the IDF was fully aware of the accumulation of this American fleet near Lebanon and
probably pleased to see it take place, thus adding a considerable deterrent against any
possible Soviet interference in the war. Moreover, assuming that the American buildup
reflected an intense anticipation in Washington of an Israeli invasion and given the
number of times Sharon had spoken openly of his plans, the minister of defense had every
justification to argue later that the United States could not “‘tell . . . [Israel] that . . . [it
was] caught by surprise.’” I “‘used to see Habib, Haig and Weinberger exclusively to
discuss the problem of terrorism and the PLO,’” he said. ‘I never kept secrets from them.
I never made mysteries . . . when I spoke about Lebanon. I kept warning them: Don’t be
caught by surprise.”’!!4

Sharon’s argument, at least in this regard, is corroborated by a number of highly
credible sources. During a meeting with Philip Habib at the residence of U.S.
Ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis on December 4, 1981, ‘‘Minister Sharon described
in some hypothetical detail that concept for what ultimately . . . was called ‘Big Pines.’
. . . Habib was . . . rather dumbfounded by the audacity and the political concept that this
seemed to involve.”” According to Ambassador Lewis, ‘‘Habib reacted at that point very
vehemently. . . . He made it extraordinarily clear to Sharon that this was an unthinkable
proposition as far as the U.S. Government was concerned.”” Moreover, Habib reported
the talk in Washington, and the result was a written warning from the president to Begin
not to go to war.!'!>

Neither Sharon nor Begin, however, had any intention of taking this no for a formal,
binding, and irreversible U.S. answer. During his mission to Washington late in January
1982, Chief of Military Intelligence Saguy shared Israel’s plans with Secretary of State
Haig and returned home convinced that Haig was sympathetic. As contacts with other
administration officials in the coming months made plain, however, Haig’s response was
not shared by many in Washington. Fully aware of this, Sharon nevertheless traveled to
the U.S. capital in May 1982 in order to nail Haig down more. When the two ex-generals
met, Haig raised no objection to an Israeli operation in Lebanon provided it would be
quick, surgical, and decisive.!!®

Given the vast differences between Haig on the one hand and the rest of the
administration, including the president, vice president, secretary of defense, and Haig’s
own State Department subordinates on the other hand, it is not at all surprising that
Sharon’s plan to tie the hands of the United States in advance by informing senior officials
of his intentions did not work as well as he had hoped. President Reagan and his entourage
heard about the Israeli invasion as they were leaving for a series of high-level talks with
European leaders. According to one study they were ‘‘furious at both the timing and
substance of the Israeli action.”’!!” Moreover, within a short time they were confronted
not merely by Arab complaints but, indeed, by an expression of Soviet concern from the
hot line and by intelligence reports that the Soviets alerted the same units that they had
prepared for intervention in 1973.''® Anxious to avoid the possibility of Soviet
intervention on the side of Syria, Haig proposed to arrange a ceasefire between Israeli and
Syrian forces but not between Israel and the PLO. He added a stiff warning to Israel not
to break this arrangement. The fact that the IDF continued its operation, including the
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campaign against the Syrian forces, was thus at once an affront to the United States and
to Haig personally. He was now accused by most other high-level foreign policy advisers,
especially in the White House, of having tacitly acquiesced with Israel’s position to the
detriment of U.S. interests in the Middle East. Nevertheless, convinced that ejecting the
PLO from Beirut would assist in the achievement of some sort of a settlement, Haig
remained adamant that no pressure should be applied to force Israel to lift the siege before
the ejection of the PLO.

Haig’s position concerning Syria confronted the Israeli government with a dilemma.
Sharon was anxious to exploit fully the IDF’s success on both the Syrian and the Beirut
fronts. The fact that Haig would ward off pressures in the administration concerning only
the Beirut area therefore forced Sharon to make a choice: Should the IDF accept the
ceasefire with the Syrians before accomplishing all its goals, or should it do so in the
Beirut area? Since the declared rationale of the operation was to liquidate the PLO and not
to fight Syria, Sharon basically had no choice. He instructed the IDF to halt its advance
toward Shtoura and Zahle—which in his estimate would take only an additional
twenty-four hours. His hope was that this move would ease U.S. pressure and would
permit the IDF at least to break the back of the PLO in Beirut. As it happened, this too
proved more difficult than Sharon had expected.!!?

While Haig was acting more or less in accordance with Sharon’s Beirut scenario,
however, other prominent members of the administration—including Vice President
Bush, Secretary of Defense Weinberger, Assistant Secretary of State Nicholas A.
Veleotes, Ambassador Philip Habib, the White House staff, and U.S. Ambassador to
Israel Samuel Lewis—were in fact taking steps to undercut Haig’s position, ultimately
leaving Sharon’s plan in this regard in ruins. Following the death on June 14 of King
Khaled of Saudi Arabia, Bush and Weinberger flew to Riyadh for the funeral. While there
they promised their hosts that the United States would do its utmost to prevent Israel from
entering Beirut.'?° Sharon’s implied threat that if the PLO did not leave the Lebanese
capital on its own, the IDF would eject it by force was thus being undermined not only
by Israeli public opinion but also by the vice president and the secretary of defense of the
United States. The news was no doubt conveyed by the Saudis to Yasser Arafat, thus
encouraging him in one of his worst moments to play for time rather than to yield to
Israel’s pressure.

To be sure, from Arafat’s point of view yielding to Israel within a few days of the
siege did not make much sense in any case, except if it were to be traded for an American
or, at least, a UN declaration recognizing the Palestinians’ right to self-determination.
Short of that the PLO could not leave its last independent base close to Israel without at
least putting up some resistance, since a rushed submission to Israel’s demands would
undoubtedly destroy Arafat’s position irreparably.'?! Alternatively, if the PLO held Israel
at bay for a prolonged siege, it would gain world attention on a grand scale and might after
all succeed in extracting some politically meaningful concessions from the United States.
At the very least, a submission after a protracted siege could be justified in the eyes of the
Palestinian masses. Against the background of such a calculus, an American promise
transmitted through Saudi Arabia that the IDF would not be allowed to attempt a break
into the beleaguered city was, for Arafat, a significant present.

Yet what was a present for Arafat was a catastrophe for Sharon. Given the opposition
from all directions, now including the United States, to an entry by the IDF into West
Beirut, the only alternative was to keep up the siege and hope that ultimately the PLO
would agree to leave. But if the PLO was playing for time with active U.S. support,
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Israel’s position—Sharon’s in particular—was becoming increasingly embarrassing.
Indeed, the rapidly changing mood in Israel indicated that there was even a danger of
domestic pressure leading to an Israeli decision to lift the siege without results. In that
event the ultimate objective, the very raison d’étre, of Operation Peace for the Galilee
would not be achieved and Sharon personally would suffer a major setback. It was
therefore essential from Sharon’s point of view to obtain quick withdrawal of the PLO at
almost any cost.

Such a calculus led to Sharon’s orders to the IDF gradually to tighten the siege on
West Beirut. By so doing Sharon was joining Arafat in a cruel game which was to be
played out on Beirut’s civilian population. It also ran contrary to the wishes of the Reagan
administration, with the exception of Haig. Consequently the IDF’s ‘‘crawling,’’ leading
to an ever-tightening of the siege, merely accelerated Haig’s decline in Washington.
Sensing this, he indicated to President Reagan toward the end of June that he intended to
resign following the congressional elections in November. In a sense Reagan had been
waiting for such a gesture. On June 24 he ‘‘accepted’’ Haig’s resignation and proceeded
to appoint George Shultz to the post. Shultz had been widely regarded as pro-Arab. He
had been president of the Bechtel Corporation, which had extensive business in Saudi
Arabia, and he had been on record as supporting Reagan’s program on all issues with the
exception of Israel. His appointment to replace Haig in the middle of a major bout of
misunderstanding between the Begin government and the Reagan administration was thus
widely regarded as a setback for Begin, Sharon, and their colleagues. From Sharon’s
point of view this meant, or so it seemed, that a critical element in his calculations before
the invasion had collapsed.

Meanwhile it seemed that U.S. special envoy Philip Habib, who on June 16 had been
assigned by Reagan the difficult task of bringing about a PLO withdrawal, was running
into great difficulties. The reasons were at once substantive and procedural. If the crux of
the Israeli intention in moving against the PLO had been to undercut a visible trend in
U.S. policy toward some recognition of the PLO, the last thing that should have been
allowed to happen was direct negotiations between Habib and Arafat at Israel’s behest.
The alternative, however, was that Habib would negotiate with Arafat through one or
another prominent Lebanese Moslem. But not all Lebanese were acceptable to Arafat.
Hence it took some time before a solution to this was found: the go-between would be
Lebanese Sunni Moslem Prime Minister Shafiq al Wazzan. But negotiating a difficult
agreement such as this with Arafat through the good offices of the Lebanese politician
could not but be extremely time consuming and so it was.

Substantively too the Israeli position made finding an acceptable formula for PLO
withdrawal a complicated matter. Arafat and many of his colleagues were prepared to
withdraw to the Beqa’a valley and/or to the town of Tripoli in north Lebanon as early as
June 11-12. However, both areas were under Syrian control and Israel, by the declared
purpose of its policy, reiterated at the White House during Begin’s visit on June 21, that
it was determined to see the removal of all foreign (Syrian, in the first place) forces from
Lebanon’s territory. How could Israel insist that the PLO was a foreign force but at the
same time allow it to settle down on Lebanese soil?!?

The alternative, which Israel would agree to, was the removal of the PLO to Syria
proper. Haig’s last act as secretary of state was, in fact, to try to convince the PLO and
the Syrians to accept this proposal, which he passed through the Saudis.'?® But the idea
had serious drawbacks from the point of view of both Syria and the PLO. To be sure, a
Syrian force of nearly brigade size had been trapped in West Beirut. At the same time
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Syria saw Israel’s difficulties, the tensions with the United States, the domestic criticism,
the blemishing of the Jewish state’s image in the Western media. This added up to an
important gain for Syria even at the price of one infantry brigade. Syria, therefore, did not
seem to be in any hurry to relieve Israel of this situation. Beyond that, Syria’s relations
with the PLO had always been exceedingly ambivalent. The Syrians may have reasoned
that to accommodate Yasser Arafat’s 15,000 armed agitators could cause problems inside
Syria itself. Accordingly, Syria rejected this idea on July 9.

Had Syria not rejected the idea that the PLO would find shelter on its territory, it is
almost certain that the PLO itself would ultimately have rejected it. If the realities of
power in the Middle East are to be judged by official declarations, such a speculation
would appear quite unwarranted. After all, few governments in the Arab world had a
better record of verbal support for the cause of the PLO than the Ba’ath regime. The ‘‘old’’
Ba’ath, which had ruled Syria from 1963 until the coup d’état of February 1966, had in fact
been the true godfather of Yasser Arafat’s own Fateh. In reality the key persons on the
Syrian side who had been most initimately involved in setting up this organization were
Ahmen Sueydani and Hafez al Assad. The latter was one of the two key figures in the
coup of 1966 that had replaced the ‘‘old’’ Ba’ath with the ‘‘new’ Ba’ath (meaning
predominantly Alawi in its ethnic composition and more radical in its political orienta-
tion). Moreover, since this coup Syria had steadfastly committed itself to a stance in the
Arab-Israeli conflict that was sometimes even less compromising than that of the PLO.

But beyond this facade of utter devotion to the Palestinian cause, Syria had often
been, Yasser Arafat knew only too well, the most ruthless suppressor of the Palestinians’
freedom of action. The Jedid-Assad regime threw the entire Fateh leadership into a Syrian
prison in May 1966. It had been behind an attempt to assassinate Arafat and some of his
colleagues a few months later. While arming, training, and supplying the Fateh and later
the revamped PLO during 1963-66, 1967-76, and 1977-82, while in fact invading Jordan
in September 1970 for the expressed purpose of rescuing the PLO from the wrath of King
Hussein’s Bedouin troops, the Alawi Ba’arh had also engaged intermittently in the active
suppression of the Palestinians. It had set up and maintained organizations such as a/
Saiga, a constituent member of the PLO but also a direct instrument of Syrian policy. It
had severely restricted the PLO’s freedom to operate against Israel from Syrian territory.
In the course of the Lebanon civil war, especially during the spring and summer of 1976,
Syria, using al Saiqa and units of the Palestinian Liberation Army (PLA), and finally
Syrian regular troops, attempted to stop the PLO from fighting alongside the LNM under
Druze leader Kamal Jumblatt against the Maronite-dominated Lebanese Forces. During
the Litani Operation of March 1978, Syrian forces did nothing at all to assist the PLO in
its confrontation with Israel. And on the eve of the 1982 Israeli invasion Syria may have
employed al Saiga in order to provoke Israel at a time when Arafat was at pains to avoid
such a provocation. In a word, Syria’s policy toward the PLO was governed entirely by
the Alawi Ba’ath concept of the Syrian national interest. If Yasser Arafat were to go from
Beirut to Syria he would be in fact terminating his organization’s hard-won political
autonomy. A PLO operating exclusively from Syria would not be more meaningful than
Ahmed Shukeiri’s PLO in Egypt during the years immediately preceding the Six-Day
War. The entire edifice that Arafat had spent all his life setting up would thus be destroyed
as a result of a peculiar but very real conjunction of interests between Arik Sharon and
Hafez al Assad.'®*

To realize that such considerations would decide the PLO’s response to the idea that
they should move from West Beirut to Syria does not require an elaborate intelligence
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operation. The record in this regard is so starkly clear that the conclusion can be very
simply deduced. It is thus astonishing that Haig could have seriously believed that the
concept of a PLO retreat from West Beirut to Syria proper had any chance of being
accepted by either Syria or the PLO. Yet it took a precious two weeks for the U.S.
government to realize that this formula would not work. At this stage Philip Habib came
up with another, equally unworkable idea, namely, that the PLO be disarmed but
permitted to stay in Beirut as a political organization. One possible inspiration to try this
idea came from the French government which supported such ideas and which since the
second week of the war had acted as an active intermediary between the PLO on the one
hand and the United States government on the other. But if the French were instrumental
in focusing attention on this proposal so were Habib and the State Department. Indeed, the
notion that a solution should hinge on a political (rather than terroristic) PLO represented
a legacy, a residue of thought, a philosophy, which had existed in certain sections of the
state department since the early 1970s. During the Carter administration the supporters of
this line came into their own, since the president, Secretary of State Cyrus Vance, the
NSC Middle East staff, and in particular William Quandt had all adhered to them with the
single-mindedness of religious faithfuls. Since Alexander Haig did not share these views,
they were put on ice by the secretary’s subordinates. But the crisis in Lebanon seemed to
open up opportunities for a revival of this policy which essentially boiled down to a
second phase in the policy of Camp David, in which the peace process would shift from
the Egyptian-Israeli dimension to the Jordanian-Palestinian-Israeli nexus.

Specifically what Assistant Under Secretary of State Veleotes and Ambassador Habib
had in mind was that the weakening of the PLO as a result of the Israeli invasion should
be exploited in order to force the PLO to back up Jordanian-Israeli negotiations. Jordan,
bound by the Rabat Summit decision in 1974 which had declared the PLO the ‘‘sole
legitimate representatives of the Palestinians,’’ could not move without Arafat’s blessing.
Arafat’s weakness owing to the IDF siege of West Beirut could thus be exploited for the
purpose of forcing him to give King Hussein such a blessing. In exchange for this, the
United States would guarantee that Israel would lift the siege.

This plan, however, failed to appreciate fully Israel’s political purpose in the
Lebanon war, namely, detroying the PLO as a political force capable of claiming a
Palestinian state on the West Bank. This idea would have been rejected by the Labor party
no less than by the Likud. It was therefore not at all surprising that Sharon rejected it out
of hand.!?> Meanwhile the uproar in Israel was building and therefore so was the pressure
on Sharon to tighten the siege and, inevitably, the misery of the civilians who had become
pawns in this game.

Consequently the U.S. government was slowly coming to the conclusion that it had
led itself into an abyss. Its policy hitherto, resulting as it had from the backstage fighting
between Haig and his rivals, had the effect of encouraging Israel to invade but to stop the
IDF at the gates of Beirut, too far from Zahleh to have an adequate impact on Syria. The
same policy had also inspired hopes in the Arab world that the United States would find
a solution to the intractable Israel-PLO deadlock. But American diplomacy alone was
evidently incapable of pulling such a fast one. If the crisis were to be resolved it could
only be the result of a greater American involvement. The upshot was a realization in
Washington, encouraged no doubt by Philip Habib, whose own mission was hopelessly
in trouble, that American troops might have to be committed to the Beirut scene.

The first indication that the Reagan administration was coming close to such a
decision was given by the president himself. On July 6 he mentioned somewhat obliquely
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that he would consider *‘in principle’” the possibility of contributing *‘a small contingent™’
of U.S. troops to a multinational force for ‘temporary peacekeeping’’ in Beirut.'?® When
this announcement was made it was still perceived as part of an effort to persuade Syria
to take the PLO. When the topic was negotiated with Arafat, he indicated that wherever
he and his men were going they would need reliable protection for themselves as well as
an assurance that their families and the rest of the Palestinian population would not
become prey to Phalangist brutalities. Since a Lebanese Army capable of carrying out
such a duty was not available and since Israel would not even consider any kind of Arab
peacekeeping force, a foreign force acceptable to all the different parties became the only
alternative. And since the United States was the chief intermediary, it was clear that it
would have to lead the way in this regard.

The hint that the United States might consider such a step was obviously insufficient
to make Haig’s ‘‘Syrian solution’ more workable. In fact it may even have been so
objectionable to the Syrians and their Soviet allies that the latter’s position hardened
further. An indication that this was the effect on Syria of Reagan’s announcement was
given three days later, on July 9, when Syria announced that it would not take the PLO.!?”
Faced with this impasse Habib now focused in his indirect negotiations with Arafat on the
last remaining option for a solution: a PLO withdrawal to a variety of Arab countries
willing to accept it with PLO agreement under the protective umbrella of a multinational
force consisting primarily of American GIs.

In retrospect this solution appears clearly to have been an ill-conceived *‘quick fix,”
and against the hideous background of confrontation in Beirut it was a cumbersome and
very inadequate solution. In essence it involved at least four sets of separate but simul-
taneous negotiations: Reagan had to negotiate with Congress in order to obtain backing for
the proposition that U.S. troops would once again be committed to a scene of conflict
overseas; Arafat had to persuade his divided and suspicious colleagues to leave; both Arafat
and the U.S. government had to negotiate with a variety of Arab countries the terms under
which the PLO would be allowed to take shelter in their territories; and the U.S. government
had to find eligible and willing partners for the risky and most unattractive task of
peacekeeping in the Lebanese capital. To this negotiating nightmare one could easily name
additional difficulties with the Israelis, the fundamental problem being created by the fact
that Habib could negotiate with Arafat only through al Wazzan, and, last but not least, the
fact that all these negotiations involved some very intricate technical problems.

Theoretically, of course, the matter could have been simplified if only the United
States had agreed to send its own forces alone, if only Yasser Arafat had agreed that his
people would go to one, rather than to several, countries, and if only Israel had agreed that
Habib would maintain a direct contact with Arafat. In practice it was equally improbable
that any of these actors would accept such a simplification. From the U.S. point of view
the proposition that less than a decade after the Vietnam War, American GIs would once
again be exposed to risk within the framework of an open-ended mandate was totally
unacceptable. Other powers would have to be brought in if sending of U.S. troops were
to be palatable to the American public.

From Arafat’s point of view, going with all his forces to one Arab country, even if
it were not Syria, would risk giving up the PLO’s independence. The main source of
Arafat’s success in previous years had been his remarkable resourcefulness in taking
advantage of inter-Arab differences. This strategy was greatly enhanced by the quasi-
transnational configuration of Arafat’s main constituency, the Palestinian refugees from
what had become Israel proper. If he were to seek one center in place of Beirut in a
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country that had, unlike Lebanon, an effective government, he would almost certainly
find his organization severely restricted by the host government. In fact, given the
experience of the PLO in Jordan, it could be taken for granted that any Arab host
government would be loath to allow a powerful agitating body such as the PLO any real
measure of independence. The implication from Arafat’s point of view was simple. He
would have to hedge his bets. The PLO would suffer from the distance from Israel—its
prime target for guerrilla operations—and from its dispersal. But its continued existence
would not be immediately in jeopardy as the result of a decision of a single Arab
government. Indeed, Arafat was in search of weak and preferably moderate Arab states,
which would find it difficult to suppress the PLO because of the anticipation of a chorus
of criticism in the larger Arab family of nations. The distant Tunisia, Morocco, and South
Yemen were thus preferable to powerful countries such as Syria and Egypt which were
Israel’s immediate neighbors.

The reasons why direct negotiations between Habib and Arafat were inconceivable
from the Israeli point of view have already been mentioned. There was no way this
multiple negotiation tangle could be significantly simplified and hastened. Indeed, it is
remarkable that a solution was worked out in six weeks. Meanwhile, however, Israel’s
position vis-a-vis the world and Sharon’s position vis-a-vis the Israelis generally and his
cabinet colleagues in particular were becoming virtually unbearable. The siege of Beirut
turned into the single most intensely televised and reported war in living memory.
Journalists were able to operate on both sides of the encounter and thus produce vast
quantities of uniquely synoptic material every day. Yasser Arafat, always more of a media
manipulator than a traditional guerrilla leader, was exceptionally astute in taking
advantage of the situation. The PLO was becoming a household fact in the day-to-day
lives of millions of Americans and Europeans. There were hair-raising pictures of
destruction, pain, anger, and mutilation, shown in a quantity that the world’s media had
never before been able to gather. Israel, to the abhorrence of most of its citizens, was
losing the last shreds of its earlier image as a beleaguered little David and assuming
instead the ugly image of a brutal Goliath.!?8

The fact that Arafat in his own way was essentially a full partner in Sharon’s
relentless strategic game, that he was playing for time at the expense of the Lebanese and
Palestinian population he purported to be defending, could no longer matter. In terms of
the emerging images and perceptions of the situation, Sharon turned out to be the only
villain of the piece. The Israeli image of Sharon is that of a person with no regard
whatsoever for what is said about him. ‘‘Is Sharon fat?’’ inquires an Israeli war joke.
*“No,”’” runs the answer, ‘it is all skin.”” Whether or not this image is accurate is a moot
point. The important fact is that the hideous game of images played out in Beirut was
undermining his political purpose and, along with it, his political career. Hence if he had
to choose between his image and his career, the latter counted more. Specifically, the
situation in Beirut made it logically imperative from Sharon’s point of view to increase
pressure on the PLO in order to thwart Arafat’s play for time and force Habib into a
virtually frenzied search for a resolution. In turn the suffering of the population in Beirut
increased, Sharon’s and Israel’s image suffered further eclipse, the domestic pressure on
Sharon to put an end to the tragedy was further stepped up, the demoralization of the IDF
intensified, and the rift between the Begin and Reagan governments grew wider.

The pressure on the besieged PLO could be stepped up in two different ways. The
first would be slow and cumulative. The second would be abrupt and decisive. The first
tactic had been the hallmark of Sharon’s piecemeal orders to the IDF to tighten the siege
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in the latter part of June and the early part of July. Stripped increasingly of the authority
to initiate sustained action and hamstrung by a succession of ceasefires negotiated by
Habib, Sharon’s only alternatives were either to resign or to issue unauthorized
operational orders in a piecemeal fashion. The result was the ‘‘crawls’’ and subsequently
such an outcry in the IDF that even this method had henceforth to be employed sparingly.
Thus by the middle of July Sharon was left with virtually only one alternative: tightening
the siege while employing massive artillery and airpower in order to maximize the impact
on the situation but minimize the danger to the life of IDF personnel. Such means make
little impact if employed incrementally. In tactical terms, then, this implied that the IAF
and the IDF artillery would have to be employed sparingly but in a concentrated fashion.
The shock wrought by this method would be the greatest. At the same time, obtaining
cabinet permission would be easier because of the reduced danger of loss of life on the
side of the IDF. If it came to the worst and the cabinet refused permission, Sharon could
simply ignore the cabinet, order the action, and deal with his colleague’s criticism later,
when the results of his action would have been already obtained.

This seems to have been Sharon’s strategy in August. During August 2-3 the IDF
concentrated a force of some 200 tanks on the green line separating East and West Beirut
and seized the key crossing points between the two parts of the town. On August 4 this
advance was turned into the basis for an intensive ‘‘combat day,’’ the purpose of which
was to narrow the siege around the main concentration of the PLO in Ouzai and Fakhani.
The attack proceeded from three directions. One thrust began at the port crossing south of
the green line in the seaport area. A second thrust took place in the center, at the museum
crossing, and was aimed at the PLO headquarters in the Fakhani district. The third thrust
occurred along the coastal highway and was directed at the Ouzai district. All the attacks
were supported by heavy artillery from land and sea. By the end of the day Israel had
nineteen dead and sixty-four wounded. Sharon would later be accused of direct
responsibility for this heavy toll, since he had had no authorization for this combat day
and so ordered the IDF to fight its way ‘‘without artillery or air support.’’!?° But the noose
around the PLO had been substantially tightened and the need for blind shelling of the
whole of West Beirut had virtually disappeared.

Having come in the wake of promises by Prime Minister Begin and Foreign Minister
Shamir that Israel would observe the ceasefire, the attack caused an angry exchange of
notes between President Reagan and Prime Minister Begin. But the impact on the PLO
had been deadly. ‘‘Although I did not tell my colleagues at the time,”’ Arafat recalled
later, the Israeli attack on August 4 caused him to feel

completely upside down—confused—for some hours. I could not understand how the
Israelis had completed their encirclement of Ouzai and Fakhani in just six hours. So
I went and I prayed for thirty minutes. And when I finished my prayers I said to my
colleagues: I feel the winds of Paradise are blowing. . . . According to our religion and
our traditions I was saying two things. First that I was ready to fight and die as a martyr
and so to enter paradise. Second that I was expected to die. Then I issued my final
battle order with that slogan ‘“The Winds of Paradise are Blowing.”’!3°

Whether Sharon knew how close Arafat was to surrender is difficult to say. By the
Palestinian leader’s own admission'3!—confirmed by pro-Israeli sources'3>—the IDF
Intelligence Division had informers inside the PLO centers throughout the siege.
Although Sharon had undoubtedly planned a final assault in the event of a failure of the
Habib mission, it never came to that because of the impact of the fourth of August on
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Arafat. On the sixth of August he accepted Habib’s evacuation scheme. This acceptance
in principle still left many points open, however. The negotiations dragged on. Therefore
Sharon made another move. On August 12 the IDF began a massive aerial bombardment.
The attack began at six o’clock in the morning and continued uninterrupted until five
o’clock in the afternoon. PLO sources claimed that the IAF dropped no less than 44,000
bombs causing 1,000 casualties, but the truth is that the IAF resorted extensively to noisy
simulations that maximized the psychological impact but minimized the real damage as
well as the cost (in $US) to Israel. In all the IAF flew 77 sorties and dropped a few hundred
bombs. Nevertheless, 128 people lost their lives and 400 were wounded (compared with
no Israeli casualties at all). In the course of the day, the air bombardment was joined by
barrages from both sea and land. The main targets were the PLO centers in the refugee
camps and all the areas south of the Corniche Mazra’a. There were also attacks against
PLO-Syrian positions in the area of Manara. Simultaneously IDF armor was moved closer
to Byblos and secured the mountain village of Aqoura—the high point in the area
controlling access to Byblos and the road north to Tripoli, a direction in which the PLO
could have attempted to break out of the siege.!*?

There can be little doubt that the deadly method used on August 12 was the direct
result of the outcry following the heavy toll of Israeli life paid during the combat day of
August 4. Nevertheless, the August 12 attack brought upon Sharon such recrimination in
the cabinet that he was virtually stripped of all authority to act without cabinet approval.
President Reagan reacted similarly. Having seen on television a picture of a badly
mutilated baby (which later turned out to be misleading and therefore led UPI to issue a
correction), Reagan phoned Begin to express his ‘‘outrage’’ and to demand an ironclad
promise that the Israeli fire would not be renewed. ‘‘The symbol of this war.”” he
reportedly said to Begin, ‘‘is becoming a baby without arms.”’'3* And yet, in the final
analysis, it is clear that Reagan’s own diplomacy through Habib and other channels was
greatly enhanced by this cruel combat day. With Arafat having no good reason to leave
Beirut, a further delay in the negotiations would make matters only worse unless, of
course, the IDF were to withdraw without evicting the PLO. Habib alone could not have
persuaded Arafat to leave. Without the shattering effect of the bombardments Arafat
would have gone on negotiating without any result. The American position would then
have suffered a major setback too. Sharon’s audacity had thus in a sense solved a problem
not only for Israel but also for the Reagan administration.

Indeed, by August 19, President Reagan could announce that eight hundred U.S.
Marines would join with French and Italian forces in protecting the safe passage of the
PLO on its way to a variety of Arab destinations. Three days later the Lebanese parliament
elected Bashir Gemayel to Lebanon’s presidency. The siege of Beirut had come to an end,
and Sharon’s plan seemed on the verge of successful implementation. At this time Sharon,
Eitan, Begin, and even their critics in the cabinet and in the Knesset could feel that,
although pyrrhic, the invasion had been a victory after all. Within a matter of a few
weeks, however, it would begin to assume the proportions of a defeat. Ironically, the
same interplay of forces that had turned the march on Beirut into such a painful experience
would also shape the process of Israel’s retrenchment back to the international border in
the three years that followed.



-+

Retrenchment

In its most basic form the notion of a security dilemma explains why nations go to war or
engage in other, less brutal forms of self-help. Thus, it might seem that a decision to
retreat is not a response to the basic condition of anarchy that has been described here as
the cause of the security dilemma. Further reflection suggests, however, that in certain
circumstances the logic that impels nations to lower their profiles and to reduce their
involvement in foreign arenas is related in the most fundamental sense to the same
problem.

Specifically, withdrawal from occupied territories or disengagement from in-
volvement in a war may be propelled by the same search for security and self-interest that
leads to involvement and assertive behavior. If this takes place within the context of a
reciprocal understanding with the former foe, it is a type of accommodative behavior
that often generates a similar response on the part of the adversary. But when the
retrenchment is a unilateral act inspired by a reevaluation of objectives and capabilities,
it may well turn out to be an assertive act in disguise. The chief reason is not to induce
the adversary to cooperate, but rather to curb one’s own losses. Having failed to induce
the cooperation of the adversary, the nation in question withdraws even if the act in itself
is likely to cause damage to others. A power vacuum is bound to be created. A struggle
to fill it will ensue, and the outcome could be an intensification of chaos. Nevertheless,
determined to cut its own losses and, if possible, to teach the adversary a lesson, the
defending nation washes its hands of all this and, ignoring the damage to its neighbors,
exits from the scene. However such an act may be publicly presented, whatever its
ultimate consequences for others, it is primarily motivated by the same amour propre
that leads to ‘‘normal’’ assertive behavior in response to the security dilemma in its
classic form.

Israel did not invade Lebanon in order to save the Phalange. It did so in response to
a perception of a threat, and in doing so in fact embraced the Phalange out of necessity
rather than charity. Having gradually realized that the whole scheme led to mounting costs
without tangible results, it slowly effected an about-face and began a painful and
prolonged process of disengagement during which self-interest in its purest form was the
only real consideration. As in the assertive phase that led to this unhappy escapade, the
Jewish state sought to improve its security in the short run in the hope that this would not
decrease its security in the longer run. This may have been a reverse response to the
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security dilemma, but by no stretch of the imagination can it be described as a form of
accommodation.

This point is perhaps most cogently underlined by a look at the motives of those who
took Israel out of Lebanon. As in the assertive phase leading to the war, the response to
the problems was hardly uniform or automatic. Ideology, images of the world, and above
all the domestic political context played a prominent part in shaping not only the
government’s reaction but also the reactions of its critics. It would be predictably difficult
for Begin’s government, which took Israel into Lebanon, to admit failure, to give up a
living dream, to effect a drastic change in its position and pay the domestic price for it.
But the Labor opposition was moved by not dissimilar considerations. Not even Arik
Sharon’s most persistent critics ever called on him to resign and permit a reversal of policy
in order to induce a cooperative response from anyone outside Israel. As before the war
the emphasis was on the costs and benefits to be accrued to the supporters of
disengagement in the context of Israeli domestic politics. Such a frame of reference is
seldom made explicit. But it was clearly implied by the arguments of most of the parties,
groups, and individuals who contributed to this painful process.

Such an argument, harsh as it may sound, is not based on any assumption of Israeli
guilt. Throughout the foregoing discussion the emphasis has not been on judgment but on
an attempt to trace the pragmatic logic that governs Israeli politics. The same logic, it will
be seen, also operated in Israel’s process of withdrawal. But this makes Israel neither
worse, nor, indeed, better than other international actors. The Jewish state, however it
came into existence, ended up playing the game of the world. Rightly or wrongly, it
played the game of the world when it invaded Lebanon and, again, rightly or wrongly it
played out the same game as it struggled to extricate itself from the morass that its own
actions had so sadly exacerbated.

As in the process that culminated in the siege of Beirut, the policies that led to the
final departure of the IDF from Lebanese territory were shaped in response to a
bewildering array of forces: the Lebanese Forces, the Druze-led LNM, the Shi’ites, Syria,
the PLO, the United States, and, last but not least, a variety of factors in Israel’s own
domestic political process—three successive cabinets, the Knesset, public opinion, and
the IDF. Given this complexity and the emphasis in the analysis on the interplay of these
actors, the coherence of this phase as a chapter in history can easily be distorted. If, on
the other hand, the emphasis is entirely chronological one can lose sight of important
matters. Hence the most suitable order of presentation requires a combination of both
techniques.

As in chapter 3, the discussion in this chapter is divided into sections dealing with
the cabinet, the Knesset, the public, the IDF and—where necessary—the United States.
At the same time the narrative is arranged in the order of the main focal points of attention:
the disintegration of Begin’s war cabinet; the abortive attempt to arrive at an agreement
with Lebanon; and the final reckoning which led to the withdrawal.

The War Cabinet Unravels

With the nightmare of the Beirut siege over, the Israelis felt that they could relax. Sharon
may have drawn the IDF and the country, in a ruthless and unacceptable way, into
something beyond what he was authorized to do, but ultimately the achievement seemed
quite impressive. Yasser Arafat and the PLO had been driven out of their Beirut
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stronghold into an exile in faraway lands. Syria had suffered a devastating defeat. Bashir
Gemayel had been elected president of Lebanon. Throughout the areas under IDF control,
the Israclis were warmly received by a population that showered them with rice,
befriended them, and made them feel for once like liberators of a people who had chafed
under the yoke of PLO and Syrian occupation. All of a sudden East Beirut was crowded
with Israelis window-shopping, dining out with Lebanese friends, taking pictures.
Busloads of Jewish-American tourists could be seen traveling throughout South Lebanon.
It seemed like the days after the 1967 war and the days after Sadat’s visit to Jerusalem.
A heavy price had been paid, but yet another victory was accompanied by a feeling that
the seemingly impenetrable wall of Arab hostility was coming down like the walls of
Jericho before Joshua.

That this was a grand misperception dawned on the Israelis at first only slowly,
almost imperceptibly. In policy-making circles it was not at all forgotten that Bashir
Gemayel had studiously denied the IDF any help in completing the military campaign in
the Beirut area. If this nagging doubt concerning his loyalty could be shrugged aside once
the siege of Beirut was over, the Israelis were immediately confronted with great
difficulties in ensuring Bashir’s election to the presidency. Bashir’s candidacy was backed
by Israel but opposed by a formidable alliance of Sunni leaders from West Beirut, the
parliamentary representatives from Tripoli and northern Beqa’a Valley, and the Franjiyeh
bloc of Maronites. In addition Camille Chamoun suddenly seemed to have had second
thoughts about Bashir’s election, and this reduced the latter’s parliamentary backing by
six more seats.

Bashir would therefore have to obtain the support of every other delegate in the
Lebanese legislature just to get barely elected. Some of Bashir’s close aides, notably Jean
Nader, as well as some members of the Israeli intelligence community began to wonder
whether it would not be preferable to support a compromise candidate or even the
reelection of Sarkis. Such a president, they reasoned, would be so weak that he would
have to rely on Bashir’s support. Bashir would have the real power without further
antagonizing either Syria or his Lebanese opponents.

Such suggestions could dissuade neither Bashir nor Sharon. Though at pains to foster
an image of a certain distance from Israel and though keeping contacts with Syria, the
Saudis, and even the PLO throughout the siege of Beirut, Bashir had gone too far to back
down so late in the day. He was seething with expectations for the moment he would have
a real chance to put the Lebanese humpty-dumpty together again and was elbowed by his
enthusiastic supporters not to let this opportunity slip by. Sharon’s calculus was not
dissimilar. His entire concept rested on the assumption that Bashir would turn out to be
Lebanon’s own Assad, that Bashir’s ruthlessness and charisma was the only force capable
of putting all the pieces of Lebanon together. He was therefore in no mood to listen to any
advice that Israel should settle for other, less brazen methods.

The practical implication was that both Bashir and the Israelis would have virtually
to coerce some recalcitrant delegates to toe the line. Zahi Boustani, Bashir’s campaign
manager, set out to achieve this through a combination of fearsome threats and lucrative
bribes (running at the rate of half a million dollars per delegate). Israel exerted pressure
on some undecided Shi’ite delegates from the south. Simultaneously a campaign to obtain
Chamoun’s support through assiduous persuasion was launched by other Israelis, notably
Rafael (‘‘Rafi’’) Eitan, Begin’s adviser on terrorism (not to be confused with the chief of
staff who bears the same name).

On election day, August 23, 1982, it was not assured that a sufficient number of
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supportive delegates would turn up. The Phalange concentrated a large force around the
assembly compound. Many delegates were brought under heavy guard. Some delegates
requested to be seen being pushed into the building by force with Phalangist guns
conspicuously pointed at them. The IDF’s contribution was to airlift by helicopter some
delegates from the south. At last sixty-two delegates were assembled; a quorum was
assured. Fifty-seven of them voted for Bashir.

The details of the bizarre election process did not become known to many Israelis for
a while and therefore had no effect on the optimistic mood that had settled in after the
horrors of the Beirut siege. But Israeli officials knew what happened and realized within
days of Bashir’s election that he would not rush enthusiastically into Israel’s political
embrace.

From Bashir’s point of view, openly intimate relations with Israel could undermine
entirely the edifice that he was attempting to build. Domestically he had to consolidate his
power through the combination of coercion and violence with cooperation and persuasion.
Given the complexity of the coalition of Druzes, Shi’ites, Sunnis, and rival Maronites that
he faced, he had no realistic hope of becoming an effective president of a united Lebanon
without reassuring these rivals and drawing them into active participation in the process
of reconstruction. Externally he was determined to rid Lebanon of Syrian domination. To
achieve both these related domestic and external goals he needed support from the
mainstream of the Arab world. In turn, his difficulties in building support within Lebanon
would increase too. He could not rid Lebanon of the Syrians and the PLO without Israeli
support. But neither could he afford to become Israel’s stooge, a Sarkis taking orders from
Tel Aviv instead of from Damascus. In a word, Bashir had to lure Israel into helping him,
but if he were rational—and it seems that he was—he also had to distance himself
deliberately in public from the Israelis. A controlled conflict with Israel was thus a desired
and inevitable outcome as soon as the siege of Beirut was over.

The result of such a rational calculus was a series of seemingly little incidents
between Bashir and the Israelis throughout the three weeks between the end of the siege
of Beirut and the death of Bashir Gemayel. Even before his election the Lebanese leader
was heard several times saying that because he aspired to be president of all the Lebanese,
he could not enter into too close a coordination with Israel. On several occasions he
boasted having cheated Israel on the question of helping their military effort. Troubled by
this issue and anxious to provide evidence to the Israeli public that the war was justified
because Israel had gained a new Arab friend, Israeli officials appealed to Bashir to make
public gestures of sympathy toward Israel. Bashir refused. As soon as he was elected he
began to tell the Israelis in no uncertain terms that ‘‘personally’’ he would always be their
friend but that *‘politically’’ he had to adopt his father’s policy of keeping strong bonds
with the Arab world.

Begin, Sharon, and the entire pro-Phalange ‘‘party’’ within the Israeli policy-making
elite were bound to feel cheated. But this alone does not fully account for their reactions
in the weeks preceding Bashir’s assassination. Two other important considerations have
to be added. The first relates to the Israeli government’s position at home. Having
demanded so much of its people, having argued again and again that the war, the hundreds
of Israeli casualties, the tensions with the United States, Israel’s tarnished image in the
international media, the untold number of Lebanese and Palestinian casualties were all
Justified given the political outcome, the Israeli government was badly in need of tangible
proof. Thus, although neither Begin nor Sharon really considered it one of the war’s
explicit objectives, obtaining a peace treaty with Bashir’s ‘‘new’’ Lebanon was bound to
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become an ex post facto Israeli goal as soon as the war was over. And even if a peace
treaty were to require several months of negotiations, the Begin government could ill
afford to be publicly slighted by its own proudly celebrated protégé.

Second, given the fact that the IDF was deployed throughout over half of Lebanon,
including Beirut, Israeli policy makers could reason that Bashir’s mischief had its limits.
They did not wish to resort to explicit coercion. Begin in particular must have been fully
aware of a possible analogy between the IDF’s role in Lebanese politics and the role the
Red Army had played in effecting political change in postwar Eastern Europe. Doubtless
he did not wish to see Israel cast in this role. He genuinely believed in the IDF’s role as
a liberator of the long-oppressed Lebanese—but the stakes for Israel, and for Begin’s
government, were too high. If Bashir decided to renege, he would have to be put in his
place. If persuasion failed, blunt coercion would have to be employed. Might would in
this case be right.

Apparently informed by such considerations Begin met Bashir on August 30, 1982.
The result was one of the most strained encounters between the Israelis and the Lebanese
that ever took place. The Israeli prime minister was in a somber mood and made no secret
of it. He scolded Bashir for failing to assist the IDF in the war. He demanded an official
visit by Bashir, as soon as he took office, to Jerusalem or at least Tel Aviv (presumably
thinking in terms of Sadat’s example five years earlier). He told Bashir that Lebanon
would have to sign a peace treaty with Israel no later than the end of 1982. He demanded
full recognition by the Lebanese government of Major Saad Haddad’s status and an
official appointment for him in the Lebanese army. He warned the Lebanese president-
elect that Israel would not tolerate so many pro-Syrian elements being allowed to maintain
their positions within Bashir’s entourage.

Bashir emerged from the meeting shaken and outraged. Begin’s manner had been
insulting. But beyond the personal affront, it indicated that Bashir’s intricate balancing act
with Israel, Syria, the United States, the Arab world, and various Lebanese factions would
be extremely difficult to implement. Conflicting pressures from all these quarters were
bound to require a great deal of courage, patience, and skill on Bashir’s part anyway, but
the blunt Israeli diktat suggested that he would have to perform this balancing act in a
straitjacket.

His first reaction to the meeting suggests that he either lost control or assumed that
Israel’s real ability to pressure him was more limited than Begin thought. Declaring that
he was severing all ties with the Israelis, he assumed a sulky appearance. Sharon rushed
to Beirut in an attempt to pacify him. They met on September 12, 1982, for five hours;
it seemed that the Israeli minister of defense had succeeded in mollifying the youthful
president-elect. For not only did they proceed to have a celebratory dinner together
afterwards with many others and with a band playing the Israeli anthem in the background
but they also reached understanding on several points of substance. Sharon was anxious
to see the Lebanese move into the part of West Beirut that the PLO had left. Israel itself
was forbidden to do so by the terms of the U.S. negotiated agreement of PLO evacuation
which had been concluded on August 21. Given the mood in Israel, Sharon was also loath
to send the IDF deeper into the city. There were clear signs that some PLO personnel had
stayed behind. They were lying low for the time being, but it could be presumed that they
would do their utmost to restore, or at least maintain, their influence and cells in that part
of Beirut. Given that the declared aim of Israel’s invasion was to put an end to PLO presence
in Lebanon, Sharon was anxious for results. He needed Bashir’s help and wanted his
promise to do something shortly to remove the last remnants of PLO presence in Beirut.



RETRENCHMENT 153

Bashir promised to turn the whole Palestinian enclave in Beirut into an ‘‘enormous
zero’’ within one month. Sharon apparently was not too inquisitive about the precise
manner in which this would be done, and Bashir did not volunteer any details about how
he proposed to carry it out within such a short time. Both apparently were content to leave
with a somewhat sinister yet tacit understanding. Within a week it would become clear
what could have crossed their minds in this last meeting on September 12.

However careful Bashir may have been to distance himself from Israel, he evidently
failed to convince Syria of his sincerity. From the Syrian point of view Bashir had become
a tool of Israeli policy. He seemed bent on consolidating his position and on reducing
Syria’s influence over Lebanon’s internal affairs. A Lebanon acting as an Israeli proxy
was even less acceptable to Syria than a Lebanon acting as a Syrian proxy was to Israel.
For the Jewish state the main concern vis-a-vis Lebanon (but not vis-a-vis the PLO) was
insulation of the Jewish population of the Galilee from Lebanon’s turbulence. But from
the Syrian point of view the stakes were higher. A minority regime, the Alawi Ba’ath was
anxious to build the image of a legitimate authority accepted by all Syrians. The surest
way to achieve this was through a combination of repression, a dynamic nation-building
process, and a constant harping on the most fundamentalist themes of Syrian nationalism.
Within this context Lebanon, Jordan, Palestine, and of course Israel were ultimately
illegitimate concepts. Whether Hafez al Assad himself took this seriously as an
operational objective is difficult to know, but his manner and style suggest that he was
manipulating this ideology for concrete political ends. The implications were, of course,
clear-cut. If neither Israel nor Lebanon were legitimate entities, a Lebanon controlled by
Israel was doubly unacceptable. Moreover, beyond the question of legitimacy direct
Israeli control of Lebanon’s internal affairs would turn the latter into a virtual beachhead
for Israeli military operations against Syria in the event of a war.

The key to the implementation of Sharon’s grand design was installing Bashir as
Lebanon’s own Assad, and the key to Syria’s policy in Lebanon was to thwart this plan.
Removing Bashir was a Syrian objective of the highest priority and was equally important
to certain segments of the Lebanese, such as the clandestine Syrian National Party, who
accepted the Syrian vision and were certain to be suppressed by a Lebanese regime headed
by Bashir. Syria therefore had a powerful motive for attempting to liquidate Bashir, as
well as an instrument with which to do so. Most Israelis, including some of the key
opponents of the war, failed to grasp this fully. Bashir’s death in a bomb explosion on
September 14, 1982, was thus the first event in a chain that would ultimately restructure
Israeli perceptions of Syria altogether.!

The death of Bashir confronted the Phalange, the United States, and Israel with a
quandary. He had had a galvanizing impact on the Phalange, and there was no readily
available successor. His older brother, Amin, had never been very popular with the
Phalange. But, confused by Bashir’s death and hoping that through Amin they would be
better placed to maintain control over the regime, the Phalange ultimately decided to
support Amin’s candidacy for president.

This decision may have been affected by two additional factors. First, Sarkis’s
presidency was due to terminate within a week, on September 22. Therefore very little
time remained for canvassing. Second, Amin was not only willing to assume the
responsibility—he was actively lobbying for the job—but he was supported by the U.S.
government. He seemed to offer a promising solution. Although he was known to be
sometimes pro-Syrian, he seemed weak enough to be manipulated by the guardians of
Bashir’s legacy. Since he promised to go along with the Israeli connection and received



154 Dilemmas of Security

the warm, even anxious, support of the United States, his policies would ultimately fit
into the scheme that Bashir had charted to his loyalists.?

The considerations of the U.S. government were partly overlapping and partly
almost contradictory. The single most important immediate goal was to stabilize the
situation in Beirut in order to facilitate Israel’s quick departure from it. Amin seemed to
fit into the Reagan administration’s perception of U.S. interest in the Middle East better
than his late brother had. The fact that he was far less prone to defy Syria seemed to
American policy makers an advantage and not a liability. The fact that he had remained
untainted by close relations with Israel made him seem a far better link to the Arab world.
With him in power the United States could in one master stroke reduce Israel’s presence
and work out a Lebanese-Syrian-Arab modus vivendi, thus facilitating both the stabili-
zation of the Lebanese scene and the continuation of the Arab-Israeli peace process, with
the United States acting as the main outside ‘‘honest broker.’’3

From the Israeli point of view, however, the issue appeared in quite a different light.
Amin was not trusted because of his contacts with Syria and Saudi Arabia. With Bashir
gone, the Israelis preferred that Sarkis remain in power. He would appoint a new
government under Johny Abdu, and this cabinet would govern for a time with emergency
powers. Sarkis had the image of a Syrian surrogate, but beyond this appearance he was
merely weak. The Israelis knew this since they had had ample opportunities to measure
him up in personal contacts both in Lebanon and abroad.* The thought of a second Sarkis
presidency was therefore entirely acceptable. Abdu was the Chief of Intelligence of the
Lebanese Army. He was considered a careful, intelligent, and honest man. Behind the
backs of a Sarkis-Abdu team, Israel might succeed in ultimately realizing its objectives
in Lebanon.

But Israel was in no position to stop the United States from engineering the election
of Amin Gemayel, mainly because of the impact of the Sabra and Shatilla massacres on
U.S.-Israeli relations, but also because of Israeli-Phalange relations and, above all, the
domestic political scene in Israel itself. As the full details of this horrendous event have
only a limited bearing on the present discussion and have in any case been discussed in
detail elsewhere, a brief summary will suffice in this context.

Ever since the departure of the PLO from Beirut the Israeli government had been
intensely preoccupied with the situation in the parts of West Beirut from which the PLO
had been ejected. The reasons are not very difficult to understand. One of the chief points
of contention in the negotiations preceding the departure of the PLO was how to ensure
the safety of the Palestinian population in West Beirut once the PLO had left. From Yasser
Arafat’s point of view this was a negotiating gambit but also a serious concern. He knew
that the Phalange had been waiting for an opportunity to deal with the Palestinians. He
may also have suspected that Israel would not be averse to some action that would cause
the bulk of the Palestinian population to flee. Therefore he had to insist on U.S. assurance
that this population would not become easy prey to oppression and atrocity.

This concern was partly shared by the U.S. government, and in any case Philip
Habib had to find a solution if he was to facilitate an agreement leading to the departure
of the PLO and to the end of the siege. Ultimately the only solution was an American
guarantee, backed by the presence of the multinational force on the scene. Consequently
[srael was denied an opportunity to supervise firsthand the PLO centers after the latter’s
departure. The Israelis suspected, with some justification, that the PLO had left behind a
discreet but sufficient presence to ensure an ability to restore its hold over these parts of
Beirut when the opportunity arose.
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The only way Israel could come close to proving that such a hidden PLO
infrastructure did not exist and would not be able to grow again was through Lebanese
intervention. For this reason Sharon’s most pressing demand from Bashir all along, and
for the last time two days before Bashir’s assassination, was that he take immediate action
to extend his control over the former PLO centers. Now that Bashir was dead, Sharon
faced a difficult choice. If the situation in Beirut got out of hand as a result of Bashir’s
death, the opportunity to carry out the search in the PLO centers would be missed. But
since the declared and, indeed, real objective of the entire war was to destroy the PLO’s
infrastructure, a failure to complete the task in West Beirut could severely compromise the
main purpose of the operation. At the same time the IDF could not move into the camps
of West Beirut because such an act would be contrary to the agreement with the U.S.
government.

Sharon consulted Prime Minister Begin and Minister of Foreign Affairs Shamir and,
with their consent, resolved to make one more fast move: the IDF would enter instantly
into West Beirut. What he apparently did not tell Begin and Shamir was that, in his view,
in order not to compromise the agreement with the United States too abrasively, the
Israelis should keep out of the camps and allow the Lebanese army, the Phalange, or a
combination of both to carry the search into the camps. This would have the adaitional
advantage of preventing yet more Israeli casualties, but it would have one critical
disadvantage—namely, that the Phalange who were seething with a desire to avenge the
death of Bashir might do so under the protection, indeed almost with the blessing, of the
Israeli government.

There is no need to speculate about the possibility that Sharon might have tacitly
hoped that a Phalange atrocity against the Palestinians would cause the flight of the bulk
of the refugees from Beirut to the Syrian zone of control. Whether this possibility crossed
his mind is impossible to establish, but the fact that he was prepared to run the risk of a
Phalange atrocity is quite sufficient. It reflects an uncommon lack of sensitivity not only
to human life in general but also to some of the most cherished values of Sharon’s own
people and in particular of the army under his command. Beyond that it also reflects how
desperate he and some of his colleagues had become concerning the results of the war
Israel had launched under their leadership.

The results of these decisions by Begin, Sharon, Shamir, and subsequently Eitan on
the night of September 14 were catastrophic. The IDF moved into West Beirut and
accomplished its mission without great difficulty. The Lebanese army, acting on
instructions from Moslem Premier al Wazzan, refused to take any action. The Phalange,
who previously would not lift a finger to help the IDF, now seemed very anxious to
participate and entrusted the task of clearing the refugee camps of Sabra and Shatilla to
the elite units of the Lebanese Forces under the notoriously ruthless Elie Houbeika. The
latter moved into the camps in the evening of September 15 and performed a tremendous
atrocity, even by Lebanese records. Many officers and men in the IDF suspected that
something terrible was taking place. Some passed their suspicions on to their superiors.
Others brought the issue to the attention of members of the Israeli press. But, owing to
apathy, confusion, and the fact that this was taking place on the evening of Rosh
HaShana, one of the most important Jewish high holidays, no drastic action was taken to
stop Houbeika and his men until the next morning. Meanwhile hundreds of Palestinian
men, women, and children lost their lives at the hands of the Lebanese assassins.

The news about Sabra and Shatilla touched off one of the worst public and
international furors in Israel’s history. Having hastened to remove the multinational force
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from Beirut, the United States, France, and Italy felt they had no alternative but to bring
it back as a means of facilitating an immediate Israeli withdrawal from West Beirut.
Public opinion in the world was shocked and Israel received the worst press in its history.
But the most important reaction took place in Israel itself. Spontaneous demonstrations in
Jerusalem, Tel Aviv, Haifa, and on the Lebanese border took place within two days after
the massacre. Most of these demonstrations were not authorized and therefore led to
small skirmishes with the police and to a number of arrests. The Labor party accused the
governiiient of indirect culpability. As the furor grew, the party’s leadership issued a
request for a judicial commission of inquiry and, for the first time in its history, called for
a mass demonstration against the government. Begin reacted almost apathetically at first.
Commenting on criticism in the world media Begin exclaimed that ‘‘a gentile massacres
another gentile and the Jew is held responsible.”” His government discussed the issue
and, although there were some heated exchanges in this meeting, it decided to wash its
hands entirely of all responsibility. The blame was put on an unidentified Christian group
which, according to an IDF communiqué, entered the camps through a corner where no
IDF personnel could have observed them. This was of course a clumsy attempt to conceal
the fact that Begin, Shamir, and Sharon knew in advance of the intention to let the
Phalange into the camps. But the public would not accept this explanation. The pressure
on Begin to appoint a judicial commission of inquiry mounted. He rejected the idea on
the grounds that the very appointment of a commission was tantamount to an admission
of guilt.’

In a sense the reputation of the IDF became the focal point of the debate. Sharon
argued that any attempt to investigate the massacres would shift the blame to the IDF.
This caused an uproar in the IDF, the general feeling being that the minister of defense
was trying to shift the blame from himself to the army.® As the same suspicion was shared
by virtually the entire political, professional, and intellectual elite, the result was an even
greater pressure for the appointment of a judicial commission of inquiry. Whatever Begin
and Sharon had to say about it, the only way in which a clear responsibility could be
apportioned would be through an independent investigation. Without it the blame would
remain not only on the government and the IDF but, indeed, on the entire nation.

Nevertheless, Begin was adamant in refusing to accept the appointment of an
independent commission of inquiry. He would not change his stance even in the face of
a mass demonstration, the largest in Israel’s history, in which an estimated 400,000 (10
percent of the population) took part. He felt that the demonstration was organized by the
Labor party for political reasons and that the participants were in any event typical Labor
supporters. To the extent that can be judged, this was more or less the case.” Indeed, there
were a number of counterdemonstrations in various parts of the country not in support of
the Phalange atrocities but rather against what seemed to be a vile campaign by Labor
against Likud.

What ultimately made Begin change his mind was not a reconsideration of the moral
and public aspects of the issue but the pressure from some of his coalition partners, mainly
Minister of Education Zevulun Hammer of the National Religious Party and Minister of
Welfare Aharon Abu Hatzeira of the Tami Party. At first both supported the Begin line,
but faced with the upsurge of unprecedented public criticism, they changed their minds
and increasingly pressed the prime minister to accept the notion of an independent
commission of inquiry. If they brought the pressure to a point of resignation, Begin’s
cabinet would lose its parliamentary majority. The prime minister therefore had no choice
but to yield to their demands.®
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He stalled for a few more days, during which the pressure on him mounted further.
The Israeli Bar Association joined the demand for a judicial inquiry. High-level delegates
of Jewish organizations from the United States and Western Europe arrived in Israel and
attempted to apply pressure on Begin to yield. The President of the State of Israel, Itzhak
Navon, took the unprecedented step of joining the public demand for a commission.
Begin proposed, in a barely veiled attempt to save face, that a nonjudicial commission of
inquiry under the chairmanship of the Chief Justice would be quite enough. But on this
too he was rebuffed when Chief Justice Kahan announced that the matter had become sub
judice because two appeals to the Supreme Court had already been submitted. Begin gave
in and, on September 28, his government made a formal decision to turn to the Supreme
Court in accordance with the 1968 Commissions of Inquiry Law with a request to appoint
a commission to investigate the responsibility for the massacres in the refugee camps of
West Beirut.”

The Commission was formally appointed on October 1. It was chaired by President
of the Supreme Court, Chief Justice Itzhak Kahan. Its terms of reference were very
broadly defined, namely, ‘‘to investigate all the facts and factors connected with the
atrocities perpetrated by a unit of the Lebanese Forces, the Phalange, against the civilian
population in the Sabra and Shatilla camps.”’ It had the power, though not the obligation,
to make specific recommendations to the government. In the event that such
recommendations were offered, they would not be formally binding. The experience with
the Agranat Commission, which investigated the reasons for the strategic surprise
entailed in the Yom Kippur War, suggested, however, that psychologically and morally
such recommendations would be hard to ignore. The commission consisted of three
members: Supreme Court President Kahan; Supreme Court Justice Aharon Barak; and
Major General (ret.) Yona Efrat. Judge David Bar-Tov, the registrar of the Supreme
Court, was appointed as the Kahan Commission’s Secretary. A senior police investigator
and two senior state advocates were appointed as special investigators. The commission
was housed in the Givat Ram campus of the Hebrew University, where a wing of one
building was specially redecorated. Hearings before the Kahan Commission took place
from October 20 to January 16. Various ministries and agencies, the Israeli Broadcasting
Corporation, and the IDF provided the commission with no less than 12,000 pages of
documentation. Forty-nine witnesses appeared in 58 hearings, 24 of which were held in
public. The Kahan Commission spent a total of 655 hours listening to testimonies.
Meanwhile the staff investigations conducted on behalf of the commission questioned
160 separate witnesses, and the commission accumulated masses of newspaper clippings
and television film clips related to the investigation.'©

On November 24, 1982, there was a first sign that the Kahan Commission’s work
could lead to serious consequences for some of Begin’s colleagues and subordinates. Nine
people, among them Prime Minister Begin, Defense Minister Ariel Sharon, Foreign
Minister Itzhak Shamir, and Chief of Staff Lieutenant General Rafael Eitan, were served
with formal warnings that they were likely to be ‘‘harmed’” by the Kahan Commission’s
investigations or its findings. The warning suggested that these nine individuals were the
most likely to be the focus of the commission’s inquiry at this stage and that at least some
of them might be found ‘‘responsible,’” at least indirectly, for the Phalange atrocities.
Begin himself announced immediately that he felt he was not guilty of any direct
responsibility and that, accordingly, he would not seek any legal advice or prepare any
kind of ‘‘defense.”” Some of the others, however, did hire lawyers to assist them in
preparing their presentations to the commission. Indeed, by the end of the investigation
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the Kahan Commission was faced with a formidable battery of lawyers representing some
of these nine policy makers and bureaucrats.'! '

Sensing the tense expectation with which Israel was awaiting the publication of its
report, the Kahan Commission did its utmost to complete the investigation as soon as
possible. By February 9, 1983, it was ready to submit its report to the government. It had
ruled that Major General Amir Drori, OC Northern Command, Major General Yehoshua
Saguy, Head of the Intelligence Branch of the IDF, and Brigadier General Amos Yaron,
Commander of the Division that held the Beirut zone at the time of the massacre had
“‘committed a breach of the duty incumbent upon’’ them. The report recommended a
reprimand for Drori, a suspension of Saguy, and the denial of a promotion or of a field
command for one year for Yaron. As for Chief of Staff Eitan, the Kahan Commission
“‘arrived at grave conclusions’’ regarding his ‘“‘acts and omissions,’’ but since he was due
to retire shortly the commission did not recommend his dismissal.

So much for the military echelon. With regard to the political echelon, the Kahan
Commission had neither compliments nor reprimands to the government as a whole but,
by implication, it reflected a tacit criticism of the manner in which the cabinet conducted
its business. At the same time, the commission’s harshest judgment related to Minister of
Defense Sharon:

It is our view that responsibility is to be imputed to the Minister of Defense for having
disregarded the prospects of acts of vengeance and bloodshed by the Phalangists
against the population of the refugee camps and for having failed to take this into
account when he decided to have the Phalangists enter the camps. In addition,
responsibility is to be imputed to the Minister of Defense for not ordering appropriate
measures for preventing or reducing the chances of a massacre as a condition for the
Phalangists’ entry into the camps. . . . We have found that the Minister of Defense
bears personal responsibility. In our opinion it is fitting that the Minister of Defense
draw the appropriate personal conclusions regarding the failing revealed in the manner
in which he discharged the duties of his office, and, if necessary, that the Prime
Minister consider exercising his authority under [the law] according to which ‘the
Prime Minister may, after informing the cabinet of intention to do so, remove a
minister from office.’!?

Begin presented this devastating report to the cabinet, indicating that in his view
there was no way of ignoring these recommendations.!® The result was a three-day
discussion in the cabinet leading to a vote. Sixteen ministers supported the endorsement
of the report as it stood, Ariel Sharon voted against it. Begin faced a hard decision. If he
were to allow Sharon to stay in his position, the public and the defense establishment in
particular would be outraged. If on the other hand he were to exercise his rights according
to the law and dismiss Sharon, an act most of the members of the cabinet seemed to
support, Sharon could turn to demagoguery and incitement that might tear Israeli society
apart and, at the very least, harm the Likud’s prospects in the next elections. Begin
proposed that Sharon be removed from his post in the ministry of defense but be
permitted. if he insisted, to remain a cabinet minister without portolio.

Sharon’s adamant refusal, in his own words, to offer his ‘‘head,”” and Begin’s
wavering and inclination to meet Sharon halfway were leaked to the press. The result was
a public outcry of signifieant proportions. Peace Now and the bulk of the left staged
demonstrations whose main purpose was to force Begin’s hand and prevail upon him to
remove Sharon altogether. On the right there was a heated response of ardent Likud and,
primarily, Begin and Sharon supporters. There was an ugly and very conspicuous
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connection between ethnic origin, level of education, and political position. Lesser
educated and primarily Sephardi demonstrators marched in support of the government and
the minister of defense. Better educated and primarily Ashkenazi citizens demonstrated
against Sharon. Tensions rose high and, on February 10, they led to one of the ugliest
scenes in Israel’s political history. Toward the end of a Peace Now demonstration
opposite the prime minister’s office, a hand grenade was tossed into the center of the
demonstrating crowd. There were a number of casualties including one dead, a Peace
Now activist named Emil Grunzweig.'*

It seemed at first to bring the Jewish state to the verge of a civil war, but Grunzweig’s
tragic death ultimately had a sobering effect. Begin, President Navon, the leadership of
opposition and coalition alike hastened to call on the public to show restraint and maturity.
The victim’s funeral and subsequent memorial services turned into massive but restrained
demonstrations. There were no further disturbances. The police launched one of the most
intensive manhunts in the state’s history and ultimately captured the person who tossed the
grenade, a simple-minded and not entirely sane fanatic from a settlement on the West
Bank, named Yona Avrushmi.

Meanwhile Begin’s cabinet was changing. Sharon remained a member but was
stripped of any power or responsibility so effectively that, within a short while, he was
considering resignation. Moshe Arens, the Ambassador to the United States, was recalled
and appointed Minister of Defense in Sharon’s place. Lieutenant-General Eitan, retired
from the IDF, was bracing for a political career with the right-wing Tehiya Party. His
position was taken by Moshe Levi, a veteran paratrooper with a clearly professional (that
is, nonpolitical) leaning, an organizer more than a dashing field commander. Most
important of all was the change in Begin himself. Since the death of his wife, Aliza, in
November 1982, he had become increasingly withdrawn. Gone was the fire that had been
so typical of his leadership. His participation in cabinet work declined. He seemed
increasingly despondent and remote. Early in the summer of 1983 the press began to
publish rumors that he was considering resignation. Then, in mid-July, he canceled an
important visit to Washington just a few days before he was scheduled to leave. The
reasons were not immediately announced. A month later, he confirmed his intention to
retire. This led to a wave of demonstrations by his supporters calling on him to stay. He
hardly responded to these calls and early in September tendered his resignation to
President Herzog. Sic transit gloria mundi.

The May 17 Agreement

The impact of the growing outcry in Israel against the war on the conduct of Begin’s
government during the summer and winter of 1982-83 is difficult to ascertain. It can be
assumed that the mounting public pressure acted as an added inducement for the
government to come up with clear results to prove that the casualties and the other costs
of the war were justified. But it could be assumed with the same amount of certainty that
the government would feel obliged to produce tangible results even without any domestic
pressure. Likewise it can be assumed that Begin, Sharon, and their colleagues could not
possibly ignore the domestic signs of displeasure. It seems almost trite, but it can also be
argued that the effect on their conduct could have been precisely the opposite of what their
domestic opponents wished to achieve. Instead of feeling guilty and obliged to yield to
public pressures, they could have become, and to a certain extent did, more belligerent



160 Dilemmas of Security

and more prone to entrench themselves further in their positions. From their point of view
there was no question that the war was justified.” Therefore they could feel that their
political opponents were trading in blood for the purpose of undermining their domestic
position. Moreover, since the most vociferous opposition came from the Labor party,
especially from its left wing, Begin and Sharon could assume that they had no reason to
be particularly impressed by this opposition. Public opinion polls continued to reflect
fairly widespread, if slowly waning, support for the government. The mainstream of the
Likud constituency continued to reject Labor criticism. If there were signs of decline in
the Likud’s standing, it may well have been the result of the deteriorating economic
situation rather than of genuine displeasure with the war and its aftermath. The
implication was therefore clear: there was no reason whatsoever for the government to
hasten to adopt any action that might compromise the results of the war. Indeed, the
postwar negotiations were complicated enough by a variety of external factors. They
should therefore be insulated as much as possible from the domestic pressures.

Be that as it may, the postwar negotiations got off to an inauspicious start not only
because of the objective complexity of the situation in Lebanon but also owing to a
fundamental incongruence, indeed contradiction, between the intentions of the United
States and Israel. The Israeli position was, in the words of Sharon,

that the negotiations should go on simultaneously in two lines: one, a direct negotiation
between Israel and Lebanon with the participation of the United States, dealing with
security arrangements and normalization, which. . . [Israel] regarded to be part of the
security arrangements. At the same time [there should be] other negotiations conducted
by the United States which would deal with the withdrawal of all the external forces
from Lebanon. Those negotiations had to be conducted by the United States, since it was
the only participant that could talk to all sides. It had to negotiate with Israel, Syria,
Lebanon and with the PLO terrorist organization through mediators.'>

The logic of this position was simple. In politics in general and in the Middle East
in particular, things change fast. A prudent strategy would attempt to maximize advantage
by exploiting military success through diplomatic means. Israel had just dealt a major
military blow to both the PLO and Syria. The campaign may not have been as quick and
decisive as had been planned, but this was a very good reason to move fast in the
immediate aftermath of the hostilities. Israel could not talk to Syria because Syria would
not agree. It did not wish to talk to the PLO—though the latter might conceivably agree—
because the overriding purposes of the campaign was to destroy the PLO as a political
force. The United States could therefore be very helpful in offering a significant
diplomatic bridge between Israel and its adversaries. Given that the United States had a
vested interest in gaining momentum as an honest broker in the region and in further
establishing itself as the fulcrum of power, it was not entirely unreasonable to expect
such a helping hand from it.

Or was it? In all likelihood the assumption on the part of Sharon concerning U.S.
policy was utterly wrong. In the first place, during the summer of 1982 American officials
felt that *‘a full peace treaty’” between Israel and Lebanon was ‘‘too ambitious’” a goal.
It would not only cause a “‘revolution’” in the Arab world against Lebanon but it would
also be quite contrary to the wishes of most American officials who were involved in the
issue at the time. “*“We were angry with the Israelis,”” said one official, ‘‘angry over the
invasion, angry over Sabra and Chatilla (sic). We were in no mood to hand Begin the
spoils of his victory.”’1°



RETRENCHMENT 161

Second, as Sharon reported to the cabinet early in June, Ambassador Philip Habib
who, some believed at the time, ‘‘was actually formulating and executing U.S. policy in
the region,”17 had told him that *‘one should understand that the Syrians have got more
right to be in Lebanon’’ than Israel had.'® Moreover, Habib was of the opinion that Israel
“‘should not expel the PLO™" from Beirut “‘but ask them to turn over their weapons. . . .
He said ‘let them turn over their weapons and let’s turn them into a political PLO."**1°

The rationale of Habib’s comments seems to have been as follows. The crisis created
by the Israeli invasion should be used as an opportunity to launch a major new American
peace initiative. But to succeed, such an initiative had to answer a number of critical
prerequisites. Israel should not be allowed to tear Lebanon too far away from the Arab
world, and therefore an Israeli-Lebanese peace agreement should be deferred until after
the settlement of the Israeli-Palestinian-Jordanian problem. Syria could not perhaps join
peace negotiations for the time being, but there was no reason to antagonize it by
attempting to force it out of a Lebanon in which Israel would have extensive influence.
The PLO should be disarmed and turned from a military-terrorist into a nonviolent
political organization and then invited to join Israeli-Jordanian negotiations. Jordan alone
would not participate in such negotiations against the wishes of the PLO because,
according to the Rabat Summit decision of 1974, the PLO was the ‘‘sole legitimate
spokesman for the Palestinians.”” But a disarmed PLO, still controlled by Yasser Arafat
who had been visibly heading toward a more realistic posture, might be willing to
legitimize a Jordanian bid for peace with Israel in which the PLO would take part and
which would be supported by the United States.

If such negotiations were concluded successfully, the Camp David accords between
Israel and Egypt would gain a new lease on life, the United States’ position in the Middle
East would be dramatically enhanced, and the Soviet Union’s inability to deliver any
political gains for the Arabs would be forcefully underlined. This might convince Syria
that it was in its interest to join the process as well, supplying the most important key for
a stable settlement in Lebanon. Israel and Syria would then settle the issues both of the
Golan and of Lebanon. The latter’s internal problems would also be mitigated. If Syria
were not to join the process the option of moving to solve the Lebanese problem would
still exist and this, in turn, might be so threatening from Syria’s point of view that it would
not be able to resist for much longer joining the settlement process. Syria would then have
to expel the Soviets, and a solid Saudi backing for the entire enterprise would be as good
as guaranteed.?° :

Which scenario, Sharon’s or Habib’s, was more realistic is difficult to say. In
retrospect it seems that the real question should be, which of these scenarios was less
realistic? They were almost contradictory, in both their long-term expectations and their
short-term operational implications. Sharon’s goal was to weaken Syria, isolate it, and
drive it out of Lebanon. Needless to emphasize once again, Sharon had no use for the
PLO, whether it was political, military, or both. Habib on the other hand was looking
forward to a new era in the Middle East in which the PLO would be pacified, the Syrians
would be mollified, the Lebanese would be restrained, the Jordanians would be brought
back into the center of diplomatic activity, the Saudis would be satisfied, the Soviets
would be eased out, Israel would be reduced in stature, and, above all, the United States
would at last create the Pax Americana it had been seeking since the end of World
War II.

Operationally the Sharon strategy implied a quick move to implement an Israeli-
Lebanese agreement, while seeking to drive Syria out of Lebanon through a combination
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of Israeli military pressure and American diplomacy. Habib’s peculiar blend of Kissinger-
ian ideas (‘‘take advantage of a crisis and work through Jordan with a view to expelling
the Soviets’’) and state department/Jimmy Carter philosophy (‘‘the PLO is the heart of the
problem’’)?! suggested that Syria should be ignored for a while, Lebanon should be
prevented from rushing into Israel’s arms, and Israel should at last be advised about who
really works in whose service. Essentially incompatible, the two strategies did overlap on
the idea of initiating Lebanese-Israeli talks. Consequently a bewildering blend of
cooperation and conflict between the two governments became almost inevitable, with
serious repercussions for both.

The opening shot in this new phase of misunderstanding was the Reagan peace
initiative of September 1, 1982. The substance of the plan merely echoed the long-
standing U.S. view that the solution would be found in returning the entire West Bank to
Arab control and implementing special security arrangements in this area which would
satisfy Israeli expectations. The West Bank, President Reagan said in the speech in which
he presented the plan, should be demilitarized, linked to Jordan but controlled in
day-to-day life by a ‘‘self-governing Palestinian authority.”’

If this was unacceptable from the Israeli point of view, the manner in which the plan
was launched made matters far worse. Expecting Israel to leak word of the plan in
advance of its announcement as a means of shooting it down, the administration decided
to coordinate the plan in advance with King Hussein. On September 7, 1982, the Arab
heads of state were planning to meet in a summit conference in Fez, Morocco. Assuming
that if Hussein was favorable to the plan he would also succeed in obtaining support for
it at the Fez summit, Assistant Secretary of State for Near Eastern Affairs Nicholas
Veleotes undertook a secret visit to Jordan late in August. The king’s response to the plan
was positive. It sounded to Veleotes as though the chances of the plan’s approval at Fez
were good. The new Secretary of State, George Shultz, assumed that the judgment of his
senior advisers on the Middle East was sound and therefore encouraged the president to
announce the plan publicly. If Shultz thought that this was a sound idea, the president who
had just appointed him had no reason to think otherwise; Reagan made the speech on
September 1.

Outraged, Begin hastened to announce that the plan was incompatible with the Camp
David accords, that it had been launched in a manner that did not befit relations between
friendly governments, and that Israel would therefore refuse to have anything to do with
it. A negative reaction from Begin had been expected in any case (hence the secrecy prior
to the announcement), but a negative Arab response came as an unpleasant surprise to the
United States. Rather than addressing themselves to Reagan’s ideas, the Arab heads of
state authored a plan of their own at Fez. It hinted at a recognition of Israel but did not
mention Israel by name. It called for a Palestinian state on the West Bank with its capital
in Jerusalem, and it reaffirmed the substance of the 1974 Rabat decision about the special
status of the PLO in representing Palestinian rights. The American hope that King Hussein
would fight for the Reagan plan against the rest of the Arab world was thus dashed within
days of the president’s speech.??

If this rebuff made the Reagan administration look like a babe in the woods, the fact
that the new presidential initiative had virtually nothing to say about Lebanon further
underlined this impression. On September 10, 1982, ten days after launching the stillborn
initiative, Reagan yielded to Secretary of Defense Caspar Weinberger’s urging and
authorized the removal of the multinational force from Beirut. Four days later, as the last
troops of the MNF were boarding their ships, Bashir Gemayel was killed. This was
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followed by the Israelis’ entry into West Beirut—contrary to U.S. promises to the PLO—
and by the Sabra and Shatilla massacres. Clearly Lebanon rather than the West Bank
deserved the full attention of the administration. On September 29 the Marines of the
multinational force again landed in Beirut. Their assignment was ‘‘peacekeeping,”” a code
name for making sure that the IDF would withdraw. Their mandate was open-ended. In
fact the administration had no idea how soon they would be withdrawn.

One of the most astonishing aspects of the Reagan initiative was that its virtual
dismissal by the Arabs did nothing to deflect the indefatigable Habib from his chosen
strategy. This became clear when, in October 1982, Amin Gemayel came to Washington
on his first visit as Lebanon’s new president. Arriving in Washington he was visited at his
suite in the Madison Hotel by Robert Bazil, an American of Lebanese origin who
supported the Lebanese forces and had close contacts with the Israelis. Bazil brought to
the new president a message from Israeli Ambassador to Washington Moshe Arens. The
message was blunt: ‘‘Israel wanted a peace treaty with Lebanon. If Israel did not achieve
that treaty, then Israel could unilaterally initiate a course of events in Lebanon which
could lead to the collapse of the Lebanese Government.’’ Specifically, Bazil pointed out
to Gemayel, ‘‘Israel would probably withdraw to the Zaharani River and would do nothing
to help the Lebanese Government hold the land it evacuated.”” Arens did not intend
merely to intimidate Gemayel. He therefore added an explicit inducement for Lebanese
cooperation: if Amin were to go along with the Israeli plan, Israel would attempt, hoping
for American support, to expel the Syrian forces that were still on Lebanese territory.??

The message Bazil had brought to Amin Gemayel in Washington was intended to
influence his calculations during his talks with U.S. officials. The Israeli government was
convinced that the Reagan administration would do its utmost to pull Amin in a different
direction and sought desperately to prevent this. But if that was Israel’s intention, it
clearly failed. The Americans, according to Lebanon’s Ambassador to Washington
Abdullah Bouhabib, ‘‘like many Lebanese, gave plenty of reasons why Lebanon should
not sign a treaty with Israel: economic (the possibility of a boycott by other Arab states);
sectarian divisions; Arab identity.”’>*

It would be idle to speculate how Bashir Gemayel would have decided if faced with
the same dilemma. Amin, in any case, was ill experienced, weak, and confused. In the
final analysis, it is not surprising that he decided to follow American rather than Israeli
advice. If he were to follow the Israeli advice he would antagonize the United States at
a time when he was in great need of its support. He would also antagonize the Arab world,
even if the United States were not to leak his refusal to go along with it (which could not
be guaranteed). He would be locked alone with Israel, for whose goodwill he probably
had less than full regard. Finally, he could be certain neither of Israel’s willingness to
push the Syrians out of Lebanon by force nor, indeed, of Israel’s ability to maintain a
large force in Lebanon for as long as would be required. He must have been fully aware
of the outcry in Israel and, even if he did not fully understand the intricacies of Israeli
domestic politics or the full complexity of the IDF as a reserve-based citizens’ army, he
was sufficiently aware of Begin’s domestic difficulties to fear that the IDF’s sojourn in
Lebanon might not after all be very long.

Conversely, if he were to go along with Habib’s advice the risks would be smaller
and the possible payoffs greater. A Lebanon ruled by the Maronites under the protective
canopy of a Christian foreign power was an ingrained part of the dream with which every
Christian Lebanese was inculcated from birth. The United States was a mighty power and,
for all its difficulties in the post-Vietnam era, it was not a paper tiger. In any event it seemed
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like a more solid rock than Israel, in the throes of its own Vietnam-like domestic crisis.
Moreover, relying on the United States would be far more palatable than reliance on the
Jewish state to the Saudis and others in the Arab world with whom Amin Gemayel hoped
to cultivate relations. The United States might not be liked by Syria, but a Lebanese alliance
with Israel would be even less attractive to the Ba’ath Republic. And if Lebanon succeeded
simultaneously in gaining American support and in mobilizing Saudi support, Syrian
opposition would surely be far less menacing. Finally, given Israel’s dependence on the
United States, if Amin Gemayel were to ignore Israeli advice and opt for the American
alternative, he could still hope that the United States would prevail upon Israel not to carry
out the threat of unilateral withdrawal which was at the center of Arens’s message.

Amin Gemayel therefore decided while in Washington to go along with Habib’s
scheme and, with American blessing, agreed in principle to the initiation of talks with
Israel on November 7. just a few weeks later. Ostensibly the planned talks were precisely
what Israel had hoped for—after all, Begin had sternly demanded direct Israeli-Lebanese
talks of the late Bashir Gemayel—but in reality this was not the outcome the Begin
government wanted. On Habib’s firm assurances that Syria would not pose any serious
problem, no attempt had been made to take advantage of Syria’s defeat in June and to seek
its removal from Lebanese territory altogether or at least from the nothern Beqa’a valley.
Moreover, Begin in particular was anxious to turn the negotiations with Lebanon into a
dramatic affair with all the pomp and ceremony that had attended the Egyptian-Israeli
peace talks during 1977-79. But Amin Gemayel was no Sadat, and tiny and fractured
Lebanon was not Egypt. From Lebanon’s point of view there was every incentive to keep
the talks in the lowest possible profile. Whereas Sadat relished dramas and was a master
of turning them to his political advantage, Gemayel was afraid of Arab reactions and was
tacitly encouraged by his newly acquired American mentors to resist Begin’s request for
publicity and drama. Consequently, six more weeks were wasted in empty bickering over
the location of the talks: Should they convene in Jerusalem and Beirut (as Begin insisted),
or on the Lebanese-Israeli border as they had for the Joint Armistice Commission (as
Gemayel preferred, in order to be able to say to the Arab world that this was little more
than a return to the Armistice regime)?

Finally it was agreed that the talks be held in Khaldeh, near Beirut, and in Kiryat
Shemonah, on the Israeli side of the Lebanese-Israeli border, starting January 3, 1983.
Meanwhile, however, Israel and Lebanon were engaged in secret parallel negotiations
concerning the details of the security arrangements in south Lebanon. The architect of
these negotiations was Sharon, who was seeking a way to prop up his declining domestic
position as well as a way of decoupling, at least partly, the Israeli dialogue with Amin
Gemayel from the trilateral discussions under the overbearing guidance of the United
States. On the Lebanese side the negotiator was Sammi Maroon, a wealthy friend of the
Gemayels. The Israeli positions in these talks had been worked out in a series of
discussions early in October. Two alternatives were considered. The first, representing a
minimalist view, sought to extricate Israel from Lebanon as soon as possible. It rested on
the assumption that from Israel’s point of view the most important thing was to obtain a
formal Lebanese acknowledgment of Israel’s right to operate inside Lebanon’s territory
for the purpose of ensuring the security of the Galilee. It was less concerned with the
future of the regime in Beirut and with normalization of relations between the two
countries, and it was even prepared to acknowledge Syria’s right to leave its troops inside
Lebanon. The second alternative was clearly anchored in a more ambitious concept of
Israeli objectives, resting on the assumption that the withdrawal of Syrian forces was
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critical. It postulated that Israel should agree to a complete withdrawal of the IDF from
Lebanon if Syria would agree to withdraw its own forces. At the same time, however, it
envisaged the creation deep inside Lebanese territory of Israeli ‘‘surveillance’” stations, a
code name for significant contingents of the IDF.

The Lebanese position in the secret parallel talks was, of course, very different.
From the very beginning the Lebanese were not really interested in these talks. Having
resolved to rely on U.S. support, Amin Gemayel was anxious to reduce Israeli-Lebanese
relations, or at least their formal, contractual part, to a minimum. But with the IDF on
Lebanese soil, and not entirely convinced that the United States would offer as much
support as he needed, he was anxious to develop a kind of insurance against a last-minute
American retreat. He actually held secret talks with Israel while at the same time leaking
some of their content to the United States regularly.

To the Lebanese the fruit of these secret negotiations would be a secret understanding
about the detailed terms of the far less clear instruments which would be worked out in
the public, formal negotiations. The Lebanese were not apparently very keen on having
the public negotiations concluded swiftly. Given their precarious position in the Arab
world and the strong pressure from American officials, they were inclined to drag on the
formal negotiations as long as possible. But because of this they could not altogether
reject an Israeli demand to thrash out the main features of the modus vivendi between the
two countries.

The Lebanese position on the substance of the talks was not very close to Israel’s.
Whereas Sharon, Kimche, and Tamir, the Israeli negotiators, insisted on an important role
for Saad Haddad’s militia throughout the south of Lebanon, Sammi Maroon, the Lebanese
negotiator, did his utmost to reduce this role to the very minimum. Whereas the Israelis
were very concerned about the issue of ‘‘normalizing’’ relations through trade, cultural
agreement, exchanging diplomatic legations, and the like, the Lebanese concern was to
avoid a formalization of these relations (though Maroon did not mind at all if trade did
take place).

The final Israeli position in these talks was endorsed by the cabinet on October 11,
1982. Foreign Minister Shamir took it to the United States and obtained what seemed to
be unequivocal American support. The position was based essentially on the second
alternative, namely, the more ambitious one which emphasized Syrian withdrawal and the
role of Israeli surveillance stations. As the Lebanese were in no hurry to conclude
anything with the Jewish state, it took a great deal of Israeli pressure to force them into
formulating their position for these talks. In fact, taking advantage of their occupation of
half Lebanon and of their numerous contacts with Lebanese leaders, the Israelis actively
applied pressures in the course of the process whereby the Lebanese were preparing their
position for talks with Israel. On December 14, 1982, the Lebanese position paper was
ready. Two days later Sharon, Kimche, Tamir, and Maroon met secretly at Sharon’s
Negev ranch. If Sharon wanted to, he could have extracted a Lebanese signature on a
mutually agreed document. Kimche and Tamir, his advisers, in fact urged him to do so
but, lacking the authority to sign the document, Sharon balked. Meanwhile the United
States had been informed by the Lebanese of the agreement and urged the latter not to sign
anything. According to a Lebanese source, when Habib *‘found out’’ about the agreement
‘‘he went ballistic and demanded President Gemayel not to sign it.”” Gemayel obeyed and
flatly denied that Maroon had any authority to negotiate. Apparently determined to force
Gemayel’s hand, to expose the United States, to demonstrate to the Israeli public that he
was making significant headway, or a combination of all these things, Sharon announced
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in public that he had engineered a major ‘‘breakthrough’’ which more or less guaranteed
an agreement with Lebanon. If the intention was to force Amin Gemayel’s hand, it was
clearly ill conceived. Facing U.S. objections and the certainty of criticism in the Arab
world, Gemayel would not confirm Sharon’s claim in public. In desperation Sharon
rushed to Beirut. He went to see Pierre Gemayel, Amin’s octogenarian father, and told
him that, if the agreement were not endorsed, Israel would resort to unilateral action and
Amin would be reduced to the status of president of a small part.of Beirut. In a sense this
was a cruder restatment of Arens’s threats to Amin Gemayel during his Washington visit
in mid-October 1982. But for the same reasons that Amin had to ignore the threat in
October, his father had to reject Sharon’s demands in December. ‘‘If we open one gate
to Israel,”” the old patriarch reportedly told Sharon bluntly, ‘‘we will lose twenty gates to
the Arab world because of it.”’>> The result was that everything that had been achieved
in these semi-secret Israeli-Lebanese talks had to be renegotiated in the formal
Khaldeh-Kiryat Shemonah talks which began two weeks later. Instead of an agreement
late in December 1982, it was not signed until five months later, on May 17, 1983, by
which time the entire situation had changed considerably.

Meanwhile Israel and the United States were at loggerheads on other issues too. The
U.S. department of defense was very anxious to obtain from Israel a great deal of valuable
information that had been assembled by the IDF during the fighting of the previous
summer. This information was primarily technical data about Soviet weapons in use by
the Syrians. Israel was prepared to supply the information but, from Sharon’s point of
view, there was no justification for giving the data to the United States without adequate
quid pro quo. Acting on the assumption that the United States needed Israecl much more
than it cared to admit, Sharon was determined to force a link between Israel’s supply of
information and the American position vis-a-vis Israel on other issues. Driving such a
hard bargain, Sharon created much irritation in Washington which doubtlessly affected
the atmosphere surrounding the Lebanese issue t0o.%¢

To make matters worse the Reagan administration called for a halt to Israeli
settlements in the West Bank and fought to convince Congress to reject an Israeli request
for increased aid of half a billion dollars. Congress ignored the wishes of the
administration, but the very fact that the White House, the State Department, and the
Department of Defense appeared united in an effort to punish Israel raised the temperature
of U.S.-Israeli relations.?” Meanwhile the two countries were increasingly in conflict over
the relations of the Marines in Beirut and the IDF units around them. Concerned with
maintaining the image of the MNF force as a neutral, peacekeeping factor, the
administration was at pains to prevent any kind of direct communication between the
Marines and the IDF. In practical terms this was an amazingly naive idea. The areas under
the control of the Marines and the IDF were adjacent. The situation there was exceedingly
volatile; a great number of incidents occurred virtually every day. The Israelis and
occasionally the Americans were the subject of numerous hit-and-run attacks by
Palestinians and Lebanese alike. The IDF had never been disposed to deal with such
situations defensively. Its orders were to pursue attackers vigorously. To avoid casualties
they were also instructed to use preventive area fire. Consequently, without prompt and
direct liaison between Israeli and American units, friction between the two sides could
simply not be avoided. In fact, without direct communication between local commanders,
every time there was a misunderstanding it would have to be cleared through Jerusalem
and Washington.

On February 2, 1983, this untenable situation led to a crisis of sorts. An Israeli tank
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in hot pursuit of Arabs who had attacked moments earlier came up against a unit of
Marines who were determined to carry out their orders and prevent any infringement on
the area under their control. The commander of the Marines, Captain Charles Johnson,
pulled his pistol and threatened to shoot at the Israeli tank if it moved any farther. A
journalist took a photograph that was shown on television across America within hours.
Secretary of Defense Weinberger probably made matters worse when he hailed the
bravery of the marine captain and proceeded to decorate him. U.S.-Israeli relations were
clearly in a quandary.?®

During the following months a number of factors converged to cause a marked
improvement in U.S.-Israeli relations. Less than a week after the incident, the Kahan
Commission presented its report on the Sabra and Shatilla massacres. Several days later
Sharon had to quit his post and Arens was recalled from Washington to take his place.
Arens was (and still is) at least as much of a hawk as Sharon. Whereas Sharon had come
from a Labor movement background, Arens was a clear product of Begin’s right wing
hawkish revisionist movement. As a young man he had been a member, and later a leader,
of the Revisionist-Zionist Beitar youth movement in the United States. When he
emigrated to Israel in the early 1950s, he joined Begin’s Herut party immediately.
Whereas Sharon had become a member of Begin’s Herut in a tortuous and roundabout
way, suggesting ambition and determination to advance his career more than a true
ideological commitment, Arens had always been a regular Herut member and only
attempted to rise in the party’s ranks after a long professional career as a professor of
aeronautics at the Technion in Haifa and a high-ranking official in the Israel Aviation
Industries. Moreover, whereas Sharon had been instrumental in convincing Begin to
accept Sadat’s demand that the settlements in northern Sinai be removed under the terms
of the Camp David accords, Arens had opposed the demand and ultimately voted against
the peace treaty that Begin had signed with Sadat.?’

The replacement of Sharon by Arens therefore did not at all signal an ideological
reorientation, but personal style turned out to be of immense importance in this case. By
the winter of 1983 Sharon had become virtually a persona non grata in Washington. His
bullying style, his rudeness, his abrasiveness, his tendency to say one thing on one
occasion and its opposite on another, his indulgence in personal accusations proved too
antagonizing for most of the American officials who had to deal with him.?*° By contrast
Arens had been one of Israel’s most successful envoys to the United States. Brought up
and educated in the United States, he had a superb command of English and an instinctive
understanding of American habits and styles. He was always firm on substance but gentle
and polite in manner. He was therefore highly regarded and almost liked in official
Washington, even though his views were if anything less popular there than those of his
predecessor had been.

The failure of the Reagan initiative was another, and possibly more important, reason
for an improvement in U.S.-Israeli relations in the spring of 1983. Rebuffed by the
decisions of the Arab summit at Fez in early September 1982 but sustained in their course
primarily by the Saudis, the architects of the president’s initiative were not deflected from
their hope that it would ultimately be endorsed by a substantial group of Arab regimes.
Having elbowed an unsuspecting president and a newly appointed secretary of state into
a public presidential enunciation of the plan, the proponents of this policy were not in a
position to admit failure. They were thus prone to advocate patience and persistence, a
code name for holding on to this policy in the vain hope that it would after all lead to
positive results. This disposition not only sustained the administration in its conviction
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that Israeli theses concerning Lebanon should be rejected but also led to constant pressure
on King Hussein, endless attempts to prevail upon the Saudis, and possibly on Saudi and
Jordanian advice, fresh attempts to gain the cooperation of the PLO.

What probably reinforced Washington’s optimism were the persistent but ultimately
misleading signs that Hussein and Arafat were drawing together and genuinely attempting
to work out a joint approach. Following the rejection of Reagan’s initiative in Fez,
Hussein’s only options were either to resign himself to the plan’s failure or to find a way
of convincing Arafat to support a Jordanian response to the American plan. Hussein’s own
inclination may have been to avoid any serious action, but U.S. pressure on him included
a barely veiled threat that a shipment of F-16 planes would not be delivered until he made
a genuine effort to endorse the Reagan initiative. The implication was that Hussein would
have to seek a deal with Arafat as a means of obtaining greater support from other Arab
governments. If the Jordanian monarch were successful, he would gain; if not, the blame
would go to Arafat. Hussein dropped a hint that West Bank mayors who were supportive
of the PLO could perhaps participate in a Jordanian delegation to peace talks with Israel.
This was not enough from the PLO’s point of view. But it seemed to signal sufficient
flexibility on Hussein’s part to justify a meeting between the king and the PLO leader. To
be sure, Arafat was running into difficulties with the more militant segments of his
organization for undertaking even such a limited step. But having been expelled from
Beirut, he simply had no other diplomatic method for retaining some momentum. He was
clearly aware of the extent to which the Reagan administration had become interested in
drawing the PLO into the political process. A favorable response to this U.S. position was
supported by one part of the PLO, but an equally powerful part of the organization and,
perhaps more important, Syria rejected it.>!

All the available evidence suggests that Arafat was maneuvering very carefully
toward, on the one hand, a consensus in the Arab world and, on the other hand, a parallel
consensus inside the PLO allowing him sufficient leeway to approach Hussein and, through
him, ultimately the United States. The meeting of the Palestine National Council in Algiers
during more than a week in February was at once a culmination of these efforts and a
measure of how unsuccessful Arafat had been. Syria attempted to prevent the meeting by
threatening to set up a rival, Damascus-based, PLO. Libya coaxed all the PLO hardliners
to stop Arafat. Nevertheless the meeting took place on schedule. During it there were,
however, massive efforts to prevent Arafat from obtaining a mandate to continue his drift
toward a positive response to the Reagan initiative. Consequently Arafat was successful
in preventing an outright rejection of the Reagan plan but unsuccessful in obtaining a clear
mandate for his policy.?? Sensing that the PNC was missing a unique historical opportunity
and referring to the tendency in the conference to portray the Beirut siege and expulsion
as a great victory, one of the delegates declared in despair: ‘‘It was outrageous that all of
the secretaries general of the different PLO organizations painted a picture of Lebanon as
a glowing victory. Lebanon was a disaster. I bow my head to the courage of the people
who fought there. But if Beirut was such a great victory, then all we need is a series of
such victories and we will be holding our next National Council meeting in Fiji.”’3* The
speaker was Dr. Isam Sartawi, a one-time PLO radical who had become a moderate as a
result of a strong sense of realism which seemed to be so patently lacking among some of
his colleagues. Having made such a speech he resigned his membership of the PNC in
protest. A few days later, while in Portugal, he was assassinated, presumably as a warning
to others not to adopt his views.

The assassination of Sartawi was at once a demonstration of the extremes to which
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some militants would go and a resounding proof that Yasser Arafat’s determination to
drag the PLO toward the Reagan initiative was having results. Indeed, if it were not for
that, the PLO militants, or the Syrians, or the Libyans behind them, would not have felt
sufficiently intimidated to resort to violence. From the point of view of the Israelis the
message was ambiguous: it suggested that the age-old militants’ veto over PLO
moderation was still powerful, but it also suggested that the PLO was moving under
Arafat’s patient leadership one notch closer to a stance that would make it acceptable to
the United States. Needless to say the message to the United States was basically the
same. It implied that the militants were still powerful but also that Arafat was inching
closer to an endorsement of the Reagan initiative within the framework of an understand-
ing with Hussein.

Those in Washington who wistfully emphasized the promising aspects of the PNC
meeting were probably heartened to watch Chairman Arafat travel to meet with Hussein
in Aman a few days later. At last a PLO-Jordanian understanding capable of giving a new
lease on life to the Reagan initiative seemed within reach. Judging by the press reports in
Washington during the days of this meeting, the U.S. capital was holding its breath in
tense expectation. But the meeting led to no clear results. Hussein and Arafat were
basically aspiring to the same thing: control over the Israeli-held West Bank. Hussein
would not act as Arafat’s messenger boy. He would not commit himself to negotiate with
Israel and the United States in order to deliver the fruits to Arafat within the framework
of a Jordanian-Palestinian ‘‘confederation’’ that would leave the Hashemites without any
real control over the Palestinian ‘‘region.”” Nor would Arafat agree to give Hussein his
blessing to act once again as a spokesman for the Palestinians. Arafat had wrested this
cherished right from the Arab Rabat Summit in 1974 and, anxious as he may have been
to respond to President Reagan, he would not throw it away less than a decade later.
Indeed, even if Arafat personally were willing to be more forthcoming his colleagues in
the PLO, Syria, Libya, and other radicals would simply not endorse it and might even
attempt to deal with Arafat as they had with Sartawi.*

What would have put Israel in a critical position—a PLO-Jordanian compromise—
was thus aborted by the Jordanian king and the Palestinian leader. A few days later
Hussein admitted his failure to come to terms with Arafat.>> An ill-conceived American
thesis had thus reduced the United States to the role of helpless spectator and, worse still,
had caused a six-month delay in the negotiations between Israel and Lebanon. If that was
not enough to convince the Reagan administration that its strategy was in ruins, domestic
American considerations—often the ultimate arbiter in U.S. foreign policy making—
added impetus to the search for an alternative approach. The president could send the
Marines to Beirut for any length of time so long as they were not involved in combat.
They had been deployed there on September 29, 1982, and at least for the time being there
was no public pressure to evacuate them. One reason why the pressure to remove them
was not felt at once was probably that the pro-Israeli element in Congress was either
divided or positively supportive. But this ironic source of support for keeping the marines
in Beirut could not be relied upon for much longer, since American soldiers were
increasingly becoming targets of attacks. An ominous portent of things to come was the
car-bomb attack on the American Embassy compound in West Beirut on April 18, 1983,
in which sixty-three people, including seventeen Americans, were killed. Subsequent
pressure from the Pentagon and the Department of Defense to remove the GIs must have
been an important factor too in causing a reappraisal of the entire policy. But even without
such pressures the import of the loss of American lives could not have escaped the White
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House and the State Department. To be sure, 1983 was not an election year, nor was it
even clear whether President Reagan would seek a second term in the 1984 elections; yet
merely to keep his options open the president would have to remove the Marines from that
hopelessly dangerous point near Beirut airport where they were deployed.

Mindful of such considerations, sensing that with Arens in Sharon’s place, dealing
with Israel would be more businesslike, and above all aware of the abysmal failure of the
policy that had been tried since the previous summer, Secretary Shultz seemed to have
made up his mind in mid-April to switch course. Instead of virtually encouraging the
Lebanese to play for time and avoid serious business with the Israelis, instead of viewing
Lebanon as a sideshow and the West Bank as the main focal point, he became determined
to push energetically toward a Lebanese-Israeli agreement. It would facilitate, he hoped,
the withdrawal of all foreign forces from Lebanon—Israelis, Syrians, Palestinians, and,
of course, Americans.*¢

On April 27, nine days after the bomb attack on the American Embassy, Shultz
undertook personally to bring the Khaldeh—Kiryat Shemonah talks to a quick conclusion.
When he arrived in Jerusalem 80 percent of the text of the proposed agreement, had
already been agreed upon between the parties, but only 5 percent of the major issues had
been settled. Shultz, for whom an unsuccessful intervention would constitute a major
personal setback, depended on a ‘‘sustained, totally private effort at the negotiating table
and an almost Socratic technique of leading the opposing negotiators toward the desired
conclusion by encouraging them to believe that they had discovered the desired path on
their own.”” The critical phase of the negotiations lasted from the morning of May 3 to the
evening of May 5. During this phase Shultz forced the two governments into an ‘‘intense,
non-stop, final burst of high risk bargaining, when each side had to decide whether there
would be an agreement or whether the talks would collapse.”” To achieve this
concentration on the heart of the proposed agreement, Shultz pressed the two governments
to abandon *‘nit-picking’’ on legal, procedural, and semantic matters and to acknowledge
that the matter ‘‘amounted to a political decision that each side had to accept, along with
its larger consequence.”” This was a particularly difficult experience for the Lebanese
because of their deep internal divisions. To overcome their inclination to avoid
substantive decisions Shultz ‘‘probed the rationale for each detailed position that the
Lebanese negotiators took’” and *‘kept them talking until they made a decision. From time
to time he left the details to the U.S. negotiating teams, headed by special envoys Philip
Habib and Morris Draper and joined by Assistant Secretary of State Nicholas A. Veleotes,
and conferred privately with [President of Lebanon, Amin] Gemayel.”” A breakthrough
occurred only after the application of great pressure by the Secretary of State on the
recalcitrant Lebanese negotiators. In a final session attended by Shultz, Habib, Wazzan
and Gemayel, the secretary reportedly *‘forced the issue, saying that the time had come,
the Lebanese must accept the text on the table before them or there would be no deal, and
the Israelis ‘‘would remain in control of most of southern Lebanon.’’3” Conversely, he
added, if they accepted his proposal, the United States would back up the Gemayel regime
in the face of Syria. Shultz had not obtained clear authority from Washington for such a
commitment. Secretary of Defense Weinberger had certainly not been consulted and
would probably have objected strenuously. But the Lebanese were not aware of this and,
from their point of view, it seemed to meet a truly critical prerequisite. Hence they
overcame their hesitations and internal differences and endorsed the document.3®

Shultz then proceeded to Jerusalem, where he faced a marathon meeting lasting until
the early hours of the next day, May S. during which he had to perform a similar task. If
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the Lebanese were intimidated by the overt threat of American support for Israeli control
of south Lebanon, the Israelis were threatened in effect that if they did not accept the
secretary’s proposals U.S.-Israeli relations would suffer a major eclipse. Whether Shultz
thought of sanctions is difficult to establish. But he reportedly did say that it ‘*was time
to stop haggling over details and move to the larger political questions of whether Israel
would cooperate with the United States or blow the negotiations out of the water.” > By
the morning of May 5, Begin appeared to be ready to submit the document to a cabinet
discussion. That was followed by a whole day of further haggling over details. The next
day he submitted the text to a cabinet vote; getting the endorsement of seventeen
ministers. Sharon and Minister of Science Yuval Ne’eman of the Tehiva party had voted
against it. The Lebanese then sent emissaries to seek the blessing of Syria and Saudi
Arabia. The Syrians appeared to demur. Shultz himself paid a visit to Damascus and came
back convinced that the Syrians would ultimately approve the document. The Lebanese
government signed the agreement on May 17.4

The Battle for the Treaty

Throughout the process leading to the conclusion of the Lebanese-Israeli agreement, all
the participants seemed to be consciously aware of an analogy between their endeavor and
the process that led to the Israeli-Egyptian peace agreement. The Lebanese sought to
emulate the Egyptian negotiation strategy, in particular the Egyptians’ emphasis on
employing the United States as a lever with which to pressure Israel. The Israelis were
fully aware of this and attempted to resort to all the same methods they had used in
197779 in order to neutralize any tendency on the part of the United States to go along
with the Lebanese. Beyond this the Israelis looked upon the Egyptian-Israeli peace as a
model to be emulated in its totality in the Lebanese context—hence their insistence on the
public and symbolic aspects (where the negotiations would be held, the status of joint
liaison committees, the establishment of diplomatic legations in both capitals) and on the
substantive issues of normalization of relations and, in particular, of the establishment of
a security zone on Lebanese territory. In a word, the Israelis wished the agreement with
Lebanon to be a kind of Camp David II. It should have added momentum to the process
that had begun with Egypt and it should be followed as soon as possible by Camp David
I, IV, V, and so on, until the elimination of all hostility in Arab-Israeli relations was
reached.

By the time of George Shultz’s shuttle it had become rather clear to all the
participants that the Egyptian model was simply inapplicable to this case. Such realism
made an agreement possible, but it also turned it into a species unto itself. Ostensibly the
agreement was a standard international document regulating the relations between
sovereign governments. In the preamble the signatory powers acknowledged their
commitment to the ‘‘maintaining and strengthening [of] international peace based on
freedom, equality, justice and respect for fundamental human right.”” Accordingly they
also had no difficulty in affirming their **faith in the aims and principles of the Charter of
the United Nations™’ and in the ‘‘right and obligation to live in peace with each other as
well as with all states within secure and recognized boundaries. ™’

This standard preamble is followed by a text repeating all the legal clichés that states
resort to when declaring their solemn intention to live in peace. In article 1 the parties
agree to respect each other’s ‘‘sovereignty, political independence and territorial
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integrity,”” and to terminate the state of war between them. To this Israel added a solemn
commitment to withdraw its forces from Lebanese territory. In article 2 the parties agree
to rely only on ‘‘peaceful means’’ for the purpose of settling disputes between them.
Article 3 mentions the establishment of a *‘security zone’’ between the parties as a means
of enhancing their security. Article 4 deals at length with the responsibility of the
signatory powers to prevent the use of their territory as a basis of operation by ‘‘irregular
forces, armed bands,”’ or other ‘‘organizations’’ that have hostile intentions toward the
other party to the agreement. Article 5 commits Israel and Lebanon to avoid any hostile
propaganda against one another. Article 6 contains a mutual commitment not to allow the
use of the territory of the parties by regular forces of third parties. The next article makes
an explicit exception to the stipulations of article 6 inasmuch as it calls for the stationing
on Lebanese territory of ‘‘international forces requested and accepted by the Government
of Lebanon to assist in maintaining its authority.”” Article 8 focuses on the establishment
of a “‘Joint Liaison Committee . . . entrusted with the supervision of the implementation
of all areas covered by [the agreement].’’ Article 9 commits the parties to abrogate all
‘‘treaties, laws and regulations deemed in conflict with the . . . agreement.”” Finally,
articles 10-12 are procedural. They commit the parties to ratify the agreement, specify
how interpretations of the agreement should be handled, and stipulate that the agreement
should be communicated to the Secretariat of the United Nations ‘‘for registration in
conformity with the provisions of Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.”’#!

Though all this is more or less standard, it has an eerie quality when observed in the
specific Israeli-Lebanese context. Technically Lebanon had been at war with Israel ever
since the Jewish state’s inception or at least ever since the abrogation of the Armistice
Agreement by Lebanon in the course of the Six-Day War. From this point of view it was
perfectly normal for the new agreement to be phrased as it was. But in reality Israel and
Lebanon were not at war. With the exception of a short period in 1948, Lebanon had
never posed a threat to Israel nor did Israel invade Lebanon against the wishes of the
Lebanese. The invasion was carried out in collaboration with an important part of
Lebanese society in order to serve an Israeli interest through helping to deliver Lebanon
from the yoke of occupation by foreign forces. Hence all the stipulations in the agreement
referring to a mutual obligation to respect the independence, territorial integrity, and
sovereignty of both parties did not really address themselves to the main problem. The
war was between Israel, Syria, and the PLO and not, as the agreement suggested, between
Israel and Lebanon. Hence the agreement terminating the war was in a sense signed by the
wrong parties.

Moreover, the agreement commited Lebanon to the implementation of a variety of
arrangements which it could not uphold. If Lebanon could prevent the use of its territory
by the PLO and its invasion by Syria, there would not have been a war in the first place.
Conversely, the fact that Lebanon became committed to implementing such arrangements
through an international agreement had virtually nothing to do with its real ability to carry
these obligations into effect. To an extent this is recognized in the agreement, in article
7 which stipulates the right of Lebanon to invite international forces to assist it in
‘‘maintaining its authority.”” As will be seen, the signatory powers, including the United
States, really believed at the time the agreement was signed that such forces would be both
available and sufficient to maintain Lebanon’s authority. But if they were not absolutely
certain of this the agreement had a patently hollow quality.

Another peculiarity of the May agreement was that it was terminating a state of war
without establishing a state of peace. As such it was no different from the Armistice
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Agreements of 1949 except in one respect: instead of UN responsibility for the work of
joint commissions, the Liaison Committee established under the agreement was bilateral.
Between the lines of article 8, which deals with this issue, can be read one of the most
thorny points of disagreement in the course of the negotiations. The Lebanese did not
mind the establishment of practical relations on a wide front, including tourism, trade, and
government-to-government contact, as much as they were reluctant to codify, formalize,
and ratify such arrangements. From the Israeli point of view the priorities were virtually
the opposite. Israelis may have dreamed of spending their holidays on the ski slopes of
Mount Lebanon, but the main national interest was to establish formalized, open,
declared, and fully ratified relations underlined by the establishment of fully fledged
diplomatic legations with national flags hoisted proudly on their rooftops. Such an
incompatibility was difficult to overcome. Therefore the solution was found in the
creation of an elaborate facility for joint commissions which, by the terms of the
agreement, would resemble diplomatic legations.

This fundamental problem gave rise to yet another oddity of the accord. Forced by
the United States to accept a written agreement, the Lebanese pressed all along either to
refrain from making the formal instrument very detailed or, at the very least, to give
problematic aspects contractual expression in secret agreements. The result was that the
most important parts of the document from the operational point of view are not in the
main, public document. Rather they are contained in an annex and in a separate
Israeli-American secret understanding both of which are longer and more important
substantively than the main document.

Specifically the annex deals, as its subtitle proposes, with ‘‘security arrangements.’’
Based essentially on Sharon’s unsigned document from December 1982, at its heart is the
notion of an Israeli security sphere inside Lebanon. The southern boundary of the security
zone would be on the international border between the two countries. The northern
boundary of the zone was not specified in the annex, but a map in its appendix showed
this northern line corresponding roughly to the Awali River some 30 miles from the Israeli
border. The map also interpreted another element in the annex, namely, the internal
division of the security zone into two belts. In the southern belt, lying astride the Israeli
border, Lebanon would be permitted to deploy a territorial brigade. This was in a sense
a code for Haddad’s Israeli-supported militia; although the Lebanese would simply not
agree to mention the name of the renegade major. But as Major General Avraham Tamir,
the chief architect of this part of the agreement, told the Knesset Foreign Relations and
Security Committee, Major Saad Haddad’s militia, instead of being disbanded (as the
Lebanese demanded), would be made the nucleus of the southern territorial brigade.
Haddad, Tamir told the committee, *‘will supply 1,000 men to the brigade while another
1,000 men will be mobilized from among inhabitants of southern Lebanon. ’*? Thus,
ingeniously, the annex solved the thorny issue by differentiating between this southern
part of the zone and a northern belt beyond it through specific stipulations regarding the
deployment of ‘‘Lebanese’ regular forces. This did not seem dissimilar to the Israeli-
Egyptian arrangements in the Sinai. Indeed, the specification that Lebanon undertake
limitations on the quantity of forces to be deployed and on the types of weapons they
would be allowed to have reads almost like a replication of the Camp David Accords. But
in practice the differences were immense: there would be no demilitarized areas at all;
there would be joint Israeli-Lebanese patrols (under Lebanese command); and, above all,
Israel would be allowed by implication to maintain a surrogate army wearing Lebanese
uniforms.
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This may have entailed a major Lebanese concession, but it fell far short of Israel’s
initial expectations as formulated by the above-mentioned working paper of October 11,
1982. What Sharon had in mind in October was the establishment deep inside Lebanon of
electronic surveillance stations manned by Israelis. This formula was partly a semantic
trick and partly a reflection of real concern. The genuine part was a perceived need for
effective surveillance as a means of maximizing early warning against Syria and thus also
minimizing the incentives for Syria to initiate hostilities. The contrived part was complex.
Sharon intended the ‘‘stations’’ to be manned by substantial forces, which would
presumably ensure that no PLO or Syrian forces would be able to approach the Israeli
border. While this was a tenable proposition militarily, it was formally incompatible with
Lebanese sovereignty. Hence Sharon invoked the precedent of the surveillance system in
the Sinai. Egypt had accepted the existence of such installations on its sovereign territory,
even though they would be manned not by Egyptian soldiers but by non-Israeli ‘‘civilian
technicians.”” Therefore Lebanon would not object to a similar arrangement, or so Sharon
had apparently hoped. But the Lebanese were adamant on this point and, since the United
States was more anxious to have an agreement per se than to make sure that such
arrangements would be worked out, Sharon’s colleagues ultimately had no choice but to
accept the compromise of two belts inside a reorganized security zone. In order to cut their
losses they extracted from the United States an unpublished agreement whereby Israel
would be permitted to undertake raids into Lebanon if the security arrangements proved
inadequate.*?

In the final analysis, however, neither the Israeli demands nor, indeed, the Israeli
concessions were of any consequence. Here, in fact, was the weakest element in the entire
edifice. The agreement stipulated that it ‘‘shall enter into force on the exchange of the
instruments of ratification.”” Thus, all the value of these stipulations depended on
ratification by Lebanon. But Lebanon, as it turned out to the chagrin of both Israel and the
United States, would not even submit the document for ratification without the
endorsement of both a broad internal coalition and an external Arab coalition. And since
to a great extent the support of an adequate internal coalition largely depended on the
support of an external array of forces, chief of all, Syria, the ultimate decision on the
future of the agreement was left to powers that had not participated at all in the
negotiations and were not bound by the agreement to which the negotiations led. Indeed,
nonsignatory forces, headed by Syria, were not just aloof but in fact determined to undo
everything the May agreement had sought to achieve.

In retrospect it is tempting to jump to the conclusion that Syria’s opposition to the
Lebanese-Israeli accord was predictable and should have been taken into account by the
United States when it forced Israel and Lebanon in the summer and fall of the previous
year to engage in negotiations without Syria. Sharon for one had been saying so all along
and so had some of his critics in the Labor party as well as some academics.** Yet a
careful examination of the facts suggests that shortly before the accord was signed and for
a while thereafter, it was not entirely unreasonable to expect the Syrians to approve it. For
one thing, while generally critical of the U.S.-sponsored talks, Syria had on the whole
kept a rather low profile on this issue until the very eve of the signing of the agreement.
On February 14, 1983, to quote one example, Syrian Foreign Minister Abdul Khalim
Khaddam told his French counterpart that ‘‘Syria would withdraw her forces from
Lebanon if the Israelis withdrew their troops.’*> Two months later on May 5, only twelve
days before the accord was signed, Syrian President Assad told the Italian Foreign
Minister Emilio Colombo that while opposed to the Lebanese-Israeli deal as it had been
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evolving, he thought that stationing a UN force throughout the south of Lebanon would
be a good solution.*® Then, ten days before the signing of the accord, the Syrian leaders
were sounded out and did not seem to be utterly determined to destroy it. When Lebanese
Foreign Minister Elie Salem met Hafez al Assad on May 11, the Syrian president seemed
to be in a somewhat intimidating yet on the whole good mood. He remarked to Salem that
“‘when President Anwar el Sadat of Egypt went to Damascus to brief him on his planned
peace initiative with Israel, Syrian officers suggested locking him up in jail or shooting
down his plane as he took off.”” When a pained look crossed the Lebanese foreign
minister’s face, Mr. Assad reassured him, saying: ‘‘Don’t worry, we won't keep you
here.”’*” What Assad told Salem later in the same meeting is not known. Yet during the
same week he met Secretary of State Shultz and left him with a feeling that Syria’s
position would not be entirely negative, and that in fact the planned Israeli-Lebanese
accord had a good chance of success.*®

Such a perception of the Syrian position must have been strongly encouraged by a
number of other seemingly logical considerations. Syria’s surrogates inside Lebanon, the
domestic Lebanese barometer with which the mood in Damascus could be quite accurately
gauged, was the position on any issue of Lebanese power brokers such as Walid Jumblatt,
Rashid Karameh, and Suleiman Franjiyeh as well as Syrian proxies such as George Hawi,
head of the Lebanese Communist party, and Asem Kanso, head of the Lebanese Ba’ath
party. Their views on any matter such as the accord with Israel would be represented at
the Lebanese regime level by Prime Minister Shafiq al Wazzan. During the final stages
of Shultz’s shuttle, the greatest worry of the secretary’s staff was that when the moment
for final decision came, al Wazzan would back down and thus in fact veto a Lebanese
acceptance. To their great surprise, relief, and encouragement this did not happen. The
Sunni Moslem prime minister joined the final meeting and even proceeded to endorse the
outcome in public.* Moreover, a week later, three days before the signing of the
agreement, Karameh, Franjiyeh, Jumblatt, Hawi, and Kanso met in Zogharta and issued
a warning to Amin Gemayel not to sign the agreement. Yet within twenty-four hours at
least two of them informed the president of Lebanon that they were not seriously opposed
to it.>°

The same kind of logic that turned such acts into encouraging signs could also induce
optimism because of the absence of negative reactions in the Arab world. The clear signs
of opposition to an agreement with Israel—the seeming unity of all Arab states which had
attended the Egyptian-Israeli peace process—were almost utterly absent this time.
Qaddafi, to be sure, was adamantly opposed and at once broke off diplomatic relations
with Lebanon. But, then, his opposition was both predictable and of no perceived
consequence. On the other hand, Egypt and Jordan were clearly supportive whereas the
rest, in particular, Algeria, Morocco, Iraq, Saudi Arabia, and the rest of the Gulf states,
repeatedly expressed support for anything that would remove ‘*foreign forces™ (implying
not just the Israelis) from Lebanon’s territory.>! Given the fact that, owing to the war with
Iran, Irag—which in 1977-79 had led the campaign against the Egyptian-Israeli peace
accord—had become dependent on the goodwill of Egypt. Jordan, and the United States,
there was reason to assume that its position could be bent further to a positive endorsement
of an Israeli-Lebanese accord. Indeed, since Iraq seemed ready to support reflexively
anything Syria did not want, the chances for Iraqi affirmation seemed very good. As for
the Saudis, no similar assurance existed with regard to this important, or perhaps only
seemingly important, pivot of Arab politics. But talks held between Secretary of State
Shultz and Secretary of Defense Weinberger in Riyadh, and some public utterances by
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Saudi officials, seemed to suggest that the Saudis were merely being cautious, as is
always their way, and that ultimately they would throw their weight behind the accord.>?

American officials rationalized that in such an event, Syria would have little choice
but to follow suit. The Saudis had been assisting Syria to the tune of more than half a
billion dollars annually. Without this aid Syria would have to cut deeply into economic
development or into its post—1982 war military buildup, or become even more dependent
on the Soviets, or, indeed, allow all three unwelcome changes.>? Differently stated, to any
American official who chose to believe that the Saudis were in America’s pocket, it
seemed logical to assume that ultimately Syria would be too.

That U.S. policy rested on such ‘‘logical’” deductions rather than on hard facts seems
to be strongly suggested by the content of a talk between Itzhak Rabin and George Shultz
in the course of the latter’s shuttle. ‘I asked the Secretary,”” Rabin later recalled, ‘‘what
made him think the Syrians would accept an American-Israeli-Lebanese agreement. He
relied on information that the Syrians were ready to do so in principle. I nearly fell off my
chair when I heard what American policy was based on and I am still worried by their
conception,’’ the former Israeli prime minister concluded.

Rabin’s story suggests that such a perception of the Saudis and the Syrians would
instinctively not be endorsed by either the Israelis or the Lebanese. Their reading of the
Middle East tends to be far less impressed by the power of the Saudi purse and far more
impressed by the power of the Syrian gun. But in this particular case both parties had their
own reasons for going along with these seemingly convincing delusions in Washington.
For the Lebanese the agreement with Israel was a tax worth paying for obtaining a solid
protective embrace by the United States, and thus it offset the undesirable Syrian and
Israeli intervention in their affairs. Therefore on the eve of signing the accords, Amin
Gemayel was prone to exude an air of optimism which could not have but reinforced the
confidence of U.S. officials in the validity of their unrealistic thesis.

The Israeli government, as reconstituted after the departure of Sharon, also had good
reasons for falling in with the U.S. approach. By May 1983 the involvement in Lebanon
had been going on for almost a year. The economic burden of this involvement was close
to a million dollars a day and, against the background of a severe economic crisis at home,
three-digit inflation, bankruptcies, upheavals in the stock market and the banking system,
falling foreign currency reserves, and growing unemployment, this was a heavy burden.
So was the burden of mounting casualties. Such a situation increased the tendency to
embrace solutions that would facilitate an early withdrawal. The U.S.-sponsored
agreement with Lebanon was not, as has been seen, Israel’s chosen strategy. But if it
succeeded it would be acceptable.

In addition the Begin-Shamir-Arens team was constantly taken to task by Sharon for
heeding American advice too readily>> and by its opposition critics for not moving fast
enough.>® This too acted as a reinforcement for their growing inclination to pin hopes on
the Khaldeh—Kiryat Shemonah talks. Moreover, from such a disposition it was not too
difficult to embrace a number of seemingly convincing strategic arguments about why the
Syrians should ultimately give their blessing to a Lebanese-Israeli accord to which they
had not been a party. The Syrians reckoned, in the Israeli perception, that if they would
not permit the agreement to be implemented Israel would proceed to act unilaterally. This
would mean a de facto partition of Lebanon, leaving the IDF on Jebel (Mount) Barouq
from which Damascus could be easily shelled. Hence, the Israelis assumed, the Syrians
had a major incentive for approving the agreement, and the hostile noises they were
making already constituted part of the bargaining.>’
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This kind of rationalization could and did draw inspiration from previous experiences
with the Syrians. In 1949 Syria was the last Arab confrontation state to join the Armistice
negotiations. It drove a hard bargain but ultimately signed an agreement. In 1973-75,
under quite a different regime, it acted in much the same way. At first it rebuked Egypt
for entering into negotiations with Israel, then it joined the negotiations, once again drove
an extremely hard bargain, but accepted an agreement. Therefore Israelis, Americans, and
Lebanese were not entirely irrational in assuming that in 1983 Syria would act in much the
same way.>®

In the final analysis, however, all these hypotheses and rationalizations were proved
to have been misleading. Realizing that Lebanon and Israel were heading toward an
agreement, Syrian President Hafez al Assad tried a last-minute delaying tactic which also
embodied a longer term threat. On May 15, he met a delegation of his Lebanese supporters
including Karameh, Jumblatt, Franjiyeh, Hawi, and others and, having heard their avowed
objections to Gemayel’s policy, offered his own backing. ‘‘The President,”’ announced
Radio Damascus, ‘‘confirmed Syria’s full support for Lebanese personalities and parties
in their national stand against the Israeli control of Lebanon’s territory, waters and
airspace.”’ Syria, Assad was quoted as telling the Lebanese delegation, considered
Gemayel’s agreement with Israel as a * ‘contract that recognizes Israel’s permanent political
and military control of Lebanon.’” Hence, if Amin Gemayel went along with this agree-
ment, warned the Syrian president, there will be a renewal of ‘‘civil strife’’ in Lebanon.>®

Despite Assad’s overt threat to engineer a civil war in Lebanon through his surrogates,
Amin Gemayel, trusting in solid U.S. and Israeli backing, pushed ahead with the accord.
On May 16 no less than eighty of the members of the ninety-nine-seat Lebanese National
Assembly voted in favor of the agreement that Lebanon would sign with Israel the following
day. In response, the Syrians launched a well-orchestrated public campaign against the
agreement. Leading it was an interview with Syrian Foreign Minister Abdul Khalim
Khaddam in the Lebanese newspaper al Saphir. **We have told the Lebanese,’” Khaddam
said, ‘‘that the stay of Syrian forces in Lebanon will be as long as Israel maintains any
advantage or gain in that country. . . . If we withdrew from Lebanon, then the whole of
Lebanon would fall under Israeli domination. That is totally impossible and unacceptable.
Hence, the Syrian foreign minister concluded, the Syrian Army would not leave Lebanon.
It would rather offer all its support to those in Lebanon who were willing to use force against
the Israelis. On the same day the Syrian official news agency, SANA, quoted President
Assad as saying that the proposed agreement would turn Lebanon into an ‘ ‘Israeli satellite.”’
Therefore he too offered help to all Lebanese factions willing to fight the Israeli forces.
So did the editorials in two leading Syrian newspapers, al Ba'ath and al Thawra.®®
Furthermore, when the Lebanese government moved ahead and signed the agreement the
next day, the Syrians stepped up the campaign. On May 18 they closed the border to
Lebanon at Sofar. The next day, having received word from the U.S. government that
Philip Habib wished to pay a visit to Damascus, the Syrians denounced him as the most
anti-Arab Western diplomat®! and announced that they would not allow him into the
country since in any case there was nothing to talk about.

The Syrian reaction to the signing of the Lebanese-Israeli accord raises two
questions. First, if Syria had been so adamantly opposed to this agreement, why had it not
fought more ferociously before it was signed? Second, why should Syria have opposed the
agreement at all? Given the paucity of information on Syrian decision making, it is very
difficult to offer an entirely reliable answer to either question. Nevertheless, a number of
plausible explanations do seem to be suggested by the available data.
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Before the signing of the Israel-Lebanese accord, Syria did not miss an opportunity
to make clear to whomever was concerned that it was not in favor. But for most of the
time the negotiations appeared to have been hopelessly slow and there was therefore no
urgent reason for the Syrians to fight it tooth and nail in the open. Moreover, during this
phase of the negotiations, that is, before Shultz’s shuttle, Syria could have helped to
thwart the American-Israeli purpose by relying on the forces inside Lebanon, in particular
Karameh'’s Sunnis, Jumblatt’s Druzes, Franjiyeh’s oppositionary Maronites, and even the
slowly awakening Shi’ites, that had their own reasons for denying success to Amin
Gemayel. Finally, steady pressure from Damascus and through these Syrian surrogates in
Lebanon might conceivably have led to an outcome with which Syria could live in peace.
After all, the Syrians were not opposed to order in Lebanon. Quite the contrary, they were
very much in favor of order there, provided it was consonant with their own perception
of their interest. Bashir Gemayel’s vision of the new Lebanon was quite incompatible with
the Syrian interest. Amin Gemayel, however, had been far closer to Damascus. The
Syrians therefore may have figured that Amin should be given a reasonable opportunity
to establish a modicum of stability. If he failed, Syria might have to intervene again. If
he succeeded on their terms, all the better. If, however, he succeeded in a manner that did
not suit the Syrians, they could still thwart it then.

As to the larger question of why Syria should have opposed the Lebanese-Israeli
accord, the answer seems to lie in a security dilemma perspective on Syria’s policy too.
Broadly speaking it seems clear that the Assad regime was concerned that its support for
the agreement would be to Syria’s disadvantage. Cooperation might have had its
advantages in the short term but might lead to grave risks in the long run. Conversely, an
assertive behavior leading to conflict in the short run might have seemed to Assad less
risky in the long run. Such a presentation of Syrian behavior assumes pragmatism and
rationality. Indeed, all the evidence on Assad’s Syria suggests that these are the most
conspicuous attributes of its international conduct.®?

In more specific terms, the Syrian calculus at the end of May 1983 seems to have
been based on at least some of the following considerations. A Syrian support for the
Lebanese-Israeli accord would certainly have had its advantages. Syria could drive a hard
bargain and. as in the past, succeed in reducing Israel’s payoff by manipulating the United
States as the main lever for that purpose. This could include a Syrian demand to link a
settlement in Lebanon with a settlement in the Israeli-held Golan as well as U.S. financial
support. Above all, if Syria did not play an ‘‘empty chair’’ policy vis-a-vis the accord it
would gain a major say in the implementation of the accord for years to come.

These were the possible Syrian payoffs from supporting the accord, but the costs
would be greater. In the first place, from the Syrian point of view, accommodation with
Israel, even indirectly, would merely make the Jewish state more dangerous than it already
was. Seen from Damascus, according to a reliable source, Israel had **got from the Lebanon
war what it wanted—a political deal with the Beirut government, an enfeebled PLO and
a broad band of Arab territory on its northern border under its direct control.”’ The Syrians
feared that Israel, a dynamic and expansionist power by its nature (in their perception),
would merely be encouraged by Syrian acquiescence to fresh aggressions in the future.
‘‘Immoveable on the West Bank, king-maker in Lebanon and thereby profoundly affecting
the countries beyond its extended periphery,’” Israel had ‘*become deeply influential in the
affairs of the Levant as a whole.”"** Hence the only way to check its further rise to regional
hegemony, the Syrians were prone to conclude, was through a clear demonstration of the
Assad regime’s ability to undo the May 17 agreement.
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Second, if Syria accepted the Israeli-Lebanese-American faits accomplis, the United
States would be free to pursue the Reagan plan. The Syrians were opposed to the plan
because going along with it would mean a pax Americana or rather a pax Egyptiana,
whereas if the plan were pursued without them they would be left out on a limb.
Moreover, the Reagan plan would turn Jordan into the main custodian of the Palestinian
issue and Syria claimed that status for itself.%*

Third, a Syrian endorsement of the May 17 agreement would imply that it would
have to remove its forces from the Beqa’a Valley. This may have been acceptable to
Assad’s numerous domestic foes before the 1982 war, but it had become quite
unacceptable after the war. The Syrian Army had succeeded in holding its own against a
superior Israeli force. Since then, with Soviet help, it had doubled its strength in Lebanon
to something like 50,000 troops. Syria’s airspace had become effectively sealed by a
system of SAM 2, 3, 5, 7, and 8 missiles, supervised and managed by a Soviet contingent
of 4,000 to 5,000 advisers. Simultaneously Syria was rapidly building up a thick line of
defenses facing Lebanon in much the same way that its Golan defenses face Israel
directly. This rendered the Israeli threat to the Syrian homeland from the direction of
Lebanon quite tolerable. Indeed, the signs of plummeting resolve in Israel may well have
suggested to Assad that the Israeli presence in Jebel Barouq was hardly a threat at all. It
may have improved Israel’s defenses against Syria. But this is not at all the same as saying
that it had dangerously depreciated Syria’s defenses against Israel.

Against such a background, for a Syrian president to order his army out of Lebanon
could be very dangerous in domestic political terms, since his rivals could charge that he
was compromising through a poor diplomacy what the Syrian Army had gained by its
valor and sacrifice on the battlefield. Nor would the long-term political losses to Syria in
terms of its position in the Arab world be any smaller. If Assad gave his blessing to the
Israeli-Lebanese accord he would be adding critical impetus to the regional process which
had been triggered by Sadat’s peace initiative. The Egyptian peace initiative had
neutralized much of Egypt’s regional influence, thereby greatly helping Syria’s regional
ascendance. If Syria were to allow the Israeli-Lebanese accords to take off it would be
enhancing precisely those conditions Egypt needed in order to effect a comeback. Once
reestablished as a regional pivot, Egypt would most likely come to overshadow Syria
again as it had in the decades before the Sadat peace initiative.

Moreover, by supporting the Israeli-Lebanese accords Syria could conceivably
complicate her relations with the Soviet Union. The Soviets could not force Syria to do
anything the Ba’ath Republic did not wish to do any more than they had been capable of
controlling Egypt. But they could become far less forthcoming on economic and military
aid which Syria needed in order to enhance its domestic growth and to underscore its
regional position. Conversely, by resisting the Israeli-Lebanese agreement Syria would
not be risking its other major source of aid, Saudi Arabia. The Saudis seemed to have been
inclined to view their generous support to Syria as a kind of *‘protection’” payment. It was
more a form of appeasement than an attempt to gain strings with which to affect the course
of Syrian policy. The Saudis could for this reason be more or less taken for granted. If,
however, a Syrian attempt to ruin the Lebanese-Israeli understanding were to lead to an
unacceptable backlash in the Arab world, particularly with Saudi Arabia, a change of
course in midstream would always be feasible.®’

The bottom line of such calculations appears quite clear: from the point of view of
the Assad regime, challenging the accords seemed a more promising course of action than
acquiescing to them. Therefore, in the second half of May, Syria launched a dynamic war
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of words against the accord. In turn the Lebanese, the Israelis, and the Americans faced
a difficult problem. Should they blast back at the Syrians and risk an aggravation of the
already difficult situation? Or should they perhaps attempt to keep their composure even
at the risk of looking weak? As it happened all three governments basically preferred a
controlled to a spirited response.

The position of the Lebanese government in this exchange consisted of a number of
simultaneous activities. On the one hand it continued to emphasize optimism. Syria, the
Lebanese government argued, was only trying to raise the price of its acceptance of the
accord. Shortly it would change course and lend its support. At the same time the
Lebanese launched a diplomatic campaign in the Arab world and in Europe with a view
to mobilizing support for the accord. But this was done carefully in an attempt not to
antagonize the Syrians further. Not only did the Lebanese avoid the type of rude
accusations and recriminations that are common in inter-Arab quarrels but they were also
at pains to offer Syria some positive inducements. They hinted that they might be ready
to consider further modifications in the already-signed treaty with Israel; they indicated
that they would be willing to consider a formal recognition of Syria’s security interests in
the Beqa’a Valley; they offered credit facilities with Lebanese banks; and they suggested
that a Syrian demand for special rights in the Beirut harbor would be treated favorably.
Meanwhile, as Amin Gemayel was conscious of the possibility of failure with regard to
the accord with Israel, he was at pains to convince the Reagan administration to play a
more active part in the effort to prevail upon Syria while, somewhat disingenuously,
suggesting that the Soviets be invited to play a role as well .

Gemayel’s appeals to Washington to become more actively involved in the attempt
to convince Assad of the merits of America’s own brainchild met an evasive response.
Having seen Philip Habib refused entry into Syria and conscious of the need to avoid
putting itself even more in Assad’s hands, the administration decided to adopt a
low-keyed diplomacy. Amin Gemayel was thus left at this critical stage in the process to
take Syria on alone. As one frustrated Lebanese official put it, this was a hopeless task,
“‘worse than Monaco trying to bargain with France. ’®” Such comments, however, left the
Reagan administration unperturbed. Its policy remained that of patient and cautious
wooing of Assad, entirely devoid of the hyperactivism that had characterized it throughout
the previous year. The president went out of his way to appeal to Assad. Officials were
apparently instructed to brief the media in a spirit of praise for Assad’s statesmanship and
for Syria’s importance. The typical comment in Washington in the second half of May
1983 was that Assad needed time but that he would ultimately come around and lend his
support to the Lebanese-Israeli accords in one way or another. Above all Secretary of
State Shultz, normally a careful, composed, and shrewd negotiator, was often quoted as
referring to Syria as ‘“*a proud country.’” He ‘‘has gone out of his way,”’ declared the
Washington Post, to *‘stress that Syria has legitimate security concerns and interests in
Lebanon that must be addressed in withdrawal talks,”” and he noted that the *‘security
zone planned by the Lebanese and Israelis in south Lebanon’’ would extend to the Syrian
border and create a need for guarantees that Israel ‘‘would not be afforded special strategic
advantages in any conflict with Syria.” 6%

Israel watched this with a mixture of disbelief and consternation. Sharon, who had
predicted such an outcome all along, was now taking every opportunity to lash out at the
“‘ndiveté’’ of the United States and at the lack of wisdom of his colleagues in the cabinet
for allowing themselves to be dragged by the United States into this impasse in which
Syria held all the cards and the United States and Israel had none.®® To the Begin
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government’s great discomfiture Sharon’s criticism was echoed forcefully by the Labor
opposition. *‘In August of last year’” Rabin said in a radio interview,

Syria was still stunned by the defeat and there had not been sufficient time for Soviet
action. The Americans should have started talking to Syria then, either directly or
through intermediaries in the Arab world. American illusions about renewed influence
in the Middle East (which spurred the Reagan initiative) and Israeli dreams of a formal
peace with Lebanon have wasted valuable time. . . . Meanwhile the Syrians have had
time to recover and the Soviets have had time to make decisions.”

Faced with such formidable criticism Foreign Minister Shamir and Defense Minister
Arens (Begin was already receding into the background) were inclined to avoid drastic
action. Shamir stated that the IDF could stay in south Lebanon as long as necessary. Arens
issued reassurances that the Syrians would ultimately join the game. Foreign ministry
legal aides were quoted as implying that Israel would implement the accord unilaterally
by the terms of the document itself. Uri Lubrani, a senior and experienced official who
had been Israel’s last Ambassador to Iran before the fall of the Shah (and had warned the
United States six months earlier that the collapse of the Shah was pending), was appointed
head of an interministerial committee in charge of relations with Lebanon under the terms
of the unratified accord. In short, the Israeli government decided to proceed with the
implementation of the accord (and thus with its ratification) as though there were no
problem with Syria at all.”!

This courteous, cool, polite, and optimistic response of the United States, Lebanon,
and Israel, however, nearly backfired. From the Syrian point of view perhaps the worst
aspect of the accord was that it seemed to have ignored the Ba’ath Republic in a matter
of the highest importance from its point of view. Syria, it seems, had to impress on the
region as well as on the superpowers that the Ba’ath Republic was there and that nothing
of consequence could be done with regard to Lebanon, its own backyard, without its
consent. Syria, therefore, needed precisely that type of noisy and acrimonious confron-
tation that the policies of the United States, Lebanon, and Israel were intended (probably
misguidedly) to avoid.

With such intentions in mind the Syrians moved to heat up the atmosphere.
Responding to President Reagan’s decision to lift the ban on the delivery of seventy-five
F-16 planes, imposed at the time of the Israeli invasion a year earlier, the Syrians charged
that ‘‘through a new aggressive stand, the U.S. has removed from the hands of its friends
any prospect of preaching a role of mediation or arbitration for the U.S.”’”? On the same
day, Syrian Foreign Minister Abdul Khalim Khaddam told the Lebanese newspaper al
Nahar that “‘if Syria shared common borders with Egypt, a war would have erupted”’
between the two countries at the time of the Sadat peace initiative. ‘‘Much more links us
to Lebanon,”” he added ominously, and ‘‘we will use all that is in our capacity to thwart
this agreement—an accord more dangerous than Camp David.”’”* As if to underline his
warnings, the Syrian army began major maneuvers in the Golan.

The Israelis picked up the signal and quietly rushed reinforcements to both the
Lebanon and Golan fronts while, in an effort to prevent escalation, dismissing, in the
words of Begin to the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee, all “*talk of an
Israeli-Syrian clash or confrontation’ as mere ‘‘Russian propaganda.’” ‘‘We want,’’ the
prime minister emphasized, ‘‘no confrontation.”’’* But Assad clearly wanted a visible
crisis. Thus, two days after Begin’s statement the Syrian Air Force fired at Israeli planes
on reconnaissance in the Beirut area and, on the same day, Syrian ground-to-air missiles
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fired at two Israeli helicopters in the Beqa’a. The Israeli planes were not hit in either case,
but since this was the first time in nearly a year that-the Syrians had opened fire, the
tension was bound to rise.”” Israel let it be widely reported in the media that it had put the
IDF on a state of alert,”® while Syria spread rumors that Amin Gemayel might be
assassinated and issued a warning through the Ba’ath party newspaper that those ‘‘who are
laboring under the illusion that they can find a way out of the impasse through military
aggression must understand that this aggression will not be a picnic or a limited battle. It
will be an all-out conflict that will cost the aggressors very dearly.”””’

The Israeli response was to send three mechanized brigades to the Beqa’a Valley’®
while at the same time stating repeatedly that Israel would ‘‘not be dragged into
provocations’” and that it hoped that the ‘*dangerous’” Syrian game would not ‘ ‘force’’ the
IDF “‘to react.”’” In addition Prime Minister Begin wrote to President Reagan to make
him aware of the mounting tension and Israel’s position in it, and Defense Minister Arens
issued a stern warning to the Syrians not to try even a limited war of attrition. ‘‘We will
not put up with a war of attrition,”” he said in a radio interview, ‘‘so if the Syrians
entertain any illusions that it will be easy for them to harass us locally, constantly and
continuously, that is an illusion and not true. If they start violent action, we will be the
ones to dictate the scope of those actions.”’¥

In the face of such a firm reaction and not interested in a real confrontation, the
Syrians hastened to back down. On May 27 Syrian Defense Minister Mustafa Tlass
commented that the Syrian measures had been purely defensive. His Israeli counterpart,
Arens, was quick to pick up this new tone and reciprocate in kind. *‘I hope,’’ he said, that
the report about Tlass’s words were ‘‘correct,”’ and “‘if it is correct, this is good news.’’
Meanwhile, he added for good measure, *‘we will not be dragged into any hostilities. We
can sit quietly, watch events and reach a correct assessment. We cannot be provoked.’ '8!
This emphasis on restraint and firmness was followed by the Reagan administration as
well as apparently the Soviets. Hence the Syrians took further steps to defuse tensions. On
May 29 the Syrian official news agency, SANA, issued a statement to the effect that the
Syrian armed forces had completed their ‘‘spring exercises’’ and ‘‘returned to their
normal situation and status.’’®% Assad had his crisis and managed it well.

Whether the Syrian president had it well planned in advance is a moot point. But in
retrospect it seems clear that regardless of what he had hoped to achieve from this crisis,
he emerged from it the ultimate winner. Syria may have engineered the tension and then
been forced to back down. From this perspective Assad had risked a great deal and won
nothing. Yet more broadly, given the wider context of the situation, Assad emerged the
winner because the crisis served to underscore the degree to which U.S. policy, which
Israel had also unenthusiastically adopted, had turned both the United States and Israel,
not to mention Lebanon, into prisoners of their own game. Syria was ill advisedly ignored
at the outset. But when all was said and done, the success or failure of the policy
embodied in the May 17 agreement depended on Assad’s goodwill, and he, for very good
reasons, had none.

The Calculus of Disengagement

On June 1, 1983, as the crisié was subsiding, Assad called on Libyan President Mudmmar
Qaddafi and, with an exceptional sense of timing and occasion, declared that as far as he
was concerned the May accords had become moribund.®} Aware of the possible effects of
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an admission by the United States and Israel that Assad had a point, the Lebanese
government hastened to prop up the optimism of the former. A London-based American
journalist with close contacts in Maronistan published an article in which, quoting
Lebanese sources, he argued that the Syrians were ready to talk. Their precondition, he
declared, was a Lebanese consent to cede to Syria long-term control over the sources of
the Orontes River.®* A few days later one of the committees of the Lebanese parliament
was elbowed into approving the accords with Israel, 28 to 1. Perhaps next week,
‘‘well-informed Lebanese sources’’ hastened to indicate, the accords would be tabled for
final ratification.®>

But the Israelis would not be convinced and, apart from a spate of (quickly denied)
rumors from Jerusalem that the government was seriously considering the possibility of a™
unilateral withdrawal to the Awali River,%® they sent Deputy Foreign Minister Yehuda
Ben-Me’ir to Washington to take up in an exploratory fashion the topic of such an
important policy shift. Ben-Me’ir, a sharp-tongued American-born politician, exuded
optimism. Dismissing Assad’s claim that the agreement was in its ‘*death throes,’” Ben-
Me’ir argued that Israel would ‘‘continue to stand behind’’ the agreement ‘‘until the
Syrians realize that they have no choice’ but to agree to a mutual withdrawal from
Lebanon.?’

This appears to have been a little more than a smoke screen behind which the Begin
government was agonizingly studying the question of a unilateral withdrawal and trying
to convince the United States that there was no other way. This, to be sure, was not the
first Israeli experience of withdrawal. In 1948 Israel yielded to American and British
pressures and withdrew the IDF from the northern Sinai. In 1949 Israel withdrew again
from a small part of Lebanon. Seven years later Prime Minister and Defense Minister
David Ben Gurion yielded to formidable pressure from the Eisenhower administration
and, three months after yet another victorious military campaign, left the Sinai peninsula
in exchange for the flimsiest kind of guarantee, an unpublished letter from the president
of the United States to the prime minister of Israel. In 197374, the Israelis experienced
the pangs of withdrawal once again when, under the terms of the U.S.-mediated
disengagement accord with Egypt and Syria, Israel withdrew from parts of the Golan, the
West Bank of the Suez Canal, and, subsequently, a chunk of the East Bank of the canal
too. Still reeling from the war ‘‘earthquake’’ that had led to this, the Israelis were less
prone this time to be agonized by the experience of withdrawal. But there was
nevertheless a hollow feeling that a lot of blood had once again been spilled in vain.

This feeling was dramatically offset by the Sadat peace initiative which opened the
way to Israel’s first ‘‘normal’’ peace agreement ever with a major Arab country. The
excitement at the prospect of peace was followed by yet another withdrawal experience.
By the terms of the Camp David accords of 1978, Israel undertook to return the whole of
the Sinai to Egypt. Most Israelis had no qualms about such an act in the abstract.
Nevertheless, the atmosphere in the Jewish state toward the completion of this withdrawal
in the spring of 1982 was somewhat despondent. Many Israelis had developed a fond
attachment to the Sinai desert, to the splendor of its mountain peaks, and wadis (ravines),
and the spectacular beauty of its magnificent beaches. This attachment had no political
connotations at all. In fact it was shared by many supporters of Peace Now. But, perhaps
because of that, the final return of the Sinai to Egypt turned into yet another scar in Israel’s
withdrawal syndrome.

Against such a background another withdrawal was bound to be traumatic even
without added complications—all the more so when the withdrawal from Lebanon was to
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be carried out in the most inauspicious circumstances imaginable. The war that had
preceded it had been a traumatic, costly, and divisive experience. Since termination of
full-scale hostilities, the Israelis had increasingly found themselves fighting a costly war
of attrition. The divisions that attended and, as has been seen, affected the conduct of the
war had if anything grown deeper. As long as the focus of attention had been the
negotiations in Kiryat Shemonah and Khaldeh, there was still some hope, which many
Israelis were prone to share despite their better judgment, that once the talks were over a
fresh start could be made. The Lebanon that Arik Sharon had tried to foster may not have
been a sieeping beauty nor, indeed, a little red riding hood. The Syrian wolf may have
emerged stronger than the fairy tales would have it. But, buttressed by the United States
(which was cast in the role of a gentle giant), Israel might after all pull if off.

In the wake of the May crisis with Syria, however, it dawned on many Israelis that
this was too good to be true. The May accord with Lebanon increasingly appeared to have
been stillborn and the Jewish state was faced with something worse than an ordinary
security dilemma: a forced game of cooperation with one’s foes combined with an
assertive policy vis-a-vis one’s allies. Specifically, this meant that Israel was unable to
muster the energy and resolve for an assertive policy vis-a-vis Syria, and had to cut its
losses; this implied the need to effect a unilateral withdrawal. It could be construed as an
accommodative posture, but in fact it amounted to a one-sided capitulation. The Syrians
were riding the crest of their victory in the May crisis. An Israeli withdrawal would only
add momentum to this victory. The only policy that could have conceivably undercut the
Syrians’ victorious momentum would have been a policy of firm resolve.

By the summer of 1983, however, Israel was psychologically running out of steam.
Although the government understood very well that resolve would be more logical
strategically, politically it could not heed its own best judgment. The implication was that
disengagement and a gradually lowered profile would quite soon be inescapable. The
problem was enormously complicated by the need to choose among three alternatives:
withdrawal from the Beirut area and the troubled Shouf Mountains, withdrawal from the
Bega’a Valley where the IDF faced the Syrians, or withdrawal from both places
simultaneously. A withdrawal from the Beirut area would extricate Israel from the maze
of Lebanese politics and from the area where heavy casualties were suffered. On the other
hand it would undercut the U.S. position and would most probably doom the May 17
accord, the most tangible consequence of the war so far. If this would be construed
(justifiably) by Syria as a victory, it would at least leave Israel in an advantageous
strategic position vis-a-vis the Syrian Army in the Beqa’a. But following the May crisis
some Israelis argued that by staying, the IDF was inviting a war of attrition with Syria
sooner or later. They made a strong case for disengagement from the Syrians in the Beqa’a
while staying in the Beirut area in order not to undercut the U.S. position and the accord
with Lebanon. Yet staying in Beirut and the Shouf while giving Syria an occasion to
celebrate a victory on account of an Israeli disengagement in the Beqa’a made no sense.
Indeed, the political stakes for Syria would remain as high as ever while its strategic
position would be greatly improved. Thus, between staying in Beirut and the Shouf or
staying in the Beqa’a, the latter alternative appeared far more logical.

But what about a complete withdrawal? Such a move would have been greatly
welcomed by the Israeli left, including segments of the Labor party. For this reason alone
such a move was totally unacceptable for a government led by Menachem Begin which
had taken the country into this war in the first place. At the same time the temptation to
overstate this factor should be resisted since strategic logic alone, without any political or
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personal considerations, also advised strongly against a hasty unilateral pullout. Anyone
with even the most rudimentary military training and certainly any military historian
would readily confirm that a retreat is the single most exacting military exercise. A retreat
boosts the morale of the adversary while undercutting that of the retreating party. Whereas
casualties and other costs in an advance may make some sense, casualties suffered in the
course of a retreat inevitably appear as unforgivable waste. Nobody wishes, as the saying
goes, to be the last casualty in a war (not that being the first is a great privilege). But the
choice of retreat has a shattering effect on morale, initiative, and therefore performance.
In fact it creates nothing less than a built-in danger of collapse, even if the retreat is
tactical and certainly if it is strategic. The art of retreat is thus the art of preventing a
stampede. This is true at the squad level, and even more so in the case of a government
ordering a retreat against the background of a complex political system.®®

Seen from this perspective a complete, abrupt, and unilateral Israeli withdrawal
would make no sense even if ultimately there was no alternative and even if it was taken
for granted that an orderly and phased-out withdrawal would entail heavy casualties. An
abrupt, unilateral retreat could be assumed to lead to a dangerous vacuum in the areas to
be vacated and subsequently to a return there of precisely those forces that Israel had
attempted to drive away. This could not be proven, but it was plausible to assume that it
would happen. As the notion of security dilemma implies, most leaders in similar
circumstances would take such a worst case for granted. Thus, while political,
ideological, dispositional, and personal considerations may have reinforced the Begin
government’s aversion to the idea of pulling out, they appear to have been secondary,
even tertiary, rather than primary determinants of its behavior.

By a simple process of elimination, then, the most attractive (or rather the least
unattractive) alternative was a pullout from Beirut and the Shouf Mountains while main-
taining the line in the Beqa’a. But this does not in itself exhaust the complications that were
involved in carrying such a decision into effect. First, there was a critical question not so
much of the location of the new line but of the type of line on which to fall back.
Specifically, the question involved three cardinal criteria: how to minimize casualties after
the redeployment beyond the new line; how much money should be spent on building the
new line; and how permanent, or rather temporary, the new line should be.

If the main motivation for redeployment was lowering the profile and reducing
casualties, the new line should offer the best possible defense against both “‘low’” and
“‘high’’ level attacks, while at the same time leaving Israel in control of the least
populated area. This was easier said than done. A line along the Awali River extending
northward toward Jebel Barouq would be very effective against both a full-scale Syrian
attack and low-level terrorist attacks by the PLO or other Lebanese organizations. Yet
such a line would leave behind IDF positions a population of more than 900,000 Lebanese
and Palestinians who could be a source of immeasurable problems. In other words, there
was no escape from a choice between a good defensive line facing north and a tenable line
in terms of maintaining a security belt in the south. An optimal line minimizing both risks
did not exist.

The related problems of costs and permanence were no easier to solve. In fact on
these issues the requisites of good strategy were basically incompatible with the requisites
of sound economic policy. Ostensibly the intention was to stay in Lebanon for as short a
time as possible. This implied the need for an inexpensive line. Yet from the
strategic-political point of view a visibly temporary line would undercut the political
posture that attempted to project a determination to stay there for as long as would be
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required. The very decision to withdraw from Beirut and the Shouf Mountains, it could
be reasoned, would in itself severely undercut Israel’s bargaining posture vis-4-vis the
Syrians. The only way to offset this loss somewhat would be through the unequivocal
projection of a determination not to make yet another pullout shortly afterward without
tangible political payoffs. Such a projection could be partly effected through political
rhetoric. But this tactic has its severe limits, especially when the government operates in
a political milieu in which a noisy and articulate opposition is strongly against staying,
whatever the costs. Hence the construction of a formidable line would be beneficial not
only from the point of view of enhancing Israel’s bargaining position. It was therefore
logical to opt for an expensive line, even if the ultimate intention was to pull out as soon
as possible.

A second cluster of difficult choices beyond the decision to withdraw from Beirut
and the Shouf concerned the impact of the U.S. and the Lebanese positions. The Syrian
opposition to the May 17 accord had caused, at first inadvertently, a fundamental change
in the perceived role of the multinational force (MNF). “‘Initially,”’ said Major General
Bernard E. Trainer, Director of Plans for the U.S. Marine Corps, on May 18, ‘‘our
mission . . . was to be a diplomatic presence. That is not a military mission and we had
difficulties trying to make military sense of what was asked of us so that the Marine on
patrol, for example, knew the do’s and don’ts and limits of his job.”” As soon as the
Reagan administration made the decision to pursue a policy of propping up Amin
Gemayel’s regime, however, the Marines were increasingly asked to perform a new task,
namely, to equip and train the Lebanese Army. Reagan set the tone for that policy when
he stated, during the week the accord with Israel was signed, that the ‘“MNF went there
to help the new Government of Lebanon maintain order until it can organize its military
and its police and assume control of its own borders and its own internal security.’’
Assuming, somewhat naively, that what Lebanon lacked was an army equipped and
trained in the use of modern weapons, the Americans set out to perform their new role
with a great deal of enthusiasm. Yet the signing of the Israeli-Lebanese accord quickly
made them aware that not only would no amount of training in technical matters solve the
problem of internal cohesion of the Lebanese Army (which previously had only survived
intact when it was kept in its barracks) but also that the Marines were becoming the shield
of a regime that neither Syria, nor Druzes, Sunnies, Shi’ites, or even many Maronites
were prepared to endorse. This change had rendered the Marines suddenly dependent on
the IDF. If Israel were to withdraw from the Shouf, the vulnerable force of 1,200 Marines
would at once become the mainstay of Amin Gemayel’s regime, along with the Lebanese
forces, but for internal Lebanese reasons even more than the latter.

The proud and gallant Marine General quoted above added the comment that it would
take about a year to train some 10,000 Lebanese so that they could then move into
southern Lebanon and thus facilitate an Israeli withdrawal. This task, he thought, ‘‘has
hastened the change in attitude toward us among Lebanese and . . . among Arab people
more broadly. They don’t think of us as being in the backpockets of the Israelis
anymore.”’® But what the misguided General failed to see even at this late stage was that
in a matter of weeks the Marines would become targets for attacks by Arabs and suffer
from great vulnerability precisely because the Israelis were no longer around.

The Israeli government at any rate was conscious of the political implications of a
withdrawal from this point of view, if not initially, then from their contacts with the U.S.
government throughout the three-month period in which an IDF withdrawal was debated.
Indeed, they were in a difficult situation for both general and specific reasons. In general
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Israel was placed in an embarrassing situation because of its own long-standing anxiety to
impress on successive administrations in Washington that it was a strategic asset to the
U.S. national interest. No Israeli government had ever emphasized this theme more than
Begin’s.”® But how would this thesis appear if the IDF suddenly abandoned 1,200
beleaguered GIs to their fate?

This general issue was further underlined by specific considerations related to the
Lebanese context. The deployment of the Marines in Beirut could be directly blamed on
Israel, as could the fact that Amin Gemayel had become president of Lebanon. Hence
there was a great deal of weight, in the Israeli consideration of a pullout, to the persistent
American request that Israel not leave the U.S. government ‘‘holding the Lebanese
baby.”” And the fiercer the conflict with Syria on account of the May 17 accord, the
greater the weight of the American requests in Israel’s decision making concerning even
a limited withdrawal. :

In the final analysis the Israelis were looking out for their own short-term interests,
and the maximum they would do was to play for time and offer the U.S. government their
advice. What they basically argued was that the misguided policy of leaving Syria out of
the picture had been an American brainchild, and therefore the United States had better
think in terms of either abandoning Gemayel or reinforcing the MNF to enable it to seize
the areas Israel proposed to leave. This, the Israelis could add in order to score another
debating point, would be only for another year or so, pending (as the Marine General
promised) the reconstruction of the Lebanese Army.

Another related problem the Israeli government had to attend to within the
framework of bracing for a redeployment concerned not the Americans but rather the
Lebanese whom the former sought to protect. One of the greatest errors Israel had
committed in the summer of 1982 was to allow the Lebanese Forces to send advance
parties both to south Lebanon and to the Shouf. That was a logical follow-up to a policy
that envisioned Bashir Gemayel as a would-be Lebanese Assad and the Phalange as the
Lebanese equivalent of the Alawites. But the results were catastrophic. The Lebanese
forces moved in under Israel’s protective canopy and proceeded to forcibly eject Druzes
in the Shouf and mainly Sunnies and Shi’ites in the south from homes and villages which,
the Phalange argued, were rightfully theirs. The result was internecine fighting between
the Phalange and the militias of the other denominations, especially in the Shouf.”!

An important by-product of this was a great deal of agitation among Israel’s own
Druze community, primarily concentrated in the vicinity of Haifa and in the Galilee.
These Israeli Druzes, unlike Israel’s other minorities, have as a community accepted the
Israeli conscription law since 1957 and have been serving in the IDF where a number of
them have reached significant ranks and responsibilities. But since the late 1970s the
Druze community in Israel has been torn by a great deal of division over the Jewish state.
One cause for this relates directly to Sharon who, as minister of defense, had attempted
to force the Druzes of the Golan to accept Israeli identification cards after the passing of
the Golan annexation law in December 1981. This led to a great deal of strife which
spilled over into the previously quite content Druze community in Israel.®?

The events in the Shouf from the point of view of Israel's Druzes appeared as an
ill-advised and perhaps ill-intentioned attempt by the IDF to lay bare the Druzes of the
Shout to vicious Phalange attacks. Taking a cue from the Jewish antiwar movement in
Israel, the Israeli Druzes staged demonstrations and petitions, and there were even a few
cases of Israeli Druzes deserting from the IDF and volunteering for service with Walid
Jumblatt's militias in the Shouf.”> What made matters worse was the fact that Jumblatt,
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owing to his stronghold’s proximity to the Syrian-PLO lines in the Beqa’a and probably
also to the fact that his own father had been -assassinated by Syrian agents, often
collaborated with both Syrians and the PLO. From his point of view this was logical,
especially when he faced seemingly superior Phalange forces. But from the Israeli point
of view this was, of course, quite unacceptable.

To Jumblatt’s credit, from an Israeli point of view, one should add that he had never
allowed the PLO to establish bases in his own territory and that as soon as the IDF drove
into the Shouf he expressed a willingness to work with the Israelis. But under Sharon
[srael was not at all interested in Jumblatt’s support and trusted the Phalange blindly. The
events of Sabra and Shatilla had made the Druzes really nervous. Fearing that this was the
kind of treatment all minorities in Lebanon should expect from the Phalange, the Druzes,
a fierce and organized warrior community (they made excellent soldiers both in Israel and
in Syria), prepared for a showdown. Taking advantage of the disintegration of the
Phalange after Bashir’s death and (well informed through their relatives in Israel)
increasingly acting on the assumption that the IDF would not remain in central Lebanon
for long, they began to inch the Phalange step by step out of the Shouf. Their methods
were vicious but effective. By the time of the May 1983 accord they were engaged in
large-scale abductions, roadblocking, and wild shooting and killing of Maronites
throughout the Shouf.**

As long as Israel acted on the assumptions of the American policy, with its emphasis
on Gemayel. the IDF had great difficulty dealing with the results of these Druze actions.
There were pressures from Beirut and Junieh—that is, Maronistan—and there were
counterpressures of Israeli Druzes. Israeli soldiers found themselves in the unenviable role
of mediator between Maronites and Druzes. Some soldiers even lost their lives.
Moreover. the Druzes were being helped by the Syrians because their actions (irrespective
of their motives) served the Syrian interest of undermining the Israeli-U.S. backing of the
Gemayels.

Once Israel began to plan a withdrawal, its perspective on the Druzes in the Shouf
rapidly changed. For one thing, the very act of disengagement from Beirut implied a tacit
disengagement from the policy of support for the Gemayel regime. Beyond this general
change in disposition there were, however, some very good strategic reasons for changing
the attitude toward the Druzes. The latter held an area in the Shouf whose strategic
significance cannot be overrated. Fierce and independent as they are (often under the
guise of obedience to a superior force), they would provide an excellent barrier against a
PLO return. Under certain circumstances they might even be allowed to expand their
domain in the direction of the Mediterranean in the west and Hasbaya and Rashaya (both
of which are Druze towns) in the southernmost part of the Beqa'a. This was an idea Yigal
Allon had toyed with in the 1970s. Allon died before the 1982 invasion, but something
resembling his views on this matter reentered strategic discussion in Israel as a result of
the inclination to disengage from Beirut and the Shouf.

If the Jumblattis (as the tribe is often referred to, in order to distinguish it from the
Arslanis, its historic rivals) had been in control of the area along Israel’s border with
Lebanon, they would have in all probability prevented the PLO from ever approaching the
border. The entire Israeli dilemma concerning Lebanon would then have never arisen. But
the fact that they were congentrated on the Shouf was a source of yet another problem the
Israelis had to consider before the redeployment of 1983. If Gemayel’s regime were to
become dependent solely on the United States while Israel shifted its allegiance to the
Jumblatis at a time when the Druzes and the Maronites were engaged in a virtual war, the
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IDF would find itself supporting an element that was tacitly in cahoots with the Syrians
and which was fighting America’s own protégé in the area from Damour to Beirut.

The problem, to be sure, was not beyond solution in the long run. Sooner or later the
United States would withdraw from Lebanon and Israel’s interest would be confined to a
security zone astride the border. But in the short term the problem was acute. The clearer
it became that Israel wished to withdraw, the more intense became the race between the
Lebanese Forces and the Druze militia, and the prolonged U.S.-Israeli dialogue on
redeployment thus in a sense aggravated the problem. Before the actual departure of the
IDF from the Beirut and the Shouf, Amin Gemayel’s forces were coming under severe
attacks by the Druzes. And since U.S. policy was to shape up the Gemayel regime, the
time when U.S. soldiers would have to offer direct support to the Lebanese Army and the
Phalange in their struggle with the Druzes was fast approaching. Once the IDF took its
leave, it was assumed that all hell would break loose as the Druzes would attempt to
reverse the results of Sharon’s decision to allow the Lebanese Forces into the Shouf. If the
Phalange failed to hold its own, the Druzes might be tempted to take advantage of the
situation in order to gain new ground at the expense of the Maronites, perhaps even
ground that for decades had been under Maronite control. If it ever came to that, Israel’s
position would become uncomfortable not only vis-a-vis the Phalange, or the Israeli
Druze community but also, and above all, vis-a-vis the United States.

Broadly speaking, such were the Israeli considerations during the period from May
17 to September 3, 1983. In operational terms, they boiled down to three overlapping
balancing acts: (1) moving out of the Beirut/Shouf nexus to a line more or less along the
Awali, Bisri, and Barouq rivers and constructing a stable line at the lowest possible cost;
(2) obtaining U.S. support, or at least acquiescence, for such a move while wrestling with
a variety of domestic oppositions; (3) shifting allegiances from Amin Gemayel to Walid
Jumblatt without causing conflict with the United States or losing control over Gemayel’s
activities. Given the complexity of the problem, the question is not why it took three
months to carry out the disengagement but how Israel succeeded in doing it in only three
months.

The Decision to Disengage

)

In its overall modalities the Israeli decision to disengage (or ‘‘redeploy,’’ as it was
officially referred to) was not unlike the decision to go to war that was made exactly a
year earlier. Once again it involved a protracted process of bargaining and consultation.
Once again it was made in a piecemeal fashion. Once again it consisted of a search for an
equilibrium between the interests and the advocacies of five principal political
components: the Knesset, public opinion, the IDF, Begin’s cabinet, and the United
States. But, and here lies the main substantive difference between these two parallel
processes, the roles played by these various corporate bodies were somewhat reversed.
Whereas in the decision to launch the war, the inner core of the cabinet was trying to
prevail upon the advocacy of inaction by the rest of the cabinet as well as by the other
actors, in the decision to redeploy, the inner core of the cabinet preferred inaction but
was gradually made to yield to the demands of the others to order a disengagement. At
the same time the IDF was once again a relatively passive participant, while the United
States turned out to be the most important advocate of inaction. Given this characteristic
of the process, it would therefore seem most appropriate to begin the analysis with a brief
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survey of the scene in the Knesset and move from there to a discussion of public opinion,
the position of the IDF, the position of the cabinet, and finally to the role played by the
United States.

The Knesset

The surface reflections of the mood of the Knesset as documented by the press present a
rather coherent picture. Having launched a campaign to stop the war in midstream, the
Labor party and other components of the parliamentary opposition maintained a consistent
and rather sustained pressure on the government to have the IDF withdrawn from Lebanon
as soon as technicalities would permit. The Sabra and Shatilla massacres and the
publication of the final report of the Kahan Commission only added impetus to this
position. It was therefore to be expected that the Labor party, Shinui, the Civil Rights
Movement, and, of course, the Democratic Front for Peace and Equality (the mainly Arab
Communist party) would dismiss the May 17 agreement as either undesirable or
unimplementable and vote against it. In reality, however, the leaderships of these parties,
with the exception of the DFPE, faced a complicated problem. The accord was presented
by the government as a framework facilitating the return home of the boys. Would Labor,
which supported the withdrawal of the IDF all along, vote against an agreement opening
the way to the fulfillment of its own overarching wishes? Facing such a dilemma, which
had nothing to do with the political and strategic merits of the issue, a Labor caucus
meeting on May 9 decided to reserve judgment. It was either going to abstain or to vote
against the agreement, depending on its implementability rather than on any fundamental
question of principle.®3

The vote on the agreement was taken on May 16, passing it by a majority of 57 to
6 with 45 abstentions, all of them Labor. Although they did not vote against the
document, Labor speakers in the debate attacked it rather forcefully, especially Yossi
Sarid of the Labor left who had vehemently criticized the war from the very beginning.
“*A bad war,”” he thundered in a deep voice and an uncommonly clear diction,
“‘necessarily leads to a bad agreement. The agreement holds a lot of blood. IT DOES
NOT HOLD WATER. It leaves us with the same problems we had before the war, only
now they are sharper.”” Rabin, who delivered the keynote opposition speech, employed
a more sober language but argued essentially in the same vein. The Labor party decided
to abstain because it thought abstention the lesser evil, preferable to continuing the status
quo without an agreement. But beyond this tactical predisposition Labor, in Rabin’s
presentation, was convinced that Israel could not coerce Lebanon into accepting an
agreement. A formal treaty of normalization without a corresponding Lebanese ability to
carry it into effect, he added, would be worthless. All in all the agreement merely
underlined the Labor contention that the government’s entire policy had been based on
misconceptions.

The fact that the Labor party’s abstention was tactical rather than a manifestation of
its real position, namely, criticism of the agreement, was soon to be reflected in a growing
acrimony in the Knesset. A most illurninating example was offered by the Knesset session
of June 1, in the wake of the May crisis and merely four days before the first anniversary
of the war. The session opened with a motion for the agenda by Labor member Michael
Bar Zohar entitled ‘A year of the war in Lebanon.”’ Bar Zohar evoked, according to an
eyewitness, ‘‘confusion, commotion and resentment’’ when, before getting into his
speech, he called on the House to rise and observe a moment of silence to honor the
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memory of ‘‘the 492 Israeli men who have fallen in the war so far.”” Some members rose
immediately but most looked around to see what the others were doing. Speaker
Menachem Savidor, after a second’s hesitation, said, ‘I request the members of the
House to rise.”” Geulah Cohen of the right-wing Tehiya party called out, ‘‘Profiteers,
profiteers, you'll cause us more victims.”’ Another (Likud) member objected that there
was ‘‘a limit to this trading in matters of life and death.’” But the significant thing was that
*‘even some of Bar Zohar’s Labor Alignment colleagues were discomfited by his action.”’
They remained silent but a member of the Shinui party, which had also been opposed to
the government all along, was outraged by Bar Zohar’s gesture. ‘‘Never,”’” he shouted
emotionally, ‘‘have I been so ashamed as I just have been.”’%’

A day later the Labor party political bureau approved, for the first time, a detailed
document calling on the government to withdraw from Lebanon within three months. The
document called for a two-phased pullout. First, the IDF would pull back from the Shouf
Mountains and the Beirut area. The MNF would be asked to take over the vacated areas
and thus become a buffer between the IDF and the Syrian forces. The IDF would then
regroup in the area designated by Israel (in the May 17 accord) as a security zone in south
Lebanon. Until the IDF’s final withdrawal Major Saad Haddad’s forces would be
entrusted with preventing attacks on the Galilee, and the MNF would be given the task of
protecting the area’s refugee camps. Once these arrangements were complete, the final
stage of the Labor plan would come into effect: the IDF’s return to Israel. Such a policy,
its authors argued, would prevent war with Syria, ensure the speedy return of Israeli
soldiers from Lebanon, and safeguard the Galilee. Presenting the paper to members of the
press, Labor Chairman Shimon Peres said that his recent visit to Lebanon convinced him
that neither the IDF nor any other foreign force would resolve the intercommunal strife in
Lebanon. He ended his statement, however, with a somewhat pious hope that a ‘‘pullback
by the IDF might induce the Lebanese to put their own house in order.”’%®

The Labor party’s proposal was submitted for a vote in the Knesset within a week,
but was defeated by a majority of 8 (55 to 47). During the debate Minister of Defense
Arens argued against adoption of the Labor motion on the grounds that any area to be
vacated by the IDF would instantly be occupied by the Syrians. Peres, speaking on behalf
of Labor, retorted that Israel should therefore designate the boundaries of the areas to be
vacated as red lines, meaning that their occupation by others would constitute a casus
belli. But Peres did not make this explicit. Noticing this omission a Likud member asked
him, ‘‘And if the Syrians move, would you go to war?’’ But, significantly, Peres would
not answer this tricky question. If he were to answer affirmatively his thesis would appear
fraught with risks, whereas if he answered negatively it would appear disingenuous. He
therefore phrased his answer as a question: ‘‘And if the Syrians move today will there be
war?’’ But Peres, an experienced parliamentary hand, sensed that this would not suffice.
He therefore hastened to add that ‘‘experience [had] . . . shown that the Syrians respect
red lines. If the U.S. stands up to those lines and the Lebanese Government stands up for
its land, there will be no need for Israel to threaten war.’ %°

Peres’s idea of a red-line policy as a means of facilitating an early withdrawal turned
out not to be supported by all his Labor colleagues. After several repetitions of the idea
in speeches across the country, he suddenly found himself attacked on this issue by no
other than Rabin. In an article published in Ha’Aretz the former chief of staff and prime
minister argued that the red-line idea was a ‘‘guaranteed formula for a full-scale military
confrontation between Israel and Syria in Lebanon,’’ and that Peres’s ideas ‘‘proved he
has lost his direction. . . . Compared with his proposals,”” concluded this prominent Labor
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leader, *‘I prefer the Likud Government’s position.’’'® Amid widespread concern in
the Labor party that the Peres-Rabin feud which -had torn the party asunder in the past
might be revived, Peres not only published a rebuttal, reminding Rabin of his own
red-line policy in 1976, but also proceeded to put the idea to a vote in the party’s
Leadership Bureau. To Rabin’s visible dismay, Peres won hands down. Qut of fifty-one
participants in the vote, forty-nine raised their hands in support of the party chair-
man’s ideas, including the document that had been previously supported by the party’s
Political Bureau. There were two abstentions. Rabin was one of them. The Labor party,
the mainstay of Israeli parliamentary opposition, was at last united behind a coherent
program.'®!

One need not doubt the sincerity of Peres and his party colleagues to assume that they
were influenced by political considerations that had nothing to do with the merit of the
grave issue at hand. As a political party they were impelled by their very nature to act on
every issue in a manner that would maximize their electoral potential. In the summer of
1983 they had been out of power for six years. Within a year or two they would face
another election campaign. If they failed again in the struggle the majority of the party
leadership would have to go. The urge, particularly in the case of party chairman Peres,
who had never been a prime minister, to exploit the Likud’s evident failure was virtually
irresistible. Such a consideration must have affected their conduct indirectly, but they also
had more direct reasons for acting as they did. As in the course of the war so in the course
of the debate on withdrawal, their own constituency, or at least parts of it, was at the
forefront of the public campaign for withdrawal. Labor could not ignore this. It had to ride
the wave or be drowned by it.

Public Opinion

Having experienced a great upsurge in the course of the siege of Beirut, in the wake of
the Sabra and Shatilla massacres, and following the publication of the Kahan Commission
report, the whole panoply of spontaneous antiwar groups suffered a certain eclipse during
the period from February to May 1983. The negotiations in Khaldeh and Kiryat Shemonah
were widely expected to lead to tangible results facilitating a withdrawal. Hence these
groups lacked a dramatic issue around which to focus their activities and rally support.
Once the Lebanese-Israeli accords were signed, however, all these groups came back into
their own.

In part this was the result of a widespread disappointment at the details of the accord.
Another reason may have been the crisis with Syria which developed a few days after the
signing ceremony and which was widely seen as a prelude to yet another bloody round of
hostilities. What added fuel to the fire was Syria’s adamant refusal to support the accord
and, as a consequence, the fear that the IDF would be doomed to remain in Lebanon
indefinitely. But the main reasons for the new upsurge of protests were the upheavals in
the Shouf, the record number of IDF casualties in May (eight dead and more than twenty
injured, double the total of the previous month) and, above all, the sad commemoration
on June 5 of the war’s first anniversary. The impact of this last factor cannot be precisely
gauged, but it can be plausibly assumed to have been significant. Most of the organs of
the Israeli media were inundated around this date with reports, interviews, and analyses
that seemed to suggest beyond the shadow of a doubt that Sharon had led the country up
the garden path.

The effect of this “‘proof’’ that the casualties had been in vain on a public that had
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already suspected so and that could find no consolation in the new accord was predictably
electrifying. ‘‘Tears turned into angry howls,”” reported the Jerusalem Post on a
demonstration of Parents Against Silence, ‘‘for some 20 minuies outside the Knesset
yesterday, when some 2,000 demonstrators—many of them parents of sons who are now
serving or have died in Lebanon—ended a quiet protest rally with a spontaneous march
toward the building. . . . The chanting of ‘Bring the boys home’ turned into ‘Send Begin
home’ as the demonstrators cried out their sorrow and their anger over the continued
Israeli presence in Lebanon.”” One woman, identifying herself only as ‘‘a mother of
twins,”’ told protestors: ‘*We are not hysterical parents, defeatists or members of any
political party. We are people who want to restore the army’s good name. The war in
Lebanon is not our war.” "'

On the same day the Peace Now movement launched a six-day march from Rosh
HaNikra on the Lebanon border to Tel Aviv, some 120 miles down the coastal highway.
In a short ceremony before the march began, the 200 participants were told by Lieutenant
Colonel (res.) Dov Irmiya, the author of a widely read and vehemently critical ‘‘War
Diary,”'!°? that the IDF in Lebanon could be compared to Napoleon’s army, bogged down
in Russia. He said that the ‘‘imaginary peace’” gained by the north of the country had not
been worth the casualties. Another speaker, Lieutenant Colonel (res.) Ran Hakim, said
the march should have started in Beirut and called on the government to resign. When the
march set out, the national leadership of Peace Now sent a telegram to the prime minister
telling him that ‘‘Israel should not give the Syrians or the PLO the right to dictate when
Israel should begin implementing its agreement with Lebanon.’” Rather, the Jewish state
should implement the accord unilaterally, and then the IDF would be out of Lebanon
“‘within a few weeks. ’104

The Peace Now march did not attract as much public attention as its organizers had
hoped, but it culminated in an impressive show of strength. An estimated 150,000
demonstrators participated in a rally in Tel Aviv’s municipal square on the eve of the
war’s first anniversary. Participants in the rally carried placards such as ‘500 soldiers
dead, thousands of wounded, hundreds of bereaved families—in the name of what?'’;
*‘Superfluous War—Superfluous Government’’; **Out of the Mud in Lebanon’’; *‘Return
Israel to its Natural Size''; ‘‘The War with Its Head in Lebanon and Its Feet in the Green
Line.”” Most of the marchers were young, many from left-wing youth movements and
kibbutzim, as well as from cities and towns all over the country.!%

Meanwhile another ingenious publicity stunt was taking place opposite the prime
minister’s residence in Jerusalem. Initiated by reserve soldiers just back from Lebanon, it
consisted of a round-the-clock vigil. The participants carried many banners, the most
outstanding of which was a constantly updated count of the casualties. Thus, whenever
Prime Minister Menachem Begin emerged from his home or returned to it he was faced
by a small number of protestors chanting antiwar slogans and waving the most recent
figure of the dead. The stunt attracted journalists and passersby. who either joined the
demonstrators or engaged in arguments with them. The noise sometimes became so great
that neighbors complained to the police and some members of Begin's cabinet began to
consider ways of removing the vigil. But it was legal and therefore nothing could be done
to stop it.'%®

On June 25 the vigil was reinforced for a while by a great number of reserve
paratroopers who were due to go into Lebanon within a few days. A spokesman for these
paratroopers denied any political affiliation and stressed: **We came to use our basic
rights as citizens to protest against [the government’s] policies.”” While they had no
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intention of refusing to serve in Lebanon, they wished to emphasize their objections to the
policy in the name of which they were ordered to. go. there. The wife of one of them told
a journalist: ‘‘With the rise in casualties, we can no longer remain silent. Ours is a
spontaneous reaction. If, God forbid, I have to tell my two daughters that they have been
orphaned, I have no explanation to give them. I can’t justify the fact that their father may
fall in vain on foreign soil and not in defense of his country.’’1%7

Such protests received a great deal of press attention. Before long there were protests
of the same kind, and by the same segment of the population, in the Galilee ‘‘finger,”” the
area in which the suffering from the PLO had caused one of the main reasons for the war.
An examination of the composition of the protest group that marched in Kiryat Shemonah
on June 30, however, reveals very clearly the limited social and political basis of the entire
protest movement. The demonstrators in Kiryat Shemonah, like the marchers from Rosh
HaNikra, like the bulk of the participants in the rally in Tel Aviv municipal square, like
most of the protesting paratroopers opposite Begin’s home, all came from a social, cultural,
ethnic, and therefore political background that had not supported Begin before the war and
would not have supported him even if there had been no war. They were primarily
Ashkenazim, with at least high-school education and a solid middle-class economic status.
They had been doves all along, although many of them had served in crack combat units.
They were articulate, friendly, optimistic, self-assured members of a minority.

Some of the reactions to their vigils and marches revealed this indirectly. In Kiryat
Shemonah, where the population is primarily of Moroccan origin and is less educated,
less articulate, less well traveled, and has a lower standard of living, the demonstration of
the kibbutznik supporters of Peace Now was not at all popular. It met with some heckling,
even abuse, as did all other antiwar demonstrations. Indeed, in one case, a Sephardi
member of Knesset for the Likud, Me’ir Cohen-Avidov, originally from Syria, staged his
own countervigil and hunger strike opposite the prime minister’s office in order not to
abdicate the ‘‘floor’’ to the Ashkenazi, Laborite, ‘‘peaceniks.’’ 108

Judging by opinion polls Cohen-Avidov represented a larger group in society than
did the antiwar demonstrators against whom he staged his one-man counterdemonstration.
The demonstrators may have been a majority on the site, but he clearly represented a
majority in the country. Table 2 underscores this impression as well as the stability over
time of the support for Begin’s government in the country. It shows very clearly that
anywhere from 40 to 50 percent of the population—a very high percentage in Israel—
continued to support Begin through thick and thin, that if he were to go to the country he
would return to power without much difficulty, and that, surprisingly, despite the war in
Lebanon and the deteriorating economic situation, even the public’s perception of the
government’s efficacy did not undergo any major fluctuation.

Moreover, as Table 3 suggests, empathy for the government’s policy in Lebanon was
as widespread as support for the government in general. In October 1982, 44.7 percent of
the respondents thought that Israel should not leave Lebanon unless and until Syria agreed
to leave too. In the same poll 34.9 percent of the respondents felt that the government
should not order the IDF to leave unless and until appropriate security arrangements were
made. Thus, in all, 79.6 percent of the population seems to have been supportive to
different degrees of the IDF’s role in Lebanon.

By August 1983 this insistence that Israel should not quit unilaterally showed signs
of declining. The figures revealed that only 38.9 and 29.3 percent of the respondents
supported these two positions respectively. Yet a closer look reveals that at least 4 percent
of those who changed their minds about Syrian withdrawal had moved to support the
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Table 2. Public Rating of Begin’s Governments, September 1982 to September 1983

Begin’s Likud’s Government’s
Month popularity projected seats performance
September
poll 1 49.8
poll 2 64 56.6
poll 3 429
October
poll 1 55
poll 2 44.8 60 49.4
poll 3 45.7
November 44.8
December 45.9 52
January 57 44 .4
February 44.7 58
March 45.6 58 41.9
April
May 54
June 47 39.3
July 50
August 42.1

Source: Jerusalem Post, Modi'in Ezrachi Research Institute Surveys.

notion that the IDF should not withdraw unless and until proper security arrangements had
been made. Moreover, the total support for a dogged determination in Lebanon remained
very high—67.9 percent—and the bulk of those who changed their minds had moved to
the ‘‘undecided’’ category. Against this background it is not at all surprising that the poll
results taken in August 1983 were not very different than those of October. The
implications of this survey of public opinion seem clear enough. The Israeli public was
deeply divided on the war issue, and the lines of division corresponded very closely to the
Labor/Likud breakdown of the electorate. Begin’s natural constituency lent him full
support. His natural opposition raised a great deal of hue and cry.

The IDF

The removal of Sharon and Eitan and the advent of Arens and Levi had an immediate
impact on the upper echelons of the IDF. Sharon had succeeded in generating around him
an uncommon degree of autocratic centralization and mistrust, a palpably vexatious and
byzantine climate, alienation, and insecurity. Arens, by contrast, was uniquely adept at
restoring confidence and delegating authority as well as fostering an ethos of honesty,
open discussion, hard work, and a matter-of-fact attitude to problems. He was collegial,
attentive, respectful, entirely lacking in the common tendency of political appointees to
play the system entrusted to them for personal political goals. Moreover, unlike Sharon,
a formidable military leader in his own right, Arens was the epitome of a civilian manager
of national security. He had no military record, therefore, rather than treating military
professionals with disdain and condescension as Sharon often did, he listened attentively
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Table 3. Israeli Attitude to Lebanon Pullout, October 1982 to August 1983

Q: “‘In light of what you know now, are you for an IDF " October January August
withdrawal from Lebanon?’’ 1982 1983 1983
Yes, unconditionally. 13.0 21.5 15.5
Yes, but on condition of security arrangements. 34.9 37.0 38.9
Yes, but on condition that the Syrian army quits too. 447 324 29.3
Yes, on other conditions. 2.2 1.9 29
No, against any pullout. 3.5 5.0 -—
Undecided. 1.7 252 11.9

Source: Jerusalem Post, Modi'in Ezrachi Research Institute Surveys. Published on 15 October 1982, 30 January 1983, and 24
June 1983, respectively.

and tended to judge matters on merit. The IDF officer corps was thus allowed to come
back into its own and made to feel worthy, capable, and influential.

Arens and Levi together constituted an excellent working team. Lieutenant General
Moshe Levi (‘‘Moshe VaHetzi’’—Moshe and a half—as he is known because of his
towering figure) had also risen in rank through the paratroopers, much like Sharon and
Eitan. But whereas the latter were highly controversial figures both professionally and
politically, Levi was an entirely uncontroversial professional soldier. There were doubts
about his ability to lead the army in war as a commander in chief, but his pro-
fessionalism, modesty, excellent ability to manage staff, and outstanding stamina
were never in doubt. He may have not been the most imaginative chief of staff in the
IDF’s history—<certainly far less impressive than predecessors such as Yadin, Dayan,
Laskov, Rabin, Bar Lev, Elazar, and Gur or other candidates for the job, such as the
dashing Dan Shomron and Ehud Barak. But his ability to restore a congenial working
atmosphere and to manage the task of maintenance and disengagement was never
challenged. Indeed, having had a rich experience in constructing the Jordan Valley line
during 1968-69 and having been among the IDF’s leading experts in antiterrorist
activities, he seemed an excellent choice for the task that faced the IDF at the time of his
appointment.'%

One of Arens’s first moves after taking office was to dissolve the National Security
Unit (Yehida LeBitahon Leumi, or YALAL), the planning staff that Sharon had set up in
the ministry of defense under Major General Avraham (‘‘Abrasha’”) Tamir. The latter has
a reputation for imaginative strategic vision. Prior to the 1973 war he had been totally
unknown, then, at a rather late stage in his career, he began to flourish. The first boost
to his career was the result of a policy paper he had prepared before the 1973 war in which
he more or less predicted when and in what form the war would take place. His broad
strategic vision thus dramatically confirmed, he was promoted and given his own general
staff division which specialized in all facets of planning, from the technical to the
strategic-political. In this capacity he authored the IDF’s first comprehensive statement of
doctrine, an eight-volume study which, for obvious reasons, was never published.

But Tamir was not an academic in uniform. He was an ingenious and tough
bureaucratic infighter. Having foreseen the peace process with Egypt, too, he recruited a
great number of specialists and set out to prepare all the staff work for the negotiations that
followed. Under ministers of defense Peres and Weizman he had thus turned himself into
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an indispensable partner in the peace process. In Weizman’s appreciation, Tamir, as Chief
of Planning,

was the right man in the right place. . . . Tamir was one of the very few who had not
been caught unprepared by Sadat’s initiative. From the moment the wheels of peace
began to roll he moved with them in the right rhythm. . . . Abrasha Tamir stormed
peace the way a commander storms [an enemy] position. Tamir, one of the most
brilliant strategic-military minds I have ever come across, was revealed in his full
capacity even in a field which seemingly had nothing to do with war. Military men like
him know best what is the price of war. He is one of the very few officers who has
never been caught [by the camera] in a military pose, against the background of tanks
with a binocular hanging on his chest.!'

Tamir, however, was also a controversial figure. While still in uniform he was
increasingly at odds with Chief of Staff Gur and most of the general staff, who resented
his dual position in the IDF and the (civilian) ministry of defense. As an indispensable
confidant of Minister of Defense Peres and his successor, Weizman, he was in a sense
imposed by the civilians on the general staff which the latter resented for obvious reasons.
When Sharon became minister of defense he seemingly solved the problem by moving
‘*Abrasha’’ with his staff from the IDF into the ministry (in physical terms it meant only
a move to the other end of the same corridor in the same building). But the move turned
out to be a source of new tensions. Tamir remained in uniform. With Sharon’s backing
he not only enlarged his unit but also brought under its responsibility a great deal of policy
making, and even command, functions which in a sense turned it into a second (mini)
general staff. This was consonant with Sharon’s perception of himself as a commander in
chief which constitutionally he was not. It was also consonant with Sharon’s planning of
the war since much of the groundwork was done under Tamir’s skillful management.
Finally, this entire anomaly also had a clear personal background. Tamir and Sharon had
been close friends since the early 1950s. Tamir had also been chief of staff of Sharon’s
armored division in the 1973 war. Thus, even if Tamir had not been resented by the IDF
because of his anomalous position between the army and the ministry (and he definitely
was) his association with Sharon would have made him as unpopular with the IDF as was
Sharon.

Arens sent Tamir into retirement (which did not last very long: in the next elections
he would be Weizman’s campaign manager and then become Director General of the
Prime Minister’s office). The new minister of defense also dismantled the YALAL and
proceeded to make only two important appointments of his own: director general of the
ministry of defense and a spokesman. The fact that the YALAL was dismantled and
Tamir forced to retire, coupled with the fact that Arens did not rock the boat with major
personal changes did a great deal to clear the atmosphere. His own appointees were
excellently chosen, at least from this intangible but critical point of view. The new
Director General, Major General (ret.) Menachem Meron (‘‘Mendi’’) had been an
experienced commander in the armored corps, and as such knew the IDF inside out, as
well as military attaché in Washington (under Arens), and as such had significant
diplomatic experience. A sturdy, firm, but personable type, he would make an excellent
manager of the ministry, adviser to the minister on military affairs, and colleague to IDF
personnel whose pride, self-confidence, and self-respect had been so badly shaken during
the Sharon phase.

These qualities of the new team in the apex of Israel’s vast national security
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machinery were unquestionably of the highest significance. The longer the IDF stayed in
Lebanon, the greater the objective difference between the minister’s perspective and that
of the army. Although not directly involved in planning the war, Arens apparently
supported its aims and steadfastly held on to the convictian that the military fruits of
the campaign should not be wasted by a weak political posture. Whereas many of his col-
leagues in the cabinet were quick to press for a unilateral withdrawal, he was one of the
last, along with Foreign Minister Shamir, to accept this advoeacy.

This position put him in a contradictory position vis-a-vis his subordinates. The IDF
was not built for long and complicated occupation duties and certainly not for the kind of
‘‘peacekeeping’’ duties that its presence in the Shouf forced upon it. It was loath to
squander its budget on current security duties rather than spend it on exercises and training
in preparation for a general war. It did not particularly like the idea of having to spend so
much of its meager resources on the building, dismantling, and rebuilding of lines. It
watched with concern as its soldiers became chance targets for marauders. Finally, while
morale was not really deteriorating and may even have improved with the removal of the
troublesome Sharon, IDF officers faced problems with the impact of domestic criticism of
the government’s policy toward the soldiers in the field. *‘It’s the same people who are
arguing [in Israel],”’ said Brigadier General Amnon Shahak (Lipkin) to a journalist, ‘‘who
are coming here to the reserves. And in the regular army they are thinking. They are
reading newspapers. They are listening to the radio. They are watching TV. . . . For
sure,”” he ended in a mixture of hope and assurance, ‘‘we didn’t come here to stay.’ !!!

This spillover of the noisy criticism back at home to the IDF in Lebanon became
worse as a result of the protracted debate over disengagement. The fact that it seemed
increasingly certain that the IDF would pull out, that the question was ‘‘how soon’’ rather
than *“if,”” made the life of Israeli soldiers more difficult with every passing day. Earlier,
when it had seemed that the IDF would stay for a prolonged period, the Lebanese tended
to be hospitable or at least respectful. But the possibility of an Israeli retreat created a fear
of later punishment for ‘‘collaboration’” with the Israelis. The result was not only a severe
decline in cooperation but, indeed, a corresponding increase in hit-and-run attacks against
Israeli soldiers. For many Lebanese, this had simply become a method of absolving
themselves of the charge of collaboration. For the Israelis, it made a tour of duty in
Lebanon increasingly hazardous while the incentives for sacrifice were rapidly declining.
The atmosphere this ‘‘withdrawal syndrome’’ created in the IDF was vividly depicted in
the following monologue by an anonymous Israeli soldier on June 30, 1983:

Things are different from the last time . . . [we] were here. I don’t care what the
politicians call it, we’re in a war of attrition. Last month was the worst in terms of IDF
casualties since the siege ended in Beirut. So, it’s not like last year. In fact we do no
unnecessary movement on the roads. No vehicle ever travels by itself. You don’t go
into any shops to buy anything, not even a pack of cigarettes. Outside the base you
keep your weapon cocked at all times, and with the safety off [sic]. You’ll wear your
flak jackets. You’ll get leaves only once [in a month-long tour in Lebanon] and on the
bus you’ll keep your weapon pointing out the window every moment. . . . Everyone’s
talking of a pullback [the commander of these men summed up the talk] but until that
becomes a reality our assignment is to hold the position here. Above all, that means
watching out for your own welfare.!''?

Such a predisposition was new in the IDF. According to some accounts it had been
typical of the army that emerged from the 1948 war. Moshe Dayan, using Arik Sharon’s
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Detachment 101 as an instrument, had changed this spirit in the course of the 1950s and
injected into the IDF a singularly aggressive spirit (in terms of modus operandi rather than
political intent).'!*> Suddenly, this frame of mind was settling in again as a result of the
experience of the war, occupation duty, domestic division, and uncertainty about how
long and for what purpose the IDF would remain in Lebanon. The IDF command took
these issues very seriously, and Arens came under increasing pressure to do his utmost to
lead the cabinet toward a clear resolution. Yet Arens, as has been said, was convinced that
the IDF should stay on for as long as was necessary to force the Syrians to accept the
notion of a reciprocal withdrawal of *‘foreign’’ forces.'!'* Thus it seems that only because
of the correct, businesslike, and trusting atmosphere that Arens and his team succeeded
in injecting into the post-Sharon IDF was he able to prevent this fundamental difference
between his preferred policy and the IDF’s from surfacing. Under Sharon the tensions had
sometimes led to a dangerous spirit of defiance on the part of a great number of
officers.!’> But ‘‘Misha,’” as the new minister of defense was fondly referred to, was
almost entirely successful in dealing with such problems effectively without pulling rank
or resorting to disciplinary action. The only reported incident of friction between Arens
and the military on this issue took place just a few days before the actual disengagement,
that is, long after the decision in favor of it and the choice of the new line had been made.
Arens reportedly toured the troops in order to explain a cabinet decision to postpone the
withdrawal for a short while. He was ‘‘confronted by some terse responses by the men at
the front.”’!'6 In this single incident reflecting some vexation in the IDF, however, Arens
was not at fault. The reason for the delay was not his own preference but rather the
difficulties the Begin government faced in prevailing upon the United States.

The Cabinet

Arens’s threats, which Robert Bazil had conveyed to Amin Gemayel during the latter’s
first visit to the United States as president of Lebanon in mid-October 1982,'!7 were not
a gimmick. They truly represented Israel’s fallback position if, as many Israeli officials
suspected, the American strategy were to lead to nought. Having such a fallback plan was
in itself a sensible political action, but the fact that it was omnipresent in Israeli thinking
turned out to be a liability. It uneasily corresponded to the proposals of the Labor
opposition. It reinforced the doubts of many members of the cabinet. It offered a focus of
controversy in the cabinet and, since in the Israeli setting cabinet disputes always leak to
the press, it enveloped the Israeli position in a thicket of ambiguity after the signing of the
May accord. The result was a clear projection of lack of resolve to back up the accord.
In turn the Syrians could not but be further encouraged to be intransigent, and the
prospects that the accord would be given a real chance very rapidly diminished.

Even before the signing of the accord, when Secretary of State Shultz was still in the
Middle East, the proposed accord had been attacked in public not just by members of the
parliamentary opposition but by at least two prominent members of the cabinet. One was
Sharon who, still smarting from his ouster following the Kahan Commission report, was
out to discredit Arens personally, the policy the cabinet pursued, and, of course, the United
States. His colleagues saw this attitude in entirely personal terms. Sharon *‘is desperate,”’’
explained one minister. ‘‘His head is on the block, and he knows that he has nothing to
lose. When a man like Sharon is desperate we can expect anything.”” Another minister went
so far as to explain what was meant here by ‘‘anything’’: *‘The message which Sharon is
sending us is clear—support me or we all go. He has declared open war. ’!18
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Facing this peculiar situation in which Sharon, the architect of the war, was
reinforcing the criticism of the opposition, Begin was impaled on the horns of a dilemma.
If he were to force Sharon out of the cabinet (which he avoided doing despite public
pressure back in February), Sharon’s desperation might increase. He would then have
nothing to lose and would most certainly become more vicious. To argue with him in
public would be both contrary to the prime minister’s style and politically intolerable.
Begin therefore said nothing but let the press know that he was ‘‘furious’’ and that there
was a limit to his patience. ‘‘The old man is going to teach Sharon a lesson,’” one minister
told the press. ‘‘He is going to finish Sharon off politically if he goes [on]. Begin is a wily
old fox with decades of political experience. Sharon may be a gifted General but he is a
Boy Scout in politics.’11?

Sharon must have taken these threats seriously, because he ultimately toned down his
campaign against his colleagues. But meanwhile his conduct had had an adverse effect on
the already shaky fortunes of the forthcoming agreement with Lebanon. It not only made
the government look divided but also forced it to reply to some of Sharon’s substantive
criticism concerning the agreement. Curiously enough the person who had to do this was
none other than Sharon’s own intimate, Abrasha Tamir. Having been Sharon’s chief
adviser in the planning stage preceding the war, he had managed to keep afloat even after
Arens’s advent to the ministry of defense. Although the YALAL had been dismantled,
Tamir was indispensable to the Israeli team that had negotiated the accord with the
Lebanese. Thus, by a bizarre twist of political fortunes, Tamir became the main architect
of the agreement that Sharon was now debunking. Never a public figure, always the
typical eminence grise, he gave no press interviews. But he had to defend the accord in
the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee, some of whose members were
bound to rush to the press as soon as the closed meeting was over (or even before it
concluded). Thus, a day after the committee discussion on the agreement, May 11, the
press was carrying stories about Tamir insisting that the proposed accord was ‘‘even
better’’ than Sharon’s own *‘breakthrough’ agreement with Sammi Maroon.!?°

This testimony may have helped the Begin government internally, but it was not very
helpful externally. The Lebanese government had every reason to play down the
agreement and present it as nothing more than a new version of the Armistice Agreements
of 1949. The Syrians by contrast insisted—as did General Tamir and the Israeli
government—that the agreement represented a new departure and therefore (from the
Syrian point of view) was totally unacceptable. Tamir’s testimony was bound to backfire.
It would make the Begin government’s domestic position stronger for a few days and
would facilitate the endorsement of the agreement by a reluctant Knesset, but it would
decrease the prospects that the Syrians would offer their blessing for the accord.

Sharon was not the only member of the cabinet to undermine the prospects of the
accord. On May 7, ten days before the signing of the accord, it was depicted as quite
unsatisfactory by Itzhak Moda’i, a leading member of the cabinet on behalf of the Liberal
faction of the Likud. ‘‘Had I known,’” before the Khaldeh—Kiryat Shemonah negotia-
tions, he said, that the Israeli demands of October 10, 1982,1%! “‘would be whittled down
to what we have now, and that we could have avoided the dreadful winter in Lebanon with
all the casualties, I would have been ready to accept less.”” As the agreements stand,
Moda’i emphasized, they are *‘not good.’’!??

Having been forcefully criticized by his colleagues for making such unhelpful re-
marks, Moda’i hastened to add that he thought the war as a whole had *‘resulted in definite
achievements,’’ that he had supported all the cabinet’s decisions before and during the war,
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and that he thought that ultimately the accord would be put into effect. It ‘‘should be
approved despite its shortcomings. As I told my colleagues, if we fail to approve it, the
current unstable situation in Lebanon might deteriorate further. If the Syrians refuse to
accept . . . then we’re covered with the U.S. I think they’ll accept it eventually, though.”’'?

The extent to which Sharon, Moda’i, and, at the other end of the political spectrum,
the Labor party, were conscious of the fact that what they were doing amounted to a
self-fulfilling prophecy is impossible to judge. It seems quite plausible that such old
political hands were fully conscious of the implications. One or two among them were
probably callous enough to have been more worried about their political careers than
about the effects of their actions. The rest should be given the benefit of the doubt. They
may have honestly assumed that the accord would not lead anywhere and so logically
pressed for a quick change in policy. Whatever the motives of the individual players in
this complex game, it cannot be doubted that such exchanges did act as a self-fulfilling
prophecy.

Conscious of this notion, the government’s chief spokesmen, Prime Minister
Menachem Begin, Foreign Minister Itzhak Shamir, and Minister of Defense Moshe
Arens, did their utmost to contain the tide of criticism and steer the draft accord through
the Israeli political process toward implementation. Foreign Minister Shamir seems to
have set the tone when he declared in a Knesset speech on May 11 that, while the accord
did not constitute a ‘‘peace treaty,’’ it could lead to ‘‘a new era of free and complete
coexistence . . . relations of good neighborliness and mutual security.’” To facilitate such
an era, three Israeli conditions would have to be met: the withdrawal of the PLO from
Lebanon, the withdrawal of the Syrians from Lebanon, and the return of all Israeli
prisoners of war in Syrian and/or PLO hands as well as bodies of some fallen Israeli
soldiers. If these conditions were not met, Shamir threatened, the agreement would be
viewed as suspended and Israel would act as it saw fit.!?*

Shamir’s statement was evidently an attempt to return to the initial Israeli position,
which had implied a clear choice from the point of view of both Syria and Lebanon: either
they facilitate an Israeli withdrawal on the basis of an agreement, or Israel would effect
something amounting to a partition of Lebanon through the unilateral implementation of
security arrangements in the south of the country, a vaguely defined area that could extend
as far north as the Awali River.

But the foreign minister’s implicit plea for discipline and greater sensitivity to the
strategic implications of a noisy domestic debate had little impact. The Knesset was,
indeed, so deeply divided that a few days before the signing of the agreement the
government was so uncertain whether it could mobilize sufficient Knesset support that it
was, reportedly, pondering the possibility of not submitting the accord to a legislative
approval at all. Legally speaking the government was not obliged to have the agreement
approved by the Knesset. Cabinet approval alone would be legally and constitutionally
sufficient to put the agreement into effect. But the custom in the past had been that such
documents were submitted for Knesset approval.'>> Moreover, a failure to see the
agreement through the House would weaken its status even more than approval by an
unimpressive majority. Hence Begin’s government was assiduously trying to mobilize
legislative support by indirectly threatening not to submit the document for approval. This
might have little impact on the parliamentary opposition. But it might work with the
cabinet’s own recalcitrant members. Specifically, it was a form of pressure on Moda’i,
Sharon, and the Tehiya faction—none of them would want to be in a position to be blamed
for a Knesset rejection of the accord. It was therefore necessary from the government’s
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point of view to put the onus on them to promise their parliamentary support for the
accord, which could be done only if the government avoided a clear decision not to submit
the document to the Knesset at all. !

Whether or not this was Begin’s tactic on the issue of parliamentary approval when
it came to the vote on May 16, the government failed to obtain the clear and supportive
mandate it so badly needed. Labor decided to abstain. Sharon simply did not show up for
the vote. Yuval Ne’eman, a Tehiya member of the cabinet, did not appear either. Two
other Tehiya members, Geula Cohen and Hannan Porat, who were members of the
cabinet’s parliamentary base, voted against the agreement. The final count was thus very
disappointing: 57 for the accord, 6 against, and 45 abstentions.!2¢

Such poor results tend to have a momentum of their own. They must have clearly
indicated to the Syrians that they could not only reject the accord but also engage in
brinkmanship as a means of hastening the collapse of the American-Israeli-Lebanese
edifice. Thus on the same day that the Knesset took the vote, Syria began the campaign
that led to the crisis in the following two weeks. In turn the Israeli opponents of the
accord were merely reinforced in their convictions and stepped up their criticism, thus
further undermining the Begin government’s already weak position. Begin attempted to
pull his own weight. On June 1 he issued a passionate call for unity ‘‘in these tense
days.”” Replying to Labor’s mention of the casualties, he reminded them in the form of
a rhetorical question: ‘‘Wasn’t there a war of attrition that lasted three years [in
1968-71]? Didn’t our boys fall then? Did any of us [the then opposition Likud] gouge out
eyes?1?7

That the Labor opposition would not be mollified by such appeals to their sense of
responsibility could have been guessed. But, while the prime minister’s ultimate message
was that Israel should doggedly face the Syrians because this was perhaps the only way
of inducing Syria to accept the accord, his own colleagues and subordinates were going
around the country making speeches with almost the opposite message. Speaking at a
conference at Tel Aviv University a day after the Knesset speech of the prime minister,
Minister of Communications Zippori argued that ‘‘Lebanon is not a state and I doubt that
it will ever be a state’’ and that in his opinion there was ‘‘nothing to induce . . . [the
Syrians] to come to an agreement with Israel.”’'?® Five days later, during a radio
interview, chief of military intelligence Major General Ehud Barak made much the same
point. The Syrians in his view ‘‘act as if they feel they have room for maneuver and ample
time. [They are] liable to take further actions if their current efforts to frustrate the
Israeli-Lebanese agreement do not bear fruits.’’ 127

Barak was speaking in an interpretative and professional capacity and not attempting
to dip into the ongoing political struggle concerning the agreement. Even so, his publicly
expressed views were bound to add impetus to Israel’s weakening position simply by
providing domestic opponents with reliable ammunition for their arguments. Indeed, his
interview coincided with Labor’s endorsement of the document calling for a two-phased
withdrawal, and it aired a day before a Labor-initiated debate in the Knesset on the
unilateral pullout idea. Sensitive to this momentum Minister of Defense Arens, speaking
on behalf of the government, made yet another plea for responsibility. ‘‘Doesn’t the
Knesset agree,”” he asked, ‘‘that Israel should support the Lebanese Government’s efforts
to get the Syrian and the PLO forces to leave? Isn’t it clear that an announcement that we
are going to withdraw unilaterally will reduce the prospect that the Syrian and PLO forces
will leave? Doesn’t the House know that Damascus is paying close attention to what is
being said in the Knesset on Peres” motion?’” Even if the opponents of the agreement are
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not convinced by any of these arguments, the minister of defense poignantly concluded,
“‘doesn’t the House think it important that Israel coordinate any change in the deployment
of the IDF in Lebanon with the Lebanese Government and the USA?""!130

Arens typically avoided party political polemics, let alone personal recrimination.
What he presented made strategic sense. Yet his pleas, like those of his colleagues before
him, failed to produce any real result. The reason was not deliberate malice or stupidity.
Rather it was the consequence of a basic incompatibility at this sensitive juncture between
domestic politics and externally directed strategy. A sound national strategy requires unity
of purpose, discretion, and flexibility—precisely what Arens advocated. Domestic
political processes have, however, their own, often contradictory logic. Labor was
genuinely convinced that Likud’s policy was leading the country into an abyss. This
conviction was reinforced by an inevitable realization that Likud failure increased the
probability of a Labor success. Impelled by this dual logic, Labor had already gone too
far in criticizing the government to be able to heed Arens’s request. Its public position
acted as a self-fulfilling prophecy. Labor realized that. But wasn’t the most logical
operational conclusion that it should increase the pressure in order to enhance the outcome
its own action had helped make inevitable? Arens was logical. But so was most of the
opposition. At the same time they were working at cross purposes.

To add to the confusion the press began to quote unidentified sources in government
announcing a virtual ultimatum to Syria, an idea that Labor party chairman Peres had
previously proposed and Prime Minister Begin had rejected outright. The government,
according to this source, had so far ‘‘taken no decision on a unilateral withdrawal from
Lebanon.”’ But it ‘*has made it clear to Lebanon and the United States that it cannot wait
indefinitely for Syria to clarify its intentions.”’ Moreover, ‘‘if within the next three weeks
there is no significant change in the Syrian attitude’” Israel ‘‘will have to reconsider its
position in Lebanon. 13!

The contradiction between the statement by the minister of defense in the Knesset on
June 8 and this leak from government sources three days later is so glaring that it is
difficult to explain except in one way: the mounting domestic opposition to a prolonged
stay in the Shouf and Beirut began to have its impact on the cabinet members who had
been torn by doubts about the policy all along. Having failed to change Begin’s view or
that of Arens or Shamir, these wavering members inspired the leak as a means of forcing
the cabinet’s hand. This speculation is reinforced by the announcement, twenty-four hours
after the ‘‘ultimatum,’’ of a government decision to begin a study of the question of
“‘redeployment.”’ The minister of defense did not propose such a study to the
government. In fact he urged the cabinet once again to realize that it “‘must stand firm in
the face of foreign pressures as well as domestic pressure’” if it wished ‘‘to attain its aims
in Lebanon.’’ Arens also reassured the cabinet that he had just toured the IDF units in
Lebanon and found that morale was high. But all these arguments led nowhere. Five
ministers insisted that the minister of defense submit to the Cabinet Security Affairs
Committee proposals for redeployment with the utmost dispatch. The five were, it seems,
an odd combination: Zevulun Hammer, Minister of Education and a leading skeptic about
the whole war; Minister of Communications Mordechai Zippori, another leading
opponent of the war; Eliezer Shostak, minister of health, whose previous views on the
topic had never been known to the general public; Yuval Ne'eman, the ultra-hawkish
professor of physics who acted as minister of science and technology and had voted
against the May 17 accord; and, to defy any coherence to this assortment, none other than
minister-without-portfolio Ariel Sharon.'3?
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This formidable pressure on the minister of defense (and indirectly on the prime
minister and the minister of foreign affairs, who also felt that Israel should hold firm) was
partly motivated by genuine concern. The previous week the IDF had suffered its five
hundredth casualty, and public emotion on the issue, at least among the attentive and
articulate public, was running high, not the least as a result of the evocative impact of the
number 500 in itself. But the five ministers could not have overlooked a certain advantage
to their respective political positions as a result of the public knowledge that they were
pressing for a policy reappraisal.

That this was on the mind of at least one, and possibly more, of them is suggested
by the simple fact that their demand for a reappraisal became public once again as a result
of a leak to the press. At the close of the meeting the cabinet secretary, Dan Meridor, read
to the press a statement containing no hint of any demand for a reappraisal. Indeed, it
emphasized once again the need for resolve. The government, said Meridor, is concerned
about the rising casualties. ‘“We want to do everything we can to see that there are no
casualties. . . . I would not like to put . . . [the issue of casualties] on a scale; it’s very
heavy for a small country where everybody knows everybody. But it is clear that it is not
the only consideration.’’ Hence, he concluded, ‘‘Israel will not bring home its troops until
it has made certain that its northern towns and villages can be kept safe from PLO
attacks.”” Although Meridor’s statement to the press was backed up on the same day by
another statement in the same vein by Minister of Defense Arens, it was severely undercut
by the leak of the five ministers’ demand for a reappraisal. If this was not enough, yet
another prominent pillar of the Likud, Chairman of the Knesset Foreign Relations and
Security Committee Eliyahu Ben-Elisar, hastened to volunteer his view that “‘if this
situation lasts too long we will have to redeploy our troops in Lebanon, and we’ll have to
do so with the agreement of the United States and Lebanon—or, if worse comes to worst,
even without their agreement.’’133

Meanwhile, the Syrians were avidly following this evidence of Israeli lack of
resolve. Within three days of this wave of demands in Israel for a reappraisal, the Syrian
newspaper al Thawra issued a call on the Lebanese ‘‘national resistance movement’’ to
step up its activities against Israel. The ‘‘movement must not be satisfied with dealing
painful blows to the Israeli occupiers but must also expand the circle of its operations to
reach those collaborating with Israel at all levels.”’'** That this call sent ripples through
the ranks of the Lebanese government can be taken for granted, since it implicitly
encouraged terrorism against Lebanon too. But the message to Israel was also unambig-
uous: the Israeli public reacts strongly to IDF casualties and presses the government to
withdraw; therefore the pressure on Israel in Lebanon should be stepped up. But since a
direct military threat by Syria—as the crisis two weeks earlier had shown—would meet
a determined Israel, the indirect approach based on surrogates inside Lebanon was a cheap
and tremendously effective method.

The inner circle of ministers in the Israeli cabinet who advocated a dogged resolve
in order to preserve whatever positive results had been obtained by the war was thus
rapidly comnered. The Syrians were increasing pressure as a means of stimulating further
domestic unrest in Israel. As long as it was only Peace Now and the Labor party, Begin,
Shamir, and Arens did not have to be particularly perturbed. But when the cabinet’s own
hawks as well as an outstanding disciple of Begin such as former ambassador to Egypt
Ben-Elisar added their weight to the side of those who demanded a unilateral pullout, such
a decision began to appear unavoidable.

The strain under which the inner circle operated in these days showed very clearly



RETRENCHMENT 205

during a stormy debate in the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee on June
14. Speaking for the government was Foreign Minister Shamir, one of the toughest and
most composed individuals in Israeli politics. Yet on this occasion he seems to have lost
his legendary self-composure. The ‘‘smears hurled by the Alignment [Labor] against the
Government are weakening Israel’s ability to stand firm against pressure,’” he lashed out
at the Labor party members in this important committee. ‘‘Your mudslinging is
intolerable. We know what they are saying in Syria and the other Arab states about your
criticism. They believe that Israel will soon crumble and collapse. They believe that we
will soon evacuate our troops from Lebanon without waiting for an agreement to be
negotiated. So they ask themselves whether there is any point in discussing an
agreement.”’ What could Labor members answer to such rational charges? They were
sufficiently experienced in affairs of state to realize that, whatever the circumstances in
which Israel had begun the war, in mid-June 1983 Shamir’s charges were justified. The
issue was not ideological, since the government too had time and again clarified the
absence of any intention to stay in Lebanon one more day than would be absolutely
necessary. Nor was the government, in its present composition, acting irresponsibly.
Clearly, the Labor members had only one effective response: reminding Shamir that his
own cabinet colleagues were engaged in the same kind of criticism. ‘‘Three of your
coalition ministers,’” retorted a leading Labor member of the committee, ‘‘demanded a
unilateral withdrawal in Lebanon, not just the Alignment. Social Affairs Minister Aharon
Uzan, and Ministers Without Portfolio Ariel Sharon and Mordechai Ben-Porat have all
gone on record as demanding the same withdrawal. Are you suggesting that the Syrians
are not listening to those ministers’ statements?”’!3°

This heated exchange revealed not only that the government, or more accurately its
security policy leaders, was in difficult straits but also that no less than seven members of
the cabinet had swung over to support for a unilateral withdrawal. Within less than one
month the policy of firm resolve in favor of the May 17 agreement was unraveling. This
was not primarily due to public opinion in general or to the pressure of the Labor
opposition in particular. The main reason for the change, the same main reason for the
disastrous slowdown of the military campaign during June 1982, was division within the
cabinet itself. And in the same way that Begin and Sharon had to yield in the summer of
1982, so did Arens, Begin, and Shamir have to yield again in the summer of 1983.

The first sign that their determination was weakening was a declaration by Arens on
June 16, two days after the Knesset exchange with Shamir, that he favored a
redeployment in Lebanon. Arens, however, added a qualification: the Lebanese and U.S.
governments would have to agree.!*® Two weeks later this statement was reaffirmed
without any reservations by Prime Minister Begin himself. On June 28 he went in person
to brief the Knesset Foreign Relations and Security Committee on this critical change in
the government’s policy. Begin told the committee that the IDF had already studied the
question of withdrawal and that the conclusion was that the withdrawal should not be
““very deep,”’ so as not to affect the security of the Galilee. The main reason for the
change in policy, he added, was that the government had become more or less convinced
that Syria would not withdraw.!3’

Within two more weeks the IDF completed its own policy review. Chief of Staff
Lieutenant General Moshe Levi was authorized to appear in a prime-time television
program in which he announced that the ‘‘redeployment’” would be to a line on the Awali
River. He was at pains to explain that the move was not ‘“‘unilateral.”” It would be
coordinated with the Lebanese and U.S. governments and the former would assume
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control over the whole of the territory to be evacuated by the IDF. In this, Levi added, the
Lebanese would be assisted by the multinational force (MNF). Thus, at least in theory, the
Israeli redeployment was going to take place soon and within the framework of the May
17 agreement.'3® As events in the next six weeks showed very clearly, this was more of
a pious hope than a reliable statement of fact. General Levi may have wished it to happen
in such an orderly manner, and so may have his superiors in Begin’s government. But, by
an Israeli decision, the feasibility of this plan was made at least as dependent on the
Lebanese and the Americans as it was on the Israelis themselves.

The United States

In Washington Israel’s drift toward a decision to disengage was watched with grave
concern. Initially, it will be recalled, the United States committed the Marines to Beirut
as a means of ensuring a speedy Israeli withdrawal. But in the eight or nine months that
had passed since the massacres at Sabra and Shatilla, American policy had almost
reversed. Having given Amin Gemayel assurances hat this government would be
protected from Syria after the signing of the May accord, the United States developed a
policy in Lebanon that was unwittingly dependent on the continued presence of the IDF
in the vicinity of Beirut. If the IDF were to withdraw from the Lebanese capital and the
Shouf a struggle between the Gemayel government and its Lebanese foes, especially the
Druzes of the Shouf, would become inevitable as both sides would attempt to fill the
vacuum the Israeli departure would create. Formally speaking the Druzes were insurgents
whereas Amin Gemayel was the legitimate authority of Lebanon as a corporate, legal, and
political entity. But in reality the struggle would be between two rival ethnic groups. The
Marines would then become the protectors of the Gemayel regime against the Druzes,
which would be the exact opposite of their original role as peacekeepers. Moreover,
Walid Jumblatt would be supported by Syria. In turn the Marines would be entrusted with
the unpleasant role of supporting Gemayel in a direct struggle with Jumblatt and an
indirect struggle with Syria. In theory there was no question that the 1,200 Marines were
stronger than the Syrian Army. The Marines represented the mightiest military, political,
and economic power in the world, whereas Syria is no more than an emerging regional
power. But in practice Syria had local supremacy. Operating on the rim of its own
homeland, enjoying conveniently short lines of supply, thoroughly familiar with the
terrain, the weather, the local customs and language, and having had not only an
impressive numerical superiority on the spot but also a tremendous combat experi-
ence, the Syrians and the Druzes were overwhelmingly more capable of dealing with the
Marines than vice versa. Moreover, Syria was backed by the Soviets who could ill afford
not to underwrite the Ba’ath Republic’s security against the United States. The Soviets
were clearly not very keen to engage in warfare and had been very cautious not to become
involved in any direct confrontation with Israel. But if the Syrians were in trouble with the
Soviets” own main antagonist, the United States, the Soviets would simply not be able to
step aside and leave the Syrians to their own devices. Finally, the Marines had not been
stationed in Lebanon on a combat mission. For such a task the President needed
congressional approval which he would probably not succeed in obtaining even if he were
seething with determination to engage Gls in battle—which he most definitely was not.
Ipso facto the president was also unable to commit a larger contingent to the Beirut
mission. In a word, if Gemayel was dependent on the United States, the latter had become
dependent on the protective backing of the Israelis. If the IDF were to withdraw, the
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United States would be unable to make good on its promises to Gemayel. Sooner or later
the Marines would have to withdraw and the credibility of the United States in the Middle
East and elsewhere would suffer greatly.

To avoid such a scenario the United States needed time. In time, it was solemnly
hoped in Washington, the Syrians would give their consent to the May 17 accord.
Meanwhile Amin Gemayel’s shaky regime would be consolidated and his army would
become capable of taking over the areas that Israel was to vacate. It was such a hope that
made Secretary of State Shultz give Gemayel a promise of U.S. protection. But Shultz
was acting on the assumption—which Israeli leaders did not try too hard to dispel—that
the IDF would remain in place. Accordingly, in June 1983 the only realistic course of
action for the United States to follow was to try in any possible way—requests, threats,
tactical gimmickry, and renewed diplomatic activity—to delay the Israeli withdrawal.
This, in a nutshell, was the essence of U.S.-Israeli contacts from the moment of Begin’s
decision to ‘‘redeploy’’ (around June 14-15) to the day when the redeployment was
carried into effect (September 3—4).

The opening move in the exchange was an unpublicized visit to Washington of David
Kimche, formerly among the chief architects of Israel’s relations with the Phalange (on
behalf of the Mossad) and now Director General of the Israeli Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
According to all available accounts Kimche had never really changed his mind about the
whole Lebanese experience. He had believed beforehand and has continued to believe ever
since that the Israeli-Lebanese escapade could, perhaps even should, have worked. Indeed,
shortly after this visit to Washington he gave a number of interviews to leading American
dailies in which he exuded confidence and an enduring faith in the Israeli-Lebanese
bond.'3® Yet on this mission to Washington in mid-June, Kimche’s orders were evidently
to present quite a different picture to his American interlocutors. ‘‘The usually
unflappable Kimche,”’ according to one source, ‘‘appeared shaken over the deteriorating
Israeli military position in the Chouf [sic] mountains and the almost daily incidents
resulting in Israeli casualties.”” Was Kimche really personally ‘‘shaken’’? There is no
doubt that like any other Israeli he was pained by the news about Israeli casualties, but on
this occasion he may have been playacting as a means of delivering a message to his
American hosts that Israel was planning to effect a disengagement. Voicing personal pain
over the casualties was merely a dramatic method with which to impress on the United
States that Israel saw no alternative but to withdraw. If that was the purpose Kimche was
highly successful. ‘I think he panicked Shultz,”’ said one official in Washington about
Kimche’s visit. ‘‘We are not used to being tougher than the Israelis.”’!#°

Whether Shultz, an unusually composed individual, really panicked is immaterial.
But there is little doubt that the U.S. government was immediately prompted into action.
While Kimche was still in Washington the president phoned the Anti-Defamation League
of B’nai Brith at its seventieth anniversary meeting and, as though it were a casual matter,
addressed himself to the Israeli plan to redeploy. He was pleased, the president said, with
secretary of state Shultz’s efforts to work out an Israeli-Lebanese peace. ‘‘This bold
initiative by Israel and Lebanon is one more step towards a more stable Mideast. Our
ultimate goal remains peace between Israel and all her Arab neighbors. Only through
peace can Israel achieve real security. But Israel cannot make peace alone. Other Arab
states must formally recognize that Israel does exist and that she has a right to exist. We
will continue diplomatic efforts to seek a withdrawal from Lebanon of all foreign forces,
Syrian and PLO as well as Israeli.”’!*! The last sentence in particular invoked a formula
whose author had been Israel and not the United States. Its origins can be traced back to
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the fall of 1982 when the United States was still vigorously pursuing the Reagan initiative
and the Philip Habib formula. In an obvious attempt to thwart the U.S. effort to get the
IDF out of the Beirut area and the Bega’a Valley, the Isracli government had insisted on
tying together the withdrawal of the IDF and the withdrawal of the Syrians and the PLO,
the Israeli assumption being of course that Syria was in no hurry to make a departure.
Now, in the summer of 1983, when Israel was anxious to withdraw and the United States
was anxious to avoid withdrawal, the Israelis’ own formula was being ingeniously turned
against them by the president of the United States.

The B’nai Brith leader with whom the president spoke on the telephone was quick to
detect the catch in Reagan’s statement. He therefore hastened to inquire how the president
assessed the chances of Syria’s withdrawal. Reagan’s answer exuded unbounded
optimism: ‘I can’t believe,”’ he answered, that ‘‘at this point, having crossed one hurdle
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